
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Streets and Walkways Sub (Planning and 
Transportation) Committee 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 14 FEBRUARY 2023 

Time: 2.30 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 1 - 2ND FLOOR WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

Members: Deputy Graham Packham 
(Chairman) 
John Edwards, Farringdon Within 
(Deputy Chairman) 
Alderwoman Susan Pearson, 
Cripplegate 
Deputy Shravan Joshi 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
 

Deputy Edward Lord 
Judith Pleasance 
Ian Seaton 
Alderman Ian David Luder, Open 
Spaces and City Gardens Committee 
(Ex-Officio Member) 
Paul Martinelli, Finance Committee (Ex-
Officio Member) 
Oliver Sells KC (Ex-Officio Member) 
 

 
Enquiries: Zoe Lewis 

Zoe.Lewis@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London Corporation by 

following the below link: 
 

https://youtube.com/live/hkZm2oq0UEA?feature=share  
 

or by searching this page: 
  

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  
 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of the public 
meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not constitute the 
formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the City of London 
Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the proper officer, to remove 
any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all our public meetings, this is not always possible due to 
technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded following the end 
of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyoutube.com%2Flive%2FhkZm2oq0UEA%3Ffeature%3Dshare&data=05%7C01%7CZoe.Lewis%40cityoflondon.gov.uk%7C373b81a0c3404b790b0c08db08605522%7C9fe658cdb3cd405685193222ffa96be8%7C0%7C0%7C638112982052180221%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=pNn1jXbY0cPHqfeNlYZ8vXITvsSnDtSNWbQPgHXO3UI%3D&reserved=0
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 
 

3. MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 17 January 2023. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 16) 

 
4. BANK JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS (ALL CHANGE AT BANK): TRAFFIC MIX 

AND TIMING REVIEW UPDATE 
 To consider the report of the Executive Director Environment. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 17 - 26) 

 
5. PEDESTRIAN PRIORITY STREETS GATEWAY 5 
 To consider the report of the Executive Director Environment. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 27 - 386) 

 
6. ANNUAL ON-STREET PARKING ACCOUNTS 2021/22 AND RELATED FUNDING 

OF HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS AND SCHEMES 
 To receive the report of The Chamberlain. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 387 - 392) 

 
7. OUTSTANDING REFERENCES 
 Report of the Town Clerk.  

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 393 - 396) 

 
8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 

COMMITTEE 
 

 
 



3 
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 

 
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act as follows:- 
 

  
 

Part 2 - Non-public Agenda 
 
11. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public Minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 2023. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 397 - 398) 

 
12. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

SUB COMMITTEE 
 

 
 

13. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST 
THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

STREETS AND WALKWAYS SUB (PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION) 
COMMITTEE 

 
Tuesday, 17 January 2023  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Streets and Walkways Sub (Planning and 

Transportation) Committee held at Committee Room 2 - 2nd Floor West Wing, 
Guildhall on Tuesday, 17 January 2023 at 1.45 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Graham Packham (Chairman) 
John Edwards (Deputy Chairman) 
Deputy Shravan Joshi 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Deputy Marianne Fredericks 
Alderwoman Susan Pearson 
Ian Seaton 
Alderman Ian David Luder (Ex-Officio Member) 
 
 

 
Officers: 
Ian Hughes - Environment Department 

Gillian Howard - Environment Department 

Kristian Turner - Environment Department 

Melanie Charalambous - Environment Department 

Clarisse Tavin - Environment Department 

Tom Noble - Environment Department 

Michelle Ross - Environment Department 

Samantha Tharme - Environment Department 

Emmanuel Ojugo 
Bruce McVean 
Giles Radford 
Jayne Moore 
Olumayowa Obisesan 
Maria Herrera 
Daniel Laybourn 
Mark Lowman 
Zoe Lewis 

- Environment Department 
- Environment Department 
- Environment Department 
- Town Clerk’s Department 
- Environment Department 
- Environment Department 
- Environment Department 
- City Surveyor 
- Town Clerk’s Department 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

Apologies were received from Judith Pleasance and Oliver Sells KC. 
Paul Martinelli observed the meeting via video-conferencing facilities. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED, That the public minutes of the meeting of 08 November 2022 be 
approved as an accurate record of the proceedings subject to the following 
change to the minutes in respect of item 6: 
 
from  
 
“The meeting heard that there were a few playgrounds in the City already.” 
 
to:  
 
“The meeting noted that there was a single playground in the City.”  
 

4. 40 LEADENHALL STREET SECTION 278 HIGHWAY WORKS (INCLUDING 
DEFERRED WORKS FROM THE 52-54 LIME STREET S278), 10 
FENCHURCH AVE S278 PROJECTS, AND 51 LIME ST S106 PUBLIC 
REALM ENHANCEMENTS  
The Committee considered the following reports together: 40 Leadenhall Street 
Section 278 highway works (including deferred works from the 52-54 Lime 
Street S278 and 10 Fenchurch Avenue S278 projects); and 51 Lime Street 
S106 public realm enhancements – outstanding work. 
 
A Member queried the £1.2M costings figure and asked whether there was 
money still to spend. The meeting heard that the initial figure was an estimate 
range and that the current more detailed estimate was robust. It was confirmed 
that no money was being returned to the developer at this time. 
 
A Member asked why only a part of the pavement was being taken over 
(according to the plans submitted). The meeting heard that the amended land 
adoption was negotiated with the developer and that the developer was being 
charged under a commuted maintenance sum for its future maintenance, 
therefore there was no financial risk to the City under the current plans. 
 
A Member asked whether there would be any discernible difference in the 
surface finishings of the roadway and/or footway either side of the lines shown 
on the plans. The meeting heard that different building materials were expected 
to be used, and there would be clear delineation between the two. 
 
A Member asked for further information on the methodology used in drawing up 
the table on p.25 of the main agenda pack to be submitted to the Grand 
Committee and to the forthcoming awayday.  

Page 6



 

 

  
A Member asked whether a cleansing arrangement could be agreed with a 
building owner/developer (particularly for cleaning up when people have been 
unwell on private land), noting the difficulties of asking the building’s owner to 
maintain and cleanse the area. The meeting noted that such arrangements and 
requests presented a challenge, and that discussions were ongoing and 
needed to take into account elements of privately-owned infrastructure (such as 
rising bollards). The Committee noted that a Late Night Levy was already in 
place in respect of licensed premises.       
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Note and approve the contents of the reports and the intention to 
complete outstanding works; 

2. Approve an increase in the approved budget of £995,111 (an increase of 
£895,111, excluding costed risk and commuted maintenance) to reach 
Gateway 6; 

3. Approve the Risk Register in Appendix 2 and the requested Costed Risk 
Provision of £190,000, and approve delegation to the Executive Director 
Environment to authorise the drawdown of funds from this register; 

4. Note the Commuted Maintenance sum of £47,135; 
5. Note the revised total project cost of £1,232,246 inclusive of costed risk 

and commuted maintenance; 52-54 Lime Street and 10 Fenchurch 
Avenue S278 projects; 

6. Approve that the previously approved works from 52-54 Lime Street and 
10 Fenchurch Avenue projects which were deferred (as shown in 
Appendix 4 and 5 respectively) will be delivered using their existing 
funding alongside the improvements around 40 Leadenhall Street; 

7. Approve the budget adjustment for the 10 Fenchurch Avenue S278 
project as shown in Appendix 6; 

8. Note that the associated remaining budget is sufficient to complete the 
52-54 Lime Street S278 work; and 

9. Approve the additional tree-planting and budget adjustment in respect of 
51 Lime St as set out in Appendix 1 to the 51 Lime St report to enable 
the works to proceed. 

 
5. 100 MINORIES PHASE TWO: PUBLIC REALM ENHANCEMENTS  

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
A Member asked for further clarification on the permeable paving to be used 
that limited water going into drains. The meeting heard that the paving would be 
bound gravel that was currently being tested at Cheapside and Bevis Marks, 
noting that the associated additional maintenance costs had been factored in. A 
Member commented on the potential for that material to be hazardous in wet 
and cold weather.    
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

 

RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Approve the additional budget of £49,500 to reach Gateway 5 – 
Authority to Start Work, funded from S106 receipts as detailed in 
Appendix 2; 

2. Approve the revised total estimated cost range (excluding risk) of 
£900,00 - £1,150,000, with the additional costs to be funded from S106 
receipts, as detailed in Appendix 2; 

3. Delegate approval of Costed Risk Provision to Chief Officer if one is 
sought at Gateway 5; and 

4. Approve the statutory consultation on proposed traffic management 
changes as set out in Appendix 6. 

 
 

6. CANNON STREET PEDESTRIAN CROSSING - BSCU  
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Authorise officers to negotiate and enter into a S278 agreement with TfL, 
to implement the proposal as detailed in the report, noting that all costs 
associated with the project will be fully funded by TfL and noting also 
that this authority must be given by the Streets and Walkways Sub-
committee and that all other requested decisions (below) be delegated to 
the Director of City Operations Division:  
 
Decisions Delegated to Director of City Operations Division: 

2. Agree the proposal as detailed in this report; 
3. Approve a budget of £175,000 to reach the next Gateway; 
4. Note the total estimated cost of the project as £175,000 (excluding risk). 

All costs associated with this project are to be fully funded by TfL; and  
5. Approve a Costed Risk Provision of £15,000 for works (to be drawn 

down via delegation to the Director of City Operations Division). 
 

7. CITY GREENING AND BIODIVERSITY - PHASE 3 OF THE COOL STREETS 
AND GREENING PROGRAMME  
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Approve the proposals for re-landscaping and re-planting strategically 
located sites in the City to reach Gateway 5 as described in the report; 

2. Approve the additional budget of £95,000 for design development of the 
re-landscaping and re-planting proposals to reach the next Gateway, 
funded from the On Street Parking Reserve (OSPR) Climate Action 
Strategy funding agreed for the Cool Streets and Greening programme; 

3. Note that the tree-planting proposals have already been approved at 
Gateway 5 at a total estimated cost of £755,000 (excluding risk) and are 
to be implemented across the next two planting seasons; and 

Page 8



 

 

4. Note the total estimated cost of the project (Phase 3) at £2.5m 
(excluding risk). 

 
8. CITY CLUSTER VISION - WELL-BEING & CLIMATE CHANGE RESILIENCE 

PROGRAMME: JUBILEE GARDENS IMPROVEMENTS  
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Agree authorisation to implement the Jubilee Gardens relandscaping 
works as set out in Appendix 3; 

2. Approve an increase in the project budget of £80,000 to a total cost of 
£680,000 (excluding risk) to be funded from 60-70 St Mary Axe (S106), 
40 Leadenhall Street (S106 LCEIW), Cool Streets & Greening 
Programme (OSPR) - funding breakdown is set out in Appendix 5; 

3. Approve a Costed Risk Provision of £95,000 (to be drawn down via 
delegation to Chief Officer) funded by 40 Leadenhall Street (S106 
LCEIW), taking the total budget (including risk) to £775,000; 

4. Agree that the Comptroller and City Solicitors Department are permitted 
to finalise all necessary legal agreement amendments to facilitate the 
implementation of relandscaping works to Jubilee Gardens; and 

5. Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Environment and 
Chamberlain to adjust the project budget between staff costs, fees and 
works, provided the overall budget is not exceeded beyond standard 
tolerances (inclusive of interest accrued to date).  

 
9. DOCKLESS CYCLES POLICY AND LEGAL POWERS UPDATE  

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
The Committee noted that a co-ordinated penalty arrangement was desirable to 
deal with misuse of bikes, noting also the relative paucity of parking spaces in 
the west part of the City. The Committee heard that bike parking provision was 
to be improved. 
 
Noting the disparity in operators’ performance and the recommendation to 
extend Lime’s review period in the light of that, the Committee discussed 
means of enforcement and the following points were made: 
 
- Bikes (and e-scooters) tend to fall over when parked 
- It is incumbent on operators to ensure that bikes are parked safely, 

particularly in respect of pavement-users with disabilities and those using 
wheelchairs and buggies 

- Operators already fine users who do not park the bikes properly, though 
some users appear to be indifferent to these charges  

- Approaches vary across neighbouring boroughs on enforcement, and it 
would be resource-intensive to co-ordinate any such measure  

- There is scope for enhancing sanctions for misuse, and it would be 
desirable for the Corporation to work constructively with operators on the 
issue. 

 

Page 9



 

 

   
 
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Agree to continue to approve dockless cycle hire operators in the City, 
renewing HumanForest’s status and extending the review period on 
Lime’s approval status until May 2023 (Option 2, paragraphs 39 to 45); 
and 

2. Delegate powers relating to changes to the structure of voluntary 
financial contributions from dockless cycle hire operators to the 
Executive Director Environment in consultation with the Chairmen and 
Deputy Chairmen of the Planning & Transportation Committee and the 
Streets & Walkways Sub-Committee. 

 
10. FLEET STREET AREA HEALTHY STREETS PLAN  

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Approve that the budget be increased by £35,000 to £276,254 
(excluding risk) as set out in Appendix 3, following the receipt of the 
funding from the Fleet Street Quarter BID; 

 
2. Note the total estimated cost of the project at £276,254 (excluding risk); 

 
3. Approve the draft Healthy Streets plan for public consultation; and 

 
4. Delegate authority to the Director of City Operations, in consultation with 

the Chairman of the Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee, to approve 
the (non-statutory) public consultation content and then proceed with the 
consultation. 

 
11. MUSEUM OF LONDON S278 PROJECT  

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment.  
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Approve a budget of £100,000 to reach the next Gateway, when 

received from the developer; 

2. Note the total estimated cost of the project at £5-£10M (excluding risk) at 
this preliminary stage; 

3. Authorise officers to enter into a Section 278 agreement with the 
developer at the appropriate time; and 

4. Delegate authority to the Chief Officer, in consultation with the 
Chamberlain, to increase and/or adjust the project budget for the Design 
and Evaluation phase if - following initial Design and Evaluation work - 
further investigation is deemed necessary to complete the phase (to be 
carried out at the Developer’s cost). 
 

Page 10



 

 

 
 

 
12. VISION ZERO PLAN 2023 - 2028  

The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
A discussion ensued, during which the following points were made: 
 

- Proper enforcement of any further speed limit is critical, otherwise the 
benefit of any speed limit is reduced; 

- Lower speed limits reduce the incidence of serious injury in the event of 
a collision; 

- Consistent speed limits across boroughs would be welcome; 
- A cyclist can reasonably expect to travel at 15mph (the proposed new 

speed limit); 
- Speed-limiting devices are currently fitted to about a third of TfL buses 

travelling through the City; 
- It is important for the City to continue to be accessible to vehicles, 

particularly for businesses; 
- Further focus on safe behaviours would be welcome (encompassing 

cyclist, pedestrian and driver behaviours); 
- Further low-tech measures (including refuges and traffic-calming) are 

worth considering; and   
- There are fewer pedestrian barriers and more dropped kerbs in the City 

than there used to be, which has altered the pedestrian environment.  
 
A Member disagreed with elements of the draft Plan, noting the change of 
classification of serious injury and the negative cumulative effect to the City of 
the action points, including speed reductions that could negatively impact 
vehicle movement.  
 
A Member asked whether estimates were available to support a reduction from 
20mph to 15mph. The Committee heard that such figures were not currently 
available and heard that research strongly suggested that speed reductions 
reduced injuries. The Committee asked for further data on the impact of a 
reduction from 20mph to 15mph.  
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee agree with the recommendation to progress 
the draft Vision Zero Plan to the Police Authority Board and to the Planning & 
Transportation Committee for further consideration, noting the points made 
above. 
 
 

13. SPECIAL EVENTS ON THE HIGHWAY  
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
A Member commented that Sunday closures were likely to impact on 
congregations attending places of worship. The meeting heard that the matter 
had been taken into consideration, particularly in respect of the impact of event 

Page 11



 

 

closures on the churches of St Bride’s and St Magnus-the-Martyr (among 
others). 
 
On the Sports Strategy (paragraph 22) a Member expressed concern that any 
consultation appeared more formal in nature than was actually the case. The 
meeting heard that the view would be fed back to the forum, and that formal 
engagement was desirable.  
 
On appendix 4, a Member queried the accuracy of the parking suspension 
figures in respect of the St Matthew’s Day Parade of 06 October 2022, noting 
that a corrected version would be circulated within the next week.   
 
The meeting heard that Destination City had recently proposed a reconstituted 
St Bartholomew’s Fair in September 2023.    
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Agree to support the regular core events programme listed in paragraph 
7 and detailed in Appendix 1; 

2. Agree to support the additional one-off events outlined in paragraphs 14-
22, subject to final assessment regarding safety, licencing, traffic orders 
(where required) and impact on local stakeholders; and 

3. Note the benefits in kind listed in Appendix 4, subject to a correction of 
the error shown in respect of parking suspension figures against the 
event of 06 October 2022. 

 
14. OUTSTANDING REFERENCES  

The Committee noted the report of the Clerk. 
 
TfL London Bridge Experimental Scheme: A response to the consultation has 
now been provided, and the item has been removed from the list. 
 

15. TRAFFIC ORDER REVIEW - PHASE 2 UPDATE  
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director, Environment. 
 
A Member sought clarification on the status of Bishopsgate as part of the 
review. 
The meeting heard that Bishopsgate was part of the TfL network, and that no 
information had yet been provided by TfL on the status of Bishopsgate as part 
of TfL’s Traffic Orders. Recommendations based on that information could be 
submitted to the Committee once that information had been provided. The 
previously-agreed experimental scheme at Bishopsgate would not be covered 
by the review as such a scheme is subject to review by its nature.    
 
Referencing paragraphs 13 and 14, a Member noted the resources dedicated 
to the exercise so far, commenting on the benefit of collating the information 
contained in the report.   
 
A Member suggested that a note be written to Members outlining the current 
report contents offering the option of accessing the report submitted to this 

Page 12



 

 

Committee in order to give Common Councillors the opportunity to properly 
scrutinise the report.  
 
The Committee noted that the report was expected to be submitted to the 
Planning & Transportation Committee in March 2023, and then to the Court of 
Common Council.  
 
RESOLVED, That the Committee 
 

1. Agree the scoring against Transport Strategy outcomes for each 
category of traffic order, as detailed in Appendix 1; 

2. Note the outcome of the Stage 2a desktop review, which has ranked all 
TMOs and measures as detailed in Appendix 2; and 

3. Agree to progress the 75 highest-ranking TMOs and measures for 
further investigation during Stage 2b, as outlined in paragraph 12 and 
highlighted in Appendix 2. 

 
16. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 

COMMITTEE  
Referencing Moor Lane environmental enhancements considered by the 
Committee in July 2022, a Member commented that the scheme may not have 
been considered in its entirety, expressing concerns around the delays (to 
September 2023) and asking whether the west side of the street would be 
completed. The Member sought clarification on whether a small area had been 
taken out of scope.  
The Committee noted that the process had been ongoing since at least 2012, 
and that any further consultation might benefit from being more user-friendly.    
The Committee heard that communication on delays with the developer was 
ongoing, and that the Corporation had no control over those delays. A further 
report was expected to be submitted to the Committee on the scheme during 
the first half of 2023 that would take into account the feedback received, and 
the aim was to ensure that all the work ran concurrently to reduce disruption.  
A Member asked who was meeting the costs of these delays, noting that a firm 
line should be taken on asking for developer funding if the developer was the 
cause of the delay. The meeting heard that the developer was funding all east-
side works and that the current agreement did not provide for developer funding 
of delays to the west-side works, noting that the cost of the west-side works still 
fell within the budget envelope due to changes made to the programme, though 
there were other reasons for the delay.   
 
On the bus review, a Member asked whether a view had been expressed on 
the number 11 bus, noting that the local MP was running a campaign to keep it 
going.  The meeting heard that a consultation had taken place, and that no view 
had formally been taken beyond that noting also that a different route was 
being re-named to 11.    
 

17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
A question was asked by a Member on the process around the proposed 
closure of West Smithfield Road, noting the disruption that such a closure 

Page 13



 

 

would cause. The Member asked whether the correct consultation procedure 
had been followed.  
 
The meeting noted that temporary traffic orders to facilitate temporary works 
(that can last up to 18 months) are governed by a different process to the one 
that governs permanent or experimental traffic orders. Temporary orders are 
required to be advertised in the press (once their suitability, impact and 
appropriateness has been considered), and the City of London also usually 
issues local notices though that is not a requirement. The standard process 
requires the developer (the applicant) to undertake local engagement with 
affected stakeholders. The City heard that surrounding streets would be kept 
open to facilitate movement through the area, and that recent restrictions 
nearby would not affect the Smithfield area.  
 
A Member sought clarification on the status of Giltspur St, and the meeting 
heard that Giltspur St was part of the ‘ring of steel’ and that changes in the area 
were likely to involve further security infrastructure.   
 
The meeting heard that further (and permanent) road-strengthening, 
waterproofing and road-rebuilding work was required. Two meetings with the 
Smithfield Market Tenants’ Association on the issue took place during the final 
quarter of 2022 during which it had become clear that the original 12-week 
closure was likely to be extended, though it appeared likely that a single 
carriageway could be open in May 2023 assuming a road closure as of mid-
January 2023.  
 
A Member noted that road closure details and maps were helpful, noting that 
the website updates were now available at Road closures - City of London, and 
that work was ongoing to make a live map available.   
 

18. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
 
The Committee agreed to exclude the public from the Non-Public part of the 
meeting in line with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

19. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
The Committee considered the non-public minutes of the meeting of 08 
November 2022. 
 

20. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN  
The Committee received the report of the Clerk. 
 

21. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE SUB COMMITTEE  
 

22. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
 

 

Page 14

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/services/streets/road-highways-and-pavements/road-closures


 

 

 
The meeting ended at 4.10 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Jayne Moore 
Jayne.Moore@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Committee(s): 
Streets and Walkway’s Sub Committee (For decision) 

Planning and Transportation Committee (For decision)  
 

Dated: 
14/02/2023 

07/03/2023 

Subject: Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at 
Bank): Traffic mix and Timing review update 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

1, 9, 11, 12  

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? £ N/A 

What is the source of Funding? OSPR 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Y 

Report of: Executive Director Environment For Decision 

Report author:  
Gillian Howard, Policy and Projects, Environment 
Department 

 
 

Summary 
Following a Court of Common Council Motion in April 2022, the All Change at Bank 
project was asked to immediately bring forward the traffic and timing mix review of 
the restrictions at Bank. This report updates Members on the progress of the review. 

 
The initial feasibility work has been completed following the data collection and 
updating of the Bank traffic model to reflect 2022 traffic conditions and flows.  
This report outlines why the option to allow general traffic (all traffic) thorough 
the junction at any time is not feasible. It is recommended that this option is 
excluded from further work and consideration. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to: 
 

• Note the contents of the report. 

• Approve that no further work on the option of introducing general traffic into 
Bank at all times be undertaken, based on paragraphs 14-17 

• Note the complexities of the work moving forward as explained in paragraphs 
18 -19 and 21-25 

• Note the updated indicative programme of work in Appendix 1 
 

Main Report 

 

Background 
 
1. The All Change at Bank Project is currently in construction following approval in 

December 2021. Its objectives are to:  

• Continue to reduce casualties by simplifying the junction 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



• Reduce pedestrian crowding levels 

• Improve air quality  

• Improve the perceptions of place 
 

2. The layout of the junction is being altered, narrowing the carriageway, and 
increasing the space available for people walking through and/or accessing the 
station or surrounding buildings.  Parts of Threadneedle Street and Queen 
Victoria Street (on the approaches to the junction), will be closed to motor 
vehicles, providing a more pleasant environment for people walking and cycling 
and the opportunity to provide additional seating and greening in the area. The 
operation of Princes Street is also modified but retains two way working for buses 
and cycles only, and a route for vehicles requiring access to Cornhill to travel 
southbound. The design for the junction is in Appendix 2 for reference. 
 

3. At the time of making the decisions to proceed with the All Change at Bank 
design, it was acknowledged that there was still a need to review the traffic mix 
and timing of the altered junction.  However, at the key decision points there were 
too many unknown factors.  These related to the pandemic in terms of the 
temporary Covid recovery schemes in operation and the future of these schemes 
as recovery took place.  It was agreed in September 2021 that the review would 
take place 12 months after the completion of the construction and once there was 
greater clarity of traffic composition and volume and potential changes to the 
network around Bank. 
 

4. A motion was subsequently approved at the Court of Common Council in April 
2022 which included the following requirement in relation to Bank junction: 
“That the Planning & Transportation Committee be requested immediately to 
begin a review of the nature and timing of current motor traffic timing restrictions 
at Bank Junction, to include all options. This review will include full engagement 
with Transport for London and other relevant stakeholders, data collection, 
analysis and traffic modelling. The Planning & Transportation Committee should 
then present its recommendation to this Honourable Court as soon as 
practicable.” 
 

5. A subsequent report was received by the Streets & Walkways Sub Committee 
and the Planning & Transportation Committee in May and June 2022. This set 
out how the review was intended to be undertaken.  It recognised that this would 
be complex as there were a number of experimental traffic orders, including the 
bus gates on Bishopsgate and London Bridge managed by TfL, for which the 
decisions on their permanency would continue to be unknown for some time. 
 

6. Work on the review started, but due to difficulty securing a week on the road 
network to undertake the required traffic and pedestrian count data in ‘normal’ 
working conditions (to exclude school holidays, rail and tube strikes, and 
impactful road closures) the collection was delayed until early November 2022. 
During that time Bank had to be reopened to general traffic via Queen Victoria 
Street between 20 August to 15 October 2022 to facilitate the Bank Station works 
on Cannon Street.  The data collection exercise is significant in terms of scale 
and cost and required 23 junctions to be monitored. 

 

Page 18



7. The delay in the data collection has meant that Officers have only recently 
received the large amount of data collected.  This paper updates Members on the 
initial findings of the first round of feasibility on whether it is likely to be technically 
possible to change the mix of traffic through the junction during the hours of the 
current restriction of Monday to Friday, 7am to 7pm 
 

Current Position 
 
8. The aim of the initial feasibility was to establish which, if any, modes of traffic 

might be excluded from further detailed work.  Four main scenarios have been 
looked at using a revised traffic model updated with 2022 traffic flows.  This 
model assumes that Bishopsgate and London Bridge TfL experimental schemes 
and the City’s own Pedestrian Priority experimental schemes at Cheapside, King 
Street, Old Jewry, Old Broad Street, Threadneedle Street and King William Street 
remain in place.  This is because the traffic flows have been collected with all 
these schemes in operation 
. 

9. The scenarios assessed in the feasibility were to allow  
a. Taxis with buses and cycles 
b. Powered two wheelers with buses and cycles 
c. Taxis and powered two wheelers with buses and cycles  
d. General Traffic (All traffic) 

For clarification Taxi means licensed black cab, not Private Hire vehicles, 
which are included within General Traffic. 

 
10. The arms available for those vehicles would be the same as those available to 

buses and cycles in the scheme that is currently in construction, which are 
Cornhill, King William Street/Lombard Street, Poultry and Princes Street.  Work 
had previously been undertaken to rule out reintroducing general traffic through 
Bank in 2020, but as traffic flows and composition have changed since the 
approved Bank traffic model, based on 2019 flows, this was agreed to be 
reviewed again. 
 

11. In addition, other work has been commissioned including: 

• A revised equalities analysis to consider the positive and negative 
implications of reintroducing different modes back into Bank.  

• A review and update of the collision analysis  

• A review and update of the air quality monitoring in the area (which has 
been collected since 2015) 

• Pedestrian flow comparisons to help inform the future discussion about 
whether the timing of the restrictions should be changed. 

 
12. There have been early conversations with TfL regarding the traffic modelling 

exercise that we have undertaken, but this initial stage if narrowing the options 
does not require their agreement or professional assessment.  This will become a 
requirement as we take forward any options to public consultation and promote a 
preferred option (in traffic terms) to deliver.   

 
Options 
 

Page 19



13. There is a lot of work taking place now which will feed into a more detailed future 
report that is due in May. This will be more comprehensive than this first technical 
assessment of feasibility.  This work will also look at the factors that are 
additional to whether there is sufficient junction capacity to cater for the extra 
demand from reintroducing traffic without causing significant journey time 
impacts.   
 

14. At this stage, the initial feasibility modelling clearly indicates that it would be 
significantly detrimental to reintroduce general traffic through Bank at all times.  
There are significant implications to both bus journey times, but also for general 
traffic travelling on London Wall, particularly the westbound direction in the peak 
times. 

 
15. In terms of bus journey times there are 21 bus services within the modelled area. 

.  Of these routes this initial feasibility indicates delays of over 15 minutes to eight 
of the services, in the AM peak.  The evening peak indicates similar length of 
forecast delays with five services over 15 minutes and a further three services 
between 10-15 minutes delayed. 

 
16. These are significant delays.  Whilst this is initial feasibility and no mitigation work 

has been undertaken, it is highly unlikely that this level of delays can be mitigated 
into a reasonable time band to obtain traffic management approvals. 

 
17. It is therefore recommended that as per this Committees’ previous decision in 

October 2020 and ratified by the Court of Common Council in December 2020, 
that no further work is undertaken on the option of reintroducing general traffic 
through Bank during the restricted hours. 

 
Proposals 
 
18. This leaves the three scenarios a, b, and c in paragraph 9 which will undergo 

further work to determine their viability.  It should be noted that that the feasibility 
model does indicate that there could be some substantive difficulties with 
reintroducing taxis on the four arms tested to date and that further work is needed 
to tease out whether this might be possible to mitigate the indicated delays to 
several bus routes, or whether reducing the number of available arms, turning 
movements etc available to taxis would offer a more viable option at this 
feasibility stage. 
 

19. This work is being undertaken and will form part of the subsequent report in May.  
It should also be noted that bus journey delays are an important factor in the 
traffic management approval process with TfL.  Schemes often have difficulty 
securing agreement with relatively minor delays to a bus service of between 1 to 
2 minutes.  As Poultry and Cornhill form part of the Strategic Road Network TfL’s 
influence on these streets is essential (see Risk implications).  

 
Financial implications 

Funding of the review is currently contained within the overall Project Budget.  To date 
approximately £125,000x has been spent/committed including fees and staff time. 

Page 20



Resource implications - N/A 

Legal implications 

20. Any proposal that comes out of the review will need to demonstrate how it 
complies with Section 122 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act which requires the 
traffic authority, in exercising its traffic authority functions, to secure the 
expeditious, convenient, and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic 
(including pedestrians), so far as practicable having regard to  

(a) the desirability of securing and maintaining reasonable access to 
premises.  

(b) the effect of amenities of any locality.  

(bb) national air quality strategy.  

(c) public service vehicles.  

(d) any other relevant matters.  

 

Risk implications 

21. Members should note the risk of undertaking the review whilst the experimental 
schemes by Transport for London on Bishopsgate and London Bridge, and the 
City’s experimental schemes, are still in their monitoring phases.  Undertaking the 
traffic counts to update the traffic model with these in place creates a risk of 
abortive work should it be later decided that these experimental schemes are not 
progressed into permanent schemes or change significantly from their current 
arrangements; particularly the Bishopsgate/London Bridge schemes. 
 

22. The traffic modelling results will outline likely journey time impacts but rely on 
reasonable representative flow of traffic at each junction within the model.  If 
those traffic flows on corridors change substantially during the process of us 
assessing the options for changing the traffic mix, then the impacts and/or 
benefits regarding journey times will not be representative.   

 
23. This may impact our ability to be able to get a subsequent Traffic Management 

Approval (TMAN) for changing the traffic mix and or timing of the restrictions.  It is 
possible that to progress a change of traffic mix and or timing that we could be 
asked to restart the traffic modelling process again if this were to happen.   

 
24. In addition, there is a risk that at the stage of submission for the required Traffic 

Management approvals from TfL that they could refuse to approve the 
submission. Cornhill and Poultry are part of the Strategic Road Network as 
defined in the Traffic Management act 2004.  This means that TfL are more than 
a consultee on these streets and able to veto proposals.  

 
25. Early engagement should minimise this risk but there is a risk that a change in 

the traffic mix or timings of the restrictions at Bank may impact on their existing  

Page 21



experimental schemes, which may be made permanent, which could influence 
discussions 

 

Equalities implications 

26. Revised equalities analysis with updated data has been commissioned to support the 
review  

Climate implications N/A at this stage 

Security implications N/A at this stage 

 
Conclusion 
 
27. There is still a significant amount of work required to comply with the Court of 

Common Council motion. The next stage is intended to be presented to Members 
in May. 
 

28. This report updates members on progress to date and requests that one of the 
initial options for changing the traffic mix through Bank junction is not investigated 
further based on the initial feasibility modelling results.  It also recognises that 
there are challenges with the remaining options, but that this requires further 
investigation. 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 – Programme overview 
• Appendix 2 – General Arrangement for the All Change at Bank scheme 
•  

Background Papers 
 
 
 
Gillian Howard 
Head of Projects and Programmes, Environment Department] 
 
T: 020 7332 3139 
E: gillian.howard@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

mailto:gillian.howard@cityoflondon.gov.uk


The below timeline takes the most substantial tasks in each stage  to show how the overall length of the programme is made up.
This is indicative and will still need elements to be confirmed with TfL and the consultants once there is a clearer understanding of what is being proposed.
Other work streams will also take place within these stages to complement the analysis and recommendations.

Parts of the TfL modelling times overlap stages, and would be progressed with a degree of risk, but stopping at each stage would add potential significant delay if we lose the TfL resource during a break.

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
STAGE 1 (initial feasibility)
Traffic counts
Consultant update model
Report (Planning and Transportation) S&W P&T

STAGE 2a (shortlisted options for further investigation)
Traffic modelling work continues by consultants
TFL discussions and audit base/future base model

S&W P&T CCC

STAGE 2b Public Consultation exercise
Public Consultation (prep and consult)
Analysis

P&T CCC

STAGE 3
Proposed scheme model prepared and audited
TMAN submission/Approval
Statutory Traffic Order consultation

P&T

STAGE 3

Final report back (Planning and Transportation) to agree 
whether to proceed.

2024

Indicative Timeline of Key tasks for the Bank Traffic and Timing Review

2022 2023

STAGE 1

Report - (Planning and Transportation and Court of 
Common Council)

Report - (Planning and Transportation and Court of 
Common Council)

STAGE 2a

STAGE 2b

Depending on how many options are consulted on and how many people respond etc. the following programme is very indicative.
The below assumes that more than one option for change is consulted on regarding the traffic mix and which arms that would be on.  Due to the size of the traffic model, confirming the prefferred option for change would be needed before the traffic model audit.  Assuming 

there is a clear indication from the consultation, the process could start at risk ahead of the committee decision to proceed or not.  P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 24



Page 25



Page 26



v.April 2019 

 
Committees: 
Streets and Walkways [for decision] 
Operational Property and Project Sub [for decision] 

Dates: 

14 February 2023 
6 March 2023 

Subject:  

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme – Phase 1 
 
Unique Project Identifier: 12269 

Gateway 5 – 
Authority to start 
work 
Complex 
 

Report of: 

Executive Director Environment 
For Decision 

Report Author:  
Kristian Turner – Policy and Projects, City Operations 

PUBLIC 
 
 

1. Status 
update 

Background: 
A three-year programme implementing pedestrian priority schemes 
across the Square Mile to enhance comfort, safety and accessibility 
for people walking. The programme will directly help deliver the 
objectives of the Transport Strategy and Climate Action Strategy. 

Phase 1 of the programme features on-street measures at six different 
locations: 

 Old Jewry 
 King Street 
 King William Street  
 Cheapside (east of Bread Street)  
 Threadneedle Street / Old Broad Street  
 Chancery Lane 

 

In September 2022, Members received an update report detailing the 
acceleration of the Phase 1 programme to deliver permanent 
measures without first implementing previously planned interim 
measures. 

 
This report 
The purpose of this report is to present to Members the results of the 
experimental traffic order’s statutory and public consultation exercise 
and seek Member approval for making the traffic changes permanent 
at: 

 King Street 
 Old Jewry 
 King William Street 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



v.April 2019 

The report also informs Members that more work needs to be 
undertaken at the other Phase 1 locations including:  

 further analysis of and engagement on the Cheapside 
scheme to determine the optimum solution at this location 

 detailed design of the Old Broad Street/Threadneedle Street 
scheme 

 Chancery Lane – where the traffic experiment has been 
redesigned to allow access for taxis and any vehicle 
accessing properties or parking on Chancery Lane. The 
commencement of the experiment was delayed while we 
awaited Camden Council’s signing of a Section 101 legal 
agreement for the City to make a traffic order on Camden’s 
half of the street. The experiment is due to launch on 20 
February.  

 
This report is presented as a Gateway 5 report seeking authority to 
permanently implement the measures at the three locations. A G3-5 
report was approved in October 2021 for the interim measures, and 
advice from the Project Management Office was that a G5 report was 
most appropriate for this stage of the project. 

 

RAG Status: Green (last report: green) 

Risk Status: Medium (last report: medium) 

Total Estimated Cost of Project (excluding risk): all phases 
£6.150M 

Spend to Date: On the whole project - £559,774 (of £2.615M approved 
budget) 

Funding Source: £6M from Climate Action Strategy funding (OSPR) 
and S106 (£150K) (both confirmed) 

Costed Risk Provision Utilised: none to date, but drawdown of £56k 
requested in this report 

2. Requested 
decisions  

Next Gateway/Report – A G5 Issues Report in May for Old Broad 
Street / Threadneedle Street and Cheapside schemes. 

Next Steps: Subject to receiving approval under the Traffic 
Management Act (TMAN) from Transport for London (TfL) for the three 
schemes, the next steps following approval of this Report are: 
 

 Notify Statutory Parties/consultees on intent to make permanent 
traffic orders 

 Make permanent traffic orders for Old Jewry, King Street and 
King William Street   

 Publish notice of making for the permanent traffic regulation 
orders 

 King Street – complete detailed design, utility estimates and 
implement ~ construction late March 2023 for six months 

Page 28



v.April 2019 

 Old Jewry – local stakeholder workshop, detailed design and 
implement ~ construction from September 2023 

 King William Street – complete detailed design, estimates and 
implement ~ construction 2024 (after Bank junction works) 

 Chancery Lane – commence an Experimental Traffic Order 
(ETO)  on 20th February with a 6-month period for Statutory 
consultation 

 Cheapside – review options based on stakeholder feedback and 
recommend a way forward in May 2023 

 Old Broad Street / Threadneedle Street – progress detailed 
design based on stakeholder engagement and recommend a 
way forward in May 2023 
 

Requested Decisions 

Subject to the three schemes, King Street, Old Jewry and King William 
Street receiving approval from TfL and noting the objections to the 
statutory consultation, Members of the Streets and Walkways Sub-
Committee are asked to choose from the following two options to 
progress the project: 

 
1) Option 1 (recommended)  
Make the experimental traffic measures permanent (as set out in 
the main body of this report) on: 

a) King Street (one-way northbound with contra-flow cycle 
lane); 

b) Old Jewry (closed to motor vehicles from Poultry to the 
junction with Fredericks Place and remainder of street 
two-way); 

c) King William Street (traffic restricted at certain times, 
except for vehicles loading, accessing properties or drop 
off/pick up of passengers) 

 
2) Option 2 (not recommended) 

Revert the streets to the previous state: 
a) King Street (two-way working for vehicles) 
b) Old Jewry (one way working for motor vehicles south to 

north, southbound cycle contraflow) 
c) King William Street (no timed access restriction) 

 
In the event that Option 1 is chosen, Members of the Streets and 
Walkways Sub-committee are asked to: 

 
3) Delegate authority to the Executive Director Environment, 

in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of 
Streets and Walkways, to approve the final detailed design 
of the measures at the three locations 

 
 
 

Page 29



v.April 2019 

 
Members of the Streets and Walkways Sub-committee are asked to 
note that: 

 a separate report will be submitted in May for Cheapside 
and Old Broad Street/Threadneedle Street experimental 
traffic orders 

 The results of the Chancery Lane traffic experiment will be 
reported following the completion of the six-month statutory 
period 

 
Members of Streets and Walkways and Operational Property and 
Projects Sub-committee are asked to: 
 

4) Approve the adjustment of the existing Phase 1 budget of 
£2,402,628 (including Costed Risk as detailed in Section 
3, below), to progress the detailed design of three 
locations and the development of the remaining schemes 
in the Phase 1 programme 

5) Approve the drawdown of the Costed Risk provision of 
£56,000 as outlined in paragraph 6 

6) Approve the costed risk register in Appendix 9 and 
delegate authority to the Executive Director Environment 
to draw down funds from this 

7) Delegate authority to the Executive Director Environment, 
in consultation with the Chamberlain, to make any further 
adjustments (above existing authority within the project 
procedures) between elements of the budget 

 
3. Budget 1. The three-year Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme is funded 

through the Climate Action Strategy (£6M / OSPR). 

2. The overall approved budget for the whole Pedestrian Priority 
programme is £2,601,628, comprising the evaluation and design 
budget of £199k and Phase 1 design and build budget of 
£2,402,628. 

3. To date, £144,845 has been spent against the evaluation and 
design budget and £414,919 has been expended against the 
Phase 1 design and build budget, leaving a total remaining 
unspent budget of £2,401,854. 

Option 1 

4. If Option 1 is approved, a proposed revised budget is set out 
below, to deliver: 

 Completion of the detailed design, utility costs and 
implementation of King Street  

 Continued detailed design and cost estimates for the other 
four locations and the implementation of the Chancery Lane 
experimental traffic order, including camera enforcement. 
 

Page 30



v.April 2019 

5. In brief, the works budget is amended to deliver the King Street 
permanent scheme.  The remainder of the current approved 
unspent budget is redistributed to fund the continued development 
of the detailed design of the remaining locations and the 
implementation of the ETO for Chancery Lane. 

 

Item Reason Estimated 
Cost (£) 

Staff costs 

 

Staff costs (Highways, P&T, 
Legal) 

£531,895 

Fees Road Safety Audits, C3 utility 
costs, surveys, consultancy 
support, TfL signal costs, 
Traffic Orders 

£461,533 

Works & 
Maintenance 
(total) 

Construction of King Street, 
C4 utility costs 

£925,000 

Purchases ANPR cameras £70,000 

Costed Risk 
Provision 

See Appendix 9 £414,200 

Total  £2,402,628 

 

6. In October 2021 a costed risk provision of £473k was approved. 
Three of the risks that were identified have since transpired to 
become issues and the costs incurred against the project: 

 R10 – Technical and engineering issues 
 R13 – Unexpected utilities alterations 
 R14 - Design estimate accuracy 

 

7. As part of the overall budget adjustment within this report, it is 
proposed to draw down the full costed risk provisions for the issues 
experienced for a total of £56k: 

 R10 (£1k) 
 R13 (£30k) 
 R14 (£25k) 

 
Option 2 
8. If Option 2 is approved the current approved budget is sufficient to 

fund the three locations reverting to their previous state. This 

Page 31



v.April 2019 

would likely leave some of the transport elements of the Climate 
Action Strategy undelivered. 
 

9. A report for the results of the other experiments at Cheapside and 
Old Broad Street/Threadneedle Street would still be prepared for 
Members to make a subsequent decision on those locations.   

 
4. Design 

summary 
Background 

10. In September 2022, an Update Report was submitted to the Streets 
and Walkways Sub Committee setting out the technical challenges 
in delivering interim pedestrian priority improvements as part of the 
18-month (maximum duration) traffic experiments across the 
various sites. The aim had been to allow people to experience the 
full impact of the proposals for people walking and cycling in addition 
to the change to the traffic movements as part of the traffic order. 
 

11. It was reported that the project would instead shift its approach to 
focus on accelerating the delivery of the permanent measures 
(subject to the public consultation exercise on the experimental 
traffic orders and the proposed permanent features).  

 
12. Public consultation ran between 17 October and 12 December 2022. 

305 people responded. 
 
SUMMARY OF DESIGNS 
 

The following information relates only to the three locations where 
a decision is being requested. 

 
King Street 

13. The scheme design can be viewed at Appendix 8. It is intended that 
construction will follow already planned utility works in March 2023. 
The design: 
 Widens the pavement at various locations on both sides of King 

Street to improve the narrowest sections, including some that are 
currently ~1.5m wide 

 Provides a northbound general traffic lane and a southbound 
contra-flow cycle lane 

 Installs a raised table at the Trump Street junction to improve 
ease of crossing the street 

 Retains an overall carriageway width of 5m to accommodate 
resilience for access to Guildhall for events and accommodate 
requirements for the Lord Mayor’s show. 

 On-street loading for King Street businesses is from the loading 
bay on Trump Street (there is insufficient width to provide both 
footway widening and loading activity on King Street) 

 
14. The traffic order for the existing waiting and loading restrictions 

along the street will need to be adjusted as vehicles will no longer 

Page 32



v.April 2019 

be able to park or load on King Street at any time. They currently 
cannot park or load during the experiment due to the traffic wands 
along the cycle lane that keep vehicles away from the kerb and the 
inclusion of the mandatory cycle lane.  
 

15. Parking is currently formally restricted with a single yellow line. This 
will need to be upgraded to a double yellow line to deter vehicles 
parking in the mandatory cycle lane and causing a road safety issue.  
 
Old Jewry 

16. The scheme design can be viewed at Appendix 8. Construction can 
commence following completion of the King Street works, in order to 
maintain a southbound route for cycling. The design: 
 Closes the southern end of the street at Poultry  
 Creates a continuous pavement on Poultry across the mouth 

of the Old Jewry junction, with dropped kerb for cycle access 
 Closes the area between Poultry and Fredericks Place to motor 

vehicles and raises the carriageway in granite to resolve the 
extremely narrow pavements 

 Between Fredericks Place to Gresham Street, the street is two-
way for traffic 

 Only vehicles with an access need will enter Old Jewry, this 
necessitates a three-point turn at Fredericks Place to exit the 
street via Gresham Street. 

 
17. In the summer, after discussions with the Worshipful Company of 

Mercers, temporary benches were introduced in the carriageway 
space between Poultry and Fredericks Place, to test the demand for 
outdoor seating. Whilst well used, the benches also attracted 
loitering and litter. The benches will be removed in February 2023. 
If Option 1 is approved, a local working group will be set up with the 
Mercers Company, local occupiers, Cheapside Business Alliance 
and a Ward Member representative to arrive at an agreeable design 
for the space to increase seating and planting in this area. 
 
King William Street 

18. The scheme design can be viewed at Appendix 8. Due to road 
network constraints and the ongoing construction programme at 
Bank junction, construction for King William Street is programmed 
for 2024. The design: 
 Introduces a timed access restriction, Monday to Friday, 7am to 

7pm except for buses, cycles, loading and access to off-street 
premises and passenger drop off/pick up 

 Widens the pavement on both sides of King William Street 
 Provides scope for the introduction of street trees 
 In terms of cycling design guidance, the advisory cycle lanes are 

no longer required. People cycling do not need to be separated 
from motor traffic as traffic volumes have significantly reduced 
over the few years due to the timed traffic restrictions at Bank 
junction.   

Page 33



v.April 2019 

 Provides a dropped kerb across King William Street at the traffic 
lights by Monument junction, where there is currently a kerb 
upstand due to underlying basements. (We continue to engage 
with TfL on the Monument junction project to achieve a 
signalised pedestrian crossing at this location at the earliest 
opportunity). 

 To overcome drainage challenges created by widening the 
footway, the carriageway will be reprofiled. Essentially King 
William Street will be completely renewed between Bank and 
Monument, creating a boulevard effect of wider footways, 
narrower carriageway, street trees and improved crossing points 

 
EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE RECOMMENDATION 
 

The following information relates only to the three locations where 
a decision is being requested. 

 
19. This section sets out the main issues to aid Members in making an 

informed decision on whether or not to make the experimental traffic 
orders at the three locations of King Street, King William Street and 
Old Jewry permanent or not.  It is presented in three areas of 
consideration: 
 results of the monitoring of the traffic experiments 
 results of the statutory and public consultation 
 equalities, Healthy Streets and accessibility assessments 

 

TRAFFIC EXPERIMENT RESULTS 

Monitoring 

20. The approach to monitoring of the traffic and street user benefits 
and disbenefits of the scheme were set out in the Monitoring 
Strategy which was agreed with Transport for London as part of 
the application for Traffic Management Act notifications (TMAN) for 
the Experimental Traffic Orders. 

 
21. The main components of the Monitoring Strategy are: 

 Collision data 
 Journey planner information (Google Maps) 
 Bus journey times (ibus data from TfL) 
 Pedestrian comfort data 
 Street user perception surveys 

A detailed summary is provided in Appendix 2. 

22. The key challenge with monitoring the impacts of the experiments is 
that the baseline data in terms of pedestrian and traffic volumes was 
not available because the measures were initially implemented as 
emergency temporary measures. 

 

Page 34



v.April 2019 

Collision data 

23. Collision data has been analysed for the last five years from 
February 2017 to August 2022 using the CoLSTAT tool to determine 
if there have been any registered collisions at the three locations. 
The TfL collision map has also been used which has data up to 
August 2022. 
 
Old Jewry: 

 no collisions recorded in the last 5 years 
 
King Street:  

 one slight collision involving a pedal cycle in 2017,  
 none since the experimental measures were implemented 

 
King William Street: 

 one slight collision involving a pedestrian and a powered two-
wheeler in 2017 

 one slight collision involving a pedal cycle in 2018 
 one slight collision involved a powered two-wheeler in 2020 

after the temporary measures were implemented 
 one slight collision involving two buses in 2022 during the 

experiment 
 

24. The evidence from the analysed data shows no discernible increase 
in collisions since the temporary/experimental measures were 
implemented. 

 

Journey planner information 

25. The project team engaged with the team at Google Maps. The 
temporary measures implemented in 2020 were not registered in 
Google Maps which meant journey planning did not reflect the 
restrictions, for example it was possible to be routed southbound 
along King Street despite the temporary arrangements. In July 2021, 
baseline journey time data was captured for different routes at the 
individual scheme locations. Once this baseline had been captured 
the details of the restrictions were then input onto Google maps.  
The same origin and destinations were then input for journeys in 
2021 and 2022 to determine the changes in journey times. For 
example, Google would not now direct you along King Street if 
driving from Gresham Street to Queen Street. 
 

26. The changes in routes detailed below would in many instances be 
as part of a longer journey, which may mean that the delay is less 
significant in terms of overall journey time. 
 

27. Old Jewry 
 

Page 35



v.April 2019 

From to Baseline 14th July 
2021 

14th July 
2022 

Poultry Gresham St 1 min 2 min 2 min 

Gresham St Poultry 2 min 7 min 7 min 

 

28. There is a slight additional journey time for vehicles coming from 
Poultry to get to Gresham Street (near junction with Old Jewry) as 
they must use King Street.  
 

29. There is an additional journey time for vehicles coming from 
Gresham Street to get to Poultry due to the experimental scheme as 
vehicles must take an alternative route via St. Martin’s le Grand, 
New Change, Cannon Street and Queen Street.  

 

30. King Street 

From to Baseline 14th July 
2021 

14th July 
2022 

Gresham St Cheapside 
(by Tesco) 

1 min 4-9 min 4-10 min 

Cheapside 
(by Tesco) 

Gresham St 1 min 1 min 1 min 

 

31. There is an additional journey time for vehicles coming from 
Gresham Street to get to Cheapside (by Tesco) due to the 
experimental scheme as vehicles must take an alternative route via 
St. Martin’s le Grand, New Change, Cannon Street and Queen 
Street.  
 

32. There is no change in journey times from Cheapside to Gresham 
Street as King Street northbound is used.  

 

33. King William Street 

From to Baseline 14th July 
2021 

14th July 
2022 

Monument 
junction 

Lombard St 3 mins 3 mins 3 mins 

Lombard St Monument 
junction 

2mins 4-7mins 4-7mins 

 
34. There is no change in journey times from the southern end of King 

William Street to the eastern end of Lombard Street as all vehicles 
are permitted if they need to access the area for a legitimate activity 

Page 36



v.April 2019 

such as picking up or dropping off a passenger or accessing an off-
street premises.  
 

35. The opposite journey from Lombard Street to Monument appears 
longer, however this is not due to the King William Street measure 
but to the Bishopsgate restrictions. 

Bus journeys and TfL Strategic modelling 

36. Bus routes were identified for monitoring in agreement with TfL.  
These are: 
 Cheapside & Poultry – 8 & 25 
 Threadneedle, Lothbury, Old Broad St – 8, 11, 26 & 133 
 King William Street – 21, 43 & 141 
 Fleet Street, Ludgate Hill, St Pauls Churchyard & Cannon 

Street – 11, 15, 17, 26 & 76 
 

37. A baseline in 2019 was agreed and journey times are being 
analysed using iBus data from TfL which provides average actual 
and scheduled running times between two stops for each bus route 
and in each direction.  Bus journey times of an agreed deviation 
from the baseline are being analysed and the outcome of this 
technical analysis is ongoing and will be concluded with TfL in 
advance of the TMAN application to TfL. 
 

38. In 2022, TfL Network Performance undertook a strategic modelling 
exercise of the City street network to determine the cumulative 
impact of several interventions. The objective of the work was to 
determine if the traffic network could perform to an acceptable level 
with existing measures and planned future schemes in place.  
 

39. The schemes included in the model include Bank, Bishopsgate, St. 
Paul’s Gyratory and the Pedestrian Priority streets. 

 
40. Due to the impact of the pandemic on traffic patterns in central 

London and various economic uncertainties with regards working 
behaviours and economic activity, TfL’s traditional modelling 
processes have been adapted for this modelling analysis. Broadly, 
TfL have concluded that the network can perform to an acceptable 
level with all of the above schemes in place. 

 
41. Despite not having all of the bus journey time data available from 

TfL, overall we have a good degree of confidence that the other 
monitoring data sets detailed in this report, along with TfL’s  strategic 
modelling, supports the recommendations. 

 

Pedestrian Comfort 

Due to the rapid implementation of the original temporary measures and 
the reduced level of people walking in the City during the pandemic, it 
was not possible to gather baseline pedestrian flow data to form a 

Page 37



v.April 2019 

baseline of pedestrian comfort levels on the pavement. 2019 data is 
available for King William Street which is a location analysed regularly 
as part of the City’s bi-annual traffic counts. 

Old Jewry 

42. Pavements at the southern end of Old Jewry are very narrow, at one 
point less than 1.2m. The closure of this part of the street to traffic 
and raising of the carriageway will allow pedestrians to make use of 
the carriageway more easily, which they already do. This will raise 
the practical comfort level people walking will experience without 
altering the theoretical comfort levels as the pavement isn’t being 
widened. 

King Street 

43. Pavements along King Street can be quite narrow and feel 
congested when busy. The narrowest pinch point on King Street is 
1.54m and the design for King Street will increase this to 2.2m.  

King William Street  

44. The pedestrian comfort levels in 2019 for the AM and PM peaks has 
been estimated at ~B- to B. With a widened footway and estimating 
for that same volume of pedestrians, the pedestrian comfort level is 
estimated to rise to between A- to A. 

Street User Perception surveys 

45. Due to the absence of some baseline data, the project has sought 
to understand how people have perceived the on-street changes. 
Living Streets was commissioned to undertake Street User 
Perception surveys at all locations. 186 individual surveys were 
carried out, with a minimum of 30 at each site. The full report can be 
viewed at Appendix 2. 
 

46. People were asked a series of questions on: 
 Their previous familiarity with the street 
 Is the street more pleasant than it was 
 Which changes have improved the street 
 Rating for traffic and ease of walking and crossing 
 What additional improvements people would like 

 

47. In brief 64% overall believed the recent changes were for the better, 
varied considerably by site, from 85% at Chancery Lane to 45% at 
King William Street. Only 17% believed the changes were for the 
worse, varying from 10% at King William Street (where 25% thought 
there had been no change and 20% didn’t know) to 38% at 
Threadneedle Street/Old Broad Street. 

 

 

 

Page 38



v.April 2019 

CONSULTATION 

The following information relates to all Phase 1 locations except 
Chancery Lane. 

 

Statutory consultation 

48. Six-month statutory consultation on the experimental traffic orders 
was undertaken from 24 January to 25 July 2022. In total, 20 
responses were received, of these: 

 Five were supportive 
 One was neutral  
 Twelve were not supportive 
 Two were objections 

The full text of the objections can be found in Appendix 3, along with 
a summary of all the statutory consultation responses 

49. Both objections related to increased restrictions on some vehicle 
movements, particularly for taxis. They are not site specific and 
object to restrictions on any street.  The objectors also raised 
concerns about businesses, the taxi trade and local residents 
being able to move around easily if not walking or cycling. 

 
50. Of the three locations being considered in this report neither King 

Street nor Old Jewry restrict the type of vehicle that can enter the 
street but do restrict the way in which the street is approached.  
The restriction on King William Street essentially reinforces what 
was happening due to the timed restrictions at Bank Junction 
already in place. It reinforces that the street is a local access street 
primarily used for the first or final part of a journey, providing 
access for vehicles to properties, as set out in the Transport 
Strategy.  

 
51. Due to the limited space available on the City’s streets, it is not 

possible to provide more space and priority for people walking and 
maintain all vehicle movements at these three locations. It is 
therefore not practically feasible to reconcile these objections and 
meet the objectives of the project (which contribute towards 
delivery of the Transport Strategy and Climate Action Strategy) 
due to the physical constraints of the streets. It is felt that at these 
three locations the balance between motor vehicle access and the 
improvements to people walking and cycling is fair and reasonable 
but recognising that there are disbenefits to people travelling in 
motor vehicles in terms of longer journey times on some routes. 

 
52. It is therefore proposed that these formal objections are not upheld 

in this instance. 
 

 

Page 39



v.April 2019 

Public consultation 

53. The public consultation for the whole Phase 1 programme (except 
Chancery Lane) was conducted between 17 October and 12 
December 2022. The full public consultation report is provided in 
Appendix 4. 
 

54. Notification of the consultation was sent out via: 
 Letters to local businesses and residents 
 Letters emailed to businesses and road user groups 
 Cheapside Business Association newsletters,  
 Social media and a press release 

The consultation window was extended by two weeks to ensure 
further opportunity for community participation 

 
55. In total 305 people responded via an online portal, this included 

four who indicated they were responding on behalf of a business. 
The portal included:  

 an interactive map showing the locations of the proposals 
 maps to explain the traffic restrictions and changes in traffic 

movements (the experimental orders),  
 detailed drawings showing the proposed changes to the 

street 
 an image showing an indication of what a permanent change 

could look like at each location 
 
56. It should be noted that a platform update by the consultant on the 9 

December 2022 introduced a bug which prevented some 
respondents from saving and submitting part of their consultation 
responses, up to the closure of the consultation survey on 12 
December.  This impacted a total of 26 responses for which only 
partially completed data has been analysed and reported on. 

 
57. Where possible, businesses and organisations that could be 

identified were followed up and they were able to submit their 
responses in writing. 
 

58. Participants were asked a series of questions on: 
 Whether they were responding as a resident, business, 

worker or visitor 
 How they feel they have been impacted by the experimental 

measures 
 If people feel the measures have created more space for 

people walking and cycling 
 If people use the street more or less 
 Two questions on level of overall support for the traffic 

changes and the potential for overall change, as 
summarised below: 

 

Page 40



v.April 2019 

Overall, to what extent do you support the traffic changes on this street being made 
permanent? 

 Fully 
support 

Partially 
support 

Do not 
support 

Don’t 
know 

Total  

Old Jewry 61% 5% 31% 3% 130 

King Street 64% 3% 33% - 142 

King William Street 54% 14% 31% 1% 131 

Cheapside 60% 3% 37% - 159 

Old Broad Street / 
Threadneedle St 

64% 3% 32% - 163 

 

Overall, to what extent do you support the other changes on this street being made 
permanent? 

 Fully 
support 

Partially 
support 

Do not 
support 

Don’t 
know 

Total  

Old Jewry 63% 6% 28% 3% 125 

King Street 66% 5% 28% 1% 135 

King William Street 56% 13% 29% 2% 126 

Cheapside 63% 4% 33% - 155 

Old Broad Street / 
Threadneedle St 

64% 3% 31% 2% 160 

 
 

59. Broadly, for each location around two-thirds of respondents 
supported both the traffic changes and further enhancements being 
made permanent and one-third did not support the measures being 
made permanent. 
 

60. People were also given the opportunity to provide their own (open 
text) comments via two questions. 

 
61. On analysis of the free text responses, it was found that the 

respondents often did not respond to the specific question but used 
the free text to make more general comments. This explains why the 
main themes of the responses are very similar across the two 
questions. Another noticeable trend is that people who did not 
support making the traffic or public realm measures permanent were 
statistically more likely to also make a written response, whereas 
people who were supportive were less likely to make a written 
response. 
 

62. For the three locations where a decision is being sought, the main 
themes are summarised below: 

Page 41



v.April 2019 

Please provide any further comments on the impacts the 
current changes have had on you (first free text) 

63. Old Jewry 
 44 written comments in total 
 21 from those supportive  
 23 from those unsupportive 

A number of positive impact comments highlighted the 
improvements made to pedestrian access on the street.  

Other positive comments related to improvements made regarding 
road safety, public realm, and cyclist access, as well as the 
introduction of planters and greenery. 

Of the negative impact comments, the main comments related to:  

 Road safety;  
 Taxi operation;  
 Displaced congestion; and 
 Displaced pollution.  

Other negative impact comments related to cyclist access, increased 
journey times, and access for disabled people.  

 

64. King Street 
 59 written comments in total 
 32 from those supportive 
 27 from those unsupportive 

Views on positive impacts divided into three main themes:  

 Pedestrian access;  
 Cyclist access; and  
 Road safety. 

Other positive impact comments related to reduced traffic, improved 
public realm, and noise reduction. 

In terms of negative impacts, a number of issues were raised in 
relation to displaced congestion and taxi operation. Other issues 
raised related to:  

 Increased journey times;  
 Access for disabled people;  
 Confusion from road users; and 
 Cyclist access.  

 

65. King William Street 
 50 written comments in total 
 26 from those supportive 
 24 from those unsupportive 

Page 42



v.April 2019 

Comments on positive impacts mainly focused on road safety and 
pedestrian access. Other positive impact comments related to cyclist 
access, public realm, and traffic reduction. 

In terms of negative impacts, the main comments related to: 

 Displaced congestion;  
 Cyclist access;  
 Road safety; and 
 Taxi operation.  

Other negative impacts related to increased journey times, impacts 
on businesses, pedestrian access, and access for disabled people.  

 

Please provide us with any other comments you have regarding 
the proposals (second free text) 

66. Old Jewry 
 40 written comments in total 
 27 from those supportive  
 13 from those unsupportive 

The main suggested improvements were related to: 

 General traffic management;  
 Planters and greenery;  
 Street seating; and 
 Taxi operation.  

Other suggested improvement related to maintenance, 
pedestrianisation, improving cycle lanes and introducing 
enforcement.  

In terms of negative impacts, a number of issues were raised in 
relation to access for disabled people.  

Other issues raised related to: 

 Congestion;  
 Increased journey times;  
 Taxi operation; and  
 Visual appearance of the street. 

 

67. King Street 
 41 written comments in total 
 24 from those supportive 
 17 from those unsupportive 

 
The main comments for suggested improvements highlighted the 
value of improving cycle lanes and general traffic management. 
Other suggested improvement comments related to improving 
planters and greenery and improving taxi access. 
 
In terms of negative impacts, the main comments related to: 

 Congestion;  

Page 43



v.April 2019 

 Access for disabled people; 
 Taxi operation; and 
 Cyclist access. 

Other negative impact comments related to confusion from road 
users, pollution, access for the elderly, and impacts on businesses.  
 
 

68. King William Street 
 48 written comments in total 
 28 from those supportive 
 20 from those unsupportive 

 

The main comments for suggested improvements focused on 
improving cycle lanes and taxi access.  

Other suggested improvement comments related to improving: 

 Planters and greenery; 
 Time restrictions; and 
 General traffic management. 

 

Negative impacts mostly related to cyclist access. Other negative 
impacts raised were in relation to: 

 Road safety; 
 Access for disabled people 
 Taxi operation;  
 Congestion. 

 

Conclusions on written feedback 

Old Jewry 

43. The impacts of the Old Jewry scheme are estimated to be marginal 
on traffic and taxi journeys. Whilst journeys from the south may have 
to travel a little further via King Street, journeys from the north may 
be shorter due to making the rest of the street two-way. The street 
design allows any taxi to arrive at any building entrance on Old 
Jewry. It is the case that taxis entering Old Jewry will need to make 
a 3-point turn at Fredericks Place to exit the street, and the same is 
the case for any other vehicle needing access on Old Jewry (mostly 
servicing vehicles). There has been an unusually high level of 
construction and fitout works on Old Jewry over the last two years, 
and this attracts a higher number of vehicles which should eventually 
recede back to normal. The turning manoeuvre is a disbenefit of the 
scheme, however these are undertaken at very low speeds with 
good lines of visibility and will be made easier with the raised table 
in the design. No collisions have been recorded at this location since 
the temporary measures were installed. 
 

44. The design of the public realm measures in the redundant 
carriageway space will require careful consideration, balancing the 

Page 44



v.April 2019 

interaction of people walking and cycling with features such as 
seating and planting. The temporary benches trialled during the 
experiment have had mixed feedback. The area receives good 
amounts of sunshine in the summer and autumn and the seating was 
well used at times but has attracted loitering and litter.  

 
45. Overall, the pedestrian priority and public realm benefits of the 

scheme are estimated to exceed the disbenefits. 

 

King Street 

46. There is a recognised impact of the King Street measures on 
motorised vehicle journeys. If approaching from the north (Gresham 
Street) vehicles must use St. Martin le-Grande and New Change to 
get to the southside of King Street via Queen Street. This has a 
negative impact on some traffic and taxi journeys and the ability of 
taxis to circulate for trade.  
 

47. Another key theme raised is the ability for taxis to drop off people 
directly by the front door of a building on King Street, particularly 
those who may find it more difficult to be dropped off further away 
due to a mobility impairment. To create more footway space there 
has to be less carriageway space.  This requires removing a traffic 
lane.  The road width must be maintained at 5m wide for events such 
as the Lord Mayor’s show.  The design balances the combination of 
footway widening, the requirement for events in terms of road width 
and provides a contra-flow cycle lane on the designated cycling quiet 
route.  Given the requirements to balance, it is felt that this is the 
optimum design for the street.    

 
48. However, this design does mean that kerbside activity including 

servicing and pick up and drop off must take place from Trump 
Street, Cheapside or Gresham Street. Kerbside activity would be a 
safety issue if vehicles were to pull up to the eastern kerb in the 
mandatory cycle lane, causing southbound cyclists to enter the 
northbound traffic lane to overtake. Vehicles stopping in the 
northbound traffic lane to allow a passenger or to deliver goods on 
the western kerb will cause traffic to wait behind, or potentially cause 
some drivers to consider entering the southbound cycle lane to 
overtake. 
 

49. King Street has a limited number of building entrances and little 
active frontage, and it is estimated that a taxi would be able to drop 
off a King Street passenger within less than 50m of any building 
entrance.  The additional distances fall within the current DfT 
Inclusive Mobility guidance1  for walking without a rest, for someone 
who is mobility impaired and using a walking aid.  (It is recognised 

 
1 Inclusive Mobility. A Guide to Best Practice on Access to Pedestrian and Transport Infrastructure 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Page 45



v.April 2019 

that there will be some people who cannot walk the 50m suggested).  
For wheelchair users or people with impaired vision, this distance 
increases to 150M. In exceptional circumstances, it would be 
possible to drop off a passenger off to the King Street kerb side, 
though this may hold up any traffic behind the vehicle. 
 

50. This issue was also identified in the equalities impact assessment. It 
assessed that whilst some people with protected characteristics may 
experience disbenefits, these are outweighed by the benefits to other 
people with protected characteristics who are most likely to 
experience the street as a pedestrian and benefit from the pedestrian 
priority measures, which can also be seen in the CoLSAT analysis. 
 

King William Street 

51. The impact on taxi journeys is also the most pronounced theme 
raised for King William Street. It is estimated that there is a marginal 
impact on taxis from the scheme as they are less able to circulate for 
trade via King William Street and Lombard Street. However, during 
the timed restriction, any vehicle can access King William Street to 
collect or drop off a passenger, so any passenger with an impairment 
would be able to be dropped off or picked up in front of any building 
on King William Street, Lombard Street, or one of the local side 
streets. 
 

52. The restriction as trialled reinforces the use of the street and side 
streets as local access streets as already defined in the City’s Street 
Hierarchy in the Transport Strategy.  

 

Written representations 

52. Written representations to the public consultation were made by: 
 City Property Association 
 Cheapside Business Alliance 
 London Living Streets 
 Member for Cordwainer 
 Motorcycle Action Group 
 London Taxi Drivers Association (original response via the 

online survey was not recorded) 
 A City developer (original response via the online survey was 

not recorded) 

and a summary of these is provided in Appendix 5. 

53. The City Property Association (CPA), a key City developer (who 
originally responded via the survey and wished to be anonymous) 
and London Living Streets were supportive of the measures, with 
the CPA recognising the importance of improved public realm to the 
economy. 
 

Page 46



v.April 2019 

54. The Cheapside Business Alliance is broadly supportive of the 
measures but notes some concerns amongst retail and hospitality 
venues with regards taxi availability and would like some 
consideration given to improving taxi access, particularly on 
Cheapside. 

 
55. Broadly, the LTDA does not support the measures due to the 

impacts on taxi accessibility and the impact on the taxi trade. The 
LTDA would specifically like consideration to be given to allowing 
taxi access through the Cheapside restriction the same as buses 
and cyclists and would prefer King Street to revert to two-way. In 
addition, LTDA would prefer Threadneedle Street to be two-way 
between Bartholomew Lane and Old Broad Street and ideally all the 
way to Bishopsgate. King William Street and Old Jewry are 
considered broadly neutral for taxis. 
 

56. The Member for Cordwainer did not support the measures in 
Cheapside and the Motorcycle Action Group did not support any of 
the measures.   Both were concerned with the balance between 
provision for people walking and other vehicles.  Notably, concern 
was raised regarding taxi access in Cheapside, and concern about 
the impact on congestion elsewhere due to the increasing number 
of restrictions.   

 
57. Following feedback from the Cheapside Business Alliance, along 

with the Member feedback, recommendations for Cheapside are not 
included in this report and further work will be undertaken before 
bringing forward a recommendation for Members later this year. 
 

58. For the three locations that are the subject of the requested decision 
in this report, there is support from three of the organisations that 
have written in for the measures as a whole and caveated support 
from one organisation.  However, it should be recognised that 
concerns have been raised by the LTDA regarding taxi access and 
availability as well as issues by the Motorcycle Action Group 
regarding the balance of street space use, particularly on King 
Street.   
 

EQUALITIES, HEALTHY STREETS AND ACCESSIBILITY 

Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) 

59. An EQIA was produced for the initial temporary measures and used 
as the basis for the experimental phase of the trials. In consideration 
of the question of whether or not to make the measures permanent, 
a more detailed EQIA has been undertaken on the proposed outline 
designs for each location. 
 

60. In addition, a consultancy specialising in equality assessments 
provided guidance on a framework for the next stage of EQIA’s with 

Page 47



v.April 2019 

an emphasis on assessing each location individually whilst still 
referencing the cumulative impacts of the measures. 

 
61. The EqIA full reports can be found in Appendix 6 (supplementary 

appendix pack) 
 

62. The main themes for benefits and disbenefits for people with 
protected characteristics for each location referenced below: 

 

63. King Street 
Benefits – improvements to the walking environment with wider 
pavements increasing comfort and ease of crossing the street, 
improvements to cycling provision and road safety 
 
Disbenefits – door to door access, access to properties for people 
with mobility impairments, increased journey times for people in 
vehicles 
 

 
64. Old Jewry 

Benefits – improved walking environment and ease of crossing, 
places to rest 
 
Disbenefits – people with sight impairment can be disadvantaged 
by lack of delineation between “road” and footway, longer journeys 
by motor vehicles  
 
 

65. King William Street 
Benefits – improvements to the walking environment with wider 
pavements and improved crossing facilities, access maintained for 
taxis and other vehicles needing access, bus journeys improved 
with a better road surface 
 
Disbenefits – some people may be disadvantaged by the removal 
of the advisory cycle lanes, removal of traffic islands for people 
crossing the street 
 

66. Overall, the EQIA concluded that measures are judged to provide a 
net benefit to people with protected characteristics due to the 
improvements in pavement space, resting areas and crossing 
facilities.  

 
 

67. Another theme that has emerged from stakeholders and businesses 
is the perceived impact that the measures have had on the 
availability of taxis, particularly for women at night. Whilst a number 
of factors influence the availability of taxis, including the number of 
licensed taxi drivers, it is acknowledged that the pedestrian priority 

Page 48



v.April 2019 

measures combined with other recent changes such as Bishopsgate 
have had an impact on taxi circulation patterns. 

 
68.  With the limited space available on these streets, it has not been 

possible to mitigate all of the negative impacts of the proposed 
changes in the designs, whilst recognising there are also significant 
positive impacts on people with protected characteristics. 

 
69. In conclusion, due regard to the City’s statutory duties has been 

given including maintaining reasonable access to premises, 
improving amenity, facilitating bus traffic and securing the safety and 
convenience of passengers and other road users. Due regard has 
been paid to the City’s public-sector equality duties and the interests 
of those with protected characteristics. 

 

Healthy Streets Assessment 

70. The ten Healthy Streets indicators capture the elements that are 
essential for making streets attractive and accessible places to walk, 
cycle and spend time, supporting social and economic activity. The 
Transport Strategy includes a proposal to embed the Healthy 
Streets approach in transport planning and delivery. 
 

71. Healthy Streets checks are carried out before a scheme or design is 
undertaken to ensure that people’s experience of using a street is 
captured and identify opportunities for improvements.  Further 
assessments are carried out during the design process. A final 
check may also be undertaken following a schemes implementation.  
 

72. An assessment has been undertaken for each site based on the 
proposed design if the Experimental Traffic Orders are made 
permanent, these are summarised below and the scoring available 
in Appendix 11. 

 

King Street 

73. The assessment of the design shows improvements across all of the 
indicators with the exception of shade and shelter, which does not 
change.  The Healthy Streets score shows an increase from 38 to 
54. This is driven by a variety of factors including less noise due to 
reduced traffic, the narrower carriageway making the street easier 
to cross and improved crossing facilities. 

 

 

Page 49



v.April 2019 

 

 

Old Jewry 

74. The assessment of the design shows improvements across all of the 
indicators with the exception of shade and shelter, which does not 
change. The Healthy Streets score shows an increase from 41 to 
59.  This is driven by a variety of factors including an increase in 
places to stop and rest and an improvement in noise due to reduced 
traffic. 

 

Page 50



v.April 2019 

 

King William Street  

75. The assessment of the design shows improvements across all of the 
indicators. The Healthy Streets score shows an increase from 39 to 
59. This is driven by a variety of factors including an improvement in 
the likelihood of people choosing to walk and cycle, the street 
becoming easier to cross and people feel more relaxed on the street 
due to the proposed trees and wider footway space. 

 

 Accessibility 
76. To support these recommendations, Officers have assessed the 

designs at all three locations using the City of London Streets 
Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT).  
 

77. CoLSAT enables street designers to identify how street features 
impact on the different needs of disabled people. The tool's key 
feature recognises that the needs of different groups of disabled 
people can be contradictory; that improving accessibility for one 
group may decrease accessibility for another. CoLSAT identifies 
the trade-offs that may be needed to ensure no one is excluded 
from using the City's streets and provides the basis for 
engagement and discussion to maximise the benefits for all. 
 
KING STREET 

CoLSAT Results Table   

   
Total 0 scores* – 

severe 
accessibility issue  

Total 1 scores**- 
significant 

accessibility 
issues  

Page 51



v.April 2019 

   Before  After  Before  After  
Electric Wheelchair user     4  

Manual Wheelchair user     4  

Mobility Scooter user     2  

Walking Aid user     4  

Person with a walking impairment     14 8 

Long cane user    3 1 

Guide Dog user  2   2  

Residual Sight user      2  

Deaf or Hearing impairment      8 2 

Acquired neurological impairment  2   2  
Autism/Sensory-processing 
diversity      2  

Developmental Impairment    4 1 

Total 4  0 53 12 

* This score means most people in this segment would be excluded by 
the street characteristic in the selected configuration. 
** This score means some people in this segment may be able to 
negotiate the street characteristic in the selected configuration, but it 
would significantly deplete their levels of confidence and energy, and 
they would be likely to give up on the journey if they had to negotiate it 
more than once or twice. 

 
78. For King Street the results show an overall improvement in the 

performance of the street design across all groups. Where the 
detailed design for King Street has been completed all of the zero 
scores have been mitigated. However, some disabled groups will 
still be affected, though to a lesser degree than the existing street 
arrangement.  
 

OLD JEWRY 
CoLSAT Results Table   

   
Total 0 scores* – 

severe 
accessibility issue  

Total 1 scores**- 
significant 

accessibility 
issues  

   Before  After  Before  After  
Electric Wheelchair user  2  2 1 

Manual Wheelchair user  2  2 1 

Mobility Scooter user  2  1 1 

Walking Aid user  1  2 1 

Person with a walking impairment  1  1 1 

Long cane user   1 1 1 

Guide Dog user   1 2 2 

Residual Sight user   1   

Deaf or Hearing impairment   1   

Acquired neurological impairment    2  

Page 52



v.April 2019 

Autism/Sensory-processing 
diversity      

Developmental Impairment      

Total 8 4 13 8 

 
79. The results for Old Jewry indicate that, whilst the scores have 

improved overall, more work needs to be done in the detailed 
design stage to ensure that users with visual impairments are not 
excluded by the proposed street arrangement. This is primarily due 
to the level surface which scores well for some people with mobility 
issues but not others with visual impairments.   
  

KING WILLIAM STREET 
CoLSAT Results Table   

   
Total 0 scores – 

severe 
accessibility issue  

Total 1 scores- 
significant 

accessibility 
issues  

   Before  After  Before  After  
Electric Wheelchair user  2 1 2  

Manual Wheelchair user  2 1   

Mobility Scooter user  2 1   

Walking Aid user    2  

Person with a walking impairment    12 9 

Long cane user  5 3 1  

Guide Dog user   1 4 5 

Residual Sight user    5 4 

Deaf or Hearing impairment    6 3 

Acquired neurological impairment    3  
Autism/Sensory-processing 
diversity    3 3 

Developmental Impairment  5 3 11 8 

Total 16 10 49 32 

 
80. The results for King William Street indicate that, whilst the scores 

have improved overall, more work needs to be done in the detailed 
design stage to ensure that users with visual, mobility and 
development impairments are not excluded by the proposed street 
arrangement. This is primarily due to the length of the street not 
having crossing points in between the two junctions. 

 
 
Legal implications 
81. The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (RTRA 1984) provides 

powers to regulate use of the highway. In exercising powers under 
the RTRA 1984, section 122 of the Act imposes a duty on the City 
to have regard (so far as practicable) to securing the ‘expeditious, 
convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic 

Page 53



v.April 2019 

(including pedestrians and cyclists) and the provision of suitable and 
adequate parking facilities on and off the highway’. The three 
measures represent a restriction on the movement of certain classes 
of vehicular traffic and an indirect impediment to the expeditious and 
convenient movement of traffic on surrounding streets due to the 
displacement of traffic.  However, this duty also relates to 
pedestrians, and it has been demonstrated that the measures will 
improve pedestrian movement and general pedestrian amenity. 

 
82. The City must also have regard to such matters as the desirability of 

securing and maintaining reasonable access to premises and the 
effect on the amenities of any locality affected.  

 
83. The procedure relating to the making of experimental traffic orders 

is set out in the Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 1996 and, in particular, 
regulations 22 and 23. Regulation 23 sets out a truncated procedure 
for making the provisions of an experimental traffic order permanent. 
As such the City will not need to comply with the requirements of 
consultation, notice of proposals and objections in regulations 6, 7 
and 8 of the RTRA if certain criteria are met. 

 
84. Pursuant to Regulation 9(1) of the 1996 Regulations, the City has 

considered the necessity of holding a public inquiry and has decided 
against holding a public inquiry in the exercise of its broad discretion 
under Regulation 9. 

 
85. The decision to not hold a public inquiry is based on the following 

evidence:  
 

 the temporary measures have been in place for over two years 
under (first) a temporary traffic order and then an experimental 
traffic order, meaning that the impacts of the measures on traffic 
is well understood 

 A small number (two) non-specific objections were raised in the 
statutory consultation 

 Overall the traffic changes have been assessed as having a 
minor impact on the traffic network 

 
In light of these considerations, a public inquiry is not considered 
justified when taking into account the cost. 

 
86. The recommendations within this report are with the City’s powers 

and duties. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 54



v.April 2019 

Option 1 – make measures at three locations permanent 
87. The information provided above in Section 4 above is intended to 

provide Members with the relevant information to make an 
informed decision on whether the experimental measures should 
be made permanent, beginning with a permanent traffic order and 
continuing with the construction of permanent measures.  

 
88. King Street is programmed to be the first location implemented. The 

construction start date has been adjusted to account for UKPN utility 
works on King Street. Our works will follow these works in ~ March 
2023.  

 
Option 2 – do not make measures permanent  
89. Under this option, the experimental traffic orders would conclude, 

and the existing temporary measures on-street would be removed 
and the streets revert to their previous state. 

 
 

5. Delivery 
Team 

90. The delivery team for the project is set out below:  

 Project management by the Projects and Programmes team 
in Policy and Projects. 

 Construction Engineering/Design and Construction 
Supervision to be managed by Highways team 

 Contractor – FM Conway under the highways term contract. 

 
6. Programme 

and key 
dates 

91. The reporting process for Phase 1 is challenging in the framework 
of the Project Procedures as there are six individual projects 
proceeding to their own unique timelines due to the nature of their 
location, design approach and technical constraints. 
 

92. There is a need to make a decision on the five existing experimental 
traffic orders in advance of them expiring in July 2023. The decision 
on three of the locations is presented in this report. 

 
93.  The other two locations at Cheapside and Old Broad 

Street/Threadneedle Street, require further development work and 
analysis of the public consultation feedback, before a further G5 
report is submitted in May 2023. This report will also have a more 
detailed analysis of the estimated costs for constructing all of the 
schemes which will inform if project scopes need to be adjusted or 
funding bids made 

 
94. The Chancery Lane experimental traffic order will commence in 

February 2023 and run for a minimum six months, and maximum 
eighteen months and the results of the experiment will be reported 
in early 2024. 

 

Page 55



v.April 2019 

95. Dates for construction works are subject to the availability of network 
road space and finalising utility designs due to moving kerb lines. 

 
Key dates 

 February 2023 – notify statutory consultees on intent to make 
traffic orders permanent, and then make the traffic orders. 

 February 2023 – commence Chancery Lane experimental traffic 
order. 

 January-March 2023 – finalise the detailed design for King 
Street. Commence construction from ~March 2023 following 
UKPN works on King Street. 

 January–April 2023 – complete the civils design for Old Jewry 
and run public design workshops with local stakeholders for the 
public realm design of the space. Construction of Old Jewry to 
follow completion of King Street due to requirement to maintain 
a route for southbound cyclists. 

 January – July 2023 – finalise the detailed design for King 
William Street, liaise with TfL on their design for Monument 
junction, and book roadspace for 2024 construction following the 
conclusion of the Bank junction works. 

 May 2023 a further report to consider the experimental traffic 
orders and proposed changes on Cheapside and Threadneedle 
Street/Old Broad Street. 

 
7. Risks 96. Some of the estimated risks eventuated and became issues.  This 

report requests drawing down against three of the risks from the 
Costed Risk Register, totalling £56k.  The risk register can be found 
in Appendix 9. 

 

97. The main ongoing risk implications for the programme and 
associated schemes are: 

 Delay in receiving TMAN approval from TfL 
 Resourcing: Not being able to deliver the number of schemes 

that is expected of the programme  
 Engagement and external support: Issues with external 

engagement and buy-in for the detailed design 
 Legal Issues: Receiving legal challenges regarding the decision 

to proceed with permanent traffic orders 

 

98. Other risks revolve around continued increase of material costs over 
the length of the programme to the end of 2024.   

 
8. Success 

criteria 
99. Programme wide success criteria was set at the initiation of the 

programme: 

Page 56



v.April 2019 

1) Number of kilometres of new pedestrian priority streets and 
total length of pedestrian priority streets (Climate Action 
Strategy and Transport Strategy targets) 
 

2) Length of street with pedestrian comfort level of A+, length 
of street with pedestrian comfort level of at least B+ (Climate 
Action Strategy and Transport Strategy targets) 

 
3) Percentage of people rating the experience of walking in the 
City as pleasant (Transport Strategy target and measured 
through the City Streets survey) 

 
100. The three schemes combined create approximately 600m of new 

pedestrian priority streets in the square mile. 
 

101. Pedestrian comfort levels are improved to an average of A+ on 
King William Street and the southern section of Old Jewry,  

 
102. Analysis of the proposed street improvements using the Healthy 

Street assessment tool shows a significant improvement in the 
overall performance (scores) of the streets for people walking and 
cycling. 

 
103. Significant improvements have been made at the three locations 

through the design process to improve the accessibility for people 
with visual, mobility, sensory or development impairments (CoLSAT 
scores).  

 
9. Progress 

reporting 
104. Monthly project vision reports will be made. 

 

105. The next G5 report in May 2023 will seek a decision on whether 
to make permanent the traffic orders for Cheapside and Old Broad 
Street/Threadneedle Street. It will also provide more detailed cost 
estimates and request the budget setup for implementing the other 
locations and any further funding bids that may be required. 

  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 Project Coversheet 
Appendix 2 Street user Perception survey report 
Appendix 3 Summary of Statutory Consultation responses 
Appendix 4 Public Consultation report 
Appendix 5 Summary of written submissions by organisations 
Appendix 6 Equality Impact Assessments (3 locations) 
Appendix 7 CoLSAT accessibility analysis 
Appendix 8 Scheme designs 
Appendix 9 Costed Risk Provision 

Page 57



v.April 2019 

Appendix 10 Finance tables 
Appendix 11 Healthy Street assessments 

 
 
Contact 
 
Report Author Kristian Turner 
Email Address kristian.turner@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

 
 
 

Page 58



 
 

V14 July 2019 
 

Project Coversheet 
[1] Ownership & Status 
Unique Project Identifier: 12269 
Core Project Name: Pedestrian Priority Streets Phase 1 
Programme Affiliation (if applicable): Pedestrian Priority Programme 
Project Manager:  Kristian Turner 
Definition of need: Climate Action 

Key measures of success:  

1) Increase the number of kilometres of new pedestrian priority streets and total length 
of pedestrian priority streets (Climate Action Strategy and Transport Strategy targets) 

2) Increase the length of City streets with pedestrian comfort level of A+, and lengths of 
street with pedestrian comfort level of at least B+ (Climate Action Strategy and 
Transport Strategy targets) 

3) Increase the percentage of people rating the experience of walking in the City as 
pleasant (Transport Strategy target and measured through the City Streets survey) 

 
Expected timeframe for the project delivery:  
Original timelines: 
Gateway 5 – Authority to Start Work – October 2019 
Completion of interim measures – summer 2022  
 
Amended Timelines 
Completion of Phase 1 Permanent measures – end of 2024 
 
Key Milestones:  
G345 – October 2019 
ETO’s commence – January 2022 
Experiment end – July 2023 
Public consultation – Sept/Oct 2022  Oct/Dec 2022 
Decision report – Nov 2022 on 3 of the locations (King Street, Old Jewry and King William 
Street) Jan 2023 
Following  locations (Cheapside and Threadneedle Street/Old Broad Street) May 2023. 
 
Construction of Phase 1 schemes: March 2023 through to the end of 2024 
 
Are we on track for completing the project against the expected timeframe for 
project delivery? N – The project timelines to implement interim measures have 
have slipped due to various design constraints and instead recommending to move 
to public consultation and implement permanent measures in one go.  
Revised the timelines for the delivery of the permanent measures. 
 
Has this project generated public or media impact and response which the 
City of London has needed to manage or is managing?  
No. 
  

 
 

[2] Finance and Costed Risk 
Headline Financial, Scope and Design Changes:  
 
Since G1/2 report:  

 Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk) of whole programme: £6M-£8M 

Page 59



 
 

V14 July 2019 
 

 Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £199,000 
 Spend to date: £0 
 Costed Risk Against the Project: 0 
 CRP Drawn Down:  None 
 Estimated Programme Dates: March 2020 – end of 2022 (for Phase 1) 

‘Options Appraisal and Design and Authority to Start work’ G3-4-5 report (as 
approved by PSC 20/10/2021): 

 Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): Phase 1 budget £2,601,628 
 Overall project estimate £6-8M 
 Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) £2,402,628 
 Spend to date: £43,419 
 Costed Risk Against the Project: £473,000 
 CRP Drawn Down:  None 
 Estimated Programme Dates: March 2020 – end of 2022 (for Phase 1) 

 
Scope/Design Change and Impact: Authority to proceed design and 
implementation of interim measures 
 
Issues report – (as approved (For Information)  by OPPS 26/09/2022): 

 Total Estimated Cost (excluding risk): Phase 1 budget £2,601,628 
 Overall project estimate £6-8M 
 Resources to reach next Gateway (excluding risk) no new funding request 
 Spend to date: £545,118 
 Costed Risk Against the Project: £473,000 
 CRP Drawn Down:  None 
 Estimated Programme Dates: March 2020 – end of 2022 (for Phase 1 

decision on experiments) 
 
Following technical challenges agreed to not proceed with the interim measures 
as part of the experimental phase and instead to focus on the longer term designs 
should any of the experiments be made permanent.  Agreed to proceed to public 
consultation.  
 

 

 
Total anticipated on-going commitment post-delivery [£]:N/A 
 Programme Affiliation [£]:N/A  

 
 

 
 

Page 60



  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

City Of London Pedestrian Priority Programme 
Perception Survey Report 
 
September 2021 

Page 61



  

LIVING STREETS  2 
 

Contents 

 
 
 

 

 
Executive summary .................................................................................................... 3 

Background and methodology ................................................................................... 5 

The brief ................................................................................................................. 5 

The questionnaire .................................................................................................. 6 

The surveys ............................................................................................................ 7 

Data analysis .......................................................................................................... 8 

Overall results ............................................................................................................ 9 

1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? ........................................ 9 

2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? ................... 11 

3. Evaluating on-street changes ........................................................................... 13 

4. Pavement width ............................................................................................... 17 

5. Crossing the street ........................................................................................... 18 

6. Traffic levels ..................................................................................................... 19 

7. Attractiveness .................................................................................................. 20 

4-7. Comparison of feature scores across all locations ....................................... 21 

8. Additional improvements ................................................................................ 22 

8a. Other improvements suggested .................................................................... 24 

Locations .................................................................................................................. 27 

1. Cheapside ......................................................................................................... 27 

2. Old Jewry .......................................................................................................... 38 

3. King Street ........................................................................................................ 48 

4. Chancery Lane .................................................................................................. 58 

5. King William Street and Abchurch Lane (south) .............................................. 68 

6. Threadneedle Street and Old Broad Street (south) ......................................... 78 

Map of locations ...................................................................................................... 88 

 
  

Page 62



  

LIVING STREETS  3 
 

Executive summary 

 
 
 

 
In connection with its Pedestrian Priority Programme to enhance the comfort and safety of 
people walking, The City of London of London asked Living Streets to carry out on-street 
pedestrian perception surveys at six sites where measures had been put in place during the 
Covid-19 pandemic to increase pedestrian space. The surveys were to collect both 
quantitative and qualitative information which would help support the decision-making 
process about which of these measures (or any additional measures) should be made 
permanent.  
 
The six sites were: 
1. Cheapside east of Bread Street between Wood Street and Queen Street. 
2. Old Jewry between Cheapside and Gresham Street. 
3. King Street between Cheapside and Gresham Street. 
4. Chancery Lane between Carey Street and Southampton Buildings. 
5. King William Street from Cannon Street to the Bank junction, and Abchurch Lane 
from Cannon Street to King William Street. 
6. Threadneedle Street from the Bank junction to Gracechurch Street and Old Broad 
Street from Threadneedle Street to London Wall. 
 
Various traffic restrictions had been introduced and space reallocated to walkers and 
cyclists at every site. Cheapside and Chancery Lane also had additional greening and 
outdoor seating in the form of small ‘parklets’ on the carriageway. 
 
A total of 186 pedestrians, at least 30 at each site, were interviewed during September 
2021, using a simple and brief questionnaire. 
 
Most respondents were familiar with the locations, with 75% overall, and at least 66% at 
each site, saying they had used the street in question before March 2020. Of these, a 
healthy 64% overall believed the recent changes were for the better, though this varied 
considerably by site, from 85% at Chancery Lane to 45% at King William Street. Only 17% 
believed the changes were for the worse, varying from 10% at King William Street (where 
25% thought there had been no change and 20% didn’t know) to 38% at Threadneedle 
Street/Old Broad Street. 
 
Respondents were then asked to approve specific interventions from a list, although not all 
of these applied across all the sites. Overall, the most popular choice was more space for 
walking at 57%, though at the two sites with greening and outdoor seating, these 
interventions earned positive scores of 79% and 73% respectively. 
 

Page 63



  

LIVING STREETS  4 
 

Respondents were asked to rate pavement width, ease of crossing, traffic levels and overall 
attractiveness on a score of 1 to 5, where 1 was poor. The ratings for all these features were 
high overall, with average scores clustering around 4, though there were some notable 
variations. Pavement width was rated lowest at Old Jewry (3.1) and highest at Cheapside 
(4.5). Ease of crossing was notably lower at King William Street and Threadneedle and Old 
Broad Streets (3.9) than at Old Jewry (4.7). Ratings for traffic levels varied between 4 (Old 
Jewry, King William Street) and 4.4 (Chancery Lane). Ratings for attractiveness varied 
between 3.5 (Old Jewry) and 4.3 (Chancery Lane). 
 
Respondents were finally asked what further improvements they would like to see, with a 
set list and a field for other suggestions. The most popular item on the list was greening, 
mentioned by 47% of respondents, almost twice the number of the second most popular 
option, outdoor seating at 24%. Greening was also the most popular option at all the 
individual locations, with scores varying from 32% at Old Jewry to 65% at King William 
Street. Outdoor seating was selected by only 7% of respondents at King Street but 41% at 
Chancery Lane. 
 
Several themes emerged from responses to the ‘Other’ field, in particular suggestions to 
resurface the streets more appropriately, mentioned by 25% of respondents overall, 
sometimes in connection with calls to improve the overall streetscape or entirely 
pedestrianise the street. 
 
Though there were some expressions of concern for the impact on drivers and fears that 
congestion would simply shift elsewhere, there were very few calls to reverse the changes 
and lift the restrictions on vehicles: overall only 15 people (8%) suggested this as an 
improvement. 
 
It became clear through discussions that while many respondents recognised that the 
interventions were temporary and experimental, some found that aspects of the current 
implementation were problematic in themselves. This was particularly clear with the on-
carriageway pedestrian lanes and with the various temporary traffic signs, which some saw 
as contributing to street clutter and a poor-quality environment which in places felt less 
safe for pedestrians. There were also some local concerns, particularly at Old Jewry where 
bollards at the junction with Poultry had caused a problem with reversing vehicles. But 
respondents who raised these issues were more likely to believe that the solution was to 
make the changes permanent and do them ‘properly’ rather than reversing them. 

Page 64



  

LIVING STREETS  5 
 

Background and 
methodology 

 
 
 
The City of London of London’s Pedestrian Priority Programme is a three-year 
programme, running from 2021 to 2024, implementing pedestrian priority across the 
Square Mile to enhance the comfort and safety of people walking. It includes 
continuing some measures put in place for the Covid-19 pandemic and introducing 
new measures to improve the walking environment. 
 
The City of London of London asked Living Streets to carry out on-street research at 
selected locations where temporary interventions had been made. The focus was to 
collate people’s views about the current measures installed as a result of the 
pandemic, such as the widening of footways. The surveys were to collect both 
quantitative and qualitative information which would help support the decision-
making process about which of these measures (or any additional measures) should 
be made permanent. 
 
The City of London of London identified six specific sites for the initial phase of 
surveys: 
 
1. Cheapside east of Bread Street between Wood Street and Queen Street. 
2. Old Jewry between Cheapside and Gresham Street. 
3. King Street between Cheapside and Gresham Street. 
4. Chancery Lane between Carey Street and Southampton Buildings. 
5. King William Street from Cannon Street to the Bank junction, and Abchurch 

Lane from Cannon Street to King William Street. 
6. Threadneedle Street from the Bank junction to Gracechurch Street and Old 

Broad Street from Threadneedle Street to London Wall. 
 
At least 30 completed surveys were required at each site, covering the morning, 
lunchtime and evening peak. 
 
The City of London provided some key messages when communicating with the 
public on the Pedestrian Priority Programme: it was intended to improve the look 
and feel of the area, improve safety and provide cleaner air and a better place for 
walking 
  

Page 65



  

LIVING STREETS  6 
 

The questionnaire 

 
 
 

 
The key research tool was a questionnaire agreed with the City of London and Living 
Streets. This needed to be both simple and brief, given the necessity to stop people 
who were likely predominantly to be local workers in a hurry, but rich enough to 
elicit useful responses. The final questionnaire used was as follows: 
 
Please answer the following questions based on your experience as a pedestrian.  
 
1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? Yes/No: if no, got to 
Question 3. 
 
2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was prior to March 
2020? Yes/No/Don’t know 
 
3. On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of 
these have improved this street? (choose all that apply) 

 More space for people walking 
 Greening (e.g. planters, parklets or trees) 
 Space for cycling (cycle lanes) 
 Cycle parking     
 Outdoor seating  
 Other (please specify below) 

 
For questions 4-7, please rate on a scale of 1-5, where 1 is poor and 5 is excellent. 
 
4. How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
5. How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
6. How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
7. Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
 
8. What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose 
all that apply) 

 More space for people walking 
 Greening (e.g. planters, parklets or trees)  
 Space for cycling (cycle lanes) 
 Cycle parking     
 Outdoor seating  
 Other (please specify below)  

Page 66



  

LIVING STREETS  7 
 

The surveys and data 
analysis 

 
 
 

 
The surveys took place over six weekdays in September 2021, working at one 
location per day. Two Living Streets surveyors were present on the specified sites in 
the mornings, lunchtimes and early evenings, except on the first day when due to 
late confirmation of the details all the surveys were collected at lunchtime and early 
evening. We chose two survey sites at each location, on different sections of the 
street and/or on different sides to cover a variety of pedestrian routes, and 
alternated positions from one session to the next to randomise for potential 
interviewer bias. One surveyor, Des de Moor, was present at all the surveys and is 
the author of this report. Des was supported at various times by three other 
experienced members of Living Streets staff. 
 
To make the exercise as quick and easy for respondents as possible, the surveys 
were conducted as interviews with the surveyor filling in the form rather that asking 
respondents to fill it in. As expected, we were able to stop only a minority of passers-
by, no more than one in ten: many people are naturally suspicious of strangers 
attempting to stop them in the street and their first assumption is that they are 
being asked to buy something or make a charity donation. Even when passers-by 
understood what we were doing, they often said they were in too much of a hurry 
for various reasons – late for work, late for a meeting, needing to catch a train. Even 
so, enough people were prepared to talk to us (in some cases while we walked 
alongside them) and we had no problems meeting our targets. Some respondents 
make a special effort to stop as they had noticed the changes and had clear views 
about them, either positive or negative, which they wanted to communicate. 
 
We found it helpful to make clear that we were surveying on behalf of the City of 
London and to stress that the survey was very short. In practice it could be 
completed in little more than a minute and respondents often appeared pleasantly 
surprised that it was so quick and easy. 
 
As we weren’t collecting any personal data, there were no data protection 
requirements to satisfy. 
 
While there was no requirement to collect any demographic information about 
respondents, we tried to stop a wide variety of people in terms of age, gender, 

Page 67



  

LIVING STREETS  8 
 

ethnicity and appearance and to avoid making any prior judgements about who was 
more or less likely to talk to us (except if people were obviously talking on the phone 
or something similar). 
 
Within the overall limitations of time, as well as recording quantitative responses, 
we captured as many open text comments as we could to provide qualitative 
information. We quickly found in practice that there were a couple of common 
possible responses missing from the survey as it stood and subsequently tried to 
record these consistently. For question 2, it was helpful to make a distinction 
between better, no change, worse or ‘don’t know’. Many people spontaneously 
offered no change as a response to this question, often in locations where they 
hadn’t noticed the changes. For question 3, many people spontaneously offered 
‘reduced traffic’ as a positive change, and we began systematically to note this as a 
possible response.  
 
Data analysis 
The responses, together with information identifying the dates, time periods and 
locations where they were collected, were transferred to an Excel spreadsheet. They 
have been analysed below both location by location and on an overall basis. 
 
Reviewing the open text responses and other notes of conversations with 
respondents, several recurring themes have been identified and analysed 
statistically, as well as providing a selection of comments which may prove 
interesting and helpful. 
 
Most respondents were familiar with the sites in question before the changes were 
made so answered ‘yes’ to question 1. As the numbers who were not familiar with 
the locations were relatively low and likely not statistically significant, we have not 
drilled down into the data to explore correlations between their familiarity and their 
responses to other questions. 
 
The Excel spreadsheet of the data is attached as an appendix. 
  

Page 68



  

LIVING STREETS  9 
 

Overall results 

 
 
 
 
 

1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? 
 
Overall, we collected 186 responses, of whom 139 (75%) had travelled along the 
streets before March 2020. 
 

Yes % No % 

139 75% 47 25% 

 
 

 
 
The proportions varied between sites as shown below, but the majority of 
respondents at every site were familiar with it from before 2020, as would be 
expected in a working area like the City at a time when tourism is considerably 
reduced. The lowest proportion of respondents familiar with the street was 65% at 
King William Street, the highest 87% at Cheapside. Sites 5 and 6, King William Street 
and Threadneedle/Old Broad Street, yielded notably higher proportions of 
respondents who either hadn’t walked along the street before or only knew it from 
very recently: this may be due to these streets providing through routes between 
key destinations. 
  

Yes No

Page 69



  

LIVING STREETS  10 
 

 
Each location is described in more detail below, under Locations. See the table 
overleaf for a breakdown of responses to question 1 site by site. 
 

Location Street Respondents Pre-2020? % 

1 Cheapside 30 26 87 

2 Old Jewry 31 24 77 

3 King Street 30 22 73 

4 Chancery Lane 32 26 81 

5 King William Street 31 20 65 

6 Threadneedle/Old Broad Street 32 21 66 

Totals 186 139 75 

 
The graph below shows the proportions at each location: 
 

 
 
 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

1 Cheapside 2 Old Jewry 3 King 4 Chancery 5 Kg William 6 Threadndl

Yes No

Page 70



  

LIVING STREETS  11 
 

2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? 
 
Of the 139 respondents eligible to answer this question across all sites, 89 (64%) 
found the changes to their site to be for the better, a notably high approval rating. 
As mentioned above, we distinguished between those who said the changes had 
been for the worse, and those who had not noticed a change. In the latter group 
were several respondents who had not noticed the interventions, particularly at sites 
where changes were entirely to do with traffic management and carriageway lanes. 
But when the changes were pointed out to them, some of these respondents 
expressed positive responses to question 3 below. 
 

Better % No change % Worse % Don't know % Total 

89 64 16 12 23 17 11 8 139 

 

 
 
At every site the greatest number of respondents found the changes for the better, 
though the proportions varied significantly. The highest approval for the changes 
was at Chancery Lane where 85% of respondents considered them for the better, 
and only 12% considered them for the worse. In contrast, only 45% of respondents 
considered the changes for the better at King William Street, while 35% either 
considered them for the worse or that they had made no difference. 
 
After Chancery Lane, Cheapside and King Street both have approval ratings of 73%. It 
may be relevant here that both Chancery Lane and Cheapside have more obvious 
interventions in the form of greening and outdoor seating, though there are none of 
these at King Street, where the results are very similar to Cheapside, and arguably 
slightly better as fewer people found the changes here for the worse. 
 
 

Better No change Worse Don't know

Page 71



  

LIVING STREETS  12 
 

In most cases, the proportion who believed the changes were for the worse varied 
between 10-15%. The exception is at Threadneedle Street and Old Broad Street 
where a significant 38% of respondents found the changes for the worse.  
 
Anecdotally, the people who didn’t like the changes split into two groups. By far the 
largest of these comprised those who generally approved of the principal but 
thought the temporary nature of the current interventions was either insufficient or 
had made things worse. At several sites, and particularly at Threadneedle Street and 
Old Broad Street, numerous respondents either hadn’t noticed the on-carriageway 
pedestrian lanes, assumed they were cycle lanes, thought they were confusing and 
had sometimes made it more difficult to cross, or thought they would be unsafe to 
use. At Old Jewry there was a particular problem with motor vehicles caught out by 
the closure at the southern end having to reverse out, and several respondents 
pointed out that this might be solved with a more permanent solution, for example 
involving better signing and resurfacing the street to make it more clearly a vehicle-
free space. 
 
A second, smaller group objected to the changes because of their impact on traffic, 
often arguing that it had simply displaced congestion to elsewhere. A few people 
also raised concerns about the cost of the interventions, arguing that there were 
higher priorities for local authority spending. 
 
More details are captured in our observations and in selected respondent comments 
in the sections on specific sites. 
 
The table and graph below compare the responses to this question across sites. 
 

Location Street Better No change Worse Don’t 
know 

1 Cheapside 73 8 15 4 

2 Old Jewry 50 25 13 13 

3 King Street 73 5 14 9 

4 Chancery Lane 85 0 12 4 

5 King William Street 45 25 10 20 

6 Threadneedle/Old Broad Street 52 10 38 0 

Overall 64 12 17 8 

 

Page 72



  

LIVING STREETS  13 
 

 

3. Evaluating on-street changes 
 
On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of these have 
improved this street? (choose all that apply) 
 
The specific changes suggested in the questionnaire were: 
 

• More space for people walking 

• Greening (e.g. planters, parklets or trees) 

• Space for cycling (cycle lanes) 

• Cycle parking     

• Outdoor seating  

• Other (please specify below) 

 
Of these, only two – more space for walking and more space for cycling – were 
relevant across all the locations. Greening and outdoor seating were relevant at two 
locations, while none of the locations had additional cycle parking. We only asked for 
people’s views on changes relevant to the location. 
 
As mentioned under Background and methodology above, many people 
spontaneously offered ‘reduced traffic’ as a positive change. While this is clearly 
related to some of the other changes like more space for walkers and cyclists, it also 
seems to be appreciated as an independent benefit of traffic restrictions, in terms of 
improved air quality, less noise, improved perceptions of safety and so on. We 
therefore began noting it systematically and it’s included in the analyses below as 
relevant across all the locations. 
 
The only other positive change mentioned by a small handful of respondents was 
improved air quality.  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

1 Cheapside 2 Old Jewry 3 King 4 Chancery 5 Kg William 6 Threadndl

Better No change Worse Don't know

Page 73



  

LIVING STREETS  14 
 

The following table and graph show the results from all 186 respondents to the 
changes relevant to all the locations. ‘Positive’ refers to the number of respondents 
who mentioned the specific change, with the percentage of total respondents 
shown. 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 106 57% 

Cycle lane 71 38% 

Reduced traffic 51 27% 

 

 
 
  

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Less traffic

Cycle lane

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 74



  

LIVING STREETS  15 
 

The table and graph below compare positive responses to each of these changes 
across all the locations, in terms of percentages. 
 
From these it’s clear that more walking space was overall the change with the most 
positive response among the three, except at King Street where it scored equally 
with additional cycling space. It was mentioned positively by over 50% of 
respondents in all but one location, Old Jewry, where the pavement remains narrow. 
At King William Street it was much more frequently mentioned than the other 
changes. The highest proportion of positive mentions for increased cycling space was 
at King Street, the lowest in King William Street. Reduced traffic was most noticed in 
Chancery Lane, and least noticed in King William and Threadneedle/Old Broad 
Streets. 
 

Loc Street Walking space Cycling space Reduced Traffic 

1 Cheapside 57 27 23 

2 Old Jewry 42 35 39 

3 King Street 67 67 20 

4 Chancery Lane 53 38 47 

5 King William Street 74 10 19 

6 Threadneedle/Old Broad 
Street 

63 53 16 

Overall 59 38 27 

 

 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Cheapside Old Jewry King Chancery Kg William Threadndl

Walking space Cycling space Less traffic

Page 75



  

LIVING STREETS  16 
 

Greening and outdoor seating were only relevant in two locations, but they were 
significantly appreciated in both. Considering the aggregate of 62 respondents at 
both Cheapside and Chancery Lane, 49 (79%) positively mentioned greening and 45 
(73%) outdoor seating. 
 
More details, in terms of percentages, are given in the table and graph below, which 
suggests that at Cheapside the greening and seating were even more appreciated 
than at Chancery Lane, perhaps because of the more compact and concentrated 
space, compared to Chancery Lane where the treatments are more spread out. 
Although based on only two sites, the overall level of approval of greening is notably 
stronger than for the other interventions except additional walking space, and this 
was borne out by the suggestions for further improvements elicited by question 8. 
 

Location Street Greening Outdoor seating 

1 Cheapside 87 80 

4 Chancery Lane 72 66 

Overall 79 73 

 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Cheapside Chancery Overall

Greening Seating

Page 76



  

LIVING STREETS  17 
 

4. Pavement width 
 
How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
 
For this and the following three questions, respondents were asked to give a score 
out of 5, where 1 was poor and 5 was excellent. From these, both an average score 
and a median score were calculated for all the locations. It should be noted that 
overall scores are relatively high, clustering around 4. 
 
The following table and graph compare average and median scores for pavement 
widths at all the locations, with an overall average and median for interest. The 
lowest average score, 3.1, is at Old Jewry, while the highest, 4.5, is at Cheapside, 
unsurprisingly given the infrastructure in these locations. For more detail see the 
individual locations. 
 

Location Street Average score Median score 

1 Cheapside 4.5 5 

2 Old Jewry 3.1 3 

3 King Street 4.2 4 

4 Chancery Lane 4.3 5 

5 King William Street 3.9 4 

6 Threadneedle/Old Broad Street 3.9 4 

Overall 3.98 4.17 

 

 
 
 
 
  

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

Cheapside Old Jewry King Chancery Kg William Threadndl Overall

Average Median

Page 77



  

LIVING STREETS  18 
 

5. Crossing the street 
How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
 
This question used a scale of 1 to 5: see question 4 for further explanation. 
 
The following table and graph compare average and median scores for crossing the 
street at all the locations, with an overall average and median for interest. 
Respondents found it easiest to cross the street at Old Jewry, closely followed by 
Chancery Lane, while King William Street and Threadneedle Street/Old Broad Street 
earned the worst scores. This tallies with some of the comments made on the latter. 
For more detail see the individual locations. 
 

Location Street Average score Median score 

1 Cheapside 4.2 4.5 

2 Old Jewry 4.7 5 

3 King Street 4.1 4 

4 Chancery Lane 4.5 5 

5 King William Street 3.9 4 

6 Threadneedle/Old Broad Street 3.9 4 

Overall 4.22 4.42 

 

 
 
 
  

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

Cheapside Old Jewry King Chancery Kg William Threadndl Overall

Average Median

Page 78



  

LIVING STREETS  19 
 

6. Traffic levels 
How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
 
This question used a scale of 1 to 5: see question 4 for further explanation. 
 
The following table and graph compare average and median scores for crossing the 
street at all the locations, with an overall average and median for interest. There are 
very small differences in the ratings here, though Chancery Lane and Threadneedle 
and Old Broad Streets appear to be rated subjectively slightly quieter than the 
others. It’s noteworthy that even though one-way motor traffic is permitted at some 
sites but technically excluded from others, this doesn’t seem to have made a 
significant difference to the scores: indeed location 6, with one way motor traffic, 
scored second highest. During the surveys, overall traffic levels seemed overall low 
and intermittent at all the sites. 
 

Location Street Average score Median score 

1 Cheapside 4.1 4 

2 Old Jewry 4 4 

3 King Street 4.1 4 

4 Chancery Lane 4.4 5 

5 King William Street 4 4 

6 Threadneedle/Old Broad Street 4.3 4.5 

Overall 4.15 4.25 

 

 
 
  

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

Cheapside Old Jewry King Chancery Kg William Threadndl Overall

Average Median

Page 79



  

LIVING STREETS  20 
 

7. Attractiveness 
Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
 
This question used a scale of 1 to 5: see question 4 for further explanation. 
 
The following table and graph compare average and median scores for the reported 
attractiveness of the street across all locations, with an overall average and median 
for interest. Chancery Lane scored a little higher than the others in terms of 
attractiveness, while Old Jewry appears marginally the least attractive, but all the 
scores are relatively close. Some respondents found this question surprising, as they 
tended to think of the streets in functional terms such as getting to work rather than 
as attractive in their own right. Buildings and streetscape were often mentioned as 
important in evaluating attractiveness 
 

Location Street Average score Median score 

1 Cheapside 3.8 4 

2 Old Jewry 3.5 4 

3 King Street 3.7 4 

4 Chancery Lane 4.3 5 

5 King William Street 4 4 

6 Threadneedle/Old Broad Street 3.8 4 

Overall 3.85 4.17 

 

 
  

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

5

Cheapside Old Jewry King Chancery Kg William Threadndl Overall

Average Median

Page 80



  

LIVING STREETS  21 
 

4-7. Comparison of feature scores across all locations 
 
In the sections on individual locations, we’ve found it useful to compare all the 
features rated on a 1-5 scale. Below we compare the average and median scores for 
all these features across all the locations. Ease of crossing seems the most positive 
feature reported, though the differences are slight and given the limited sample and 
the differences between sites, no firm conclusions should be drawn. 
 

Feature Average score Median score 

Pavement width 3.98 4.17 

Crossing 4.22 4.42 

Traffic levels 4.15 4.25 

Attractiveness 3.85 4.17 

 
 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Pavement width Crossing Traffic levels Attractiveness

Average Median

Page 81



  

LIVING STREETS  22 
 

8. Additional improvements 
What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose all that 
apply) 
 
The specific changes suggested in the questionnaire were the same as for question 
3: 
 

• More space for people walking 

• Greening (e.g. planters, parklets or trees) 

• Space for cycling (cycle lanes) 

• Cycle parking     

• Outdoor seating  

• Other (please specify below) 

 
The following table and graph show the results from all 186 respondents to the 
specific suggestions. ‘Positive’ refers to the number of respondents who singled out 
that suggestion positively, with the percentage of total respondents shown. 
Greening is a clear winner here at 47%, mentioned enthusiastically by many of the 
respondents. This is followed by outdoor seating at 24%, though we also heard 
comments at sites like King Street and Old Broad Street that such measures weren’t 
appropriate and could obstruct pedestrians. Cycle parking attracted the lowest score 
at only 4%, though of course we weren’t targeting cyclists specifically. 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 30 16 

Greening 87 47 

Cycling space 12 6 

Cycle parking 8 4 

Outdoor seating 45 24 

 

 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Seating

Cycle parking

Cycling space

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 82



  

LIVING STREETS  23 
 

 
The table and graph below compare positive responses to each of these changes 
across all the locations, in terms of percentages. 
 
Once again the preference of respondents for greening is clear, particularly at King 
William Street (65%), where very little greenery is currently evident, and at Chancery 
Lane (59%), where the existing greening is sporadic. Outdoor seating is most 
favoured at Chancery Lane (41%), and least favoured at King Street (7%). More space 
for walkers was most requested at Old Jewry, where the footways are particularly 
narrow, and not all at Cheapside where they are exceptionally broad. Neither of the 
cycling options attracted wide support, though there seems more interest in cycle 
lanes at King Street and cycle parking at Old Jewry. 
 

Loc Street Walk sp Greening Cyc sp Cyc pk Seating 

1 Cheapside 0 33 3 0 23 

2 Old Jewry 26 32 0 10 19 

3 King Street 13 40 13 0 7 

4 Chancery Lane 13 59 9 6 41 

5 King William St 19 65 6 0 23 

6 Threadndl/Old Broad St  25 53 6 9 31 

Overall 59 16 47 6 4 

 

 

  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Cheapside Old Jewry King Chancery Kg William Threadndl

Walk sp Greening Cyc sp Cyc pk Seating

Page 83



  

LIVING STREETS  24 
 

8a. Other improvements suggested 
‘Other’ responses to question 8 (What additional improvements would you like to 
see?) were more complex and varied. 11 recurring themes have been identified. 
More detailed and specific responses on some of these themes have been included 
in the comments sections at each location. 
 

1. Accessibility. Accessibility to wheelchair users and less able walkers, including drop 
kerbs, level surfaces and uneven paving. Such comments often overlapped with 
other themes such as resurfacing and crossings but we thought it helpful to highlight 
where the needs of people with disabilities were specifically mentioned. 

2. Attractions. More cafes and hospitality venues, shops and other attractions. This 
was often mentioned in connection with Covid-19, as numerous retailers have not 
reopened following the lockdowns. 

3. Cleanliness. Improving street cleaning, removing litter, providing bins and so on. 
4. Crossings. Improving crossings, sometimes in connection with accessibility, for 

example where the current continuous kerbs prevent wheelchair users from 
crossing easily even where motor vehicles are excluded. This also includes concerns 
about sightlines and continuing crossing hazards from buses, cycles and other 
permitted traffic. 

5. Cycling issues. A few respondents felt that even where motor traffic was excluded, 
cyclists remained a hazard to pedestrians, which in some cases had increased as 
more cyclists were now using traffic-free roads, and variously proposed that 
measure should be taken to improve cyclist behaviour or that cyclists should be 
excluded. 

6. Lift restrictions. Not everyone was in favour of the interventions: a minority wanted 
all the restrictions lifted and things returned to the way they were before, or 
restrictions lifted for specific vehicles, such as taxis. 

7. Pedestrianisation. Blocking motor traffic entirely, including buses, and of 
remodelling the space accordingly. A few respondents were also in favour of 
banning cyclists (see above). 

8. Resurfacing. Improvements to the footway surface, extending the physical footway 
and/or replacing the current carriageway with a surface more appropriate to shared 
use and pedestrian/cyclist priority. This often arose in connection with pedestrian 
lanes on the carriageway, and sometimes in with concerns about uneven or 
unattractive surfaces. 

9. Signing. Making the allocation of space clear both through street signs and road 
markings, with more effective encouragement for walkers and cyclists to use the 
space and more effective discouragement to drivers not to use it. 

10. Smoking. A few people specifically mentioned smoking, sometimes in connection 
with cleanliness, with concerns about smoking litter around outdoor seating and at 
certain locations. 

11. Streetscape. Improving the design and the overall standards of the environment, 
clearing street clutter and making the layout of junctions and space for different 
users more obvious and less confusing. 

 
A few other suggestions were mentioned by very small numbers and these are 
captured in the sections on individual locations. 
 
One further recurring comment that overlaps with a number of the themes above is 
the request to make the changes permanent. While respondents recognised that the 

Page 84



  

LIVING STREETS  25 
 

interventions were temporary and experimental, some found that aspects of the 
current implementation were problematic in themselves. This was particularly clear 
with the on-carriageway pedestrian lanes and with the various temporary traffic 
signs, which some saw as contributing to street clutter and a poor-quality 
environment. 
 
Totalling positive mentions of recurring themes across all 186 respondents produces 
the following results, with the highest scoring themes highlighted: 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Accessibility 8 4 

Attractions 6 3 

Cleanliness 10 5 

Crossings 21 11 

Cycling issues 6 3 

Lift restrictions 15 8 

Pedestrianise 19 10 

Resurface 46 25 

Signing 11 6 

Smoking 3 2 

Streetscape 33 18 

 
The table and graph overleaf compare the five most popular of these across all six 
sites. They show that by far the most prominent of these other suggestions were the 
calls for resurfacing the street more appropriately at Old Jewry and King William 
Street. Old Jewry also had the highest numbers in support of pedestrianisation. 
There were also some calls for pedestrianisation at Chancery Lane, though the 
lowest numbers here raised issues with the surface. More people raised the need to 
improve the overall streetscape at Chancery Lane, but there was also some support 
for this at Cheapside, King Street and Threadneedle Street/Old Broad Street. The 
need to improve crossings was highlighted at Old Jewry and there was notable 
concern too at Threadneedle Street/Old Broad Street. 
 
The numbers of people who think the partial or complete lifting of restrictions and a 
return to the previous situation would be an improvement are relatively small, only 
15 people in our sample or 8% of the total. The highest proportion calling for this 
was at Cheapside. 
 
It’s important to note these figures weren’t obtained by specific questions and the 
overall numbers are low in several cases, but they may still indicate issues worthy of 
more systematic investigation. 
  

Page 85



  

LIVING STREETS  26 
 

 
 

Loc Street Resurf Streetsc Crossing Ped’ise Lift 

1 Cheapside 13 23 13 0 13 

2 Old Jewry 48 3 3 19 3 

3 King Street 13 20 7 7 7 

4 Chancery Lane 9 25 19 16 9 

5 King William St 42 6 10 10 0 

6 Threadndl/Old Broad St  22 22 16 9 9 

 

 

 
 
 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Cheapside Old Jewry King Chancery Kg William Threadndl

Resurface Streetscape Crossing Ped'ise Lift

Page 86



  

LIVING STREETS  27 
 

Locations 
 
 
 
 
A map provided by the City of London showing all the locations is provided at the 
end of the report. Note this map also shows several other locations which weren’t 
surveyed in the current research, and the numbering is different to the order used in 
the report. 
 

1. Cheapside 
Cheapside east of Bread Street between Wood Street and Queen Street (2 on map). 
 
Intervention: Point ‘no entry’ in both directions except buses, cycles, emergency 
services and London Buses incident response unit. Planters and seating adjacent to 
point closure. 
 
Survey points 

a. North footway of Cheapside between closure points. 
b. South footway of Cheapside between closure points. 

 
Date: Wednesday 8 September 2021. 
Staff: Des, Jakub. 
 
Weather: Unusually warm and sunny all day. 
 
Responses: 30 
 
This is a busy area for walkers on an important and historic City street close to St 
Mary-le-Bow church and with plentiful takeaway food outlets nearby. It was in many 
respects the easiest to research as the intervention is arguably the most visually 
obvious and dramatic of all the sites surveyed, blocking Cheapside as a through 
route to ordinary motor traffic using seating and planters in a very contained space. 
 
Overall, we heard very positive feedback on this scheme, and more respondents 
than usual stopped deliberately to express their praise. Seating is well used 
particularly at lunchtimes though mainly by construction workers on the day of the 
survey. The footway is unusually wide particularly on the north side: some 
respondents said it might even be too wide and some of it might be used for other 
purposes like more planters and seating. Some seating is on the former carriageway, 
with poles used to delineate a central ‘channel’ for cyclists, buses and emergency 
vehicles. Some temporary road signs are still in place around the site. The cycle 
traffic seemed relatively heavy. We witnessed only one private car driving through 
illegally. 

Page 87



  

LIVING STREETS  28 
 

 
As the arrangements for the project weren’t confirmed until mid-morning on the 
first day, we weren’t able to cover the morning period at this location: our responses 
are all from lunchtime and evening. 
 
  

Page 88



  

LIVING STREETS  29 
 

1.1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? 
 

Yes % No % 

26 87% 4 13% 

 
 

 
 
1.2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? 
 

Better % No change % Worse % Don't know % Total 

19 73 2 8 4 15 1 4 26 

 

 

Yes No

Better No change Worse Don't know

Page 89



  

LIVING STREETS  30 
 

 

1.3. On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of these 
have improved this street? (choose all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 17 57 

Greening 26 87 

Cycle lane 8 27 

Cycle parking NA NA 

Outdoor seating 24 80 

Reduced traffic 7 23 

 
 

 
 

One respondent also mentioned cleaner air. 

  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Less traffic

Seating

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 90



  

LIVING STREETS  31 
 

1.4. How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 0 0 0 

3 2 7 6 

4 7 23 28 

5 20 67 100 

Total score 135 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 4.5 

Overall %  90 

Median response 5 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 91



  

LIVING STREETS  32 
 

1.5. How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 1 3 2 

3 3 10 9 

4 9 30 36 

5 15 50 75 

Total score 123 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 4.2 

Overall %  82 

Median response 4.5 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 92



  

LIVING STREETS  33 
 

1.6. How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 1 3 2 

3 7 23 21 

4 11 37 44 

5 11 37 55 

Total score 122 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 4.1 

Overall %  81 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 93



  

LIVING STREETS  34 
 

1.7. Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 1 3 2 

3 10 34 30 

4 7 24 28 

5 10 34 50 

Total score 111 

Max possible 145 

Mean response 3.8 

Overall %  77 

Median response 4 

Mode 5 

 
Note one respondent declined to answer this question. 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 94



  

LIVING STREETS  35 
 

1.4-7. Comparison of feature scores 
 

Feature Average score Median score 

Pavement width 4.5 5 

Crossing 4.2 4.5 

Traffic levels 4.1 4 

Attractiveness 3.8 4 

 
 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Pavement width Crossing Traffic levels Attractiveness

Average Median

Page 95



  

LIVING STREETS  36 
 

1.8. What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose 
all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 0 0 

Greening 9 33 

Cycle lane 1 3 

Cycle parking 0 0 

Outdoor seating 7 23 

 
 

 
 

1.8a Other improvements suggested 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Accessibility 0 0% 

Attractions 0 0% 

Cleanliness 4 13% 

Crossings 4 13% 

Cycling issues 0 0% 

Lift restrictions 4 13% 

Pedestrianise 0 0% 

Resurface 4 13% 

Signing 0 0% 

Smoking 1 3% 

Streetscape 7 23% 

One respondent suggested involving businesses and the local community more in 

supporting changes to the street.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Outdoor seating

Cycle parking

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 96



  

LIVING STREETS  37 
 

1.9. Selected comments 
 

• The City is a great place overall and this is improving it, it’s good to have spaces 
where you can breathe and think. But if you were to take out all the traffic it would 
lose its bustle, which is part of the atmosphere. 

• There was more than enough space on pavement here, but this is aesthetic and 
stops a bit of the traffic, which is positive. 

• You need to strike a balance, so it's good that buses can still go through. But all the 
smoking and cigarette ends negate the quality. 

• More plants as well as trees please. 

• Improve the style of the seating, it doesn't look very inviting. I'm concerned too that 
restrictions can simply drive traffic to side streets. 

• It’s not really a space you could sit in a talk to people, perhaps seats around tables 
would be better, and good for businesses too. 

• You could grass it over but then cyclists and buses couldn't get through. Or put 
raised flower beds on the pavement. Still an issue to cross, you have to be careful of 
cyclists and scooters. 

• You can taste the air is cleaner. And I'd never say no to more trees but what about a 
bit of colour, some flowers? 

• It looks temporary, 90% of people on the benches are workmen and there are still 
road signs on the pavement so it makes me think is this a space for me or something 
temporary for the workmen? 

• I wouldn't want the City to spend too much money when there are so many other 
priorities. How about getting local businesses involved in maintaining these things 
with volunteers, for example lunchtime gardening sessions? 

• This has displaced traffic into Bread Street which is now much less pleasant. Please 
let traffic use the street again. 

• The City needs more outdoor seating, but off the road and in courtyards would be 
better. 

• I wouldn't have considered cycling to work before these changes but I do now. 

• There are lots of hidden green spaces in the City but most of them are churchyards 
and that might be a deterrent to people from other backgrounds, so it's good to 
have non-churchyard space. More flowers and plant baskets would be good. 

• I'm a cyclist: it's massively better than before. They should do loads more like this 
and plant more trees. 

• If anything the pavement is too wide, half of it could be a garden. 

• Traffic levels are more bearable now but there are too many buses with hardly 
anyone on them. 

• The placement is odd and a bit offputting with the seats in the road: it would work 
better if the whole area was pavement. Not sure about the colour scheme! It's a bit 
more difficult to cross now as there are more obstacles. 

• This has created more rubbish on the street and caused congestion around St Paul's 
so it's harder to cross near the school. 

  

Page 97



  

LIVING STREETS  38 
 

2. Old Jewry 
Old Jewry between Cheapside and Gresham Street (8 on map). 
 
Intervention: Full closure (except for pedal cycles) on Old Jewry between Cheapside 
(Poultry) and Frederick’s Place. Remainder of Old Jewry from Frederick’s Place to 
Gresham Street converted to two-way. 
 
Survey points 

a. South corner of Old Jewry and Frederick’s Place, by pillar box. 
b. Footway on east side of Old Jewry, halfway between Poultry and Frederick’s Place. 

 
Date: Thursday 9 September 2021. 
 
Staff: Des, Jakub. 
 
Weather: Cloudy but mild and dry. 
 
Responses: 31 
 
A moderately busy side street with numerous offices, some bars and specialist shops 
though some businesses haven’t reopened following lockdowns. The streetscape 
along the closed section is relatively undistinguished though the northern section 
opens out with more imposing architecture. There’s a notable narrowing of the 
western footway just north of the junction with Poultry. People walking north on this 
side are mainly heading for Frederick’s Place; those heading further north or walking 
through tend to cross at a diagonal to avoid the narrowing on the west side: walkers 
are reluctant to walk in the carriageway for extended periods. Frederick’s Place, 
adjoining, has been resurfaced relatively recently with setts rather than tarmac, and 
some respondents pointed to this as a more appropriate and attractive surface for a 
street where vehicle access is restricted. 
 
Although the intervention has affected traffic along the entire length of Old Jewry, 
the only clearly visible physical changes are the bollards at the southern end, so we 
concentrated our survey at this end where the intervention is easier to point out to 
respondents, several of whom had not noticed the changes. There are no ‘no 
through road’ signs at the north end of Old Jewry and although there are bases for 
bollards at the north end of the full closure by Frederick’s Place, the bollards 
themselves were not present on the day of the survey. A bollard on the northern 
corner of the junction with Frederick’s Place had been knocked down, presumably by 
a reversing vehicle, and was surrounded by safety fencing. 
 
We witnessed numerous vehicles continuing south into the closed section before 
noticing the blockage and then having to reverse back to the junction and turn 
around, often when space was limited by parked delivery vans, with many instances 
of vehicles mounting the footway and temporarily blocking both pedestrian and 
cyclist access. Some of our respondents said this is a regular occurrence. We also 

Page 98



  

LIVING STREETS  39 
 

noted several motorcycles passing through. The route is well-used by cyclists but not 
too busy with them. 
2.1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? 
 

Yes % No % 

24 87% 7 13% 

 
 

 
 
2.2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? 
 

Better % No change % Worse % Don't know % Total 

12 50 6 25 3 13 3 13 24 

 

 
  

Yes No

Better No change Worse Don't know

Page 99



  

LIVING STREETS  40 
 

2.3. On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of these 
have improved this street? (choose all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 13 42 

Greening NA NA 

Cycle lane 11 35 

Cycle parking NA NA 

Outdoor seating NA NA 

Reduced traffic 12 39 

 
 

 
 

  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Less traffic

Cycle lane

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 100



  

LIVING STREETS  41 
 

2.4. How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 9 29 18 

3 14 45 42 

4 5 16 20 

5 3 10 15 

Total score 95 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 3.1 

Overall %  61 

Median response 3 

Mode 3 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 101



  

LIVING STREETS  42 
 

2.5. How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 1 3 2 

3 1 3 3 

4 3 10 12 

5 26 84 130 

Total score 147 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 4.7 

Overall %  95 

Median response 5 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 102



  

LIVING STREETS  43 
 

2.6. How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 3 10 6 

3 4 13 12 

4 14 45 56 

5 10 32 50 

Total score 124 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 4 

Overall %  80 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 

 
 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 103



  

LIVING STREETS  44 
 

2.7. Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 4 13 8 

3 11 35 33 

4 14 45 56 

5 2 6 10 

Total score 107 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 3.5 

Overall %  69 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 

 
 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 104



  

LIVING STREETS  45 
 

2.4-7. Comparison of feature scores 
 

Feature Average score Median score 

Pavement width 3.1 3 

Crossing 4.7 5 

Traffic levels 4 4 

Attractiveness 3.5 4 

 
 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Pavement width Crossing Traffic levels Attractiveness

Average Median

Page 105



  

LIVING STREETS  46 
 

2.8. What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose 
all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 8 26 

Greening 10 32 

Cycle lane 0 0 

Cycle parking 3 10 

Outdoor seating 6 19 

 

 
 

2.8a Other improvements suggested 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Accessibility 1 3 

Attractions 0 0 

Cleanliness 1 3 

Crossings 1 3 

Cycling issues 0 0 

Lift restrictions 1 3 

Pedestrianise 6 19 

Resurface 15 48 

Signing 2 6 

Smoking 1 3 

Streetscape 1 3 

 

One respondent suggested the street should have better lighting, while another was 

in favour of extending the Congestion Charge to weekends.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Outdoor seating

Cycle parking

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 106



  

LIVING STREETS  47 
 

2.9. Selected comments 
 

• It's quite a short street anyway so there’s not much you could do. 

• Potted plants would be nice. 

• Good to block to traffic as it's a narrow side street and there are plenty of wider 
ones. But it needs a uniform aesthetic and perhaps some trees. 

• You don't really notice the changes but it's definitely made a difference to the traffic 
levels. It needs resurfacing to make it more pedestrian friendly. Traffic should be 
restricted to main roads. 

• At the moment there's a big problem with reversing vehicles which is making it 
unsafe. It should be properly blocked off as it's a narrow street with lots of offices. 

• Do something similar to Cheapside, that's good. 

• The closed bars are an eyesore, almost derelict. 

• It's easy to cross unless you're in a wheelchair! 

• Now all you get all day long is vehicles reversing which is noisy and dangerous. We 
need ashtrays for all the dogends. 

• Widen the pavements. 

• There's clearly a problem with reversing vehicles, properly closing and resurfacing 
the street might solve it. 

• I'm a cyclist so it's a good thing to block traffic on a street like this. 

• At the moment it's worse, all this additional turning causes air quality problems and 
is dangerous. Make it properly pedestrianised. There’s not much opportunity for 
planters or seating as doesn't get much sun. 

• They should make it a complete walkway, and do the same all over the City (but 
allow black cabs). 

• It's become a nightmare for cars and vans, reversing and up on the pavement. This 
isn't needed, it isn't a busy street. 

• Cars need as many routes as possible so closures like this can increase congestion, 
though it might not make a big difference for small connecting streets. 

• It would be better if the surface was more like in Frederick's Place. 

• I'm a cycle courier so very happy with anything that reduces traffic. 

  

Page 107



  

LIVING STREETS  48 
 

3. King Street 
King Street between Cheapside and Gresham Street (9 on map). 
 
Intervention: One way working, contra-flow cycling. Footway widening. Loading bay 
in Gresham Street. 
 
Survey points 

a. Western footway just north of Cheapside junction, where there is an area with 
plentiful footway space. 

b. Eastern footway just north of Prudent Passage. 

 
Date: Wednesday 15 September 2021. 
 
Staff: Des, Jakub. 
 
Weather: Fine, mild. 
 
Responses: 30 
 
This is a straight north-south street that seems primarily used as a through route by 
walkers: there are some offices along it and a couple of side alleys and courts, but 
some offices are currently empty and there are no cafes, bars or shops. The west 
footway appears moderately busier than the east, and in the morning more people 
seemed to be walking north. The architecture is relatively undistinguished but 
walking north there’s a good view of the Guildhall ahead. A business on the east side 
of the southern end of the street has placed flowering planters on windowsills and 
several respondents commented positively on this. 
 
The footway widening currently comprises a narrow painted strip on the carriageway 
and this and the cycle lane are delineated by lines of poles with frequent gaps for 
crossing points. We witnessed cyclists using the pedestrian strip. There are some 
obviously temporary signs, for example a contraflow cycle lane sign near the corner 
of Trump Street (facing the wrong way?). There are Legible London monoliths at 
both ends. The street is overall quiet in terms of traffic levels and both cyclists and 
motor vehicles tend to pass in bursts due to the light-controlled junction with 
Cheapside at the south end. This junction has a relatively short pedestrian phase and 
both cyclists and walkers often ‘jump the lights’: we witnessed some conflicts 
particularly with walkers who have failed to notice cyclists. 
  

Page 108



  

LIVING STREETS  49 
 

3.1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? 
 

Yes % No % 

22 73% 8 27% 

 
 

 
 
3.2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? 
 

Better % No change % Worse % Don't know % Total 

16 73 1 5 3 14 2 9 22 

 

 
 

  

Yes No

Better No change Worse Don't know

Page 109



  

LIVING STREETS  50 
 

3.3. On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of these 
have improved this street? (choose all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 20 67 

Greening NA NA 

Cycle lane 20 67 

Cycle parking NA NA 

Outdoor seating NA NA 

Reduced traffic 6 20 

 
 

 
 

  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Less traffic

Cycle lane

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 110



  

LIVING STREETS  51 
 

3.4. How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 0 0 0 

3 3 10 9 

4 18 60 72 

5 9 30 45 

Total score 126 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 4.2 

Overall %  84 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 111



  

LIVING STREETS  52 
 

3.5. How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 3 10 6 

3 4 13 12 

4 11 37 44 

5 12 40 60 

Total score 122 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 4.1 

Overall %  81 

Median response 4 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 112



  

LIVING STREETS  53 
 

3.6. How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 1 3 2 

3 6 20 18 

4 12 40 48 

5 11 37 55 

Total score 123 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 4.1 

Overall %  82 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 113



  

LIVING STREETS  54 
 

3.7. Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 4 13 8 

3 9 30 27 

4 10 33 40 

5 7 23 35 

Total score 110 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 3.7 

Overall %  73 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 

 
 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 114



  

LIVING STREETS  55 
 

3.4-7. Comparison of feature scores 
 

Feature Average score Median score 

Pavement width 4.2 4 

Crossing 4.1 4 

Traffic levels 4.1 4 

Attractiveness 3.7 4 

 
 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Pavement width Crossing Traffic levels Attractiveness

Average Median

Page 115



  

LIVING STREETS  56 
 

3.8. What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose 
all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 4 13 

Greening 12 40 

Cycle lane 4 13 

Cycle parking 0 0 

Outdoor seating 2 7 

 

 
 

3.8a Other improvements suggested 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Accessibility 0 0 

Attractions 1 3 

Cleanliness 0 0 

Crossings 2 7 

Cycling issues 1 3 

Lift restrictions 2 7 

Pedestrianise 2 7 

Resurface 4 13 

Signing 3 10 

Smoking 0 0 

Streetscape 6 20 

 

  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Outdoor seating

Cycle parking

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 116



  

LIVING STREETS  57 
 

3.9. Selected comments 
 

• Lanes should be colour marked with improved junctions that work better for cyclists 

• A popup coffee shop would be good. 

• If I was in a van, it would annoy me. As a pedestrian I'm not bothered so long as it 
doesn't cost a lot. 

• It's a nice balance as it is and the pavements are admirably clean. 

• Quieter streets are good for business. 

• I'm from France and I find crossing roads in London very difficult, vehicles don't give 
way to you. Some interesting decorations or lights would be good. 

• It's marginally more pleasant and less busy than it was, but it wasn't that busy 
anyway and the cycle lanes might be a bit excessive. There's a balance to be struck. 

• There's too much space for cycling, it's fine already in the City for cyclists. Parts of 
London are becoming undriveable, like Euston Road. The flowers are great, more of 
them please. 

• The whole thing is a confusing mess and a waste of money. Nobody knows where 
they should be cycling, walking or driving. The map sign [Legible London] is 
pointless, nobody uses them, everyone has phones and it's just causing an 
obstruction. 

• Use plants that soak up pollution and are resilient and cheap to maintain. 

• I wouldn't have noticed that extra walking bit! 

• That pedestrian thing on the road isn't safe, it looks like a cycle lane to me. 

• Block it to traffic completely and extend the pavement. 

• Don't do anything to obstruct the narrower sections of pavement. 

• The street scene here is very cluttered and confusing. There's still very little room in 
the cycle lane and there could be conflict with pedestrians. Cycle lanes should be 
better marked. They should be on one side only and time limited, with LEDs along 
the site to show whether they're open to cars or not. On streets like this we only 
need cycle lanes in peak hours, the rest of time we're inconveniencing motor traffic 
unnecessarily. 

• A diagonal crossing at the north end would be great, we used to have one. 

• Better signage for cycle lane as people currently walk in it. More cycle lanes in 
surrounding area. 

• I'm concerned about traffic pushed to other areas. 

• Pedestrianise it properly all the way down to the Bloomberg building, convert the 
unoccupied offices to shops and cafes and make it a lively street. The current layout 
is confusing, and the poles make it difficult to cross, also cyclists use walkers' lane.  

• The current flowers are nice but don't put planters on the street, they'll get in the 
way 

 
 

  

Page 117



  

LIVING STREETS  58 
 

4. Chancery Lane 
Chancery Lane between Carey Street and Southampton Buildings. 
 
Intervention: “No motor vehicles” restriction (Monday to Friday between 7 am – 7 
pm) except emergency services, refuse collection and local authority service 
vehicles. Parking bay suspended in places. Planters and parklets. 
 
Survey points 

a. Eastern footway by pedestrian space at junction of Cursitor Street, halfway along 
treated section. 

b. Western footway just north of Carey Street junction, outside Knights Templar pub, 
at southern end of treated section. 

 
Date: Friday 17 September 2021. 
 
Staff: Des, Paul. 
 
Weather: Cloudy but mild and dry. 
 
Respondents: 32 
 
This is a relatively quiet north-south route along a street with historic character: 
strong and obvious links to the legal profession, built heritage, blue plaques and a 
small visitor attraction, the London Silver Vaults. There are several cafes and shops 
and a large and well-known Wetherspoon pub. It’s on the extreme western 
boundary of the City of London: the west side of the treated stretch (including the 
pub) falls into LB Camden, while south of Carey Street the boundary is with the City 
of Westminster. It seems relatively little-used by cyclists though we witnessed 
several motor vehicles passing through illegally, particularly in the lunchtime period. 
 
The interventions here are obvious to respondents and easy to explain. There’s a 
parklet on decking placed on the carriageway in a former parking bay and further 
seating and planters just off the street on the pedestrianised section of Cursitor 
Street between modern office buildings. The southern end of the traffic restriction is 
clearly marked with traffic signs in temporary bases, a slight width restriction and 
small trees in pots on the carriageway. The northern end was unmarked on the day 
of the survey except by a width restriction: a respondent said there were previously 
trees in pots here too (and presumably traffic signs) but these were removed a few 
weeks previously when a film crew used the street and haven’t been returned. 
  

Page 118



  

LIVING STREETS  59 
 

4.1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? 
 

Yes % No % 

26 81% 6 19% 

 
 

 
 
4.2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? 
 

Better % No change % Worse % Don't know % Total 

22 85 0 0 3 12 1 4 26 

 

 
 

  

Yes No

Better No change Worse Don't know

Page 119



  

LIVING STREETS  60 
 

4.3. On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of these 
have improved this street? (choose all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 17 53 

Greening 23 72 

Cycle lane 12 38 

Cycle parking NA NA 

Outdoor seating 21 66 

Reduced traffic 15 47 

 
 

 
 

  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Less traffic

Seating

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 120



  

LIVING STREETS  61 
 

4.4. How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 0 0 0 

3 3 9 9 

4 11 34 44 

5 17 53 85 

Total score 139 

Max possible 160 

Mean response 4.3 

Overall %  87 

Median response 5 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 121



  

LIVING STREETS  62 
 

4.5. How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 1 3 2 

3 4 13 12 

4 5 16 20 

5 22 69 110 

Total score 144 

Max possible 160 

Mean response 4.5 

Overall %  90 

Median response 5 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 122



  

LIVING STREETS  63 
 

4.6. How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 1 3 2 

3 3 10 9 

4 7 23 28 

5 19 61 95 

Total score 135 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 4.4 

Overall %  87 

Median response 5 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
Note one respondent declined to answer this question.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 123



  

LIVING STREETS  64 
 

4.7. Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 1 3 2 

3 6 19 18 

4 8 25 32 

5 17 53 85 

Total score 137 

Max possible 160 

Mean response 4.3 

Overall %  86 

Median response 5 

Mode 5 

 
 
 

 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 124



  

LIVING STREETS  65 
 

4.4-7. Comparison of feature scores 
 

Feature Average score Median score 

Pavement width 4.3 5 

Crossing 4.5 5 

Traffic levels 4.4 5 

Attractiveness 4.3 5 

 
 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Pavement width Crossing Traffic levels Attractiveness

Average Median

Page 125



  

LIVING STREETS  66 
 

4.8. What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose 
all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 4 13 

Greening 19 59 

Cycle lane 3 9 

Cycle parking 2 6 

Outdoor seating 13 41 

 

 
 

4.8a Other improvements suggested 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Accessibility 3 9 

Attractions 3 9 

Cleanliness 2 6 

Crossings 6 19 

Cycling issues 1 3 

Lift restrictions 3 9 

Pedestrianise 5 16 

Resurface 3 9 

Signing 2 6 

Smoking 1 3 

Streetscape 8 25 

 

One respondent suggested public art.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Outdoor seating

Cycle parking

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 126



  

LIVING STREETS  67 
 

4.9. Selected comments 
 

• Add another two parklets please. 

• The parklet is a bit odd, I wasn't sure if it was public or private. 

• I've known the street since 1987. It’s good to have less traffic but there are too 
many inconsiderate cyclists now, making it difficult to cross. 

• Too many smokers, make it non-smoking. There are problems with street clutter 
and A-boards on the Westminster side. 

• I'm a cabbie and for me it's a pain! 

• If you're going to block to traffic, let's make better use of the space. I don't get the 
current planters and seating. 

• My desk overlooks the street, and the reduced traffic has made it much quieter and 
easier to work. 

• The crossing at the southern end is difficult, there needs to be a proper crossing 
there. Greening could be more colourful. 

• The contraflow cycle lane makes it confusing and difficult to cross. 

• There's a particular problem with commercial refuse at the junction with High 
Holborn which attracts rats. 

• It's now very quiet, a great improvement. 

• I can't get in a taxi outside the office anymore, it was better before. 

• Better to have a segregated cycle lane. 

• It's an improvement for walkers but not for drivers, the layout is confusing with poor 
signing and information. Quality overall needs to be improved, with more thought 
and better design. 

• The greenery is very spread out with big gaps, there should be more all the way 
along. 

• As a walker it's improved, though it was already quite quiet and attractive. As a 
driver I hate it with a vengeance and can't see the advantage overall. When they do 
things like this they don't think through the knock-on effect, especially when there 
are roadworks elsewhere. 

• Traffic doesn't bother me, and I miss the bustle. I'm very much in favour of greening 
but not with planters obstructing the road. They're doing this where I live in west 
London, and I don't like it. 

• This is my first visit since the lockdowns, and you can smell the improvement in air 
quality.  

• My partner is a wheelchair user who would find major problems here, there are no 
drop kerbs, the paving stones are uneven. 

• It looks messy at the moment; it could be resurfaced with paving (but that might 
cost too much). 

• Anything else than what they've done would be ridiculous, this is the 21st century! 
As a wheelchair user, crossing it isn't ideal for me. 

• Perhaps a popup coffee place? 

• Make it more like Exmouth Market, make the whole street like a garden. It needs 
dropped curves or continuous surface for wheelchairs. 

  

Page 127



  

LIVING STREETS  68 
 

5. King William Street and Abchurch Lane (south) 
 
King William Street from Cannon Street to the Bank junction, and Abchurch Lane 
from Cannon Street to King William Street (map 5). 
 
Intervention: “No motor vehicles” restriction (Monday to Friday between 7 am – 7 
pm) except buses, loading, vehicles accessing off street premises, for refuse 
collection, emergency services, local authority service vehicles and London Buses 
incident response unit. Footway widening in locations. 
 
Date: Wednesday 22 September 2021. 
 
Survey points 

a. King William Street west footway, on northwest corner of junction with Abchurch 
Lane, near restriction sign. 

b. King William Street east footway near northern end, at junction with Post Office 
Court. 

 
Staff: Des, Russ. 
 
Weather: Fine, sunny. 
 
Respondents: 31 
 
King William Street is a relatively broad connecting thoroughfare between the 
entrances to Monument and Bank Tube stations. There are several older buildings 
though the architecture isn’t particularly distinguished, except for two important 
buildings at the northern end: St Mary Woolnoth Church and, next door, 1 King 
William Street with its distinctive dome. There are views of the dome from further 
south in the street which emerges at the north end onto a view of the Royal 
Exchange and the Bank of England. There are several shops and cafes although fewer 
than before the lockdowns. 
 
The footways are relatively narrow and restricted in places by street furniture, 
though additional space is currently provided with pedestrian lanes on the adjoining 
carriageway, segregated by poles and low separators. We didn’t witness many 
people walking on these and those that did tended to use them as ‘overtaking lanes’, 
returning to the built footway as soon as possible. Several respondents told us they 
hadn’t noticed them, mistaken them for cycle lanes or thought they didn’t look safe. 
 
Abchurch Lane is a short narrow street with narrow footways running southwest to 
Cannon Street, currently restricted further by construction work, with the eastern 
footway blocked by hoardings. It did not seem very busy with foot traffic. Off the 
lane just north of Cannon Street is an attractive square in front of St Mary Abchurch 
with mainly private seating for adjoining restaurants and a small number of public 
benches. There is also private and some informal public stone seating in Post Office 
Court, but no outdoor seating or greening along the streets themselves. 
 

Page 128



  

LIVING STREETS  69 
 

There are currently traffic restriction signs in temporary bases on King William Street 
by the Abchurch Lane junction and at the southern (Cannon Street) end but not at 
the northern end by the Bank junction, though some other approaches to this 
junction have restriction signs. There is a further Pedestrian Priority sign near 
Abchurch Lane advising a 15 mph speed limit. Traffic levels overall seem low with 
moderate use by buses and cyclists: we also witnessed occasional apparently 
unauthorised vehicles using the street as a through route. 
 
5.1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? 
 

Yes % No % 

20 65% 11 35% 

 
 

 
 
5.2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? 
 

Better % No change % Worse % Don't know % Total 

9 45 5 25 2 10 4 20 20 

 

Yes No

Page 129



  

LIVING STREETS  70 
 

 
5.3. On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of these 
have improved this street? (choose all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 23 74 

Greening NA NA 

Cycle lane 3 10 

Cycle parking NA NA 

Outdoor seating NA NA 

Reduced traffic 6 19 

 
 

 
 

  

Better No change Worse Don't know

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Less traffic

Cycle lane

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 130



  

LIVING STREETS  71 
 

5.4. How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 4 13 8 

3 7 23 21 

4 9 29 36 

5 11 35 55 

Total score 120 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 3.9 

Overall %  77 

Median response 4 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 131



  

LIVING STREETS  72 
 

5.5. How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 3 10 6 

3 8 26 24 

4 10 32 40 

5 10 32 50 

Total score 120 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 3.9 

Overall %  77 

Median response 4 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 132



  

LIVING STREETS  73 
 

5.6. How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 1 3 2 

3 7 23 21 

4 9 29 36 

5 13 42 65 

Total score 125 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 4 

Overall %  81 

Median response 4 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 133



  

LIVING STREETS  74 
 

5.7. Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 3 10 6 

3 7 23 21 

4 8 27 32 

5 12 40 60 

Total score 119 

Max possible 150 

Mean response 4 

Overall %  79 

Median response 4 

Mode 5 

 
 
 

 
 

Note one respondent declined to answer this question.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 134



  

LIVING STREETS  75 
 

5.4-7. Comparison of feature scores 
 

Feature Average score Median score 

Pavement width 3.9 4 

Crossing 3.9 4 

Traffic levels 4 4 

Attractiveness 4.3 4 

 
 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Pavement width Crossing Traffic levels Attractiveness

Average Median

Page 135



  

LIVING STREETS  76 
 

4.8. What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose 
all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 6 19 

Greening 20 65 

Cycle lane 2 6 

Cycle parking 0 0 

Outdoor seating 7 23 

 

 
 

4.8a Other improvements suggested 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Accessibility 3 10 

Attractions 2 6 

Cleanliness 2 6 

Crossings 3 10 

Cycling issues 2 6 

Lift restrictions 0 0 

Pedestrianise 3 10 

Resurface 13 42 

Signing 5 16 

Smoking 1 3 

Streetscape 2 6 

 

One respondent suggested general measures to improve the air quality.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Outdoor seating

Cycle parking

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 136



  

LIVING STREETS  77 
 

4.9. Selected comments 
 

• It's a functional street and fine as is. 

• I'd not really noticed before, but it's better than it was, no better for cyclists though. 

• It would be fine if they extended the pavement to include the current lane, or even 
banned all vehicles. Cyclists are still a problem and don't respect people, as are 
construction vehicles. 

• Lots more plants are needed. 

• I thought the difference was due to Covid and hadn't noticed the changes. A more 
European al fresco feel would be good. 

• Fine as it is, anything else would be a waste of money. 

• Didn't notice the pedestrian lane, it looks like a cycle lane. It needs resurfacing, 
people don't understand it and don't feel safe walking in the road. 

• It needs another formal crossing in the middle. 

• I didn't notice it, make it an actual pavement then more people will use it. 

• Not clear what that lane is for, looks like a cycle lane. Greening would be good but 
has to be maintained. 

• I don't think I would walk on the road. 

• The pavement surface has too many trip hazards. 

• Proper infrastructure, not temporary. I thought the pedestrian lane was a cycle lane: 
it isn't safe to walk on. 

• It's definitely better, but I'd be happier with no traffic at all. Would be better like 
Exhibition Road with a continuous surface, and also more accessible. 

• Back in 2016 there were regularly queues of buses, it's definitely improved with 
better air quality. 

• Smoking should be banned on streets like in California.  

• I'm answering positively as a pedestrian, as a driver like my husband it's a 
nightmare! 

• There's less traffic but still constant buses so it can sometimes feel unsafe to cross 
and it still seems quite polluted. 

• Beautifying with green would be good but seating wouldn't be practical. 

• There are problems of antisocial behaviour on Abchurch Lane with drunk people 
from the bars urinating on the street. 

• Nobody uses the pedestrian lane, it's too close to the buses. Cylists are now a 
problem, making it difficult to cross. 

• The pedestrian lane looks like a cycle lane and needs to be better signed. 

  

Page 137



  

LIVING STREETS  78 
 

6. Threadneedle Street and Old Broad Street (south) 
 
Threadneedle Street from the Bank junction to Gracechurch Street and Old Broad 
Street from Threadneedle Street to London Wall (map 6: note the survey site was 
originally planned to include Bartholomew Lane and Lothbury up to Princes 
Street/Moorgate as shown on the map). 
 
Intervention: One way working, contra-flow cycling. Footway widening. Loading 
bays. 
 
Survey points 

a. Threadneedle Street eastern section, on northern footway outside no 14. 
b. Old Broad Street northern section, eastern footway by public-private space outside 

no 25 (Signature by Regus at Tower 42). 

 
Date: Friday 24 September 2021. 
 
Staff: Des, Paul. 
 
Weather: Cloudy but mild and dry in the morning, fine and sunny by lunchtime. 
 
Respondents: 32 
 
This was the longest and most varied site surveyed. Threadneedle Street starts at the 
main Bank junction, with the Tube station beneath and surrounded by famous 
landmarks including the Bank of England, the Royal Exchange with its prominent 
equestrian statue outside, and the Mansion House. Threadneedle Street runs east-
northeast alongside the Bank and on to meet the major thoroughfare of 
Gracechurch Street (A10). About halfway along, Old Broad Street branches 
northeast, past the redevelopment around Tower 42 to cross London Wall a short 
distance south of Liverpool Street main line rail terminal and Underground station. 
 
The footway along Threadneedle Street past the Bank is relatively busy with 
architectural features like a colonnade set back from the street where passers-by 
sometimes linger. Past the Old Broad Street junction, the street narrows slightly to a 
section with fewer retail businesses and becomes notably less busy with pedestrians, 
more of whom continue up or down Old Broad Street. This section has a more 
enclosed feel, overlooked by tall buildings. There are numerous cafes, shops and 
other retail on the south side of the western section of Threadneedle Street (the 
upmarket Royal Exchange shopping centre) and along Old Broad Street. There’s no 
public seating or greening along the streets themselves, though there is public space 
at the main junction in front of the Royal Exchange and various areas of public-
private space with public art around the Royal Exchange and Tower 42. 
 
The most visible interventions are the temporary cycle and walking lanes on the 
carriageway along nearly the whole length of the survey area. These are separated 
from one way traffic by poles and low separators, but there are lengthy stretches 

Page 138



  

LIVING STREETS  79 
 

where the cycling and pedestrian lanes are only demarcated by road markings, and 
we witnessed several incidents of cyclists using pedestrian lanes, which are always 
the closest lane to the footway. In places the pedestrian lane is interrupted by poles 
and separators near-perpendicular to the footway marking vehicle access to 
buildings; in some places the pedestrian lane ends at a kerb but the cycle lane 
continues along the carriageway. A section of the pedestrian lane along 
Threadneedle Street is unusually narrow; in contrast, at the northern end of Old 
Broad Street the pedestrian lane is broader than the cycle lane. There are several 
closed bus stops on the streets. 
 

6.1. Did you travel along this street before March 2020? 
 

Yes % No % 

21 66% 11 34% 

 
 

 
 
6.2. Do you find this street to be better/more pleasant than it was? 
 

Better % No change % Worse % Don't know % Total 

11 52 2 10 8 38 0 0 21 

 

Yes No

Page 139



  

LIVING STREETS  80 
 

 
6.3. On-street changes were made in the summer of 2020, do you feel any of these 
have improved this street? (choose all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 20 63 

Greening NA NA 

Cycle lane 17 53 

Cycle parking NA NA 

Outdoor seating NA NA 

Reduced traffic 5 16 

 
 

 
 

Two people also mentioned cleaner air.  

Better No change Worse Don't know

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Less traffic

Cycle lane

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 140



  

LIVING STREETS  81 
 

6.4. How do you rate the width of the pavement along this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 3 9 6 

3 5 16 15 

4 13 41 52 

5 10 31 50 

Total score 124 

Max possible 160 

Mean response 3.9 

Overall %  78 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 141



  

LIVING STREETS  82 
 

6.5. How easy do you think it is to cross this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 2 6 4 

3 7 23 21 

4 9 29 36 

5 12 39 60 

Total score 122 

Max possible 155 

Mean response 3.9 

Overall %  79 

Median response 4 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
Note one respondent declined to answer this question.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 142



  

LIVING STREETS  83 
 

6.6. How do you find traffic levels on this street? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 0 0 0 

2 2 6 4 

3 4 13 12 

4 10 31 40 

5 16 50 80 

Total score 136 

Max possible 160 

Mean response 4.3 

Overall %  85 

Median response 4.5 

Mode 5 

 
 

 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 143



  

LIVING STREETS  84 
 

6.7. Do you find this street an attractive/enjoyable place to walk and spend time? 
(1 poor → 5 excellent) 
 

Score Number of responses % Subtotal score 

1 1 3 1 

2 3 9 6 

3 7 22 21 

4 11 34 44 

5 10 31 50 

Total score 122 

Max possible 160 

Mean response 3.8 

Overall %  76 

Median response 4 

Mode 4 

 
 
 

 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

5

4

3

2

1

Page 144



  

LIVING STREETS  85 
 

4.4-7. Comparison of feature scores 
 

Feature Average score Median score 

Pavement width 3.9 4 

Crossing 3.9 4 

Traffic levels 4.3 4.5 

Attractiveness 3.8 4 

 
 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Pavement width Crossing Traffic levels Attractiveness

Average Median

Page 145



  

LIVING STREETS  86 
 

4.8. What additional improvements would you like to see on this street? (choose 
all that apply) 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Walking space 8 25 

Greening 17 53 

Cycle lane 2 6 

Cycle parking 3 9 

Outdoor seating 10 31 

 

 
 

4.8a Other improvements suggested 
 

Intervention Positive % 

Accessibility 1 3 

Attractions 0 0 

Cleanliness 1 3 

Crossings 5 16 

Cycling issues 2 6 

Lift restrictions 3 9 

Pedestrianise 3 9 

Resurface 7 22 

Signing 0 0 

Smoking 0 0 

Streetscape 7 22 

 

One respondent suggested designated parking bays.  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Outdoor seating

Cycle parking

Cycle lane

Greening

Walking space

Positive Neutral

Page 146



  

LIVING STREETS  87 
 

4.9. Selected comments 
 

• It’s too busy for outdoor seating her. 

• It's ugly, and confusing when you're trying to cross particularly at junctions with 
cyclists and cars from unexpected directions. You need set crossing points with 
islands. 

• The one way traffic has made it easier to cross but it needs to be clearer, the 
pedestrian lanes are unexpectedly blocked by poles. 

• All these lanes on the road are crazy, what are they for, it's just confusing with no 
continuity and people don't want to walk on the road. I'm wheeling luggage so I 
couldn't get up and down these kerbs. The pavement surfaces are cracked and 
uneven. 

• It's blinking ludicrous! If you're going to do it, do it properly. 

• It's badly done, and I don't want to walk in the road. Better to pedestrianise the 
whole street and remove the bus stop: there's not enough space for traffic plus 
pedestrians and cyclists. 

• The measures are too complicated and hazardous for both pedestrians and cyclists. 
Remove all bollards, trip hazards and obstacles 

• It's all ugly, make it well designed with properly paved pavement 

• It’s confusing as to where to walk, and cyclists just ignore everything anyway 

• Fully pedestrianise the street. 

• I would only use those pedestrian lanes if the pavement was really busy.  

• At the end of the day, it's all in good condition already. 

• More bins please, I can’t see one. 

• It used to get very congested, but too much of this sort of thing will drive traffic to 
other streets and access is needed for deliveries etc 

• Hanging baskets would be good. 

• Walkers have the pavement; they don't need separate lanes on the road. The layout 
would make it very difficult for new drivers. 

• I didn't notice the pedestrian lane; it actually looks like it's been blocked off because 
of Covid. The cycling lane is more prominent than the walking lane 

• This is a working area and people are going into the office they're not going to hang 
around so there’s no point in outdoor seating. 

• The kerbs are too high, particularly if you walk with a stick or have a wheelchair. 

• All this extra space for social distancing is completely ridiculous, unnecessary, and 
dangerous, I'm very against it and it's made the street ugly.  

• Traffic was already slow and self-regulated here. This has just created danger from 
cyclists, especially cycle couriers, made it a free for all and much more difficult to 
cross. 

• Planters and seating would be fine so long as they don't block the pavement. 

• It's brilliant, I love it! And happy to walk in the walking lane. 

 

  

Page 147



  

LIVING STREETS  88 
 

Map of locations 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 148



  

LIVING STREETS  89 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

America House, 2 America Square, London EC3N 2LU 

T: 020 7377 4900   www.livingstreets.org.uk   @livingstreets 

Living Streets (The Pedestrians’ Association) is a Registered Charity No. 1108448 (England and Wales) and SC039808 (Scotland). 

Company Limited by Guarantee (England & Wales), Company Registration No. 5368409. 2 America Square, London EC3N 2LU. 

 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 150



Appendix 3 – Statutory Consultation Summary 
 
The Experimental Traffic Order’s commenced on the 25th January 2022. The 
statutory consultation period commenced on this date and ran for six months, 
concluding on the 24th July. 
 
No Statutory consultees responded formally to the consultation. In total, 20 
responses were received from the public: 

 Generally supportive – 5 
 Neutral - 1 
 Objections - 2 
 Generally unsupportive - 12 

 
The responses have been summarised and tabulated: 
 

 Category Comments 
1 Supportive City worker. “step in the right direction to discourage the use of 

personal motor vehicles and encourage walking, cycling and 
public transport” 

2 Supportive “Please make these schemes permanent and it would be good if 
they look less ‘temporary’ at that point” 

3 Supportive St. Bart’s Hospital “We support the continued efforts by the CoL 
to prioritise space for pedestrians and cyclists whilst maintaining 
access for public transport and emergency services” 

4 Supportive “They will make it safer for pedestrians, who outnumber cars in 
the City. By encouraging people to walk rather than drive, they 
will also take cars off the road and lead to lower pollution.” 
 

5 Supportive “I am strongly in favour of the above measures, which have 
made walking and cycling in the area much safer.  “ 

6 Neutral Neither supports or opposes, requests more cycle infrastructure 
improvements in the square mile 

7 Objection See full response below this table 
8 Objection See full response below this table 
9 Unsupportive Generally abusive message 

10 Unsupportive “These vehicle restrictions are making the transit of goods and 
materials more time consuming, inefficient. Ultimately, making 
drivers constantly take longer than necessary routes and 
herding them onto a few congested roads will add to emissions” 

11 Unsupportive “I don’t believe any more action is necessary” 
12 Unsupportive London Taxi driver “this along with other local schemes in place 

at the city of London make driving a taxi and providing a good 
service to those who need assistance (for which ever reason) 
difficult at certain times of the day”. 
 

13 Unsupportive “I am writing to say that all of your proposed changes to do not 
take the Licensed Taxi trade into account and restricts further 
our access to pick up and drop off passengers around the City 
of London” 

14 Unsupportive “With all these road closures and diversions and points of no 
entries you are creating and moving the problem else where 
with in the city !!! Moving around the city is becoming a lot more 
difficult thus creating more and more traffic jams !!!” 

15 Unsupportive Generally abusive message 
16 Unsupportive “people that are back working cannot get around and 

businesses are suffering because of the cycle lanes and 
pedestrian areas” 

Page 151



17 Unsupportive “As a PLC driver who has to collect from accounts in the area 
(including your own),I feel it is Poorly thought out and has no 
real gain ,with the exception of creating more pollution,” 

18 Unsupportive Generally abusive message 
19 Unsupportive “The covid19 is just a excuse for blocking the roads why the 

government are not making all London pedestrian roads there 
will be no cars already businesses are struggling you making it 
more harder taxi drivers are the same can’t drive anywhere 
because of closed roads then they will totally sit home.” 

20 Unsupportive “Why is it that the City feels a need to continue to clutter our 
streets with obstacles and confusing signage. Why in London 
and nowhere else?” 
 

 
 
The first objector identifies as a London Taxi driver, and the full text of their 
objection is below: 
As a Licensed London Taxi Driver I object to any proposals to limit my access to ANY street in the City 
of London.  
The pandemic is over, no more need for social distancing, we need to try and get back to normality, 
city workers need to go about their business as before including travelling by road to get to and from 
meetings etc etc. 
Stop putting up barriers to easy road transport to and through the city of London. It is not Amsterdam! 
Carry on like this and businesses will never return to their offices and the shops, cafes and restaurants, 
who rely on their workforces for their livelihoods, will close down as many all ready have. 
Please stop effing about with our roads. 
 
 
The second objector identifies as living in the City: 
 
Dear Persons, 
I wholeheartedly object to your intentions to introduce the proposal to close roads to anyone other 
than buses , cycling , pedestrians… Not everyone is able to cycle, walk , or willing to risk being subject 
to irrational driving by unprofessional bus drivers .. 
the people putting forward these ideas should understand other peoples frailty or situations.. 
We are not all single white males aged 25 to 40 .. one day you’ll be old , maybe disabled or maybe 
with a young family that can’t cycle around the city , who might wish to take an electric taxi on a 
straight line through the city without having to detour for miles at a cost well over what it should be .. 
yes put in place restrictions but not to the detriment of people who live in the city and want to move 
around it but not by riding a bicycle.. allow taxi and residential access .. 
 
Please can you tell me what accept for access or authorised vehicles actually means .. 
 
Can I cross bank junction to access my home in a reasonable and timely way or I’m I driving an 
authorised vehicle when I do so because I actually live in the city and don’t just ride a bicycle here from 
Clapham Monday to Friday 
 
Both objections are made to increased restrictions on some vehicle 
movements. It is noted in the main body of the report that due to the limited 
space available on the City streets, it is not possible to create pedestrian 
priority measures and maintain all vehicle movements. It is therefore not 
practically feasible to reconcile these objections and meet the objectives of 
the project (which contribute towards delivery of the Transport Strategy and 
Climate Action Strategy) due to the physical constraints of our streets.  
 

Page 152



Pedestrian Priority Streets
Consultation Findings Report
January 2023

P
age 153



Contents

2 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

o Introduction
o Respondent profile
o Cheapside 
o Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle Street
o King Street
o Old Jewry
o King William Street
o Conclusions

P
age 154



3 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 155



Introduction

4

The City of London Corporation (“City”) is working to enhance the 
comfort and safety of people walking in the Square Mile. 

In the Summer of 2020, City temporarily provided more space for people 
walking through the Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme, to improve 
social distancing in light of the Covid-19 pandemic.   Temporary 
pedestrian priority schemes were delivered across different streets, 
including the following five:

o Cheapside 

o Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle Street

o King Street

o Old Jewry; and

o King William Street.

To make pavements wider, provide more space for people walking and 
reduce crowding, City restricted access for motorised traffic on some of 
these streets.

When people started returning to the City in greater numbers, City kept 
some of these schemes in place as traffic experiments, to test their 
effectiveness and gather feedback from residents, businesses and the 
wider public.

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Background to the consultation

City commissioned SYSTRA to design, host, analyse and report on a 
consultation survey assessing impacts and level of support for the five 
schemes. 

The findings from the consultation will be used by the City to inform the 
decision on whether to make the pedestrian priority schemes permanent, 
make amendments or remove the schemes. 

This report outlines the responses received during the consultation period, 
which ran between 17th October – 12th December 2022, totalling 305 
responses.  

It should be noted that a platform update on the 9th December 2022 
introduced a bug which prevented some respondents from saving and 
submitting part of their consultation responses, up to the closure of the 
consultation survey.  This impacted a total of 26 responses for which only  
partially completed data has been analysed and reported on for the purposes 
of this report.

SE0

P
age 156



Slide 4

SE0 Kristian, we could include a map across the streets here if you have one? We've included this snip of the portal as a placeholder
SALTER Emma, 2023-01-12T16:24:50.924

P
age 157



Introduction

5

The consultation was delivered using PlaceChangers, an interactive map-
based online consultation tool.  An interactive map showed the five 
streets of interest and used guided tour functionality to toggle between 
the streets.

For each street, there were three ‘stops’ on the Guided Tour.

1. Information on the changes to traffic movements;

2. The proposed on-street changes, including in relation to pavement 
width, pavement materials, seating and planting; and

3. What the street could look like in the future, should the measure be 
implemented permanently.

After reviewing all information, respondents were provided with the 
option to leave feedback on the street by completing a short survey that 
captured:

o Usual travel along the street;

o Frequency of using the street with current temporary measures in 
place;

o Views on the impacts of the current temporary measures; 

o Level of support for making changes permanent; and

o An opportunity to provide any other comments.

At the end of the guided tour, respondents were asked to complete a 
number of demographic questions.

As well as the PlaceChangers online consultation tool, City welcomed  
longer form open text responses from local interest groups.

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

The consultation survey

P
age 158



Introduction

6

Closed questions within the consultation survey were tabulated and chi-square statistical tests were run to assess whether there were variations in 
survey answers by different respondent types.  Any differences highlighted in the report between different respondent types are statistically 
significant.

Two open text questions were included in the consultation survey, per street, asking:

o Please provide any further comments on the impacts the current changes have had on you.

o Please provide any other comments you have regarding the proposals.

Each response provided to these questions was read and analysed in detail, with each sentiment or idea allocated to a code, or ‘heading’. These 
headings (and their relationships) are known as the ‘coding framework’.  This ensures all ideas and points raised by respondents to the open-ended 
questions are captured and reported on. Three longer form open text responses were also analysed in this way. 

Throughout this report, responses to the open questions are reported alongside the relevant closed question data, with findings outlined in order of 
prevalence. Anonymised verbatim quotes are used to illustrate the points made. 

As with all analysis of consultation data, it should be noted that:

o The base sizes for each question varies as not all questions were compulsory to answer;

o The views and opinions reported are the views and perceptions of respondents and are not necessarily factually correct;

o Qualitative data, particularly in instances where respondents are self-selecting, does not provide a statistically representative sample.  Instead, it 
allows the views and opinions of different types of people to be heard; and

o This engagement process cannot be seen as a ‘vote’ and we do not attempt to draw conclusions, based on the number of people offering 
positive or negative comments toward the schemes.

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Analysis and Reporting approach

P
age 159



7 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 160



Overall response

8

Of those respondents providing detail on respondent type, the majority 
reported that they were responding to the consultation survey as an 
individual, with only 5% responding on behalf of an organisation, 
business or campaign group. 

Overall, there was support for introducing traffic and loading restrictions 
to make more space for people walking and cycling. Specifically, three 
quarters of respondents expressed support for this principle, while only 
just over a fifth were unsupportive (75% compared to 23%).

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Respondent type

95%

5%

Responding as an individual

Responding on behalf of an organisation, business or campaign group

67%

8%

2%

8%

15%

Very supportive Generally supportive
Neutral Generally not supportive
Very unsupportive

Are you responding on behalf of an organisation, business or 
campaign group, or as an individual? (Base: 131)1

Overall, to what extent do you support the principle of making 
more space for people walking and cycling by introducing traffic 

restrictions and loading restrictions? (Base: 169)

Support for schemes in principle

1 Please note that base sizes vary throughout charts and also from the total respondent number (n=305)

P
age 161



Individual Respondents

9

Of those responding to the consultation as an individual, two thirds 
identified themselves as ‘a local worker’ (63%), a third identified 
themselves as ‘a commuter through the area’ (33%), and a fifth as a 
visitor (22%).  Just over a tenth of individuals responding to the 
consultation identified as ‘a local resident’ (14%).

A large proportion of those responded to the consultation as an 
individual and fell within the 34 to 65 age category (66%), while just over 
a quarter of respondents fell within the 18 to 34 age category (28%).

Other demographic characteristics of individual respondents were:

o Just over a tenth of respondents reported having a health problem or 
disability (13%); and

o Only 1% of individual respondents reported being pregnant.

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

3%

25%

30%

26%

10%
5%

1%

18-24 years

25-34 years

35-44 years

45-54 years

55-64 years

65-74 years

75+

If you are responding as an individual, which of the following age 
groups do you fall within? (Base: 119)

DemographicsRelationship to the City

63%

33%

22%

14%

8%

6%

6%

2%

A local worker

A commuter through the area

A visitor to the area

A local resident

A local business/organisation

Someone who accesses locations in
the impacted area for work

A taxi driver

A private hire driver

How would you describe your relationship to the City? (Base: 
119)

P
age 162



Organisation Respondents

10

Only four of those responding on behalf of an organisation, business or campaign group provided detail on their 
organisation location.  Of these, only one reported being located on Old Jewry on a permanent basis and one reported 
being located on Threadneedle Street and Old Broad Street. 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Organisation location

If you are an organisation, business or campaign group, are you located on any of the 
following streets on a permanent basis? (Base: 4)

1 1 2

Old Jewry Threadneedle Street and Old Broad Street No, none of the above

P
age 163



Response per street

11

Respondents were given the option to provide feedback on as many or 
few of the five streets of interest as they liked, including not providing 
any street-specific feedback and just answering the general consultation 
questions. 

The chart to the right shows the responses received per street.

Just over half of respondents provided a response on Cheapside (58%), 
Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle Street (58%), or King Street 
(51%) and around two fifths provided a response on Old Jewry (46%) or 
King William Street (44%).

Roughly a quarter of respondents did not provide any street-specific 
feedback, instead only completing the general demographic and support 
questions within the consultation (23%). 

The remainder of this report outlines the feedback provided for the 
different streets of interest. 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Responses per street (Base: 305)

58%

58%

51%

46%

44%

23%

Cheapside

Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle
Street

King Street

Old Jewry

King William Street

No Responses to street questions

P
age 164



12 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 165



What are the changes on Cheapside?

13

The changes to traffic on Cheapside are:

o “No entry” point closure (both directions) except for buses and cycles located east of 
Bread Street

o “Priority give-way” arrangement with priority for eastbound buses and cycles

o Eastbound traffic can turn onto Wood Street or Bread Street to avoid driving through 
the point closure

o Traffic can access Cheapside to access properties east of the point closure via Queen 
Street.  Vehicles then need to turn around and exit the area via Queen Street, King 
Street or Bank (after 7pm Mon-Fri)

o Some journeys may need to use alternative routes and take longer as a result of the 
point closure

The on-street changes to Cheapside are:

o Raising the carriageway to pavement level at the point closure to slow down traffic

o The pavements at the point closure widened by 1.5m on each side, with the 
carriageway narrowed to 3.5m

o Planters containing flowers and shrubbery 

o Seating and benches on both sides of the street

o Minor adjustments to the loading bays adjacent to the point closure

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Traffic Changes On-street Changes

P
age 166



How do people currently travel on Cheapside?

14

Overall, half of the respondents providing feedback on Cheapside reported walking or travelling on foot on Cheapside 
(51%), followed by travelling on a bicycle or scooter (26%), by taxi as a driver (11%), and by taxi as a passenger (3%). 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

How do you usually travel along this street? (Base: 140)

1%

1%

1%

3%

3%

3%

11%

26%

51%

Using a wheelchair or adapted cycle or scooter

Motorcycle or moped

Bus

Car as a passenger

Car as a driver

Taxi as a passenger

Taxi as a driver

Bicycle or scooter

Walking or on foot

P
age 167



Just over half of the respondents providing feedback on Cheapside 
reported using Cheapside more often with the changes in place, 
compared to before they were introduced (53%).  This compares to a 
quarter who reported using the street less often (26%).

53% 21% 26%

Yes - I use the street more often

No - I use the street the same as before the changes

Yes - I use the street less often

Have the changes already in place changed how often you use this street? (Base: 146)

The changes already in place on Cheapside were perceived to have 
an overall positive impact, with almost two thirds of respondents 
providing feedback on Cheapside reporting this (61%).

Up to two thirds of respondents providing feedback on Cheapside 
felt that the changes already in place on Cheapside had a positive 
impact on space for people walking (66%) and cycling (59%).

What are the impacts of the current changes?

15 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Overall impacts Use of street

42% 19% 2% 5% 32%

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact

Overall, what type of impact have the changes already in place had on you? (Base: 166)

50%

39%

17%

19%

17%

19%

1%

2%

10%

9%

5%

11%

Space for people walking (Base: 151)

Space for people cycling (Base: 165)

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact Do not know

To what extent have the changes already in place impacted…?

P
age 168



16 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

What are the impacts of the current changes?

In terms of negative impacts, the main 
comments related to: 

o Taxi operation; 

o Road safety; 

o Displaced congestion; and

o Increased journey times. 

Other negative impact comments related 
to access for people with disabilities, 
confusion from road users, impacts on 
businesses, and displaced congestion.

Comments related to current changes on Cheapside were mainly related to negative impacts, followed by positive 
impacts, and suggested improvements. 

Specifically focused on positive impacts, 
the main comments related to: 

o Reduced traffic; 

o Pedestrian access; 

o Improved public realm; and

o Cyclist access. 

Other positive impact comments related 
to improved road safety, noise reduction, 
improved air quality, and the addition of 
planters and greenery.

The suggested improvements raised 
mainly concerned improving taxi access 
to the street. Other suggested 
improvement comments related to:

o Improving cycle lanes;

o Improving general traffic 
management;

o Improving planters and greenery;

o Introducing enforcement to ensure 
that the new traffic changes and 
restrictions are followed by all road 
users; and

o Pedestrianisation. “Ludicrous decisions that cause gridlock and 
as a disabled person find it hard to find a taxi.”

“A Cheapside with low/no traffic is a joy as it's a 
shopping street attracting much footfall. Less 
noise, better air quality, less car horn tooting.”

“Make Cheapside pedestrian only 
and create a dedicated cycle lane.”

P
age 169



Is there support for making the changes 
permanent?

17

Respondents were shown a visualisation depicting what Cheapside 
could look like if the experimental traffic changes are successful and 
they are implemented permanently (see image to right).

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

60% 3% 37%

63% 4% 33%

Fully support Partially support Do not support

Overall, to what extent do you support the traffic changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 159)

Overall, to what extent do you support the other changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 155)

Overall, two thirds of respondents expressed support for making the 
traffic changes permanent (63%). 

Similarly, just over two thirds of respondents expressed support 
for making the other changes on this street permanent (68%).

P
age 170



18 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Other feedback
Other comments related to the proposal for Cheapside were mainly divided between suggested improvements and 
negative impacts, followed by positive impacts.

Views on suggested improvements divided 
into three main themes:

o Improving taxi access; 

o Improving general traffic management; 
and 

o Improving planters and greenery.

Other suggested improvement comments 
included improving cycle lanes, 
pedestrianising the street, improving street 
seating, and introducing traffic calming 
measures. 

In terms of negative impacts, issues were 
raised in relation to: 

o Increased journey times; 

o Taxi operation;

o Congestion; and

o Pollution.

Other comments on negative impacts 
included impacts on businesses, access for 
the elderly and people with disabilities, 
and confusion from road users. 

Positive impact comments focused on the 
improvements to public realm and the 
introduction of planters and greenery. 

“I believe taxis should have access! It would 
mean shorter journey times for the 
passengers, less pollution for the city.”

“It makes the street somewhere you can stop and 
be, I see people sitting on the benches when it is 
sunny and makes the street more of a destination 
which supports the surrounding shops..”

“Pollution is horrible and idling traffic causes 
it utter madness.”

P
age 171



19 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 172



What are the changes on Old Broad Street (south) 
and Threadneedle Street?

20

The changes to traffic on Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle 
Street are:

o Making Old Broad Street one-way northbound from Threadneedle 
Street to London Wall

o Making Threadneedle Street one-way westbound from Bishopsgate 
to Old Broad Street

o People cycling will be able to continue to use Old Broad Street and 
Threadneedle Street in both directions, in one direction a mandatory 
contraflow cycle lane separated from vehicles by traffic wands will be 
provided, and in the other people cycling will use the general traffic 
lane

o Some journeys will need to use alternative routes and therefore take 
longer as a result of making these streets one-way

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Traffic Changes

P
age 173



What are the changes on Old Broad Street (south) 
and Threadneedle Street?

21

The on-street changes to Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle Street are:

o Widening pavements at various locations along Old Broad Street (between 
London Wall and Threadneedle Street) to create more space for people walking

o Widening pavements on the north side of Threadneedle Street (between Old 
Broad Street and Bishopsgate) to create more space for people walking

o The pavement widened outside no.33 Old Broad Street (at the junction with 
Threadneedle Street) to create a new public space with seating and planting

o The contra-flow cycle lanes will be 1.7m-2.0m wide

o Traffic wands will be placed on the white line of the cycle lane to separate 
people cycling from traffic

o Where possible, new street trees will be introduced in the area 

o The length of the current loading bays on Old Broad Street and Threadneedle 
Street will be made longer

o All loading activity will be concentrated from the on-street loading bays

o Taxis and private vehicles will not be able to drop off and pick up directly to 
some buildings and some people may need to walk further (~ maximum 
distance 170m)

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

On-street Changes

P
age 174



How do people currently travel on Old Broad 
Street (south) and Threadneedle Street?

22

Overall, half of the respondents providing feedback on Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle Street reported walking 
or travelling on foot on the street (51%), followed by travelling on a bicycle or scooter (24%), by taxi as a driver (13%), and 
by taxi as a passenger (4%). 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

How do you usually travel along this street? (Base: 137)

1%

1%

1%

2%

3%

4%

13%

24%

51%

Using a wheelchair or adapted cycle or scooter

Van or lorry

Bus

Car as a passenger

Car as a driver

Taxi as a passenger

Taxi as a driver

Bicycle or scooter

Walking or on foot

P
age 175



Around two thirds of respondents providing feedback on Old Broad 
Street and Threadneedle Street felt that the changes already in place 
on Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle Street had a positive 
impact on space for people walking (66%) and cycling (64%).

The changes already in place on Old Broad Street (south) and 
Threadneedle Street were perceived to have an overall positive 
impact, with almost two thirds of respondents providing feedback 
on Old Broad Street and Threadneedle Street reporting this (61%).

What are the impacts of the current changes?

23 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Overall impacts

To what extent have the changes already in place impacted…?

39% 26% 2% 3% 30%

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact

Overall, what type of impact have the changes already in place had on you? (Base: 170)

46%

44%

20%

20%

15%

19%

4%

1%

12%

6%

3%

10%

Space for people walking (Base: 156)

Space for people cycling (Base: 168)

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact Do not know

Findings differed significantly by frequency of street use. Respondents 
who used the street more often were more likely than those who used 
the street less often to report that the changes had a positive impact on 
space for people walking (99% compared to 3%) and were less likely to 
report that the changes had a negative impact on space for people 
walking (1% compared to 45%). 

P
age 176



Have the changes already in place changed how often you use this street? (Base: 144)

Half of the respondents providing feedback on Old Broad Street and Threadneedle Street reported using Old Broad 
Street and Threadneedle Street more often with the changes in place, compared to before they were introduced (49%).  
This compares to a quarter who reported using the street less often (24%).

What are the impacts of the current changes?

24 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Use of street

49% 27% 24%

Yes - I use the street more often

No - I use the street the same as before the changes

Yes - I use the street less often

P
age 177



25 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

What are the impacts of the current changes?

In terms of negative impacts, the main 
comments raised were in relation to taxi 
operation and displaced congestion. 
Other issues raised related to: 

o Increased journey times; 

o Impacts on bus users; 

o Pedestrian access; and

o Access for the elderly and people 
with disabilities. 

Comments related to current changes on Old Broad Street mainly related to negative impacts, followed by positive 
impacts, and suggested improvements. 

Specifically focused on positive impacts, 
the main comments related to: 

o Pedestrian access; 

o Cyclist access; 

o Road safety; and

o Improved public realm. 

Other positive impact comments related 
to reduced traffic and improved air quality. 

In terms of suggested improvements, 
views divided into four main themes: 

o Improving cycle lanes;

o Improving general traffic 
management;

o Improving taxi access; and

o Widening pavements.

Other suggested improvement comments 
related to access for disabled people, 
traffic calming measures, safer crossings, 
and pedestrianisation. 

“Prioritising pedestrian and cycling has greatly 
improved experience and safety.”

“Losing work & unable to get customers to 
destination, often stuck in traffic on surrounding 
roads…City becoming unworkable due to road 
closure & causing more congestion.”

“It is vital to retain physical separation for 
contra-flow cycling here at least.”

P
age 178



Is there support for making the changes 
permanent?

26

Respondents were shown a visualisation depicting what Old Broad 
Street (south) and Threadneedle Street could look like if the 
experimental traffic changes are successful and they are implemented 
permanently (see image to right).

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

64% 3% 31%

2%

Fully support Partially support Do not support Do not know

64% 3% 32%

1%

Overall, to what extent do you support the traffic changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 163)

Overall, to what extent do you support the other changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 160)

Overall, two thirds of respondents expressed support for making the 
traffic changes permanent (67%).

Similarly, two thirds of respondents expressed support for making 
the other changes on this street permanent (67%).

P
age 179



27 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Other feedback
Other comments related to the proposal for Old Broad Street were mainly divided between negative impacts and 
suggested improvements, followed by positive impacts.

In terms of negative impacts, the main 
comments related to:

o Access for people with disabilities;

o Congestion; and

o Road safety.

Other comments included increased 
journey times, pollution, visual 
appearance of the street, pedestrian 
access, and access for the elderly. 

Specifically focused on suggested 
improvements, the main comments related 
to improving:

o General traffic management; 

o Planters and greenery;

o Taxi access; and

o Cycle lanes.

Other suggested improvements related to 
pedestrianising the street, improving street 
seating, and introducing traffic calming 
measures. 

Comments on positive impacts mainly 
focused on the public realm. 

Other positive impact comments related to 
traffic reduction, pedestrian access, 
planters and greenery, and road safety. 

“Very pleased to see the City taking steps 
to move away from car dependency and 
to improve the physical environment.”

“It is unacceptable (and maybe not DDA 
compliant) to prohibit drop offs of disabled people 
outside buildings. 170m may be too much to walk 
for some people.” “Taxis should have access to the whole city.”

P
age 180



28 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 181



What are the changes on King Street?

29

The changes to traffic on King Street are:

o Making the street one-way northbound from Cheapside to Gresham Street. 

o People cycling will still be able to use King Street in both directions using the general 
traffic lane northbound and a mandatory cycle lane southbound, separated from 
vehicles by traffic wands

o Traffic from Trump Street can only turn left onto King Street (except cycles)

o Some journeys may need to use alternative routes and may take longer as a result of 
making the street one-way

The on-street changes to King Street are:

o Widening pavements at various locations to
create more space for people walking

o At some locations the pavements are as 
narrow as 1.5m, these will become at least 
2m wide

o A 1.7m wide mandatory contra-flow cycle lane 

o Traffic wands will be placed on the white line 
of the cycle lane to separate southbound 
cyclists from northbound traffic

o If possible, new street trees will be introduced
in the area 

o There will continue to be no parking or loading
activity, or the drop off of passengers on 
King Street as part of this proposal

o Vehicles delivering to businesses on 
King Street that rely on on-street loading 
will need to use the loading bay on 
Trump Street

o People who need to get dropped off from a 
vehicle can do so from Trump Street, Gresham Street or Cheapside, the furthest 
walking distance to a building entrance on King Street is 35m

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Traffic Changes On-street Changes

P
age 182



How do people currently travel on King Street?

30

Overall, just under half of the respondents providing feedback on King Street reported walking or travelling on foot on this 
street (48%), followed by travelling on a bicycle or scooter (28%), by taxi as a driver (11%), and by taxi as a passenger (5%). 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

How do you usually travel along this street? (Base: 133)

1%

1%

2%

2%

2%

5%

11%

28%

48%

Using a wheelchair or adapted cycle or scooter

Another type of transport

Motorcycle or moped

Car as a driver

Car as a passenger

Taxi as a passenger

Taxi as a driver

Bicycle or scooter

Walking or on foot

P
age 183



Around two thirds of respondents providing feedback on King Street 
felt that the changes already in place had a positive impact on space 
for people walking (63%) and cycling (61%).

The changes already in place on King Street were perceived to have 
an overall positive impact, with almost two thirds of respondents 
providing feedback on King Street reporting this (61%).

What are the impacts of the current changes?

31 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Overall impacts

To what extent have the changes already in place impacted…?

Findings differed significantly by frequency of street use. Respondents 
who reported using the street more often were more likely than those 
who reported using the street less often, to report that the changes had 
a positive impact on space for people walking (95% compared to 7%,) 
and were less likely to report that the changes had a negative impact on 
space for people walking (2% compared to 43%). 

37% 24% 5% 6% 28%

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact

Overall, what type of impact have the changes already in place had on you? (Base: 146)

34%

35%

29%

26%

22%

23%

1%

1%

11%

6%

3%

9%

Space for people walking (Base: 142)

Space for people cycling (Base: 144)

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact Do not know

P
age 184



Just under half of the respondents providing feedback on King Street reported using King Street more often with the 
changes in place, compared to before they were introduced (45%).  This compares to almost a quarter who reported 
using the street less often (23%)

What are the impacts of the current changes?

32 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Use of street

45% 32% 23%

Yes - I use the street more often

No - I use the street the same as before the changes

Yes - I use the street less often

Have the changes already in place changed how often you use this street? (Base: 136)

P
age 185



33 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

What are the impacts of the current changes?

In terms of negative impacts, a number 
of issues were raised in relation to 
displaced congestion and taxi operation. 
Other issues raised related to: 

o Increased journey times; 

o Access for people with disabilities; 

o Confusion from road users; and

o Cyclist access. 

Comments related to current changes on King Street mainly related to negative impacts, followed by positive impacts, 
and suggested improvements. 

Views on positive impacts divided into 
three main themes: 

o Pedestrian access; 

o Cyclist access; and 

o Road safety.

Other positive impact comments related 
to reduced traffic, improved public realm, 
and noise reduction.

Specifically focused on suggested 
improvements, the main comments 
related to improving cycle lanes and 
general traffic management. Other 
suggested improvement comments 
related to:

o Improving taxi access;

o Improving disabled access;

o Introducing enforcement to ensure 
that the new traffic changes and 
restrictions are followed by all road 
users; and

o Pedestrianisation. 
“Overall, the new arrangements have made 
taxi journeys longer and more expensive. 
Traffic congestion is greater not reduced.”

“Great changes to take back the streets for 
pedestrians and cyclists.”

“Cycle lane needs to be segregated - and 
wider.”

P
age 186



Is there support for making the changes 
permanent?

34

Respondents were shown a visualisation depicting what King Street 
could look like if the experimental traffic changes are successful and 
they are implemented permanently (see image to right).

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

66% 5% 28%

1%

Fully support Partially support Do not support Do not know

64% 3% 33%

Overall, to what extent do you support the traffic changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 142)

Overall, to what extent do you support the other changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 135)

Overall, two thirds of respondents expressed support for making the 
traffic changes permanent (67%). 

Similarly, just under three quarters of respondents expressed support 
for making the other changes on this street permanent (71%).

P
age 187



35 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Other feedback
Other comments related to the proposal for King Street were mainly divided between suggested improvements and 
negative impacts, followed by positive impacts.

The main comments for suggested 
improvements highlighted the value of 
improving cycle lanes and general traffic 
management. Other suggested 
improvement comments related to 
improving planters and greenery and 
improving taxi access.

In terms of negative impacts, the main 
comments related to:

o Congestion; 

o Access for people with disabilities;

o Taxi operation; and

o Cyclist access.

Other negative impact comments related 
to confusion from road users, pollution, 
access for the elderly, and impacts on 
businesses. 

Comments on positive impacts focused on 
pedestrian and cyclist access.  

“More space for people on foot and to travel 
by bike. Great for workers, commuters and 
tourists. Really positive.”

“I'd like to see the wands replaces by a 
stepped cycle track. It'll look nicer to have a 
more permanent-feeling protection for cycles.”

“You have made surrounding areas almost a 
standstill.”

P
age 188



36 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 189



What are the changes on Old Jewry?

37

The changes to traffic on Old Jewry are:

o Full closure (except for cycles) on Old Jewry between Cheapside and Frederick’s Place 

o Remainder of Old Jewry from Frederick’s Place to Gresham Street converted to two-
way for all traffic

o Vehicles accessing parking and properties on Old Jewry will need to perform a three-
point turn at Frederick’s Place to exit Old Jewry

The on-street changes to Old Jewry are:

o Raising the carriageway in the area closed to traffic to pavement level and paving in 
granite

o A new public space created with seating and planters

o The pavement on Cheapside to be extended across the mouth of Old Jewry.  A 
dropped kerb for cycle and occasional vehicle access to be provided

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Traffic Changes On-street Changes

P
age 190



How do people currently travel on Old Jewry?

38

Overall, two thirds of the respondents providing feedback on Old Jewry reported walking or travelling on foot on this street 
(65%), followed by travelling by taxi as a driver (13%), on  a bicycle or scooter (12%), and by taxi as a passenger (5%). 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

How do you usually travel along this street? (Base: 121)

1%

2%

2%

5%

12%

13%

65%

Using a wheelchair or adapted cycle or scooter

Car as a passenger

Car as a driver

Taxi as a passenger

Bicycle or scooter

Taxi as a driver

Walking or on foot

P
age 191



Two fifths of the respondents providing feedback on Old Jewry reported 
using Old Jewry more often with the changes in place, compared to 
before they were introduced (39%).  This compares to a fifth who 
reported using the street less often (22%).

The changes already in place on Old Jewry were perceived to have 
an overall positive impact, with three fifths of respondents providing 
feedback on Old Jewry reporting this (60%).

Up to two thirds of respondents providing feedback on Old Jewry 
felt that the changes already in place on Old Jewry had a positive 
impact on space for people walking (65%) and cycling (54%).

What are the impacts of the current changes?

39 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Overall impacts Use of street

To what extent have the changes already in place impacted…?

39% 21% 10% 6% 24%

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact

Overall, what type of impact have the changes already in place had on you? (Base: 131)

39% 39% 22%

Yes - I use the street more often

No - I use the street the same as before the changes

Yes - I use the street less often

Have the changes already in place changed how often you use this street? (Base: 124)

46%

31%

19%

22%

19%

26%

2%

3%

12%

7%

2%

11%

Space for people walking (Base: 130)

Space for people cycling (Base: 134)

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact Do not know

P
age 192



40 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

What are the impacts of the current changes?

In terms of negative impacts, the main 
comments related to: 

o Road safety; 

o Taxi operation; 

o Displaced congestion; and

o Displaced pollution. 

Other negative impact comments related 
to cyclist access, increased journey 
times, and access for people with 
disabilities. 

Comments related to current changes on Old Jewry were mainly related to negative impacts, followed by positive 
impacts, and suggested improvements. 

In turn, a number of positive impact 
comments highlighted the improvements 
made to pedestrian access on the street. 

Other positive comments related to 
improvements made regarding road 
safety, public realm, and cyclist access, as 
well as the introduction of planters and 
greenery.

Comments on suggested improvements 
mainly related to improving general 
traffic management. Other suggested 
improvements included: 

o Improving cycle lanes;

o Improving disabled access;

o Introducing enforcement in relation 
to cycling speed; and

o Pedestrianisation. 

“You are encouraging conflict by requiring the 
few vehicles who need access to enter, do a 
three point turn and exit…”

“It's nice to have a pedestrianised area and 
an outside space with benches and planters.” 

“Making this street for pedestrians and cycles 
only would be a good improvement. The only 
vehicular traffic that should be permitted here 
is for deliveries to businesses.” 

P
age 193



Is there support for making the changes 
permanent?

41

Respondents were shown a visualisation depicting what Old Jewry 
could look like if the experimental traffic changes are successful and 
they are implemented permanently (see image to right).

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

61% 5% 31% 3%

63% 6% 28% 3%

Fully support Partially support Do not support Do not know

Overall, to what extent do you support the traffic changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 130)

Overall, to what extent do you support the other changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 126)

Overall, two thirds of respondents expressed support for making the 
traffic changes permanent (66%). 

Similarly, just over two thirds of respondents expressed support 
for making the other changes on this street permanent (69%).

P
age 194



42 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Other feedback
Other comments related to the proposal for Old Jewry were mainly divided between suggested improvements and 
negative impacts, followed by positive impacts.

The main suggested improvements were 
related to:

o General traffic management; 

o Planters and greenery; 

o Street seating; and

o Taxi operation. 

Other suggested improvement related to 
maintenance, pedestrianisation, improving 
cycle lanes and introducing enforcement. 

In terms of negative impacts, a number of 
issues were raised in relation to access for 
people with disabilities. 

Other issues raised related to:

o Congestion; 

o Increased journey times; 

o Taxi operation; and 

o Visual appearance of the street.

Comments on positive impacts focused on 
the improvements made to public realm 
and the addition of planters and greenery.

“It is important that it is easy for three point 
turns to be made for vehicles wishing to exit 
Old Jewry at the designated point so that 
Frederick's Place isn't used as a turning 
space.” 

“Unfair on those that do not cycle and those 
that cannot walk far as extra journey times 
and costs.”

“I think the visualisation looks fantastic. I 
like that the street is for people and the 
planting and seating is great.”

P
age 195



43 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 196



What are the changes on King William Street?

44

The changes to traffic on King William Street are:

o Restricting access to motor vehicles on King William Street and Abchurch lane Monday 
to Friday between 7am – 7pm, except for buses, taxi and private vehicle drop off/pick 
up and vehicles accessing off-street premises these times match the Bank Junction 
restriction timings

o Timing of restrictions matching the Bank junction traffic restrictions

o Access outside of timed restrictions unchanged

o Removal of advisory cycle lanes in both directions

The on-street changes to King Street are:

o The pavements along King William Street widened on both sides of the street between 
Monument junction and Bank junction to create more space for people walking

o The carriageway to be reduced to 6.5m wide and pavements widened by 1.2m – 2.6m 

o Changes to waiting and loading restrictions outside of the restricted hours that 
continue to meet the needs of business requiring servicing activity from the street. 

o Reduced traffic volumes on King William Street (between the Bank Junction 
restrictions and the proposed access restriction) allow for the removal of the advisory 
cycle lanes and for people cycling to use the main traffic lane

o New dropped kerb on the eastern side King William Street at the Cannon Street 
junction to improve accessibility

o Crossings improved across side streets with the Lombard Street junction with King 
William Street narrowed, creating shorter crossing distance for people walking 

o If possible, new street trees will be introduced in the area 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Traffic Changes On-street Changes

P
age 197



How do people currently travel on King William 
Street?

45

Overall, just over two fifths of the respondents providing feedback on King William Street reported walking or travelling on 
foot on the street (43%), followed by travelling on a bicycle or scooter (31%), by taxi as a driver (12%), and by taxi as a 
passenger (5%). 

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

How do you usually travel along this street? (Base: 115)

1%

1%

3%

4%

5%

12%

31%

43%

Van or lorry

Bus

Car as a passenger

Car as a driver

Taxi as a passenger

Taxi as a driver

Bicycle or scooter

Walking or on foot

P
age 198



Over half of respondents providing feedback on King William Street 
felt that the changes already in place on King William Street had a 
positive impact on space for people walking (65%) and cycling (52%).

The changes already in place on King William Street were perceived 
to have an overall positive impact, with almost two thirds of 
respondents providing feedback on King William Street reporting 
this (61%).

What are the impacts of the current changes?

46 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Overall impacts

To what extent have the changes already in place impacted…?

Findings differed significantly by frequency of street use. Respondents 
who reported using the street more often were more likely than those 
who reported using the street less often to report that the changes had 
a positive impact on space for people cycling (88% compared to 14%) 
and were less likely to report that the changes had a neutral impact on 
space for people cycling (6% compared to 50%). 

38% 19% 10% 3% 30%

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact

Overall, what type of impact have the changes already in place had on you? (Base: 127)

40%

31%

24%

21%

21%

24%

1%

5%

9%

9%

5%

10%

Space for people walking (Base: 127)

Space for people cycling (Base: 130)

Major positive impact Moderate positive impact No impact

Moderate negative impact Major negative impact Do not know

P
age 199



Just over two fifths of the respondents providing feedback on King William Street reported using King William Street 
more often with the changes in place, compared to before they were introduced (43%).  This compares to a fifth who 
reported using the street less often (22%).

What are the impacts of the current changes?

47 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Use of street

43% 35% 22%

Yes - I use the street more often

No - I use the street the same as before the changes

Yes - I use the street less often

Have the changes already in place changed how often you use this street? (Base: 120)

Findings differed significantly by: 

 Support for making the traffic changes on King William Street permanent: Respondents 
who were supportive of making the traffic changes permanent were more likely than 
those who were unsupportive to report using the street more often due to the 
changes (62% compared to 8%) and were less likely to report using the street less 
often (1% compared to 60%).  

 Support for making other changes on King William Street permanent: Respondents who 
were supportive of making the other changes permanent where more likely than those 
who were unsupportive to report using the street more often due to the changes (63% 
compared to 12%) and were less likely to report using the street less often (1% 
compared to 58%). 

P
age 200



48 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

What are the impacts of the current changes?

In terms of negative impacts, the main 
comments related to:

o Displaced congestion; 

o Cyclist access; 

o Road safety; and

o Taxi operation. 

Other negative impacts related to 
increased journey times, impacts on 
businesses, pedestrian access, and 
access for people with disabilities. 

Comments related to current changes on King William Street mainly related to negative impacts, followed by suggested 
improvements and positive impacts.

Views on suggested improvements divided 
into three main themes: 

o Improving cycle lanes; 

o Improving general traffic 
management; and 

o Improving taxi access.

Other suggested improvement related to 
improving the time restrictions and 
introducing enforcement. 

Comments on positive impacts mainly 
focused on road safety and pedestrian 
access. 

Other positive impact comments related 
to cyclist access, public realm, and traffic 
reduction.

“The best approach would be to make this road 
one way, so there would be plenty of space for a 
dedicated cycle lane.”

“I feel safer in this street.”

“High number of buses and taxis still creates 
difficult conditions for people on bikes.”

P
age 201



Respondents were shown a visualisation depicting what King William 
Street could look like if the experimental traffic changes are successful 
and they are implemented permanently (see image to right).

54% 14% 31%

1%

Fully support Partially support Do not support Do not know

Is there support for making the changes 
permanent?

49 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Overall, to what extent do you support the traffic changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 131)

Overall, just over two thirds of respondents expressed support 
making the traffic changes permanent (68%). 

Findings differed significantly by: 

 Frequency of street use: Respondents who reported using the street more often were more likely 
than those who reported using the street less often to be supportive of the traffic changes being 
made permanent (94% compared to 4%) and were less likely to be unsupportive of this (6% 
compared to 96%). 

 Support for making other changes permanent: Respondents who were supportive of making the 
other street changes permanent were more likely than those who were unsupportive to be 
supportive of making the traffic changes permanent (99% compared to 3%) and were less likely 
to be unsupportive of this (1% compared to 97%). 

P
age 202



Similarly, just over two thirds of respondents expressed support for 
making the other changes on this street permanent (69%).

Is there support for making the changes 
permanent?

50 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Findings differed significantly by: 

 Frequency of street use: Respondents who reported using the street more often were more likely 
than those who reported using the street less often to be supportive of the other changes being 
made permanent (92% compared to 5%) and were less likely to be unsupportive of this (8% 
compared to 95%). 

 Support for making traffic changes permanent: Respondents who were supportive of making the 
traffic changes permanent were more likely than those who were unsupportive to be supportive 
of the other changes being made permanent (99% compared to 3%) and were less likely to be 
unsupportive of this (1% compared to 97%). 

56% 13% 29%

2%

Fully support Partially support Do not support Do not know

Overall, to what extent do you support the other changes on this street being 
made permanent? (Base: 126)

P
age 203



51 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

Other feedback

Other comments related to the proposal for King William Street were mainly divided between negative impacts and 
suggested improvements, followed by positive impacts.

Negative impacts mostly related to 
cyclist access. Other negative impacts 
raised were in relation to:

o Road safety;

o Access for people with disabilities;

o Taxi operation; 

o Congestion.

The main comments for suggested 
improvements focused on improving cycle lanes 
and taxi access. 

Other suggested improvement comments 
related to improving:

o Planters and greenery;

o Time restrictions; and

o General traffic management.

Positive impact comments mainly focused 
on traffic reduction and pedestrian access. 

Other positive impact comments related to 
cyclist access and improved public realm.

“Cyclists mixed with any motor traffic increases 
road danger and, outside the restricted times, 
could increase cycling casualties here.” “Keep cycle lanes and make them properly 

segregated i.e. not wands. Cycling an important 
part of the desired traffic mix.”

“The proposed arrangements are good for 
pedestrians and will provide a more pleasant 
environment for people walking.”

P
age 204



52 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 205



Conclusions

53

This report

This report presents the findings of a consultation on City of London’s Pedestrian Priority Streets 
Programme, outlining perceived impacts and level of support for five different pedestrian priority 
schemes on Cheapside, Old Broad Street (south) and Threadneedle Street, King Street, Old Jewry 
and King William Street. 

Level of support for the schemes

In summary, three quarters of respondents were supportive of introducing traffic and loading 
restrictions to make more space for people walking and cycling.  

Across all pedestrian priority schemes, more than 60% of respondents were supportive of the traffic 
changes resulting from the schemes, as well as the on-street changes (e.g. changes to public realm, 
road and pavement width, greenery and seating, cycle lanes and servicing and loading restrictions).

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 206



Conclusions

54

Perceived impacts 

Across all pedestrian priority schemes, around 6 in ten respondents felt that the scheme had a 
positive impact on them overall, with a similar proportion of respondents reporting that the schemes 
had a positive impact on space for people walking and cycling.

Furthermore, between a third and half of respondents reported using the streets more since the 
pedestrian priority schemes had been in place, and most journeys were either currently made by 
walking or cycling.  

For some schemes, increased use of the street was associated with high levels of support for the 
scheme and a greater likelihood to report it having a positive impact.  This suggests that those who 
use the streets regularly are satisfied with the schemes as designed now, and as proposed for the 
future.

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 207



Conclusions

55

Benefits and concerns

The following common benefits were reported across all pedestrian priority schemes: 

o Improved pedestrian access; 

o Improved access for people cycling; 

o Improved road safety; and 

o Improved public realm.

The following common concerns were raised across most pedestrian priority schemes: 

o Increased journey times; 

o Access for pedestrians, people cycling, the elderly and those with disabilities; 

o Impacts on taxi operation; 

o Negative road safety impacts; and 

o Displaced congestion.

Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

P
age 208



Street scheme summaries

56 Pedestrian Priority Schemes Consultation Findings

STREET SCHEME OVERALL IMPACT OF 
CURRENT CHANGES

ISSUES RAISED BENEFITS RAISED CHANGES IN USE OF 
STREET

SUPPORT FOR MAKING 
TRAFFIC CHANGES 
PERMANENT

SUPPORT FOR MAKING 
ON-STREET CHANGES 
PERMANENT

Cheapside 61% positive impact • Taxi operation
• Road safety
• Congestion 

• Reduced traffic
• Pedestrian and 

cyclist access
• Improved public 

realm

53% use the street more 63% supportive 68% supportive

Old Broad Street (south) 
and Threadneedle Street

61% positive impact • Increased journey 
times

• Access for 
pedestrians, the 
elderly and those 
with disabilities 

• Pedestrian and 
cyclist access

• Road safety 
• Improved public 

realm

49% use the street more 67% supportive 64% supportive

King Street 61% positive impact • Increased journey 
times

• Access for people 
cycling, the elderly 
and those with 
disabilities 

• Pedestrian and 
cyclist access

• Road safety 

45% use the street more 67% supportive 71% supportive

Old Jewry 60% positive impact • Road safety
• Taxi operation
• Congestion 

• Pedestrian access
• Road safety 
• Improved public 

realm

39% use the street more 66% supportive 69% supportive

King William Street 61% positive impact • Congestion 
• Access for people 

cycling
• Road safety 

• Road safety
• Pedestrian access

43% use the street more 68% supportive 69% supportive

A summary of the response per street can be found in the table below:

P
age 209



CONFIDENCE MOVES THE WORLD

P
age 210



Appendix 5 – summary of written responses by organisation 
 
Written responses to the Public Consultation were received from seven 
organisations and are summarised below. 
 
City Property Association 
The CPA supports “the permanent and enhanced adoption of the measures 
outlined in this consultation for all the streets concerned”, and not to do so 
would be a missed opportunity. 
 
The CPA believes that the pedestrian priority measures will increase capacity 
for footfall which will increase comfort levels, safety and accessibility which 
will contribute to the City remaining and attractive and world-leading 
destination for workers, visitors and residents. It points out that prior to the 
pandemic City workers contributed 43% of spending in the City and vital that 
workers are encourage to return and “linger longer”.  
 
The CPA supports the City’s Destination City policy and considers the 
pedestrian priority measures will contribute to this by creating “Healthy Streets 
with greenery and seating, encouraging people to rest and enjoy the Square 
Mile will help to create much improved public realm” 
 
London Living Streets 
Living Streets “strongly support the proposal for making the Pedestrian Priority 
measures permanent.” 
 
Living Streets have requested that traffic volumes on King William Street and 
Lombard Street be monitored as they have some concerns with allowing 
access for taxi and private hire vehicles in case these become “ratruns” for 
vehicles not genuinely dropping off or picking up passengers. 
 
Cheapside Business Alliance 
The Cheapside Business Alliance is broadly supportive of the programme to 
help deliver environmental, public realm and greening opportunities. Balanced 
with this support is feedback from businesses, especially retail and hospitality 
venues, regarding accessibility, particularly the availability of taxis and 
deliveries for businesses. Cheapside business claim to have noted a 
discernible decrease in taxi volumes. The CBA would like to see consideration 
given to full or targeted access for taxis.  
 
A City Developer 
This developer, who wished to remain anonymous in public reports, 
are very supportive of the principles that lie behind these works in terms of 
making the City a more pleasant and safer place for pedestrians and cyclists 
and that the City needs to be ambitious in pursuing this agenda: prioritising 
sustainable modes of transport and interventions such as those proposed 
here.  
  
Member for Cordwainer 
The Members main response regards the Cheapside measure which they 
consider “unnecessary and potentially dangerous”. Whilst the Member 

Page 211



supports more trees, they do not believe they should be placed in too close 
proximity to the edge of the road. 
 
The Member considers that there is already adequate space for pedestrians 
on Cheapside and that there are already nearby areas of public space in 
vicinity to the Cheapside measure. 
 
The Member notes that “ensuring the ward is accessible to taxis and other 
modes of transport along Cheapside is an essential part of operating in the 
City and is vital to increasing the footfall for the businesses in the ward. It is 
also clearly necessary for businesses to have delivery and other access to 
their premises, particularly for those who have mobility issues”.  
 
London Taxi Drivers Association 
The LTDA would specifically like to have the same access as buses and 
cyclists on Cheapside to facilitate better and more direct access. The 
diversions drivers must take lead to congestion and a more expensive route 
for passengers.  
 
The LTDA would prefer King Street to revert to its previous two-way 
arrangement but recognises the busy footways along here but does not think 
the cycle lane is justified due to alternative parallel routes and if kept one-way 
would be better to provide more pedestrian space. On Threadneedle Street 
the LTDA would like to see more two-way operation, at least between 
Bartholomew Lane and Old Broad Street and ideally all the way to 
Bishopsgate. The Old Jewry and King William Street measures have a neutral 
impact on taxis. 
 
Motorcycle Action Group 
The MAG generally object to the pedestrian priority measures. They consider 
that the measures will lead to increased congestion and provide only marginal 
benefit to pedestrians and a greater detrimental impact on powered two 
wheelers.  
 
They continue “some of the schemes, notably King St., exhibit limited 
pedestrian footfall and no obvious pavement capacity or cycling issues over 
an extended period of time. Therefore we do not feel that these are all critical 
measures that significantly change the environment for pedestrians in a way 
that validates the trade-off.” 
 

Page 212



 

Draft Report 
January 2023 
 
 

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street 
– Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

 

 

 

 

City of London Corporation 
 24398701 
   Page 213



Page 214



 

Steer has prepared this material for City of London Corporation. This material may only be used within the context 
and scope for which Steer has prepared it and may not be relied upon in part or whole by any third party or be 
used for any other purpose. Any person choosing to use any part of this material without the express and written 
permission of Steer shall be deemed to confirm their agreement to indemnify Steer for all loss or damage resulting 
therefrom. Steer has prepared this material using professional practices and procedures using information 
available to it at the time and as such any new information could alter the validity of the results and conclusions 
made. 

Draft Report 
January 2023 
 
 

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street 
– Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Prepared for: 
 

Steer 
14-21 Rushworth Street 
London SE1 0RB 
 

City of London Corporation 
Guildhall 
London EC2P 2EJ 

+44 20 7910 5000 
www.steergroup.com 

    
  24398701 

Page 215



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Contents 

1 Introduction .............................................................................................................. 1 

Background ......................................................................................................................... 1 

Scheme context .................................................................................................................. 1 

Assumed impact on transport and movement .................................................................. 2 

2 Scoping ..................................................................................................................... 4 

3 Data sources ............................................................................................................. 6 

4 Baseline .................................................................................................................... 8 

5 Age ......................................................................................................................... 11 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 11 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 11 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 15 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 16 

6 Disability ................................................................................................................ 17 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 17 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 17 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 22 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 22 

7 Pregnancy and maternity ........................................................................................ 23 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 23 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 23 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 24 

Potential disproportionately positive impacts ................................................................. 24 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts ................................................................ 24 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 25 

8 Race ....................................................................................................................... 26 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 26 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 26 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 28 

Potential disproportionately positive impacts ................................................................. 28 

Page 216



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts ................................................................ 29 

9 Religion or belief ..................................................................................................... 30 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 30 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 30 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 31 

Potential disproportionately positive impacts ................................................................. 31 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts ................................................................ 31 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 31 

10 Sex ......................................................................................................................... 32 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 32 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 32 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 34 

Potential disproportionately positive impacts ................................................................. 34 

11 Summary of recommended mitigating actions ......................................................... 35 

 

Figures 
Figure 1.1: Proposed permanent scheme .................................................................................... 3 

Figure 3.1: City of London 001F LSOA ........................................................................................... 6 

Figure 3.2: City of London MSOA .................................................................................................. 7 

Figure 4.1: Bank on Safety Workplace Zone ................................................................................. 8 

Figure 4.2: Age of daytime occupants within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone ...................... 9 

Figure 4.3: Method of travel to work for those with a workplace in the City of London ........... 10 

Figure 5.1: Age distribution in the study area, compared to City of London and Greater London 
in 2011. ....................................................................................................................................... 11 

Figure 5.2: Age distribution in the City of London and Greater London in 2021 ....................... 12 

Figure 5.3: Mode share by age in City of London ....................................................................... 13 

Figure 5.4: Mode share by age in Greater London ..................................................................... 14 

Figure 5.5: Percentage Killed or Seriously Injured by age in City of London (2021)................... 15 

Figure 6.1: Population limited by long-term health problems or disabilities in the study area, 
City of London and Greater London ........................................................................................... 17 

Figure 6.2: Impairment types stated by those with an impairment affecting travel in City of 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 18 

Page 217



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Figure 6.3: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in City of London
 .................................................................................................................................................... 19 

Figure 6.4: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in Greater 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 19 

Figure 6.5: Mode share of those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in City of 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 20 

Figure 6.6: Mode split by those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in Greater 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

Figure 7.1: General Fertility Rate per year in City of London and Hackney compared to the 
Greater London average ............................................................................................................. 24 

Figure 8.1: Study area and City of London ethnicity compared to London and national averages
 .................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Figure 8.2: Mode share by ethnicity in City of London ............................................................... 28 

Figure 8.3: Mode share by ethnicity in London .......................................................................... 28 

Figure 9.1: Religion composition in the study area, City of London, and Greater London ........ 31 

Figure 10.1: Population breakdown by sex in the study area, City of London, and Greater 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 32 

Figure 10.2: Mode share by sex in City of London ..................................................................... 33 

Figure 10.3: Mode share by sex in London ................................................................................. 33 

 

 

Tables 
Table 2.1: Protected characteristics scoping ................................................................................ 5 

 

 

 

Page 218



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 1 

Background 
1.1 This Equality Impact assessment (EqIA) relates to the proposed improvements to King Street, 

located within the City of London. An EqIA is a process designed to ensure that a policy, 
project, or scheme does not unlawfully discriminate against any protected characteristic as 
defined by the Equality Act 2010. This EqIA has been produced by the independent transport 
and infrastructure consultancy, Steer.  

1.2 In the summer 2020, the City of London Corporation (CoL) provided more space for 
pedestrians to enable social distancing. These changes were implemented as traffic 
experiments under Experimental Traffic Orders (ETOs) so that they could monitor the impacts 
on residents, businesses, and street users. 

1.3 The CoL is currently in the process of assessing the impact of these changes and deciding 
whether they should be made permanent. This EqIA provides an assessment of the potential 
disproportionate impacts between the existing ETO scheme and the proposed permanent 
scheme.  

Scheme context  
1.4 This EqIA assesses the potential disproportionate impacts between the existing ETO and the 

proposed permanent scheme. Details of each scheme are outlined below: 

Existing scheme (ETO) 

1.5 The existing ETO scheme was introduced in summer 2020, and involved the following changes 
to King Street:  

• Making the street one-way for motorised vehicles, with access only available northbound 
from Cheapside to Gresham Street 

• Introducing temporary footway widening using traffic separator posts and white lines  
• Installing a mandatory contraflow cycle lane southbound, separated from traffic using 

traffic separator posts and white lines in the carriageway 
• Introducing a left turn only for motorised vehicles entering from Trump Street (cycles 

exempt) 
• Introducing restrictions for there to be no parking or loading activity or the dropping of 

passengers on King Street 

Proposed scheme (Permanent) 

1.6 The proposed permanent scheme for King Street involves the following amendments to the 
existing ETO layout:  

• Making permanent the one-way arrangement, northbound from Cheapside to Gresham 
Street 

1 Introduction 

Page 219

https://uk.steergroup.com/


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 2 

• Permanently widening the footway on both sides of the street, to 3.2 metres on the east 
side, and a minimum of 2 metres on the west side 

• Making permanent the left turn only for motorised vehicles entering from Trump Street 
• Making permanent the 1.7-metre-wide mandatory southbound contraflow cycle lane  
• Making permanent the restrictions for there to be no parking or loading activity, or the 

dropping of passengers on King Street 
• Lifting restrictions on motorised traffic at the northbound exit to Gresham Street, allowing 

for vehicles to turn both ways 
• Additional footway improvements of new street trees at various locations 

1.7 Drawings of changes are presented overleaf in Figure 1.1.  

Assumed impact on transport and movement  
1.8 The impacts identified throughout this EqIA has been drafted on the assumption that the 

proposed scheme will have the following impacts on transport and movement in the area: 

• Permanently widening the footways on both sides of King Street will improve the walking 
environment, making it easier and more pleasant for people to walk down the street  

• Making the existing restrictions to motor traffic permanent will lock in the benefits to 
people cycling and walking of a quieter and safer environment, but in turn will mean that 
some motor traffic journeys will need to continue to use alternative routes to avoid the 
restrictions, which could take longer than before the ETO scheme  

• Making the existing mandatory contraflow cycle lane permanent will lock in the 
protection of cyclists from motor traffic flowing northbound  

• Allowing motorised traffic to turn right as well as left at the junction with Gresham Street 
will improve access for drivers 

Page 220



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 3 

Figure 1.1: Proposed permanent scheme  

Page 221



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 4 

2.1 A scoping assessment has been undertaken to identify whether the proposed scheme could 
have a disproportionate impact on people with one or more protected characteristics.  

2.2 “Disproportionate impact” means that groups of people who share a protected characteristic 
may be significantly more affected by a change than other people.  

2.3 Protected characteristics are defined by the Equality Act 2010. The 'protection' refers to 
protection from discrimination. There are nine characteristics protected by the Equality Act: 

• Age 
• Disability 
• Gender reassignment  
• Marriage and civil partnership  
• Pregnancy and maternity  
• Race  
• Religion or belief  
• Sex  
• Sexual orientation  

2.4 As the public realm scheme is aimed at making these streets more attractive to people walking 
and dwelling, as well as making them safer and less polluted, it is considered that the scheme 
is likely to impact people’s movement and experience of streets and spaces. Groups that have 
a significant intersection with movement and space, i.e., those that travel in distinguishably 
different ways, are most likely to be affected. 

2.5 It is not considered that the ‘Gender reassignment’, ‘Sexual orientation’ or ‘Marriage and civil 
partnership’ protected characteristics have a significant intersection with movement and 
space. As such, they have not been included in the baseline data or the detailed analysis of 
equality impacts that follows. 

2.6 This exercise considers both potential positive and negative impacts, and, where possible, 
provides evidence to explain how and why a group might be particularly affected. Table 2.1 
provides a summary of the scoping assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

2 Scoping  

Page 222



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 5 

Table 2.1: Protected characteristics scoping 

Protected characteristic  Disproportionate 
impact unlikely 

Disproportionate 
impact possible 

Commentary  

Age – people in particular age 
groups (particularly over 65s and 
under 16s)  ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s 
ability to use the transport network can be 
reduced as a result of age and age-related 
health conditions.  

Disability – people with 
disabilities (including different 
types of physical, learning or 
mental disabilities) 

 ✔ 

There is likely to be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s use 
of the transport network can be shaped by 
certain disabilities. 

Gender reassignment – people 
who are intending to undergo, 
are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process or part of a 
process of gender reassignment 

✔  

People undergoing gender reassignment are 
unlikely to be disproportionately impacted by 
the scheme.  

Marriage and civil partnership – 
people who are married or in a 
civil partnership 

✔  
People who are married or in a civil partnership 
are unlikely to be disproportionately impacted 
by the scheme.  

Pregnancy and maternity – 
people who are pregnant or 
have given birth in the previous 
26 weeks 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s use 
of the transport network can be shaped by 
pregnancy and parental care.  

Race – people of a particular 
race or ethnicity (including 
refugees, asylum seekers, 
migrants, gypsies and travellers) 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. Use of the 
transport network and/or occupation may 
differ depending on ethnic group.  

Religion or belief – people of 
particular faiths and beliefs 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. Use of the 
transport network by those practising different 
religions may vary across different days (e.g., 
Sunday worship, when public transport services 
are reduced).  

Sex – whether people are male 
or female   ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate effect which 
this EqIA will investigate. Use of the transport 
network and/or occupation may differ 
depending on sex. 

Sexual orientation – whether a 
person’s sexual orientation is 
towards the same sex, a 
different sex, or both. 

✔  

There could be a disproportionate effect which 
this EqIA will investigate. Experience of the 
transport network may differ depending on a 
person’s sexual orientation. 

 

Page 223



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 6 

3.1 For this assessment, information has been gathered about protected characteristic groups for 
the City of London 001F Lower Layer Super Output Area (LSOA), the City of London Middle 
Layer Super Output Area (MSOA) as well as data for London as a whole. The LSOA and MSOA 
are represented below in Figure 3.1 and Figure 3.2 respectively. Throughout this EqIA, this is 
referred to as ‘the study area’. 

3.2 The City of London is a small and densely populated area with high levels of walkability and 
numerous public transport stations. This means that any given street is likely to be used by 
people from across the City. Therefore, it is important to consider an area that is wider than 
the immediate surroundings of the scheme; this requirement is satisfied with the use of LSOA 
data. Data at the MSOA level is used as a substitute for LSOA data for specific data sets where 
no greater level of detail is provided. London as a whole is included in the assessment to 
provide greater context to the data for residents living in the City of London. 

Figure 3.1: City of London 001F LSOA  

 

Source: Nomis 2022 

3 Data sources  

Page 224



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 7 

Figure 3.2: City of London MSOA 

 

Source: Nomis 2022 

Data sources and limitations  

3.3 London Travel Demand Survey (LTDS) and Census 2011/2021 data are the two primary data 
sources used throughout this assessment. Supplementary data sources have also been used 
and are referenced throughout. For each protected characteristic, data has been collated and 
analysed, with comparisons made at LSOA, Borough/MSOA, London and national levels, where 
relevant. 

3.4 While Census data is a useful tool for understanding and comparing travel characteristics of an 
area with another, it does have limitations; particularly that the 2011 dataset is dated, and 
even more so given the changes brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic. On the other hand, 
2021 Census data is expected to have been influenced by alterations to ways of living and 
moving during the Covid-19 pandemic period. 

3.5 Though 2021 Census data has been collected prior to the publication of this report, not all 
data has been released. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) expects to release all data and 
analysis within two years of the Census. Where relevant 2021 Census data has been made 
available, it is used in this EqIA. 

3.6 LTDS data provides granular data within the City of London, however it is not wholly 
representative of the wider population as it is calculated using sample sets and subsequently 
scaled up. Throughout this report, acknowledgement has been made where the sample size of 
LTDS data is particularly small.  

Page 225



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 8 

4.1 The City of London has a very large workforce in comparison to its usual residential 
population. The 2011 Census recorded the residential population as 7,400 people and the 
work force as 357,000 people – almost 50 times the usual residential population which 
demonstrates significant movement in and out of the City every day.  

4.2 The workforce located within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone, as defined in the zone shown 
in Figure 4.1, amounts to 9,100 people. It can be seen in Figure 4.2 that the age profile for the 
Bank Junction Workplace Zone follows a similar trend to that of the City of London workforce, 
where the highest age group is those aged 30-34. The workforce in the Bank Junction 
Workplace Zone is lower when compared to those aged 55+ within the City. 

Figure 4.1: Bank on Safety Workplace Zone 

 

Source: Bank on Safety Equality Analysis with data from Office for National Statistics 

4 Baseline 

Page 226



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 9 

Figure 4.2: Age of daytime occupants within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone 

 

Source: Bank on Safety Equality Analysis with data from Census 2011 

4.3 Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-2019 estimates show an increase in the City of London 
residential population to 9,700 people while the 2018 workforce was estimated to be 
522,0001. The City shows the highest workplace density out of all boroughs in Greater London 
with the primary land use in the City being offices, which make up more than 70% of all 
buildings. In absolute terms, the City has the second greatest workforce after the City of 
Westminster, with a gender split of 64% males and 36% females in 20192. 

4.4 When compared to Greater London, the City of London has a higher proportion of professional 
occupations, associated professional and technical occupations, skilled trades occupations, 
and administrative and secretarial occupations. Professional and associate 
professional/technical occupations represent over half of occupations within the City. 

4.5 Census 2011 data shows that of those travelling to the City of London for work, 38% have trips 
of 10km or less. 36% of trips are between 10km and 30km, while 16% are within 30km and 
50km and 9% are 60km or more. Overall, 84% of the workforce uses public transport to travel 
to the City of London for work, shown in Figure 4.3.  

4.6 Please note that these figures may change significantly due to the change in working 
arrangements and patterns attributed to Covid-19, however the CoL can only act on the latest 
data available. Census 2021 data on workplace population is due to be released by the ONS in 
‘Spring 2023’.  

 
1 https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-
city  
2 https://www.citywomen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/city-of-london-jobs-factsheet.pdf  

Page 227

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-city
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-city
https://www.citywomen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/city-of-london-jobs-factsheet.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 10 

Figure 4.3: Method of travel to work for those with a workplace in the City of London 

  
Source: 2011 Census 

  

Page 228



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 11 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 
1. In relation to the protected characteristic of age: 

a. A reference to a person of a particular age group 
b. A reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 

persons of the same age group 

2. A reference to an age group is a reference to a group of persons defined by a 
reference to age, whether by reference to a particular age or to a range of ages. 

Baseline equalities data 
5.1 As of 2011, the greatest proportion of residents in the study area were in the 25-44 age group 

(57 per cent) (Figure 5.1). This was significantly higher than both the City of London (41 per 
cent) and London as a whole (36 per cent). The younger population in the study area matched 
that of the City more closely, however the number of over 60s was much lower in the study 
area (8 per cent) than in the City (20 per cent).  

Figure 5.1: Age distribution in the study area, compared to City of London and Greater London in 2011. 

 
Source: Census 2011 

Study Area City of London Greater London
60 and over 8% 20% 15%
45 to 59 16% 21% 17%
25 to 44 57% 41% 36%
16 to 24 13% 10% 12%
Under 16 6% 8% 20%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

60 and over

45 to 59

25 to 44

16 to 24

Under 16

5 Age 

Page 229



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 12 

5.2 More recent data from the 2021 Census is not available at the level of the study area. 
However, the age distribution for the City and Greater London is shown in Figure 5.2.  

5.3 In the period 2011-2021, the number of younger people (16-24) has marginally increased by 3 
per cent, while the number of under 16s and over 60s both decreased by 1 per cent. Similarly 
small changes occurred at the Greater London level, implying that the comparison in age 
distribution between the two scales has remained broadly similar. 

Figure 5.2: Age distribution in the City of London and Greater London in 2021 

 

Source: Census 2021 

5.4 Figure 5.3 presents LTDS data on how people travel around the City within each age group, 
and Figure 5.4 presents this same information for London as a whole. 

5.5 The highest usage of active travel modes (walking and cycling) is among the under 16s (39 per 
cent), followed by the 25-44 age group (37 per cent). On the other hand, only 29 per cent of 
16–24-year-olds walk or cycle. This pattern is consistent with data for Greater London. Public 
transport is the most popular travel mode in the City, used by over 50 per cent of residents in 
each age group. This is higher than the Greater London public transport mode share across all 
age groups.  

5.6 Notably, only 33 per cent of under 16s use public transport in Greater London. In the City, 
however, this rises to 61 per cent. The use of private vehicles in the City is minimal, making up 
4 per cent of all journeys. Over 60s use private vehicles more than any other age group (13 per 
cent). 

City of London Greater London
60 and over 19% 16%
45 to 59 20% 19%
25 to 44 41% 34%
16 to 24 13% 11%
Under 16 7% 19%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

60 and over

45 to 59

25 to 44

16 to 24

Under 16

Page 230



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 13 

Figure 5.3: Mode share by age in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Under
16 16-24 25-44 45-59 Over 60 Overall

All other methods 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Walk and cycle 39% 29% 37% 30% 32% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 61% 65% 60% 63% 56% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 0% 5% 2% 7% 13% 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 231



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 14 

Figure 5.4: Mode share by age in Greater London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

5.7 Killed and Seriously Injured (KSIs) and Slightly Injured casualties by age category are shown in 
Figure 5.5 below. In total there were 42 KSIs and 115 Slightly Injured casualties in 2021.  

5.8 Recorded KSIs are highest for the 16-24 age group (35 per cent) and the 45-59 age group (33 
per cent). This indicates that these age groups are disproportionately more likely to suffer 
more severe consequences if they are a casualty in a collision. 

5.9 Across the UK, 10-14 age group road accidents make up over 50 per cent of all external causes 
of death. Moreover, 15–19-year-olds experience almost double the risk of death from road 
traffic accidents (82.5 deaths per million population) in comparison to the general population. 

Under
16 16-24 25-44 45-59 Over 60 Overall

All other methods 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Walk and cycle 49% 35% 40% 40% 41% 40%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 33% 59% 51% 46% 46% 49%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 16% 6% 9% 14% 13% 11%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 232



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 15 

Figure 5.5: Percentage Killed or Seriously Injured by age in City of London (2021) 

 

Source: STATS19, 2021  

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposed widened and improved footways along either side of 
King Street will provide people with additional comfort when making trips on foot, 
particularly at peak hours when pedestrian volumes are at their highest and footways at 
their busiest.  

• This is likely to disproportionately benefit older people, as older people are more likely to 
live with mobility impairments due to aging, and increased space for walking is likely to 
create a more comfortable and pleasant environment. This will also disproportionately 
benefit younger people, specifically those aged under-16 who have the highest mode 
share for walking and cycling (39 per cent). 

• The proposals include the removal of the temporary extensions to the footway on the 
eastern side consisting of painted white lines in the carriageway and wands to protect 
from traffic. They will be replaced a new at-grade extension of the footway which will 
remove need to step down a kerb to benefit from the extension. This will ensure that the 
footway is accessible for all.  

• Cycling provision: Younger people in the CoL are more likely than any other age group to 
use active transport, with 39 per cent of under-16s being the highest mode share for any 
age group. Therefore, young people are likely to disproportionately benefit from the 
retention of the segregated contraflow cycle lane, which will lock in the benefits of 
protecting people cycling from motor traffic.  

• Road safety: The continued restriction to motorised vehicle traffic combined with 
widened footways and a protected cycle lane is likely to lead to a safer environment for 
those walking and cycling along the street. Younger people aged 16-24 are more likely to 
be Killed or Seriously Injured (35 per cent) than any other age group. Therefore, any 
improvements of the safety of King Street are likely to disproportionately benefit this 
group. 

Under
16

16 to
24

25 to
44

45 to
59

60 and
over

KSI 0% 35% 25% 33% 10%
Slightly Injured 100% 65% 75% 67% 90%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

KSI

Slightly Injured

Page 233



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 16 

• Crossing the street: The increased footway width and reduced carriageway width reduces 
the distance in crossing the road. This will particularly benefit older people who are more 
likely to require more time to cross the road due to mobility impairments brought on by 
age. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Increased journey times: While the proposed scheme is likely to create healthier streets 
for residents and visitors, maintaining only the northbound lane for motor traffic is likely 
to lead to longer journey times for people travelling by car or taxi – this may include 
people who are reliant upon private cars for mobility.  

• In the CoL, people aged over 60 use cars/vans more than any other age group and are 
therefore likely to be disproportionately negatively impacted. Travelling can also be 
uncomfortable for some people (for example, those who live with anxiety, or those who 
require quick access to toilets), particularly for older people, therefore extended journey 
times could exacerbate this issue.  

• It is important to recognise however that this permanent scheme is only retaining the 
changes brought in by the ETO in 2020, rather than exacerbating them. 

• Door-to-door access: Those who are reliant on door-to-door access are likely to continue 
to be impacted by the restriction to dropping off on King Street. This is likely to 
disproportionately impact older age groups who are more likely to have mobility 
impairments. The increased walking distance may add increased stress and difficulty to 
door-to-door journeys.  

• It should be noted however, that drop off points are available on surrounding roads with a 
maximum walking distance of 35 metres to buildings on King Street, and that this scheme 
only makes permanent the existing restrictions, rather than exacerbating them. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 

users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
a pedestrian comfort level (PCL) assessment should be undertaken to establish whether 
their inclusion would materially impact on the walking environment.  

Page 234



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 17 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1. A person (P) has a disability if:  

c. P has a physical or mental impairment, and 
d. the impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on P’s ability to 

carry out normal day-to-day activities. 

2. A reference to a disabled person is a reference to a person who has a disability.  

Baseline equalities data 
6.1 In the study area, Census 2011 data shows that 96 per cent of residents feel that they have no 

physical or mental impairments affective their daily activities (Figure 6.1). This is notably 
higher than both in the City (89 per cent) and Greater London (83 per cent).  

6.2 The number of residents in the study area for whom daily activities are ‘limited a lot’ account 
for 1 per cent of the population, compared to 8 per cent for Greater London. Further 3 per 
cent of residents is the study area said they were ‘limited a little’, compared to 9 per cent for 
Greater London. 

Figure 6.1: Population limited by long-term health problems or disabilities in the study area, City of London and 
Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2011 

Study Area City of London Greater
London

Not limited 96% 89% 83%
Limited a little 3% 7% 9%
Limited a lot 1% 4% 8%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Not limited

Limited a little

Limited a lot

6 Disability  

Page 235



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 18 

6.3 Impairment types stated by those who live in the City of London which affect daily travel are 
shown in Figure 6.2. Mobility impairment represents the highest proportion (48 per cent), 
followed by impairment due to serious long-term illness (38 per cent). It should be noted that 
this data is based on a small sample, therefore results should be taken as a general indication 
only. 

Figure 6.2: Impairment types stated by those with an impairment affecting travel in City of London 

 
Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

6.4 The mode share for people with a long-term health problem or disability in the City of London 
and Greater London is shown in Figure 6.3 and Figure 6.4 respectively. In the City, people with 
a long-term health problem or disability are more likely to use public transport (63 per cent vs 
61 per cent) and more likely to use cars/vans (15 per cent vs 4 per cent) than those without. 
However, they are less likely to walk or cycle than people without a long-term health problem 
or disability (22 per cent vs 35 per cent). 

6.5 This pattern is significantly more pronounced than that for Greater London, where the modal 
split for people with and without long-term health problems or disabilities is very similar. In 
contrast to the City, the data for Greater London shows that people with a long-term health 
problem or disability are less likely to use public transport than those without (27 per cent vs 
30 per cent). 

  

48%

4%3%

0%0%

38%

7%

Mobility

Visual

Hearing

Learning

Mental health

Serious long-term illness

Other

Page 236



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 19 

Figure 6.3: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 6.4: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in Greater London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Has a long term
health

problem/disability

Does not have a
long term health

problem/disability
Overall

Walk and cycle 22% 35% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 63% 61% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 15% 4% 4%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Has a long term
health

problem/disability

Does not have a
long term health

problem/disability
Overall

Walk and cycle 34% 35% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 27% 30% 30%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 38% 35% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 237



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 20 

6.6 The mode share for people with specific impairments in City of London and Greater London is 
shown in Figure 6.5 and Figure 6.6 respectively. Public transport is the dominant mode of 
travel for people with visual and hearing impairments, serious long-term health conditions and 
‘other’ impairments; it makes up 100 per cent of the mode share for people with visual and 
hearing impairments, however this must be taken into the context of the small sample size 
that this data is derived from. The modal split for individuals with mobility impairments is 
more even, with only 38 per cent using public transport, 32 per cent using cars/vans, and 30 
per cent undertaking active travel. 

6.7 Compared to the City, mode share across impairment types for Greater London shows a much 
greater uptake of active travel and private vehicle use, along with lower public transport mode 
share. Groups with mobility (46 per cent) and learning (42 per cent) impairments are most 
likely to use private vehicles, while those with mental health impairments are most likely to 
undertake active travel (47 per cent). 

Figure 6.5: Mode share of those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Mobility Visual Hearing

Serious
long-
term

illness

Other Overall

Walk and cycle 30% 0% 0% 21% 0% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 38% 100% 100% 79% 100% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 32% 0% 0% 0% 0% 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 238



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 21 

Figure 6.6: Mode split by those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in Greater London  

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

6.8 Focusing on disabled cyclists, the Wheels for Wellbeing annual survey (2019/20)3 showed that 
65 per cent of disabled cyclists use their cycle as a mobility aid, and 64 per cent found cycling 
easier than walking. Survey results also show that 31 per cent of disabled cyclists’ cycle for 
work or to commute to work and many found that cycling improves their mental and physical 
health. 

6.9 Inaccessible cycle infrastructure was found to be the biggest barrier to cycling, followed by the 
prohibitive cost of adaptive cycles and the absence of legal recognition of the fact that cycles 
are mobility aids on par with wheelchairs and mobility scooters. These results are presented 
on a national level, yet it should be noted that the data is based on a small sample and results 
should be taken as an indication only. 

 
3 https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-
2019-FINAL.pdf 

Mobili
ty Visual Hearin

g
Learni

ng

Menta
l

health

Seriou
s long-
term

illness

Other Overal
l

Walk and cycle 30% 37% 44% 27% 47% 40% 32% 37%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 23% 39% 37% 31% 34% 30% 36% 33%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 46% 24% 19% 42% 20% 29% 32% 30%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 239

https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-2019-FINAL.pdf
https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-2019-FINAL.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 22 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposals include the removal of the temporary extensions to 
the footway on the eastern side consisting of painted white lines in the carriageway and 
wands to protect from traffic. They will be replaced a new at-grade extension of the 
footway which will remove need to step down a kerb to benefit from the extension. This 
will ensure that the footway is accessible for all. This is likely to disproportionately benefit 
people with mobility impairments as increased space for walking is likely to create a more 
comfortable and pleasant environment.  

• Crossing the street: The increased footway width and reduced carriageway width reduces 
the distance in crossing the road. This will particularly benefit people who have physical or 
mental impairments that necessitate more time to cross the road. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Increased journey times: While the proposed scheme is likely to create healthier streets 
for residents and visitors, maintaining only the northbound lane for motor traffic is likely 
to lead to longer journey times for people travelling by car or taxi. Private cars can be 
essential mobility aids for people who live with impairments which prevent them using 
alternative modes of transport.  

• In the CoL, groups with mobility (46 per cent) and learning (42 per cent) impairments are 
most likely to use private vehicles and are therefore likely to be disproportionately 
negatively impacted. Travelling can also be uncomfortable for some people (for example, 
those who live with anxiety, or those who require quick access to toilets), therefore 
extended journey times could exacerbate this issue.  

• It is important to recognise however that the number of people affected in this way is 
likely to be limited, and this permanent scheme is only retaining the changes brought in 
by the ETO in 2020. 

• Door-to-door access: Those who are reliant on door-to-door access are likely to continue 
to be impacted by the restriction to dropping off on King Street. This is likely to 
disproportionately impact people with mobility impairments as increased walking 
distances may add stress and difficulty to their journeys.  

• It should be noted however, that drop off points are available on surrounding roads with a 
maximum walking distance of 35 metres to buildings on King Street, and that this scheme 
only makes permanent the existing restrictions, rather than exacerbating them. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 

users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
pedestrian comfort levels should be assessed to establish whether their inclusion would 
materially impact on the walking environment.  

Page 240



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 23 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
7.1 Pregnancy and maternity discrimination apply to people who are pregnant or expecting a baby 

and during the period after the birth. 

7.2 As per the Equality Act 2010, pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant or expecting a 
baby, and maternity refers to the period after the birth, and is linked to maternity leave in the 
employment context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is 
for 26 weeks after giving birth. 

Baseline equalities data 
7.3 In 2021, the General Fertility Rate (GFR) in City of London and Hackney4 was 54.1 births per 

1,000 women aged 15-44, while the GFR for London was 56 per 1,000 women. This suggests 
that slightly fewer women of this age group were likely to be pregnant or have given birth in 
2021 in the City of London and Hackney, compared to the Greater London average. 

7.4 Data shows that overall, the number of live births has been gradually falling in City of London 
and Hackney, and in London as a whole. During this time, the GFR for City of London and 
Hackney remained consistently below the Greater London average. In 2018, there was a slight 
increase in the fertility rate in the Borough, before continuing to fall, yet it remained below 
the Greater London rate (Figure 7.1). 

 
4 City of London has been grouped with Hackney after 2004 in the dataset: Births and Fertility 
Rates, Borough - London Datastore 

7 Pregnancy and maternity  

Page 241

https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/births-and-fertility-rates-borough
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/births-and-fertility-rates-borough


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 24 

Figure 7.1: General Fertility Rate per year in City of London and Hackney compared to the Greater London 
average 

 

Source: ONS. Births and Fertility Rates, Borough 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposals include the removal of the temporary extensions to 
the footway on the eastern side consisting of painted white lines in the carriageway and 
wands to protect from traffic. They will be replaced a new at-grade extension of the 
footway which will remove need to step down a kerb to benefit from the extension. This 
will ensure that the footway is accessible for all.  

• This will create a more accessible and usable space, which is particularly important for 
pregnant people and mothers with new-born children who may be experiencing 
temporary limitations to their mobility. Improvements to footways, including widening 
and resurfacing will create more even and smooth surfaces on which to push a pram, 
improving overall journey experience. 

• Crossing the street: The increased footway width and reduced carriageway width reduces 
the distance in crossing the road. This will particularly benefit pregnant people as they 
may have reduced mobility and thus require additional time to cross the road.  

• This will also provide benefits to pedestrians travelling with prams and/or younger 
children who may require additional time to navigate kerbs when crossing the street, and 
who may experience distress attempting to cross busy roads with children safely. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Door-to-door access: Those who are reliant on door-to-door access are likely to continue 
to be impacted by the restriction to dropping off on King Street. This is likely to 
disproportionately impact pregnant people as they may have reduced mobility, and 
increased walking distances may add stress and difficulty to their journeys.  

• It should be noted however, that drop off points are available on surrounding roads with a 
maximum walking distance of 35 metres to buildings on King Street, and that this scheme 
only makes permanent the existing restrictions, rather than exacerbating them. 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
City of London and Hackney 60.9 59.8 58.1 58.8 54.8 53.6 54.1
Greater London 64.0 63.7 62.9 60.1 59.0 56.0 56.0

48
50
52
54
56
58
60
62
64
66

G
en

er
al

 F
er

til
ity

 R
at

e

Year

Page 242



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 25 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 

users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
pedestrian comfort levels should be assessed to establish whether their inclusion would 
materially impact on the walking environment.  

Page 243



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 26 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1. Race includes:  

a.  colour; 
b.  nationality; 
c.  ethnic or national origins.  

2. In relation to the protected characteristic of race -  

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a 
reference to a person of a particular racial group; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 
persons of the same racial group.  

Baseline equalities data 
8.1 Figure 8.1 presents the population of the study area and City of London by ethnicity. Based on 

Census 2021 data, 69 per cent of the borough’s population is ‘White’, making it the most 
common ethnicity. This is much higher than the Greater London average share of 54 per cent. 
The second most common ethnicity is ‘Asian’ making up 17 per cent and 20 per cent of the 
residential population in the borough and study area respectively. 

8.2 14 per cent of residents in Greater London are ‘Black’, compared to only 1 per cent of 
residents in the study area. In the study area, 7 per cent identify as ‘Mixed’, which is a greater 
share compared to in the borough, Greater London and at a national level. 

8 Race  

Page 244



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 27 

Figure 8.1: Study area and City of London ethnicity compared to London and national averages 

 

Source: Census 2021 

8.3 Based on usual travel modes from the LTDS data presented in Figure 8.2, in City of London, 
‘Mixed or multiple ethnic groups’ are most likely to walk and cycle (52 per cent) and least likely 
to use public transport (48 per cent). Across ethnic groups, car usage is either a very small 
proportion, at most 4 per cent, or not a part of the mode share. 

8.4 Overall, in City of London, levels of car use are lower across all ethnicities compared to the 
London average (Figure 8.3), while levels of public transport use are higher. While ‘Asian or 
Asian British’ residents are most likely to use the car in London, this is not the case for City of 
London, where only 2 per cent say they use the car. ‘Black or Black British’ residents are most 
likely (41 per cent) to use public transport in London, and they are second most likely to (82 
per cent) in City of London. 

Study Area City of
London

Greater
London

England and
Wales

Other 5% 6% 6% 2%
Black 1% 3% 14% 4%
Asian 20% 17% 21% 9%
Mixed 7% 5% 6% 3%
White 68% 69% 54% 82%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Other

Black

Asian

Mixed

White

Page 245



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 28 

Figure 8.2: Mode share by ethnicity in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 8.3: Mode share by ethnicity in London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposals include the removal of the temporary extensions to 
the footway on the eastern side consisting of painted white lines in the carriageway and 

4% 2% 3% 4% 4%

58%
90%

48%
66%

82%
64% 61%

37%

10%

52%
32%

15%
33% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

35% 37% 33% 39% 31% 29% 35%

28% 30% 32% 28% 41%
33% 30%

37% 33% 35% 32% 29% 38% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

Page 246



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 29 

wands to protect from traffic. They will be replaced a new at-grade extension of the 
footway which will remove need to step down a kerb to benefit from the extension. This 
will ensure that the footway is accessible for all.  

• This will create a safer environment and is likely to disproportionally benefit ‘Mixed or 
multiple ethnic groups’ who are currently more likely to walk or cycle (52 per cent) more 
than any other group in the CoL. 

• Crossing the street: The increased footway width and reduced carriageway width reduces 
the distance in crossing the road. This will create a safer environment and is likely to 
disproportionally benefit ‘Mixed or multiple ethnic groups’ who are currently more likely 
to walk or cycle (52 per cent) more than any other group in the CoL. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Restricting car usage: Making permanent the restrictions to motorised traffic will 
continue to impact upon groups that use private cars/vans the most, which in the CoL is 
‘White’ and ‘Other Ethnic Groups’, who have a private car/van mode share of 4 per cent. 
This could have financial impacts through the increased cost of travel and increased 
commuting times.  

Page 247



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 30 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1. Religion means any religion and a reference to religion includes a reference to a lack of 

religion. 
2. Belief means any religious or philosophical belief and a reference to belief includes a 

reference to a lack of belief. 
3. In relation to the protected characteristic of religion or belief: 

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a 
reference to a person of a particular religion or belief; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 
persons who are of the same religion or belief. 

Baseline equalities data 
9.1 Census 2021 data on religion in the study area, City of London, and Greater London is 

presented in Figure 9.1. Nearly half (43 per cent) of the population in the study area and in the 
City of London (44 per cent) selected ‘no religion’, compared to a substantially smaller 
proportion (27 per cent) in Greater London.  

9.2 Over a third of residents (34 per cent) in the study area identified as Christian, compared to 41 
per cent in Greater London. 3 per cent of residents in the study area identified as Muslim, 
compared to slightly more (6 per cent) in City of London. 4 per cent of the population in the 
study area identified as Hindu, with a slightly smaller proportion (2 per cent) in the City of 
London. 

9 Religion or belief 

Page 248



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 31 

Figure 9.1: Religion composition in the study area, City of London, and Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2021 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Active travel: Improving conditions for walking and cycling is likely to positively benefit 
those who follow a religion and regularly attend places of worship. Destinations such as 
this typically have local catchments, making them more likely to be within walking and 
cycling distance of regular attendees. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Restricting car usage: The restrictions for private vehicle traffic, may increase journey 
times for some worshippers who drive to their place of worship. For those unable to take 
an alternative method of transport, that may cause a disproportionately negative impact. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Engagement with places of worship: There are several places of worship within the King 

Street area, including the St Lawrence Jewry Church at the northern junction with 
Gresham St. It is recommended that these places of worship are engaged with the to 
establish whether there have been any disproportionate impacts caused by the ETO 
scheme, and to review the specific needs of their religious community. 

Study Area City of London Greater London
Not answered 9% 9% 7%
Other religion 1% 1% 1%
Sikh 0% 0% 2%
Muslim 3% 6% 15%
Jewish 2% 2% 2%
Hindu 4% 2% 5%
Buddhist 2% 1% 1%
Christian 34% 35% 41%
No religion 43% 44% 27%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

No religion Christian Buddhist

Hindu Jewish Muslim

Sikh Other religion Not answered

Page 249



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 32 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1. In relation to the protected characteristic of sex: 

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a reference 
to a man or to a woman; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to persons 
of the same sex. 

Baseline equalities data 
10.1 Figure 10.1 presents Census 2021 data for population by sex. In the study area, a notably 

greater proportion of residents identified as male, 61 per cent, than as female, 39 per cent. In 
the City of London there are also more males than females, with a lesser difference in 
proportions. There is a more even split in Greater London, with a slightly higher proportion of 
females (51 per cent) than males (49 per cent). 

Figure 10.1: Population breakdown by sex in the study area, City of London, and Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2021 

10.2 Figure 10.2 presents the mode share by sex in the City of London based on LTDS data. Males 
are more likely to use a car (5 per cent) than females (2 per cent), however males are less 

Study Area City of London Greater London
Male 61% 55% 49%
Female 39% 45% 51%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male

Female

10 Sex 

Page 250



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 33 

likely to use public transport (60 per cent) than females (63 per cent). The likelihood of using 
active travel modes, such as walking or cycling are even for both sexes. 

10.3 Compared to the City of London, overall, both males and females are more likely to use a car 
and less likely to use public transport in London (Figure 10.3). The likelihood of walking and 
cycling is also even for both sexes in London, and in very similar proportions to the City of 
London. 

Figure 10.2: Mode share by sex in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 10.3: Mode share by sex in London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

5% 2% 4%

60% 63% 61%

35% 35% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male Female Overall

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

36% 34% 35%

29% 30% 30%

35% 36% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male Female Overall

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

Page 251



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 34 

10.4 Across Greater London, research undertaken by TfL5 shows that females are more likely to use 
buses than males (62 per cent compared to 56 per cent) but are less likely to use other types 
of transport including the Tube (38 per cent of females compared to 43 per cent of males). 

10.5 Female travel needs can be more complex than males due to a range of factors; the increased 
likelihood of travelling with a buggy and/or shopping affects the travel choices females make, 
females are also more likely to be carers of children6, further affecting the transport choices 
they make. 

10.6 Female Londoners make more trips per weekday than male Londoners (2.5 trips compared to 
2.3 trips)5. This pattern, however, is reversed amongst older adults, with older female 
Londoners making fewer weekday trips than older male Londoners (2.0 compared to 2.2).  

10.7 Females aged 17 or over who are living in London are less likely than males to have a full 
driving licence (58 per cent compared to 72 per cent) or have access to a car (63 per cent 
compared to 66 per cent). These factors are likely to be related to the frequency of car use as 
a driver. Almost four in five (79 per cent) females in London report being able to ride a bike, 
compared to 91 per cent of males. 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: Improving the walking environment with wider footways and 
reducing the carriageway width could disproportionately benefit females, particularly due 
to higher number of trips they make daily compared to males, as well as their role in 
taking children to and from educational and recreational facilities. These improvements 
would make the walking environment more pleasant.  

 
5 https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-understanding-our-diverse-communities-2019.pdf  
6 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/476635/travel-to-school.pdf  

Page 252

https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-understanding-our-diverse-communities-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476635/travel-to-school.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476635/travel-to-school.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 35 

11.1 A summary of the recommended mitigating actions throughout this EqIA is presented below.  

11.2 It is recommended that the CoL identifies an individual/individuals within the project team to 
take ownership of these recommendations, and subsequently explores the feasibility of their 
implementation.  

11.3 To ensure transparency of the design and decision-making process, it is recommended that an 
update on the status of each recommended mitigating action is included within a future 
addendum to this EqIA.  

Recommended mitigating actions  

• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 
users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
a pedestrian comfort level (PCL) assessment should be undertaken to establish whether 
their inclusion would materially impact on the walking environment.  

• Engagement with places of worship: There are several places of worship within the King 
Street area, including the St Lawrence Jewry Church at the northern junction with 
Gresham St. It is recommended that these places of worship are engaged with the to 
establish whether there have been any disproportionate impacts caused by the ETO 
scheme, and to review the specific needs of their religious community. 

11 Summary of recommended 
mitigating actions  

Page 253



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 

 

Page 254



 

  

Control Information 

Prepared by  Prepared for 

Steer 
14-21 Rushworth Street 
London SE1 0RB 
+44 20 7910 5000 
www.steergroup.com 

 City of London Corporation 
Guildhall 
London EC2P 2EJ 

 
Steer project/proposal number  Client contract/project number 

24398701    
 

Author/originator  Reviewer/approver 

JDY  SDH 
 
Other contributors  Distribution 

LUB  Client: Kristian Turner Steer:  
 
Version control/issue number  Date 

1.0 Draft for comment  18th January 2023  

 

Page 255



 

  steergroup.com  

 

 

Page 256



 

Draft Report 
January 2023 
 
 

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King 
William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

 

 

 

 

City of London Corporation 
 24398701 
   Page 257



Page 258



 

Steer has prepared this material for City of London Corporation. This material may only be used within the context 
and scope for which Steer has prepared it and may not be relied upon in part or whole by any third party or be 
used for any other purpose. Any person choosing to use any part of this material without the express and written 
permission of Steer shall be deemed to confirm their agreement to indemnify Steer for all loss or damage resulting 
therefrom. Steer has prepared this material using professional practices and procedures using information 
available to it at the time and as such any new information could alter the validity of the results and conclusions 
made. 

Draft Report 
January 2023 
 
 

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King 
William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Prepared for: 
 

Steer 
14-21 Rushworth Street 
London SE1 0RB 
 

City of London Corporation 
Guildhall 
London EC2P 2EJ 

+44 20 7910 5000 
www.steergroup.com 

    
  24398701 

Page 259



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Contents 

1 Introduction .............................................................................................................. 1 

Background ......................................................................................................................... 1 

Scheme context .................................................................................................................. 1 

Assumed impact on transport and movement .................................................................. 2 

2 Scoping ..................................................................................................................... 4 

3 Data sources ............................................................................................................. 6 

4 Baseline .................................................................................................................... 8 

5 Age ......................................................................................................................... 11 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 11 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 11 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 15 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 17 

6 Disability ................................................................................................................ 18 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 18 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 18 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 23 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 24 

7 Pregnancy and maternity ........................................................................................ 25 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 25 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 25 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 26 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 26 

8 Race ....................................................................................................................... 28 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 28 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 30 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 31 

9 Religion or belief ..................................................................................................... 32 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 32 

Page 260



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 32 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 33 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 33 

10 Sex ......................................................................................................................... 35 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 35 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 35 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 37 

11 Summary of recommended mitigating actions ......................................................... 38 

 

Figures 
Figure 1.1: Proposed Permanent Scheme .................................................................................... 3 

Figure 3.1: City of London 001F LSOA ........................................................................................... 6 

Figure 3.2: City of London MSOA .................................................................................................. 7 

Figure 4.1: Bank on Safety Workplace Zone ................................................................................. 8 

Figure 4.2: Age of daytime occupants within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone ...................... 9 

Figure 4.3: Method of travel to work for those with a workplace in the City of London ........... 10 

Figure 5.1: Age distribution in the study area, compared to City of London and Greater London 
in 2011 ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

Figure 5.2: Age distribution in the City of London and Greater London in 2021 ....................... 12 

Figure 5.3: Mode share by age in City of London ....................................................................... 13 

Figure 5.4: Mode share by age in Greater London ..................................................................... 14 

Figure 5.5: Percentage killed or seriously injured by age in City of London (2021) ................... 15 

Figure 6.1: Population limited by long-term health problems or disabilities in the study area, 
City of London and Greater London ........................................................................................... 18 

Figure 6.2: Impairment types stated by those with an impairment affecting travel in City of 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 19 

Figure 6.3: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in City of London
 .................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Figure 6.4: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in Greater 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 20 

Figure 6.5: Mode share of those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in City of 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

Figure 6.6: Mode split by those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in Greater 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 22 

Page 261



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Figure 7.1: General Fertility Rate per year in City of London and Hackney compared to the 
Greater London average ............................................................................................................. 25 

Figure 8.1: Study area and City of London ethnicity compared to London and national averages
 .................................................................................................................................................... 29 

Figure 8.2: Mode share by ethnicity in City of London ............................................................... 30 

Figure 8.3: Mode share by ethnicity in London .......................................................................... 30 

Figure 9.1: Religion composition in the study area, City of London, and Greater London ........ 33 

Figure 10.1: Population breakdown by sex in the study area, City of London, and Greater 
London ........................................................................................................................................ 35 

Figure 10.2: Mode share by sex in City of London ..................................................................... 36 

Figure 10.3: Mode share by sex in Greater London ................................................................... 36 

 

 

Tables 
Table 2.1: Protected characteristics scoping ................................................................................ 5 

 

 

 

Page 262



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 1 

Background 
1.1 This Equality Impact assessment (EqIA) relates to the proposed improvements to King William 

Street, located within the City of London. An EqIA is a process designed to ensure that a policy, 
project, or scheme does not unlawfully discriminate against any protected characteristic as 
defined by the Equality Act 2010. This EqIA has been produced by the independent transport 
and infrastructure consultancy, Steer.  

1.2 In the summer 2020, the City of London Corporation (CoL) provided more space for 
pedestrians to enable social distancing. These changes were implemented as traffic 
experiments under Experimental Traffic Orders (ETOs) so that they could monitor the impacts 
on residents, businesses, and street users. 

1.3 The CoL is currently in the process of assessing the impact of these changes and deciding 
whether they should be made permanent. This EqIA provides an assessment of the potential 
disproportionate impacts between the existing ETO scheme and the proposed permanent 
scheme.  

Scheme context  
1.4 This EqIA assesses the potential disproportionate impacts between the existing ETO and the 

proposed permanent scheme. Details of each scheme are outlined below:  

Existing scheme (ETO)  

1.5 The existing ETO scheme was introduced in summer 2020, and involved the following changes 
to the street:  

• “No motor vehicles” restriction (Monday to Friday between 7am – 7pm) except buses, 
loading, vehicles accessing off street premises 

• Temporary footway widening using traffic separator posts and white lines in locations 
along the street  

• Advisory cycle lanes were removed and replaced with temporary footways   

Proposed scheme (Permanent) 

1.6 The proposed permanent scheme for King William Street involves the following amendments 
to the existing ETO layout: 

• Adjusting the current restriction, which allows access for loading, to also allow access for 
taxis and private hire drop off/pick up to King William Street and Lombard Street 

• Retaining and making permanent the ‘no entry Mon-Fri 7am-7pm except for buses, cycles 
and vehicles accessing streets for loading, accessing property, or dropping off/picking up 
passengers’ restrictions  

• Widening the footway on both sides of the street by 1.5 metres, carriageway width 
reduced to 6.5 metres, removing temporary footways 

1 Introduction 

Page 263

https://uk.steergroup.com/


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 2 

• Resurfacing of the carriageway 
• Removal of traffic islands at the north and south sections of the street  
• Improvements to footways, including a new dropped kerb at the southern section of the 

street  
• Planting new street trees  
• Creation of a new loading bay between the two turnings to Nicholas Lane 

1.7 A drawing of the proposed scheme can be seen in Figure 1.1, overleaf.  

Assumed impact on transport and movement  
1.8 The impacts identified throughout this EqIA have been drafted on the assumption that the 

proposed scheme will have the following impacts on transport and movement in the area:   

• Widening the footways permanently on both sides of King William Street will improve the 
walking environment, making it easier and more pleasant for people to walk down the 
street  

• Allowing taxi and private hire vehicle drop-off/pick-up on King William Street and 
Lombard Street will make it easier for people to get picked up and dropped off at 
destinations on those streets, potentially reducing some walking distances  

• Making the existing restrictions to through motor traffic permanent will lock in the 
benefits to people cycling and walking, creating a more pleasant environment  

• Resurfacing of the carriageway will improve the passenger experience of bus users and 
cyclists, with a smoother ride  

• Removal of traffic islands will decrease protection from traffic flow for pedestrians 
crossing the road  

• Retaining the removal of advisory cycle lanes will decrease protection from traffic flow for 
cyclists and removing the visual encouragement of the cycle lane may decrease the 
attractiveness of cycling 

• Installation of a new dropped kerb will benefit pedestrians crossing the road at the 
southern section of the road  

Page 264



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 3 

Figure 1.1: Proposed Permanent Scheme 

Page 265



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 4 

2.1 A scoping assessment has been undertaken to identify whether the proposed scheme could 
have a disproportionate impact on one or more protected characteristics.  

2.2 “Disproportionate impact” means that groups of people who share a protected characteristic 
may be significantly more affected by a change than other people.  

2.3 Protected characteristics are defined by the Equality Act 2010. The 'protection' refers to 
protection from discrimination. There are nine characteristics protected by the Equality Act: 

• Age 
• Disability 
• Gender reassignment  
• Marriage and civil partnership  
• Pregnancy and maternity  
• Race  
• Religion or belief  
• Sex  
• Sexual orientation   

2.4 As the scheme is aimed at making these streets more attractive to people walking and 
dwelling, as well as making them safer and less polluted, it is considered that the scheme is 
likely to impact people’s movement and experience of streets and spaces. Groups that have a 
significant intersection with movement and space, i.e., those that travel in distinguishably 
different ways, are most likely to be affected. 

2.5 It is not considered that the ‘Gender reassignment’, ‘Sexual orientation’ or ‘Marriage and civil 
partnership’ protected characteristics have a significant intersection with movement and 
space. As such, they have not been included in the baseline data or the detailed analysis of 
equality impacts that follows. 

2.6 This exercise considers both potential positive and negative impacts, and, where possible, 
provides evidence to explain how and why a group might be particularly affected. Table 2.1 
provides a summary of the scoping assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

2 Scoping   

Page 266



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 5 

Table 2.1: Protected characteristics scoping  

Protected characteristic  Disproportionate 
impact unlikely 

Disproportionate 
impact possible 

Commentary/example impact  

Age – people in particular age 
groups (particularly over 65s and 
under 16s)  ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. For example, a 
person’s ability to use the transport network 
can be reduced as a result of age and age-
related health conditions.  

Disability – disabled people 
(including different types of 
physical, learning or mental 
disabilities) 

 ✔ 

There is could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s use 
of the transport network can be affected by 
certain impairments. 

Gender reassignment – people 
who are intending to undergo, 
are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process or part of a 
process of gender reassignment 

✔  

People undergoing gender reassignment are 
unlikely to be disproportionately impacted by 
the scheme.   

Marriage and civil partnership – 
people who are married or in a 
civil partnership 

✔  
People who are married or in a civil partnership 
are unlikely to be disproportionately impacted 
by the scheme.  

Pregnancy and maternity – 
people who are pregnant or 
have given birth in the previous 
26 weeks 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s use 
of the transport network can be shaped by 
pregnancy and parental care.  

Race – people of a particular 
race or ethnicity (including 
refugees, asylum seekers, 
migrants, gypsies and travellers) 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. Use of the 
transport network and/or occupation may 
differ depending on ethnic group.  

Religion or belief – people of 
particular faiths and beliefs 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. Use of the 
transport network by those practising different 
religions may vary across different days (e.g. 
Sunday worship, when public transport services 
are reduced).  

Sex – whether people are male 
or female   ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate effect which 
this EqIA will investigate. Use of the transport 
network and/or occupation may differ 
depending on sex. 

Sexual orientation – whether a 
person’s sexual orientation is 
towards the same sex, a 
different sex, or both. 

✔  

There could be a disproportionate effect which 
this EqIA will investigate. Experience of the 
transport network may differ depending on a 
person’s sexual orientation. 

 

Page 267



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 6 

Introduction  

3.1 For this assessment, information has been gathered about protected characteristic groups for 
the City of London 001F Lower Layer Super Output Area (LSOA), the City of London Middle 
Layer Super Output Area (MSOA) as well as data for London as a whole. The LSOA and MSOA 
are represented below in Figure 3.1 and Figure 3.2 respectively. Throughout this EqIA, this is 
referred to as ‘the study area’. 

3.2 The City of London is a small and densely populated area with high levels of walkability and 
numerous public transport services. Any given street is likely to be used by people from across 
the London/the southeast and further afield. Therefore, it is important to consider an area 
that is wider than the immediate surroundings of the scheme; this requirement is satisfied 
with the use of LSOA data. Data at the MSOA level is used as a substitute for LSOA data for 
specific data sets where no greater level of detail is provided. 

3.3 London as a whole is included in the assessment to provide greater context to the data for 
residents living in the City of London. 

Figure 3.1: City of London 001F LSOA 

 

Source: Nomis 2022 

 

3 Data sources  

Page 268



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 7 

Figure 3.2: City of London MSOA 

 

Source: Nomis 2022 

Data sources used and limitations  

3.4 London Travel Demand Survey (LTDS) and Census 2011/2021 data are the two primary data 
sources used throughout this assessment. Supplementary data sources have also been used 
and are referenced throughout. For each protected characteristic, data has been collated and 
analysed, with comparisons made at LSOA, Borough/MSOA, London and national levels, where 
relevant. 

3.5 The LTDS is undertaken every year, and approximately 8,000 households take part in the 
survey. The responses from this are weighted using an interim expansion factor to 
approximate the data for the entire population of London, thus providing an insight into how 
Londoners travel on a weekly basis. Due to the London-wide nature of this survey, it has not 
been possible to limit the analysis in this EqIA to the specific study area around this proposal, 
as the low sample size means that it would not be appropriate. 

3.6 While Census data is a useful tool for understanding and comparing travel characteristics of an 
area with another, it does have limitations; particularly that the 2011 dataset is dated, and 
even more so given the changes brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic. Furthermore, 2021 
Census data has been influenced by alterations to ways of living and moving during the Covid-
19 pandemic period.  

3.7 Though 2021 Census data has been collected prior to the publication of this report, not all 
data has been released. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) expects to release all data and 
analysis within two years of the Census. Where relevant 2021 Census data has been made 
available, it is used in this EqIA. 

Page 269



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 8 

4.1 The City of London has a very large workforce in comparison to its usual residential 
population. The 2011 Census recorded the residential population as 7,400 people and the 
work force as 357,000 people – almost 50 times the usual residential population which 
demonstrates significant movement in and out of the City every day.  

4.2 The workforce located within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone, as defined in the zone shown 
in Figure 4.1, amounts to 9,100 people. It can be seen in Figure 4.2 that the age profile for the 
Bank Junction Workplace Zone follows a similar trend to that of the City of London workforce, 
where the highest age group is those aged 30-34. The workforce in the Bank Junction 
Workplace Zone is lower when compared to those aged 55+ within the City. 

Figure 4.1: Bank on Safety Workplace Zone 

 

Source: Bank on Safety Equality Analysis with data from Office for National Statistics 

4 Baseline 

Page 270



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 9 

Figure 4.2: Age of daytime occupants within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone 

 

Source: Bank on Safety Equality Analysis with data from Census 2011 

4.3 Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-2019 estimates show an increase in the City of London 
residential population to 9,700 people while the 2018 workforce was estimated to be 
522,0001. The City shows the highest workplace density out of all boroughs in Greater London 
with the primary land use in the City being offices, which make up more than 70% of all 
buildings. In absolute terms, the City has the second greatest workforce after the City of 
Westminster, with a gender split of 64% males and 36% females in 20192. 

4.4 When compared to Greater London, the City of London has a higher proportion of professional 
occupations, associated professional and technical occupations, skilled trades occupations, 
and administrative and secretarial occupations. Professional and associate 
professional/technical occupations represent over half of occupations within the City. 

4.5 Census 2011 data shows that of those travelling to the City of London for work, 38% have trips 
of 10km or less. 36% of trips are between 10km and 30km, while 16% are within 30km and 
50km and 9% are 60km or more. Overall, 84% of the workforce uses public transport to travel 
to the City of London for work, shown in Figure 4.3.  

4.6 Please note that these figures may change significantly due to the change in working 
arrangements and patterns attributed to Covid-19, however the CoL can only act on the latest 
data available. Census 2021 data on workplace population is due to be released by the ONS in 
‘Spring 2023’.  

 
1 https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-
city  
2 https://www.citywomen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/city-of-london-jobs-factsheet.pdf  

Page 271

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-city
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-city
https://www.citywomen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/city-of-london-jobs-factsheet.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 10 

Figure 4.3: Method of travel to work for those with a workplace in the City of London 

  
Source: 2011 Census 

Page 272



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 11 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 
1. In relation to the protected characteristic of age: 

i. A reference to a person of a particular age group 
ii. A reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to persons 

of the same age group 

2. A reference to an age group is a reference to a group of persons defined by a reference to 
age, whether by reference to a particular age or to a range of ages. 

Baseline equalities data 
5.1 As of 2011, the greatest proportion of residents in the study area were in the 25-44 age group 

(57 per cent) (Figure 5.1). This was significantly higher than both the City of London (41 per 
cent) and London as a whole (36 per cent). The younger population in the study area matched 
that of the CoL more closely, however the number of over 60s was much lower in the study 
area (8 per cent) than in the CoL (20 per cent).  

Figure 5.1: Age distribution in the study area, compared to City of London and Greater London in 2011 

 

Study Area City of London Greater London
60 and over 8% 20% 15%
45 to 59 16% 21% 17%
25 to 44 57% 41% 36%
16 to 24 13% 10% 12%
Under 16 6% 8% 20%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

60 and over

45 to 59

25 to 44

16 to 24

Under 16

5 Age 

Page 273



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 12 

Source: Census 2011 

5.2 More recent data from the 2021 Census is not available at the level of the study area. 
However, the age distribution for the CoL and Greater London is shown in Figure 5.2. In the 
period 2011-2021, the number of younger people (16-24) has marginally increased by 3 
percentage points, while the number of under 16s and over 60s both decreased by 1 
percentage point. Similarly small changes occurred at the Greater London level, implying that 
the comparison in age distribution between the two scales has remained broadly similar. 

Figure 5.2: Age distribution in the City of London and Greater London in 2021 

 

Source: Census 2021 

5.3 Figure 5.3 presents LTDS data on how people travel around the CoL within each age group, 
and Figure 5.4 presents this same information for London as a whole. 

5.4 The highest usage of active travel modes (walking and cycling) is among the under 16s (39 per 
cent), followed by the 25-44 age group (37 per cent). On the other hand, only 29 per cent of 
16–24-year-olds walk or cycle. This pattern is consistent with data for Greater London. Public 
transport is the most popular travel mode in the CoL, used by over 50 per cent of residents in 
each age group. This is higher than the Greater London public transport mode share across all 
age groups.  

5.5 Notably, only 33 per cent of under 16s use public transport in Greater London. In the CoL, 
however, this rises to 61 per cent. The use of private vehicles in the CoL is minimal, making up 
4 per cent of all journeys. Over 60s use private vehicles more than any other age group (13 per 
cent). 

City of London Greater London
60 and over 19% 16%
45 to 59 20% 19%
25 to 44 41% 34%
16 to 24 13% 11%
Under 16 7% 19%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

60 and over

45 to 59

25 to 44

16 to 24

Under 16

Page 274



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 13 

Figure 5.3: Mode share by age in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Under
16 16-24 25-44 45-59 Over 60 Overall

All other methods 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Walk and cycle 39% 29% 37% 30% 32% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 61% 65% 60% 63% 56% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 0% 5% 2% 7% 13% 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 275



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 14 

 

Figure 5.4: Mode share by age in Greater London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

5.6 Killed and Seriously Injured (KSIs) and Slightly Injured casualties by age category are shown in 
Figure 5.5 below. In total there were 42 KSIs and 115 Slightly Injured casualties in 2021.  

5.7 Recorded KSIs are highest for the 16-24 age group (35 per cent) and the 45-59 age group (33 
per cent). This indicates that these age groups are disproportionately more likely to suffer 
more severe consequences if they are a casualty in a collision. 

5.8 Across the UK, 10-14 age group road accidents make up over 50 per cent of all external causes 
of death. Moreover, 15–19-year-olds experience almost double the risk of death from road 
traffic accidents (82.5 deaths per million population) in comparison to the general population. 

Under
16 16-24 25-44 45-59 Over 60 Overall

All other methods 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Walk and cycle 49% 35% 40% 40% 41% 40%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 33% 59% 51% 46% 46% 49%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 16% 6% 9% 14% 13% 11%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 276



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 15 

(42.2 deaths per million population). For males in this age group the risk is higher still at 127.3 
deaths per million population3. 

Figure 5.5: Percentage killed or seriously injured by age in City of London (2021) 

 

Source: STATS19, 2021  

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposed widened and improved footways along either side of 
King William Street will provide people with additional comfort when making trips on 
foot, particularly at peak hours when pedestrian volumes are at their highest and 
footways at their busiest. This is likely to disproportionately benefit older people, as older 
people are more likely to live with mobility impairments due to aging, and increased space 
for walking is likely to create a more comfortable and pleasant environment. This will also 
disproportionately benefit younger people, specifically those aged under-16 who have the 
highest mode share for walking and cycling (39 per cent). 

• The proposals include the removal of the temporary extensions to the footway, consisting 
of painted lines in the carriageway and wands to protect from traffic, and the creation of a 
new kerb line to replace this. This removes the requirement to be able to step down a 
kerb to benefit from this footway extension, and ensures the space is accessible for all.  

• Bus improvements: Resurfacing of the carriageway along King William Street will improve 
the passenger experience for bus users, with a smoother ride and fewer bumps. This may 
disproportionately benefit older bus users who may be more sensitive to these 
movements.   

• Maintaining the restrictions for private motor vehicles will continue to aid the flow of 
buses through this area, maintaining journey times and reliability. This is likely to 

 
3 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/air_quality_for_public_health_professionals_-
_city_of_london.pdf 

Under
16

16 to
24

25 to
44

45 to
59

60 and
over

KSI 0% 35% 25% 33% 10%
Slightly Injured 100% 65% 75% 67% 90%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

KSI

Slightly Injured

Page 277

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/air_quality_for_public_health_professionals_-_city_of_london.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/air_quality_for_public_health_professionals_-_city_of_london.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 16 

disproportionately positively impact younger people aged between 16-24 who have the 
highest mode share for public transport in the City of London (59 per cent). 

• Furthermore, the improved walking environment will benefit bus users, as every bus 
journey starts and ends on foot. This may disproportionately benefit older people, who on 
average are more likely to experience age related impairments which can make walking 
more difficult. 

• Crossing the street: The installation of a new dropped kerb at the southern end of King 
William Street will allow for easier crossing of the road, removing a step down into the 
street that could create difficulty for an older person with mobility impairments. Likewise, 
the increased footway width and reduced carriageway width will result in a shorter walk 
across the road, decreasing the likelihood of any clash with road traffic. This will further 
benefit older people who may require longer to cross the road if they have mobility 
impairments. 

• Taxi and private hire vehicle access: Allowing taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) access 
for the picking up and dropping off of passengers along King William Street would improve 
the overall accessibility of the street by allowing for door-to-door transport, decreasing 
walking distances from the potential pick up or drop off points.  

• This is likely to disproportionately benefit those who are reliant upon cars for mobility, 
particularly those aged 65 and over, who are more likely to have physical impairments 
that may limit alternative transport use. This amendment to the scheme would also assist 
with mitigating the access limitations highlighted within the previous EqIA (for the ETO 
scheme), which noted that for those aged over 65 the reduction in on-street parking may 
necessitate increased walking distances for those that drive. 

• Cycling: The permanent extension of the footway will remove the temporary 
infrastructure of the ETO, which used the former advisory cycle lane as a temporary 
extension to the footway. This left a confusing road layout between former cycling 
infrastructure and the temporary pedestrian one, with the protected strip of road 
featuring painted symbols for both users. The removal of this is likely to 
disproportionately benefit younger people aged under-16 who have the highest mode 
share for walking and cycling (39 per cent) by removing a confusing road layout and 
reducing the likelihood of clashes between road users. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Increased journey times: While the proposed scheme is likely to create a healthier street 
for residents and visitors, maintaining the restriction on private motor traffic will retain 
the longer journey times for people travelling by car or taxi/PHV during the hours of 7am 
to 7pm (while taxis and PHVs can pick up and drop off, they cannot use King William 
Street as a through route) – this may include people who are reliant upon private cars for 
mobility. This was also highlighted in the previous EqIA, noting that private cars can be 
particularly necessary for people aged 65 and over, who are more likely to be living with 
physical impairments which prevent them using alternative modes of transport. 

• In the CoL, people aged over 60 use private vehicles more than any other age group and 
are therefore likely to be disproportionately negatively impacted. Travelling can also be 
uncomfortable for some people (for example, those who live with anxiety, or those who 
require quick access to toilets), particularly for older people, therefore extended journey 
times could exacerbate this issue. It is important to recognise however that this this 
proposed scheme does not exacerbate this existing issue, but it would make it permanent.  

Page 278



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 17 

• Crossing the street: Removal of traffic islands will decrease the protection for those 
crossing the road. It should be noted that the only formal crossing points on the street are 
at the junction of Monument and at Bank, 250 metres apart. This may encourage informal 
crossing of the street which contains a high bus flow and will now require those wanting 
to cross the road to do so in one movement, without the option to stop in the centre.  

• Thus, despite a reduced carriageway width, crossing the street will require the individual 
to walk further than previously to be protected from traffic. This may disproportionately 
impact older people who are more likely to have mobility impairments and may take 
more time or be more unsure of crossing the road. 

• Cycling: Making the removal of the advisory cycle lanes permanent could have a 
disproportionately negative impact upon younger people, as it may reduce the levels of 
perceived safety, which could deter some people from cycling. In the CoL, under 16s have 
the largest mode share for active travel modes (39 per cent).  

• Road safety: Younger people are at greater risk of being killed or seriously injured, for the 
10-14 age group road accidents make up over 50 per cent of all external causes of death. 
Moreover, 15–19-year-olds experience almost double the risk of death from road traffic 
accidents (82.5 deaths per million population) in comparison to the general population 
(42.2 deaths per million population).  

• Thus, any reduction in protection from road traffic, such as the removal of traffic islands 
combined with any increased speed of road traffic, predominantly large buses, may 
disproportionately impact younger age groups. This is partially mitigated by the 
introduction of the new dropped kerb and shortened walk across the road. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Introduction of a formal crossing point: The installation of a formal crossing point on King 

William Street should be considered to mitigate for the loss of the informal crossing 
points provided by the existing traffic islands. This would make it safer and more 
convenient for all users to cross the street.  

• Cycling provision: It is recommended that the CoL explore ways to mitigate the impacts of 
removing the advisory cycle lanes. It is unlikely that the proposed scheme would meet 
LTN 1/20s thresholds for mixing people cycling with motor traffic due to the high volumes 
of traffic, plus the percentage large vehicles. If a solution cannot be found on King William 
Street, attention could be given to provision of other alternative cycle routes in the 
immediate area. 

• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 
users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
pedestrian comfort levels should be assessed to establish whether their inclusion would 
materially impact on the walking environment.  

Page 279



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 18 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1. A person (P) has a disability if:  

a. P has a physical or mental impairment, and 
b. the impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on P’s ability to 

carry out normal day-to-day activities. 

Baseline equalities data 
6.1 In the study area, Census 2011 data shows that 96 per cent of residents feel that they have no 

physical or mental impairments affective their daily activities (Figure 6.1). This is notably 
higher than both in the CoL (89 per cent) and Greater London (83 per cent). The number of 
residents in the study area for whom daily activities are ‘limited a lot’ account for just 1 per 
cent of the population, compared to 8 per cent for Greater London. Further 3 per cent of 
residents is the study area said they were ‘limited a little’, compared to 9 per cent for Greater 
London. 

Figure 6.1: Population limited by long-term health problems or disabilities in the study area, City of London and 
Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2011 

Study Area City of London Greater
London

Not limited 96% 89% 83%
Limited a little 3% 7% 9%
Limited a lot 1% 4% 8%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Not limited

Limited a little

Limited a lot

6 Disability  

Page 280



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 19 

6.2 Impairment types stated by those who live in the City of London which affect daily travel are 
shown in Figure 6.2. Mobility impairment represents the highest proportion (48 per cent), 
followed by impairment due to serious long-term illness (38 per cent). It should be noted that 
this data is based on a small sample, therefore results should be taken as a general indication 
only. 

Figure 6.2: Impairment types stated by those with an impairment affecting travel in City of London 

 
Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

6.3 The mode share for people with a long-term health problem or disability in the City of London 
and Greater London is shown in Figure 6.3 and Figure 6.4 respectively. In the CoL, people with 
a long-term health problem or disability are more likely to use public transport (63 per cent vs 
61 per cent) and more likely to use private vehicles (15 per cent vs 4 per cent) than those 
without. However, they are less likely to walk or cycle than people without a long-term health 
problem or disability (22 per cent vs 35 per cent). 

6.4 This pattern is significantly more pronounced than that for Greater London, where the modal 
split for people with and without long-term health problems or disabilities is very similar. In 
contrast to the CoL, the data for Greater London shows that people with a long-term health 
problem or disability are less likely to use public transport than those without (27 per cent vs 
30 per cent). 

  

48%

4%3%

0%0%

38%

7%

Mobility

Visual

Hearing

Learning

Mental health

Serious long-term illness

Other

Page 281



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 20 

 

Figure 6.3: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in City of London 

 
Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 6.4: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in Greater London 

 

Has a long term
health

problem/disability

Does not have a
long term health

problem/disability
Overall

Walk and cycle 22% 35% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 63% 61% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 15% 4% 4%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Has a long term
health

problem/disability

Does not have a
long term health

problem/disability
Overall

Walk and cycle 34% 35% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 27% 30% 30%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 38% 35% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 282



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 21 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

6.5 The mode share for people with specific impairments in City of London and Greater London is 
shown in Figure 6.5 and Figure 6.6 respectively. Public transport is the dominant mode of 
travel for people with visual and hearing impairments, serious long-term health conditions and 
‘other’ impairments; it makes up 100 per cent of the mode share for people with visual and 
hearing impairments, however this must be taken into the context of the small sample size 
that this data is derived from. The modal split for individuals with mobility impairments is 
more even, with only 38 per cent using public transport, 32 per cent using private vehicles, 
and 30 per cent undertaking active travel. 

6.6 Compared to the CoL, mode share across impairment types for Greater London shows a much 
greater uptake of active travel and private vehicle use, along with lower public transport mode 
share. Groups with mobility (46 per cent) and learning (42 per cent) impairments are most 
likely to use private vehicles, while those with mental health impairments are most likely to 
undertake active travel (47 per cent). 

Figure 6.5: Mode share of those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Mobility Visual Hearing

Serious
long-
term

illness

Other Overall

Walk and cycle 30% 0% 0% 21% 0% 35%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 38% 100% 100% 79% 100% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 32% 0% 0% 0% 0% 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 283



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 22 

 

Figure 6.6: Mode split by those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in Greater London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

6.7 Focusing on disabled cyclists, the Wheels for Wellbeing annual survey (2019/20)4 showed that 
65 per cent of disabled cyclists use their cycle as a mobility aid, and 64 per cent found cycling 
easier than walking. Survey results also show that 31 per cent of disabled cyclists cycle for 
work or to commute to work and many found that cycling improves their mental and physical 
health. 

6.8 Inaccessible cycle infrastructure was found to be the biggest barrier to cycling, followed by the 
prohibitive cost of adaptive cycles and the absence of legal recognition of the fact that cycles 
are mobility aids on par with wheelchairs and mobility scooters. These results are presented 
on a national level, yet it should be noted that the data is based on a small sample and results 
should be taken as an indication only. 

 
4 https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-
2019-FINAL.pdf 

Mobili
ty Visual Hearin

g
Learni

ng

Menta
l

health

Seriou
s long-
term

illness

Other Overal
l

Walk and cycle 30% 37% 44% 27% 47% 40% 32% 37%
Underground, train, light rail,

bus, minibus or coach 23% 39% 37% 31% 34% 30% 36% 33%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger 46% 24% 19% 42% 20% 29% 32% 30%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 284

https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-2019-FINAL.pdf
https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-2019-FINAL.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 23 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposed widened and improved footways along either side of 
King William Street will provide people with additional comfort when making trips on 
foot, particularly at peak hours when pedestrian volumes are at their highest and 
footways at their busiest. This includes the removal of the temporary extensions to the 
footway, that included painted lines in the carriageway and wands to protect from traffic, 
and the creation of a new kerb line to replace this. This removes the requirement to be 
able to step down a kerb to benefit from this footway extension, and ensures the space is 
accessible for all. This is likely to disproportionately benefit people with mobility 
impairments as increased space for walking is likely to create a more comfortable and 
pleasant environment. 

• Crossing the street: The installation of a new dropped kerb at the southern end of King 
William Street will allow for easier crossing of the road, removing a step down into the 
street that could create difficulty for anyone with a mobility impairment. Likewise, the 
increased footway width and reduced carriageway width will result in a shorter walk 
across the road, decreasing the likelihood of any clash with road traffic. This will further 
benefit those whose physical impairments who need more time to cross the road. 

• Bus improvements: Resurfacing of the carriageway along King William Street will improve 
the passenger experience for bus users, with a smoother ride and fewer bumps. This may 
disproportionately benefit bus users with physical impairments who may be more 
sensitive to these movements.   

• Maintaining the ETOs restrictions for private motor vehicles will continue to aid the flow 
of buses through this area, maintaining journey times and reliability. This is likely to 
disproportionately positively people with a long-term health problem or disability in the 
CoL, who are more likely to use public transport (63 per cent vs 61 per cent) than those 
without. 

• Furthermore, the improved walking environment will benefit bus users, as every bus 
journey starts and ends on foot. This may disproportionately benefit disabled people, 
particularly those with physical impairments which can make walking more difficult. 

• Taxi and PHV access: Allowing taxi and private hire vehicle (PHV) access for picking up and 
dropping off passengers along King William Street would improve the overall accessibility 
of the street by allowing for door-to-door transport, decreasing walking distances from 
the potential pick up or drop off points. This is likely to disproportionately benefit disabled 
people who may be more reliant upon cars for mobility, particularly those with physical 
impairments that may limit alternative transport use.  

• This amendment to the scheme would also assist with mitigating the access limitations 
highlighted within the previous EqIA (for the ETO scheme), which noted that the scheme 
may disproportionately impact those with mobility impairments that rely on door-to-door 
access. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Increased journey times: While the proposed scheme is likely to create a healthier street 
for residents and visitors, maintaining the restriction on private motor traffic will retain 
the longer journey times for people travelling by car or taxi/PHV during the hours of 7am 
to 7pm (while taxis and PHVs can pick up and drop off, they cannot use King William 

Page 285



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 24 

Street as a through route) – this may include people who are reliant upon private cars for 
mobility. 

• In the CoL, groups with mobility (46 per cent) and learning (42 per cent) impairments are 
most likely to use private vehicles and are therefore likely to be disproportionately 
negatively impacted. Travelling can also be uncomfortable for some disabled people (for 
example, those who live with anxiety, or those who require quick access to toilets), 
therefore extended journey times could exacerbate this issue. It is important to recognise 
however that this this proposed scheme does not exacerbate this existing issue, but it 
would make it permanent 

• Cycling: Making the removal of the advisory cycle lanes permanent could have a 
disproportionately negative impact upon those who use their cycle as a mobility aid, as it 
may reduce the levels of perceived safety, which could deter some people from cycling. 

• Crossing the street: Removal of traffic islands will decrease the protection for those 
crossing the road. It should be noted that the only formal crossing points on the street are 
at the junction of Monument and at Bank, 250 metres apart. This may encourage informal 
crossing of the street which contains a high bus flow and will now require those wanting 
to cross the road to do so in one movement, without the option to stop in the centre.  

• Thus, despite a reduced carriageway width, crossing the street will require the individual 
to walk further than previously to be protected from traffic. This may disproportionately 
impact people who have disabilities and who are more likely to have mobility 
impairments, meaning they may take more time, or be more unsure of crossing the road. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Introduction of a formal crossing point: The installation of a formal crossing point on King 

William Street should be considered to mitigate for the loss of the informal crossing 
points provided by the existing traffic islands. This would make it safer and more 
convenient for all users to cross the street.  

• Cycling provision: It is recommended that the CoL explore ways to mitigate the impacts of 
removing the advisory cycle lanes. It is unlikely that the proposed scheme would meet 
LTN 1/20s thresholds for mixing people cycling with motor traffic due to the high volumes 
of traffic, plus the percentage large vehicles. If a solution cannot be found on King William 
Street, attention could be given to provision of other alternative cycle routes in the 
immediate area. 

• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 
users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
pedestrian comfort levels should be assessed to establish whether their inclusion would 
materially impact on the walking environment.  

Page 286



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 25 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
7.1 As per the Equality Act 2010, pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant or expecting a 

baby, and maternity refers to the period after the birth, and is linked to maternity leave in the 
employment context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is 
for 26 weeks after giving birth. 

Baseline equalities data 
7.2 In 2021, the General Fertility Rate (GFR) in City of London and Hackney5 was 54.1 births per 

1,000 women aged 15-44, while the GFR for London was 56 per 1,000 women. This suggests 
that slightly fewer women of this age group were likely to be pregnant or have given birth in 
2021 in the City of London and Hackney, compared to the Greater London average. 

7.3 Data shows that overall, the number of live births has been gradually falling in City of London 
and Hackney, and in London as a whole. During this time, the GFR for City of London and 
Hackney remained consistently below the Greater London average. In 2018, there was a slight 
increase in the fertility rate in the City, before continuing to fall, yet it remained below the 
Greater London rate (Figure 7.1). 

Figure 7.1: General Fertility Rate per year in City of London and Hackney compared to the Greater London 
average 

 

Source: ONS. Births and Fertility Rates, Borough 

 
5 City of London has been grouped with Hackney after 2004 in the dataset: Births and Fertility 
Rates, Borough - London Datastore 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
City of London and Hackney 60.9 59.8 58.1 58.8 54.8 53.6 54.1
Greater London 64.0 63.7 62.9 60.1 59.0 56.0 56.0

48
50
52
54
56
58
60
62
64
66

G
en

er
al

 F
er

til
ity

 R
at

e

Year

7 Pregnancy and maternity  

Page 287

https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/births-and-fertility-rates-borough
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/births-and-fertility-rates-borough


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 26 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposed widened and improved footways along either side of 
King William Street will provide people with additional comfort when making trips on 
foot, particularly at peak hours when pedestrian volumes are at their highest and 
footways at their busiest. This includes the removal of the temporary extensions to the 
footway, consisting of painted lines in the carriageway and wands to protect from traffic, 
and the creation of a new kerb line to replace this. This removes the requirement to be 
able to step down a kerb to benefit from this footway extension, and ensures the space is 
accessible for all.  

• This will create a safer environment, particularly important for pregnant people and 
mothers with new-born children. Improvements to footways, including widening and 
resurfacing will create more even and smooth surfaces on which to push a pram, 
improving overall journey experience.  

• Crossing the street: Removal of traffic islands will decrease the protection for those 
crossing the road. It should be noted that the only formal crossing points on the street are 
at the junction of Monument and at Bank, 250 metres apart. This may encourage informal 
crossing of the street which contains a high bus flow and will now require those wanting 
to cross the road to do so in one movement.  

• Thus, despite a reduced carriageway width, crossing the street may be less accessible to 
some users. This may disproportionately negatively impact pregnant people, or mothers 
with new-born children, who may feel less confident in crossing the street.  

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Essential car trips: Pregnant people may find walking and cycling difficult due to the 
physical exertion when pregnant. These groups may therefore have a greater need for to-
door transport such as private cars. Impacts then upon journey times and direct access 
due to private traffic restrictions may have disproportionately negative impacts upon 
pregnant people.  

• Crossing the street: Removal of traffic islands will decrease the protection for those 
crossing the road. It should be noted that the only formal crossing points on the street are 
at the junction of Monument and at Bank, 250 metres apart. This may encourage informal 
crossing of the street which contains a high bus flow and will now require those wanting 
to cross the road to do so in one movement, without the option to stop in the centre.  

• Thus, despite a reduced carriageway width, crossing the street will require the individual 
to walk further than previously to be protected from traffic. This may disproportionately 
impact pregnant people or those with young children, who may take more time to cross 
the road or travelling with prams/younger children that might require more time to 
navigate kerbs. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 

users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
pedestrian comfort levels should be assessed to establish whether their inclusion would 
materially impact on the walking environment.  

Page 288



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 27 

• Introduction of a formal crossing point: The installation of a formal crossing point on King 
William Street should be considered to mitigate for the loss of the informal crossing 
points provided by the existing traffic islands. This would make it safer and more 
convenient for all users to cross the street.  

Page 289



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 28 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1.  Race includes:  

a.  colour; 
b.  nationality; 
c.  ethnic or national origins.  

2. In relation to the protected characteristic of race -  

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a 
reference to a person of a particular racial group; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 
persons of the same racial group.  

Baseline equalities data 
8.1 Figure 8.1 presents the population of the study area and City of London by ethnicity. Based on 

Census 2021 data, 69% of the borough’s population is ‘White’, making it the most common 
ethnicity. This is much higher than the Greater London average share of 54%. The second most 
common ethnicity is ‘Asian’ making up 17% and 20% of the residential population in the City 
and study area respectively. 

8.2 14% of residents in Greater London are ‘Black’, compared to only 1% of residents in the study 
area. In the study area, 7% identify as ‘Mixed’, which is a greater share compared to in the 
borough, Greater London and at a national level. 

8 Race  

Page 290



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 29 

Figure 8.1: Study area and City of London ethnicity compared to London and national averages 

 

Source: Census 2021 

8.3 Based on usual travel modes from the LTDS data presented in Figure 8.2, in City of London, 
‘Mixed or multiple ethnic groups’ are most likely to walk and cycle (52%) and least likely to use 
public transport (48%). Across ethnic groups, car usage is either a very small proportion, at 
most 4%, or not a part of the mode share. 

8.4 Overall, in City of London, levels of car use are lower across all ethnicities compared to the 
London average (Figure 8.3), while levels of public transport use are higher. While ‘Asian or 
Asian British’ residents are most likely to use the car in London, this is not the case for City of 
London, where only 2% say they use the car. ‘Black or Black British’ residents are most likely 
(41%) to use public transport in London, and they are second most likely to (82%) in City of 
London. 

Study Area City of
London

Greater
London

England and
Wales

Other 5% 6% 6% 2%
Black 1% 3% 14% 4%
Asian 20% 17% 21% 9%
Mixed 7% 5% 6% 3%
White 68% 69% 54% 82%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Other

Black

Asian

Mixed

White

Page 291



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 30 

Figure 8.2: Mode share by ethnicity in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 8.3: Mode share by ethnicity in London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Crossing the street: The installation of a new dropped kerb at the southern end of King 
William Street will allow for easier crossing of the road, removing a step down into the 

4% 2% 3% 4% 4%

58%
90%

48%
66%

82%
64% 61%

37%

10%

52%
32%

15%
33% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

Missing/Not asked

35% 37% 33% 39% 31% 29% 35%

28% 30% 32% 28% 41%
33% 30%

37% 33% 35% 32% 29% 38% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

Missing/Not asked

Page 292



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 31 

street. Likewise, the increased footway width and reduced carriageway width will result in 
a shorter walk across the road, decreasing the likelihood of any clash with road traffic. 
This will create a safer environment and is likely to disproportionally benefit ‘Mixed or 
multiple ethnic groups’ who are currently more likely to walk or cycle (52 per cent) more 
than any other group in the CoL. 

• Walking environment: The proposed widened and improved footways along either side of 
King William Street will provide people with additional comfort when making trips on 
foot, particularly at peak hours when pedestrian volumes are at their highest and 
footways at their busiest. This will create a safer environment and is likely to 
disproportionally benefit ‘Mixed or multiple ethnic groups’ who are currently more likely 
to walk or cycle (52 per cent) more than any other group in the CoL. 

• Bus improvements:  Maintaining the ETOs restrictions for private motor vehicles will 
continue to aid the flow of buses through this area, maintaining journey times and 
reliability. This is likely to disproportionately positively impact ‘Gypsy or Irish Traveller’ 
and ‘Black or Black British’ groups who are more likely to use public transport in the CoL 
(90 per cent and 82 per cent). Furthermore, the improved walking environment will 
benefit these groups, as every bus journey starts and ends on foot.  

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Crossing the street: Removal of traffic islands will decrease the protection for those 
crossing the road. It should be noted that the only formal crossing points on the street are 
at the junction of Monument and at Bank, 250 metres apart. This may encourage informal 
crossing of the street which contains a high bus flow and will now require those wanting 
to cross the road to do so in one movement.  

• Thus, despite a reduced carriageway width, crossing the street may be less accessible to 
some users. This may disproportionately negatively impact ‘Mixed or multiple ethnic 
groups’ who are currently more likely to walk or cycle (52 per cent) more than any other 
group in the CoL. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Introduction of a formal crossing point: The installation of a formal crossing point on King 

William Street should be considered to mitigate for the loss of the informal crossing 
points provided by the existing traffic islands. This would make it safer and more 
convenient for all users to cross the street.  

Page 293



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 32 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1. Religion means any religion and a reference to religion includes a reference to a lack of 

religion. 
2. Belief means any religious or philosophical belief and a reference to belief includes a 

reference to a lack of belief. 
3. In relation to the protected characteristic of religion or belief: 

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a 
reference to a person of a particular religion or belief; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 
persons who are of the same religion or belief. 

Baseline equalities data 
9.1 Census 2021 data on religion in the study area, City of London, and Greater London is 

presented in Figure 9.1. Nearly half (43%) of the population in the study area and in the City of 
London (44%) selected ‘no religion’, compared to a substantially smaller proportion (27%) in 
Greater London.  

9.2 Over a third of residents (34%) in the study area identified as Christian, compared to 41% in 
Greater London. 3% of residents in the study area identified as Muslim, compared to slightly 
more (6%) in City of London. 4% of the population in the study area identified as Hindu, with a 
slightly smaller proportion (2%) in the City of London. 

 

9 Religion or belief 

Page 294



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 33 

Figure 9.1: Religion composition in the study area, City of London, and Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2021 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Active travel: Improving conditions for walking and cycling is likely to positively benefit 
those who follow a religion and regularly attend places of worship. Destinations such as 
this typically have local catchments, making them more likely to be within walking and 
cycling distance of regular attendees. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Restricting car usage: The restrictions for private vehicle traffic, may increase journey 
times for some worshippers who drive to their place of worship. For those unable to take 
an alternative method of transport, that may cause a disproportionately negative impact. 

Recommended mitigating actions  
• Engagement with places of worship: There are several Churches within the King William 

Street area and surrounding roads, most notably St. Mary Woolnoth on the turning into 
Lombard St, St. Clements on Clements Ln, and St. Mary Abchurch on Abchurch Ln. We 
recommend engaging with these local places of worship to establish whether there have 

Study Area City of
London

Greater
London

Not answered 9% 9% 7%
Other religion 1% 1% 1%
Sikh 0% 0% 2%
Muslim 3% 6% 15%
Jewish 2% 2% 2%
Hindu 4% 2% 5%
Buddhist 2% 1% 1%
Christian 34% 35% 41%
No religion 43% 44% 27%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Not answered

Other religion

Sikh

Muslim

Jewish

Hindu

Buddhist

Christian

No religion

Page 295



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 34 

been any disproportionate impacts and to review the specific needs of their religious 
community. 

Page 296



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 35 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  
1. In relation to the protected characteristic of sex: 

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a reference 
to a man or to a woman; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to persons 
of the same sex. 

Baseline equalities data 
10.1 Figure 10.1 presents Census 2021 data for population by sex. In the study area, a notably 

greater proportion of residents identified as male, 61%, than as female, 39%. In the City of 
London there are also more males than females, with a lesser difference in proportions. There 
is a more even split in Greater London, with a slightly higher proportion of females (51%) than 
males (49%). 

Figure 10.1: Population breakdown by sex in the study area, City of London, and Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2021 

10.2 Figure 10.2 presents the mode share by sex in the City of London based on LTDS data. Males 
are more likely to use a car (5%) than females (2%) and less likely to use public transport (60%) 
than females (63%); mode shares for walking or cycling are the same for both sexes. Figure 9.3 

Study Area City of London Greater London
Male 61% 55% 49%
Female 39% 45% 51%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male

Female

10 Sex 

Page 297



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 36 

shows mode shares for Greater London (as a comparison to the City of London in Figure 9.2). 
Public transport use is much lower, and car use much greater, in Greater London as a whole 
compared to the City of London for both sexes.  

Figure 10.2: Mode share by sex in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 10.3: Mode share by sex in Greater London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

10.3 Across Greater London, research undertaken by TfL6 shows that females are more likely to use 
buses than males (62% compared to 56%) but are less likely to use other types of transport 
including the Tube (38% of females compared to 43% of males). 

10.4 Female travel needs can be more complex than males due to a range of factors; the increased 
likelihood of travelling with a buggy and/or shopping affects the travel choices females make, 

 
6 https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-understanding-our-diverse-communities-2019.pdf  

5% 2% 4%

60% 63% 61%

35% 35% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male Female Overall

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

36% 34% 35%

29% 30% 30%

35% 36% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male Female Overall

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

Page 298

https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-understanding-our-diverse-communities-2019.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 37 

females are also more likely to be carers of children7, further affecting the transport choices 
they make. 

10.5 Female Londoners make more trips per weekday than male Londoners (2.5 trips compared to 
2.3 trips)6. This pattern, however, is reversed amongst older adults, with older female 
Londoners making fewer weekday trips than older male Londoners (2.0 compared to 2.2).  

10.6 Females aged 17 or over who are living in London are less likely than males to have a full 
driving licence (58% compared to 72%) or have access to a car (63% compared to 66%). These 
factors are likely to be related to the frequency of car use as a driver. Almost four in five (79%) 
females in London report being able to ride a bike, compared to 91% of males. 

Impact assessment  
Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Bus improvements: Maintaining the restrictions for private motor vehicles will continue 
to aid the flow of buses through this area, maintaining journey times and reliability. This is 
likely to disproportionately positively impact females who are more likely to use public 
transport in the CoL (63 per cent) and are more likely to be bus users. Furthermore, the 
improved walking environment will benefit people using bus stops on King William Street. 

• Walking environment: Increasing access to favourable walking conditions could 
potentially have disproportionate benefits to females, particularly due to the higher 
number of trips they make daily compared to males, as well as their role in taking children 
to and from educational and recreational facilities. 

 
7 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/476635/travel-to-school.pdf  

Page 299

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476635/travel-to-school.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476635/travel-to-school.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: King William Street – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 38 

11.1 A summary of the recommended mitigating actions throughout this EqIA is presented below.  

11.2 It is recommended that the CoL identifies an individual/individuals within the project team to 
take ownership of these recommendations, and subsequently explores the feasibility of their 
implementation.  

11.3 To ensure transparency of the design and decision-making process, it is recommended that an 
update on the status of each recommended mitigating action is included within a future 
addendum to this EqIA.  

Recommended mitigating actions  

• Introduction of a formal crossing point: The installation of a formal crossing point on King 
William Street should be considered to mitigate for the loss of the informal crossing 
points provided by the existing traffic islands. This would make it safer and more 
convenient for all users to cross the street.  

• Accessibility: Ensure that any additional space created for pedestrians is accessible to all 
users, for example by ensuring that new space is flush with existing footways, or 
alternatively that ramps are provided. Furthermore, with the introduction of street trees, 
pedestrian comfort levels should be assessed to establish whether their inclusion would 
materially impact on the walking environment 

• Cycling provision: It is recommended that the CoL explore ways to mitigate the impacts of 
removing the advisory cycle lanes. It is unlikely that the proposed scheme would meet 
LTN 1/20s thresholds for mixing people cycling with motor traffic due to the high volumes 
of traffic, plus the percentage large vehicles. If a solution cannot be found on King William 
Street, attention could be given to provision of other alternative cycle routes in the 
immediate area. 

• Introduction of a formal crossing point: The installation of a formal crossing point on King 
William Street should be considered to mitigate for the loss of the informal crossing 
points provided by the existing traffic islands. This would make it safer and more 
convenient for all users to cross the street.  

• Engagement with places of worship: There are several Churches within the King William 
Street area and surrounding roads, most notably St. Mary Woolnoth on the turning into 
Lombard St, St. Clements on Clements Ln, and St. Mary Abchurch on Abchurch Ln. We 
recommend engaging with these local places of worship to establish whether there have 
been any disproportionate impacts and to review the specific needs of their religious 
community. 

11 Summary of recommended 
mitigating actions 

Page 300



 

  

Control Information 

Prepared by  Prepared for 

Steer 
14-21 Rushworth Street 
London SE1 0RB 
+44 20 7910 5000 
www.steergroup.com 

 City of London Corporation 
Guildhall 
London EC2P 2EJ 

 
Steer project/proposal number  Client contract/project number 

24398701    
 
Author/originator  Reviewer/approver 

JDY  SDH 
 
Other contributors  Distribution 

LUB  Client: Kristian Turner Steer:  
 

Version control/issue number  Date 

1.0 Draft for comment  18th January 2023  

 

Page 301



 

  steergroup.com  

 

 

Page 302



 

Draft Report 

January 2023 

 

 

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry 
– Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

 

 

 

 

City of London Corporation 

 24398701 

   Page 303



Page 304



 

Steer has prepared this material for City of London Corporation. This material may only be used within the context 
and scope for which Steer has prepared it and may not be relied upon in part or whole by any third party or be 
used for any other purpose. Any person choosing to use any part of this material without the express and written 
permission of Steer shall be deemed to confirm their agreement to indemnify Steer for all loss or damage resulting 
therefrom. Steer has prepared this material using professional practices and procedures using information 
available to it at the time and as such any new information could alter the validity of the results and conclusions 
made. 

Draft Report 

January 2023 

 

 

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry 
– Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Prepared for: 

 

Steer 

14-21 Rushworth Street 

London SE1 0RB 

 

City of London Corporation 

Guildhall 

London EC2P 2EJ 

+44 20 7910 5000 

www.steergroup.com 

    

  24398701 

Page 305



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Contents 

1 Introduction .............................................................................................................. 1 

Background ......................................................................................................................... 1 

Scheme context .................................................................................................................. 1 

2 Scoping ..................................................................................................................... 4 

3 Data sources ............................................................................................................. 6 

4 Baseline .................................................................................................................... 8 

5 Age ......................................................................................................................... 11 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 11 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 11 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 15 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 16 

6 Disability ................................................................................................................ 17 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 17 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 17 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 22 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 22 

7 Pregnancy and maternity ........................................................................................ 24 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 24 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 24 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 25 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 25 

8 Race ....................................................................................................................... 26 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 26 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 26 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 28 

9 Religion or belief ..................................................................................................... 30 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 30 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 30 

Page 306



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 31 

Recommended mitigating actions .................................................................................... 32 

10 Sex ......................................................................................................................... 33 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 ................................................................. 33 

Baseline equalities data .................................................................................................... 33 

Impact assessment ........................................................................................................... 35 

11 Summary of recommended mitigating actions ......................................................... 36 

 

Figures 

Figure 1.1: Proposed permanent scheme .................................................................................... 2 

Figure 3.1: City of London 001F LSOA ........................................................................................... 6 

Figure 3.2: City of London MSOA .................................................................................................. 7 

Figure 4.1: Bank on Safety Workplace Zone ................................................................................. 8 

Figure 4.2: Age of daytime occupants within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone ...................... 9 

Figure 4.3: Method of travel to work for those with a workplace in the City of London ........... 10 

Figure 5.1: Age distribution in the study area, compared to City of London and Greater London 

in 2011. ....................................................................................................................................... 11 

Figure 5.2: Age distribution in the City of London and Greater London in 2021 ....................... 12 

Figure 5.3: Mode share by age in City of London ....................................................................... 13 

Figure 5.4: Mode share by age in Greater London ..................................................................... 14 

Figure 5.5: Percentage Killed or Seriously Injured by age in City of London (2021)................... 15 

Figure 6.1: Population limited by long-term health problems or disabilities in the study area, 

City of London and Greater London ........................................................................................... 17 

Figure 6.2: Impairment types stated by those with an impairment affecting travel in City of 

London ........................................................................................................................................ 18 

Figure 6.3: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in City of London

 .................................................................................................................................................... 19 

Figure 6.4: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in Greater 

London ........................................................................................................................................ 19 

Figure 6.5: Mode share of those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in City of 

London ........................................................................................................................................ 20 

Figure 6.6: Mode split by those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in Greater 

London ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

Page 307



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 

Figure 7.1: General Fertility Rate per year in City of London and Hackney compared to the 

Greater London average ............................................................................................................. 24 

Figure 8.1: Study area and City of London ethnicity compared to London and national averages

 .................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Figure 8.2: Mode share by ethnicity in City of London ............................................................... 28 

Figure 8.3: Mode share by ethnicity in London .......................................................................... 28 

Figure 9.1: Religion composition in the study area, City of London, and Greater London ........ 31 

Figure 10.1: Population breakdown by sex in the study area, City of London, and Greater 

London ........................................................................................................................................ 33 

Figure 10.2: Mode share by sex in City of London ..................................................................... 34 

Figure 10.3: Mode share by sex in London ................................................................................. 34 

 

 

Tables 

Table 2.1: Protected characteristics scoping ................................................................................ 5 

 

 

Page 308



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 1 

Background 

1.1 This Equality Impact assessment (EqIA) relates to the proposed improvements to Old Jewry, 

located within the City of London. An EqIA is a process designed to ensure that a policy, 

project, or scheme does not unlawfully discriminate against any protected characteristic as 

defined by the Equality Act 2010. This EqIA has been produced by the independent transport 

and infrastructure consultancy, Steer.  

1.2 In the summer 2020, the City of London Corporation (CoL) provided more space for 

pedestrians to enable social distancing. These changes were implemented as traffic 

experiments under Experimental Traffic Orders (ETOs) so that they could monitor the impacts 

on residents, businesses, and street users. 

1.3 The CoL is currently in the process of assessing the impact of these changes and deciding 

whether they should be made permanent. This EqIA provides an assessment of the potential 

disproportionate impacts between the existing ETO scheme and the proposed permanent 

scheme.  

Scheme context  

Existing scheme (ETO) 

1.4 The existing ETO was introduced in summer 2020, and involved the following changes to the 

street: 

• Introduction of a modal filter (using bollards) at the southern end of Old Jewry, at the 

junction with Poultry. This prevented access for motor vehicles. Access for pedestrians 

and cyclists was maintained.  

1.5 The proposed permanent scheme for Old Jewry involves the following amendments to the 

existing ETO layout: 

• The modal filter at the junction of Old Jewry and Poultry is to be retained and enforced by 

two removable bollards to allow for occasional motor vehicles access. The mouth of this 

junction is to be tightened to slow down the speeds of people cycling, with the intention 

of improving road safety. 

• The southern carriageway of Old Jewry (south of Frederick’s Place) is to be resurfaced 

with granite and raised to existing footway level. New benches and greening will be 

introduced.  

1.6 A drawing of the proposed changes is presented overleaf in Figure 1.1.  

 

1 Introduction 

Page 309

https://uk.steergroup.com/


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 2 

Figure 1.1: Proposed permanent scheme  

Page 310



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 3 

Assumed impact on transport and movement  

1.7 The impacts identified throughout this EqIA are derived from the assumption that the 

proposed scheme will have the following impacts on transport and movement in the area: 

• Resurfacing and raising the carriageway to existing footway level will make it easier and 

more pleasant for people to walk and cycle down Old Jewry and across the mouth of the 

junction with Cheapside. 

• Making the existing restrictions to motor traffic permanent will lock in the benefits to 

people cycling and walking of a quieter and safer environment, but in turn will mean that 

some motor traffic journeys will need to continue to use alternative routes to avoid the 

restrictions.  

• Adding benches and trees will create a more pleasant and accessible environment.   

 

Page 311



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 4 

2.1 A scoping assessment has been undertaken to identify whether the proposed scheme could 

have a disproportionate impact on people with one or more protected characteristics.  

2.2 “Disproportionate impact” means that groups of people who share a protected characteristic 

may be significantly more affected by a change than other people.  

2.3 Protected characteristics are defined by the Equality Act 2010. The 'protection' refers to 

protection from discrimination. There are nine characteristics protected by the Equality Act: 

• Age 

• Disability 

• Gender reassignment  

• Marriage and civil partnership  

• Pregnancy and maternity  

• Race  

• Religion or belief  

• Sex  

• Sexual orientation   

2.4 As the public realm scheme is aimed at making these streets more attractive to people walking 

and dwelling, as well as making them safer and less polluted, it is considered that the scheme 

is likely to impact people’s movement and experience of streets and spaces. Groups that have 

a significant intersection with movement and space, i.e., those that travel in distinguishably 

different ways, are most likely to be affected. 

2.5 It is not considered that the ‘Gender reassignment’, ‘Sexual orientation’ or ‘Marriage and civil 

partnership’ protected characteristics have a significant intersection with movement and 

space. As such, they have not been included in the baseline data or the detailed analysis of 

equality impacts that follows. 

2.6 This exercise considers both potential positive and negative impacts, and, where possible, 

provides evidence to explain how and why a group might be particularly affected. Table 2.1 

provides a summary of the scoping assessment. 

 

 

 

 

 

2 Scoping   

Page 312



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 5 

Table 2.1: Protected characteristics scoping  

Protected characteristic  Disproportionate 
impact unlikely 

Disproportionate 
impact possible 

Commentary  

Age – people in particular age 
groups (particularly over 65s and 
under 16s)  ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s 
ability to use the transport network can be 
reduced as a result of age and age-related 
health conditions.  

Disability – people with 
disabilities (including different 
types of physical, learning or 
mental disabilities) 

 ✔ 

There is likely to be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s use 
of the transport network can be shaped by 
certain disabilities. 

Gender reassignment – people 
who are intending to undergo, 
are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process or part of a 
process of gender reassignment 

✔  

People undergoing gender reassignment are 
unlikely to be disproportionately impacted by 
the scheme.   

Marriage and civil partnership – 
people who are married or in a 
civil partnership 

✔  
People who are married or in a civil partnership 
are unlikely to be disproportionately impacted 
by the scheme.  

Pregnancy and maternity – 
people who are pregnant or 
have given birth in the previous 
26 weeks 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. A person’s use 
of the transport network can be shaped by 
pregnancy and parental care.  

Race – people of a particular 
race or ethnicity (including 
refugees, asylum seekers, 
migrants, gypsies and travellers) 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. Use of the 
transport network and/or occupation may 
differ depending on ethnic group.  

Religion or belief – people of 
particular faiths and beliefs 

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate impact 
which this EqIA will investigate. Use of the 
transport network by those practising different 
religions may vary across different days (e.g., 
Sunday worship, when public transport services 
are reduced).  

Sex – whether people are male 
or female  

 ✔ 

There could be a disproportionate effect which 
this EqIA will investigate. Use of the transport 
network and/or occupation may differ 
depending on sex. 

Sexual orientation – whether a 
person’s sexual orientation is 
towards the same sex, a 
different sex, or both. 

✔  

People of a particular sexual orientation are 
unlikely to be disproportionately impacted by 
the scheme. 

 

Page 313



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 6 

3.1 For this assessment, information has been gathered about protected characteristic groups for 

the City of London 001F Lower Layer Super Output Area (LSOA), the City of London Middle 

Layer Super Output Area (MSOA) as well as data for London as a whole. The LSOA and MSOA 

are represented below in Figure 3.1 and Figure 3.2 respectively. Throughout this EqIA, this is 

referred to as ‘the study area’. 

3.2 The City of London is a small and densely populated area with high levels of walkability and 

numerous public transport stations. This means that any given street is likely to be used by 

people from across the City. Therefore, it is important to consider an area that is wider than 

the immediate surroundings of the scheme; this requirement is satisfied with the use of LSOA 

data. Data at the MSOA level is used as a substitute for LSOA data for specific data sets where 

no greater level of detail is provided.  

3.3 London as a whole is included in the assessment to provide greater context to the data for 

residents living in the City of London. 

Figure 3.1: City of London 001F LSOA  

 

Source: Nomis 2022 

3 Data sources  

Page 314



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 7 

Figure 3.2: City of London MSOA 

 

Source: Nomis 2022 

Data sources and limitations  

3.4 London Travel Demand Survey (LTDS) and Census 2011/2021 data are the two primary data 

sources used throughout this assessment. Supplementary data sources have also been used 

and are referenced throughout. For each protected characteristic, data has been collated and 

analysed, with comparisons made at LSOA, Borough/MSOA, London and national levels, where 

relevant. 

3.5 While Census data is a useful tool for understanding and comparing travel characteristics of an 

area with another, it does have limitations; particularly that the 2011 dataset is dated, and 

even more so given the changes brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic. On the other hand, 

2021 Census data is expected to have been influenced by alterations to ways of living and 

moving during the Covid-19 pandemic period. 

3.6 Though 2021 Census data has been collected prior to the publication of this report, not all 

data has been released. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) expects to release all data and 

analysis within two years of the Census. Where relevant 2021 Census data has been made 

available, it is used in this EqIA. 

3.7 LTDS data provides granular data within the City of London, however it is not wholly 

representative of the wider population as it is calculated using sample sets and subsequently 

scaled up. Throughout this report, acknowledgement has been made where the sample size of 

LTDS data is particularly small.  

Page 315



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 8 

4.1 The City of London has a very large workforce in comparison to its usual residential 

population. The 2011 Census recorded the residential population as 7,400 people and the 

work force as 357,000 people – almost 50 times the usual residential population which 

demonstrates significant movement in and out of the City every day.  

4.2 The workforce located within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone, as defined in the zone shown 

in Figure 4.1, amounts to 9,100 people. It can be seen in Figure 4.2 that the age profile for the 

Bank Junction Workplace Zone follows a similar trend to that of the City of London workforce, 

where the highest age group is those aged 30-34. The workforce in the Bank Junction 

Workplace Zone is lower when compared to those aged 55+ within the City. 

Figure 4.1: Bank on Safety Workplace Zone 

 

Source: Bank on Safety Equality Analysis with data from Office for National Statistics 

4 Baseline 

Page 316



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 9 

Figure 4.2: Age of daytime occupants within the Bank Junction Workplace Zone 

 

Source: Bank on Safety Equality Analysis with data from Census 2011 

4.3 Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-2019 estimates show an increase in the City of London 

residential population to 9,700 people while the 2018 workforce was estimated to be 

522,0001. The City shows the highest workplace density out of all boroughs in Greater London 

with the primary land use in the City being offices, which make up more than 70% of all 

buildings. In absolute terms, the City has the second greatest workforce after the City of 

Westminster, with a gender split of 64% males and 36% females in 20192. 

4.4 When compared to Greater London, the City of London has a higher proportion of professional 

occupations, associated professional and technical occupations, skilled trades occupations, 

and administrative and secretarial occupations. Professional and associate 

professional/technical occupations represent over half of occupations within the City. 

4.5 Census 2011 data shows that of those travelling to the City of London for work, 38% have trips 

of 10km or less. 36% of trips are between 10km and 30km, while 16% are within 30km and 

50km and 9% are 60km or more. Overall, 84% of the workforce uses public transport to travel 

to the City of London for work, shown in Figure 4.3.  

4.6 Please note that these figures may change significantly due to the change in working 

arrangements and patterns attributed to Covid-19, however the CoL can only act on the latest 

data available. Census 2021 data on workplace population is due to be released by the ONS in 

‘Spring 2023’.  

 

1 https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-
city  

2 https://www.citywomen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/city-of-london-jobs-factsheet.pdf  

Page 317

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-city
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/supporting-businesses/economic-research/statistics-about-the-city
https://www.citywomen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/city-of-london-jobs-factsheet.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 10 

Figure 4.3: Method of travel to work for those with a workplace in the City of London 

  

Source: 2011 Census 

Page 318



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 11 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010 

1. In relation to the protected characteristic of age: 

a. A reference to a person of a particular age group 

b. A reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 

persons of the same age group 

2. A reference to an age group is a reference to a group of persons defined by a reference to 

age, whether by reference to a particular age or to a range of ages. 

Baseline equalities data 

5.1 As of 2011, the greatest proportion of residents in the study area were in the 25-44 age group 

(57 per cent) (Figure 5.1). This was significantly higher than both the City of London (41 per 

cent) and London as a whole (36 per cent). The younger population in the study area matched 

that of the City more closely, however the number of over 60s was much lower in the study 

area (8 per cent) than in the City (20 per cent).  

Figure 5.1: Age distribution in the study area, compared to City of London and Greater London in 2011. 

 

Study Area City of London Greater London

60 and over 8% 20% 15%

45 to 59 16% 21% 17%

25 to 44 57% 41% 36%

16 to 24 13% 10% 12%

Under 16 6% 8% 20%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

60 and over

45 to 59

25 to 44

16 to 24

Under 16

5 Age 

Page 319



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 12 

Source: Census 2011 

5.2 More recent data from the 2021 Census is not available at the level of the study area. 

However, the age distribution for the City and Greater London is shown in Figure 5.2.  

5.3 In the period 2011-2021, the number of younger people (16-24) has marginally increased by 3 

per cent, while the number of under 16s and over 60s both decreased by 1 per cent. Similarly 

small changes occurred at the Greater London level, implying that the comparison in age 

distribution between the two scales has remained broadly similar. 

Figure 5.2: Age distribution in the City of London and Greater London in 2021 

 

Source: Census 2021 

5.4 Figure 5.3 presents LTDS data on how people travel around the City within each age group, 

and Figure 5.4 presents this same information for London as a whole. 

5.5 The highest usage of active travel modes (walking and cycling) is among the under 16s (39 per 

cent), followed by the 25-44 age group (37 per cent). On the other hand, only 29 per cent of 

16–24-year-olds walk or cycle. This pattern is consistent with data for Greater London. Public 

transport is the most popular travel mode in the City, used by over 50 per cent of residents in 

each age group. This is higher than the Greater London public transport mode share across all 

age groups.  

5.6 Notably, only 33 per cent of under 16s use public transport in Greater London. In the City, 

however, this rises to 61 per cent. The use of private vehicles in the City is minimal, making up 

City of London Greater London

60 and over 19% 16%

45 to 59 20% 19%

25 to 44 41% 34%

16 to 24 13% 11%

Under 16 7% 19%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

60 and over

45 to 59

25 to 44

16 to 24

Under 16

Page 320



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 13 

4 per cent of all journeys. Over 60s use private vehicles more than any other age group (13 per 

cent). 

Figure 5.3: Mode share by age in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Under
16

16-24 25-44 45-59 Over 60 Overall

All other methods 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Walk and cycle 39% 29% 37% 30% 32% 35%

Underground, train, light rail,
bus, minibus or coach

61% 65% 60% 63% 56% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

0% 5% 2% 7% 13% 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 321



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 14 

Figure 5.4: Mode share by age in Greater London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

5.7 Killed and Seriously Injured (KSIs) and Slightly Injured casualties by age category are shown in 

Figure 5.5 below. In total there were 42 KSIs and 115 Slightly Injured casualties in 2021.  

5.8 Recorded KSIs are highest for the 16-24 age group (35 per cent) and the 45-59 age group (33 

per cent). This indicates that these age groups are disproportionately more likely to suffer 

more severe consequences if they are a casualty in a collision. 

5.9 Across the UK, 10-14 age group road accidents make up over 50 per cent of all external causes 

of death. Moreover, 15–19-year-olds experience almost double the risk of death from road 

traffic accidents (82.5 deaths per million population) in comparison to the general population. 

Under
16

16-24 25-44 45-59 Over 60 Overall

All other methods 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Walk and cycle 49% 35% 40% 40% 41% 40%

Underground, train, light rail,
bus, minibus or coach

33% 59% 51% 46% 46% 49%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

16% 6% 9% 14% 13% 11%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 322



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 15 

Figure 5.5: Percentage Killed or Seriously Injured by age in City of London (2021) 

 

Source: STATS19, 2021  

Impact assessment  

Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposal to raise and resurface the carriageway and footway 

at the southern end of Old Jewry will provide people with additional comfort when 

making trips on foot, particularly at peak hours when pedestrian volumes are at their 

highest and footways at their busiest.  

• This is likely to disproportionately benefit older people, as older people are more likely to 

live with mobility impairments due to aging. Increased space for walking and step-free 

access from one side of the street to the other is likely to create a more comfortable and 

pleasant environment. This will also disproportionately benefit younger people as those 

aged under-16 who have the highest mode share for walking and cycling (39 per cent) 

compared to other age groups in the City of London, although they may not account for a 

large number of road users at this location. 

• Places to sit and rest: Providing spaces where people can take a break during their 

journey can enable older people to make longer journeys on foot3. The proposed benches 

at the southern end of Old Jewry may disproportionately benefit older people.  

• Air and environment: A reduction in emissions from a continued restriction of private 

vehicle access through the southern end of Old Jewry is likely to have a disproportionate 

benefit for younger and older people who are more vulnerable to poor air quality4. 

• Crossing the road: Younger people aged 16-24 are more likely to be Killed or Seriously 

Injured (35 per cent) than any other age group. Therefore, safety improvements at Old 

Jewry are likely to disproportionately benefit this group. 

 

3 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0277953616304804  

4 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/air_quality_for_public_health_professionals_-
_city_of_london.pdf  

Under
16

16 to
24

25 to
44

45 to
59

60 and
over

KSI 0% 35% 25% 33% 10%

Slightly Injured 100% 65% 75% 67% 90%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

KSI

Slightly Injured

Page 323

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0277953616304804
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/air_quality_for_public_health_professionals_-_city_of_london.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/air_quality_for_public_health_professionals_-_city_of_london.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 16 

• The raised carriageway at the southern end of Old Jewry will allow for easier crossing of 

the road, removing the existing step down into the street from the kerb that could be 

difficult or impossible for an older person with mobility impairments. Likewise, the 

tightening of the junction of Old Jewry/Poultry is likely to reduce the speeds of people 

cycling, creating a safer environment for younger and older people walking on Old Jewry. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Increased journey times: While the proposed scheme is likely to create a healthier 

environment for residents and visitors, maintaining the restriction to private traffic on this 

road may lead to longer journey times for people travelling by car – this may include 

people who are reliant upon private cars for their mobility, which may include a greater 

proportion of older people, who are more likely to be living with physical impairments 

which prevent them using alternative modes of transport (as noted within the previous 

EqIA).  

• In the CoL, people aged over 60 use cars/vans more than any other age group and are 

therefore likely to be disproportionately negatively impacted. Travelling can also be 

uncomfortable for some people (for example, those who live with anxiety, or those who 

require quick access to toilets), particularly for older people, therefore extended journey 

times could exacerbate this issue.  

• Road safety: Retaining the existing modal filters will require drivers to perform three-

point turns in the middle of Old Jewry so that they can exit via Gresham Street. This poses 

a risk of collisions with pedestrians or cyclists, particularly with LGVs or HGVs. This issue 

was raised by numerous people during the online consultation period. This could 

disproportionately negatively impact younger people, who are at greater risk of being 

killed or seriously injured. For the 10-14 age group, road accidents make up over 50% of 

all external causes of death. 

Recommended mitigating actions  

• Delivery and servicing: To mitigate the potential negative impacts of delivery drivers 

making three-point turns, it is recommended that a Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) is 

developed for Old Jewry in order to manage vehicles serving homes and business located 

on or adjacent to the street itself.  

• A DSP can set out specific measures to mitigate for the negative impacts of large delivery 

and servicing vehicles using the street space. Such a plan could recommend the re-timing 

of most deliveries to off-peak times, when pedestrian and cyclist movements are less 

frequent along Old Jewry. Steps could be taken to re-mode delivery and servicing in the 

area, utilising more cargo bikes and pedestrian porterage instead of LGVs and HGVs. 

These measures could act to reduce the conflict potential between pedestrians, cyclists 

and delivery/servicing vehicles. 

• Street design: Furthermore, it is recommended that creative use of street furniture is 

considered as part of the design. This could be used to provide better indicators of 

separation between the carriageway and footway, acting as a barrier for drivers 

encroaching onto the footway when making three-point turns.  

Page 324



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 17 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  

1. A person (P) has a disability if:  

a. P has a physical or mental impairment, and 

b. the impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on P’s ability to carry out 

normal day-to-day activities. 

Baseline equalities data 

6.1 In the study area, Census 2011 data shows that 96 per cent of residents feel that they have no 

physical or mental impairments affective their daily activities (Figure 6.1). This is notably 

higher than both in the City (89 per cent) and Greater London (83 per cent).  

6.2 The number of residents in the study area for whom daily activities are ‘limited a lot’ account 

for 1 per cent of the population, compared to 8 per cent for Greater London. Further 3 per 

cent of residents is the study area said they were ‘limited a little’, compared to 9 per cent for 

Greater London. 

Figure 6.1: Population limited by long-term health problems or disabilities in the study area, City of London and 
Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2011 

Study Area City of London
Greater
London

Not limited 96% 89% 83%

Limited a little 3% 7% 9%

Limited a lot 1% 4% 8%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Not limited

Limited a little

Limited a lot

6 Disability  

Page 325



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 18 

6.3 Impairment types stated by those who live in the City of London which affect daily travel are 

shown in Figure 6.2. Mobility impairment represents the highest proportion (48 per cent), 

followed by impairment due to serious long-term illness (38 per cent). It should be noted that 

this data is based on a small sample, therefore results should be taken as a general indication 

only. 

Figure 6.2: Impairment types stated by those with an impairment affecting travel in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

6.4 The mode share for people with a long-term health problem or disability in the City of London 

and Greater London is shown in Figure 6.3 and Figure 6.4 respectively. In the City, people with 

a long-term health problem or disability are more likely to use public transport (63 per cent vs 

61 per cent) and more likely to use cars/vans (15 per cent vs 4 per cent) than those without. 

However, they are less likely to walk or cycle than people without a long-term health problem 

or disability (22 per cent vs 35 per cent). 

6.5 This pattern is significantly more pronounced than that for Greater London, where the modal 

split for people with and without long-term health problems or disabilities is very similar. In 

contrast to the City, the data for Greater London shows that people with a long-term health 

problem or disability are less likely to use public transport than those without (27 per cent vs 

30 per cent). 

  

48%

4%3%

0%0%

38%

7%

Mobility

Visual

Hearing

Learning

Mental health

Serious long-term illness

Other

Page 326



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 19 

Figure 6.3: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 6.4: Mode share of those with a long-term health problem or disability in Greater London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Has a long term
health

problem/disability

Does not have a
long term health

problem/disability
Overall

Walk and cycle 22% 35% 35%

Underground, train, light rail,
bus, minibus or coach

63% 61% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

15% 4% 4%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Has a long term
health

problem/disability

Does not have a
long term health

problem/disability
Overall

Walk and cycle 34% 35% 35%

Underground, train, light rail,
bus, minibus or coach

27% 30% 30%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

38% 35% 35%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 327



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 20 

6.6 The mode share for people with specific impairments in City of London and Greater London is 

shown in Figure 6.5 and Figure 6.6 respectively. Public transport is the dominant mode of 

travel for people with visual and hearing impairments, serious long-term health conditions and 

‘other’ impairments; it makes up 100 per cent of the mode share for people with visual and 

hearing impairments, however this must be taken into the context of the small sample size 

that this data is derived from. The modal split for individuals with mobility impairments is 

more even, with only 38 per cent using public transport, 32 per cent using cars/vans, and 30 

per cent undertaking active travel. 

6.7 Compared to the City, mode share across impairment types for Greater London shows a much 

greater uptake of active travel and private vehicle use, along with lower public transport mode 

share. Groups with mobility (46 per cent) and learning (42 per cent) impairments are most 

likely to use private vehicles, while those with mental health impairments are most likely to 

undertake active travel (47 per cent). 

Figure 6.5: Mode share of those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Mobility Visual Hearing

Serious
long-
term

illness

Other Overall

Walk and cycle 30% 0% 0% 21% 0% 35%

Underground, train, light rail,
bus, minibus or coach

38% 100% 100% 79% 100% 61%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

32% 0% 0% 0% 0% 4%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 328



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 21 

Figure 6.6: Mode split by those with a specific impairment affecting daily travel in Greater London  

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

6.8 Focusing on disabled cyclists, the Wheels for Wellbeing annual survey (2019/20)5 showed that 

65 per cent of disabled cyclists use their cycle as a mobility aid, and 64 per cent found cycling 

easier than walking. Survey results also show that 31 per cent of disabled cyclists’ cycle for 

work or to commute to work and many found that cycling improves their mental and physical 

health. 

6.9 Inaccessible cycle infrastructure was found to be the biggest barrier to cycling, followed by the 

prohibitive cost of adaptive cycles and the absence of legal recognition of the fact that cycles 

are mobility aids on par with wheelchairs and mobility scooters. These results are presented 

on a national level, yet it should be noted that the data is based on a small sample and results 

should be taken as an indication only. 

 

5 https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-
2019-FINAL.pdf 

Mobili
ty

Visual
Hearin

g
Learni

ng

Menta
l

health

Seriou
s long-
term

illness

Other
Overal

l

Walk and cycle 30% 37% 44% 27% 47% 40% 32% 37%

Underground, train, light rail,
bus, minibus or coach

23% 39% 37% 31% 34% 30% 36% 33%

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

46% 24% 19% 42% 20% 29% 32% 30%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or passenger

Page 329

https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-2019-FINAL.pdf
https://wheelsforwellbeing.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/WFWB-Annual-Survey-Report-2019-FINAL.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 22 

Impact assessment  

Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Walking environment: The proposal to raise and resurface the carriageway and footway 

at the southern end of Old Jewry will provide people with additional comfort when 

making trips on foot, particularly at peak hours when pedestrian volumes are at their 

highest and footways at their busiest. This also removes the requirement to step up or 

down a kerb when crossing the street, and ensures the space is accessible for all.  

• This is likely to disproportionately benefit people with mobility impairments as increased 

space for walking is likely to create a more comfortable and pleasant environment. 

• Crossing the street: The retention of the modal filter at the southern end of Old Jewry will 

prevent motor vehicle traffic from using the southern end of Old Jewry. This will lock in 

the benefits of having a safer environment by reducing potential for conflict between 

pedestrians and motor traffic. Raising of the carriageway will remove the need to step 

down from the kerb. Quieter roads will benefit those whose physical impairments 

necessitate more time to cross the road. 

• Places to sit and rest: The addition of benches to the southern end of Old Jewry will 

provide an opportunity for pedestrians to rest during their journeys. This is likely to 

disproportionately benefit people with mobility impairments who may be more likely to 

need to stop and rest. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Walking environment: Visually impaired people may be less able to see the changes in 

the environment around them, including changes to footways and traffic. Although they 

are likely to benefit from decreased traffic flows, the implementation of the raised 

carriageway at the southern end of Old Jewry with a less clear distinction between 

footway and carriageway may increase road danger for visually impaired people. 

• Journeys by motor vehicle: Retaining the closure of Old Jewry to through traffic may 

mean a longer journey for some vehicles that previously used Old Jewry – this may include 

people who are reliant upon private cars for mobility.  

• Private cars can be particularly necessary for some disabled people, who are more likely 

to be living with impairments which prevent them using alternative modes of transport. 

Travelling can also be uncomfortable for some disabled people, for example, those who 

live with anxiety, or those who require quick access to toilets, therefore extended journey 

times could exacerbate this issue.  

• Road safety: Retaining the existing modal filters will require drivers to perform three-

point turns in the middle of Old Jewry so that they can exit via Gresham Street. This poses 

a risk of collisions with pedestrians or cyclists, particularly with LGVs or HGVs. This issue 

was raised by numerous people during the online consultation period. This could 

disproportionately negatively impact some disabled people who may not be able (or be 

less likely) to react or anticipate the danger when this occurs.  

Recommended mitigating actions  

• Delivery and servicing: To mitigate the potential negative impacts of delivery drivers 

making three-point turns, it is recommended that a Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) is 

developed for Old Jewry in order to manage vehicles serving homes and business located 

on or adjacent to the street itself.  

Page 330



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 23 

• A DSP can set out specific measures to mitigate for the negative impacts of large delivery 

and servicing vehicles using the street space. Such a plan could recommend the re-timing 

of most deliveries to off-peak times, when pedestrian and cyclist movements are less 

frequent along Old Jewry. Steps could be taken to re-mode delivery and servicing in the 

area, utilising more cargo bikes and pedestrian porterage instead of LGVs and HGVs. 

These measures could act to reduce the conflict potential between pedestrians, cyclists 

and delivery/servicing vehicles. 

• Street design and accessibility: Furthermore, it is recommended that creative use of 

street furniture is considered as part of the design. This could be used to provide better 

indicators of separation between the carriageway and footway, and act as a barrier to 

prevent drivers accidentally encroaching onto the footway when making three-point 

turns.  

• It is also recommended that the new space created for pedestrians as part of the raising 

and resurfacing work, is accessible to all users; for example, by ensuring that new spaces 

provide full step-free access. It should be ensured that all kerb lines are visible and clearly 

demarcated from the carriageway.  

Page 331



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 24 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  

7.1 As per the Equality Act 2010, pregnancy is the condition of being pregnant or expecting a 

baby, and maternity refers to the period after the birth, and is linked to maternity leave in the 

employment context. In the non-work context, protection against maternity discrimination is 

for 26 weeks after giving birth. 

Baseline equalities data 

5.3 In 2021, the General Fertility Rate (GFR) in City of London and Hackney6 was 54.1 births per 

1,000 women aged 15-44, while the GFR for London was 56 per 1,000 women. This suggests 

that slightly fewer women of this age group were likely to be pregnant or have given birth in 

2021 in the City of London and Hackney, compared to the Greater London average. 

5.4 Data shows that overall, the number of live births has been gradually falling in City of London 

and Hackney, and in London as a whole. During this time, the GFR for City of London and 

Hackney remained consistently below the Greater London average. In 2018, there was a slight 

increase in the fertility rate in the Borough, before continuing to fall, yet it remained below 

the Greater London rate (Figure 7.1). 

Figure 7.1: General Fertility Rate per year in City of London and Hackney compared to the Greater London 
average 

 

Source: ONS. Births and Fertility Rates, Borough 

 

6 City of London has been grouped with Hackney after 2004 in the dataset: Births and Fertility 

Rates, Borough - London Datastore 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

City of London and Hackney 60.9 59.8 58.1 58.8 54.8 53.6 54.1

Greater London 64.0 63.7 62.9 60.1 59.0 56.0 56.0

48

50

52

54

56

58

60

62

64

66

G
e

n
e

ra
l F

e
rt

ili
ty

 R
at

e

Year

7 Pregnancy and maternity  

Page 332

https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/births-and-fertility-rates-borough
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/births-and-fertility-rates-borough


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 25 

Impact assessment  

Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Changes to the environment: The addition of benches to the southern end of Old Jewry 

will provide an opportunity for pedestrians to rest during their journeys. This will provide 

people with additional comfort when making their trips on foot, particularly at peak hours 

when pedestrian volumes are at their highest and footways at their busiest. This will 

create a more comfortable environment, particularly for pregnant people and mothers 

with new-born children who may have more need to stop and rest. New surfacing and the 

raising of the carriageway to footway level will create new smooth surfaces on which to 

push a pram, improving overall journey experience. 

• Crossing the street: The removal of motor vehicle traffic from the southern end of Old 

Jewry would create a safer environment by reducing potential for conflict between 

pedestrians and motor traffic. Raising the carriageway to the existing footway level will 

remove the need to step down from the kerb. This will benefit pedestrians travelling with 

prams and/or younger children who may require additional time to navigate kerbs when 

crossing the street, and who may experience distress attempting to cross busy roads with 

children safely. 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Journeys by motor vehicle: Pregnant people may find walking and cycling difficult either 

due to the physical exertion when pregnant or due to the practicalities of transporting 

young children by foot or bicycle. These groups may therefore have a heightened need for 

to-door transport such as private cars or taxis. Retaining the motor vehicle traffic closure 

at the southern end of Old Jewry will maintain the potential negative impacts on journey 

times and direct access that may have disproportionately negative effects upon pregnant 

people.  

Recommended mitigating actions  

• Street design and accessibility: It is recommended that the new space created for 

pedestrians as part of the raising and resurfacing work is accessible to all users; for 

example, by ensuring that new spaces provide full step-free access. It should be ensured 

that all kerb lines are visible and clearly demarcated from the carriageway.  

Page 333



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 26 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  

1. Race includes:  

a.  colour; 

b.  nationality; 

c.  ethnic or national origins.  

2. In relation to the protected characteristic of race -   

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a 

reference to a person of a particular racial group; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 

persons of the same racial group.  

Baseline equalities data 

6.5 Figure 8.1 presents the population of the study area and City of London by ethnicity. Based on 

Census 2021 data, 69 per cent of the borough’s population is ‘White’, making it the most 

common ethnicity. This is much higher than the Greater London average share of 54 per cent. 

The second most common ethnicity is ‘Asian’ making up 17 per cent and 20 per cent of the 

residential population in the borough and study area respectively. 

6.6 14 per cent of residents in Greater London are ‘Black’, compared to only 1 per cent of 

residents in the study area. In the study area, 7 per cent identify as ‘Mixed’, which is a greater 

share compared to in the borough, Greater London and at a national level. 

8 Race  

Page 334



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 27 

Figure 8.1: Study area and City of London ethnicity compared to London and national averages 

 

Source: Census 2021 

6.7 Based on usual travel modes from the LTDS data presented in Figure 8.2, in City of London, 

‘Mixed or multiple ethnic groups’ are most likely to walk and cycle (52 per cent) and least likely 

to use public transport (48 per cent). Across ethnic groups, car usage is either a very small 

proportion, at most 4 per cent, or not a part of the mode share. 

6.8 Overall, in City of London, levels of car use are lower across all ethnicities compared to the 

London average (Figure 8.3), while levels of public transport use are higher. While ‘Asian or 

Asian British’ residents are most likely to use the car in London, this is not the case for City of 

London, where only 2 per cent say they use the car. ‘Black or Black British’ residents are most 

likely (41 per cent) to use public transport in London, and they are second most likely to (82 

per cent) in City of London. 

Study Area
City of
London

Greater
London

England and
Wales

Other 5% 6% 6% 2%

Black 1% 3% 14% 4%

Asian 20% 17% 21% 9%

Mixed 7% 5% 6% 3%

White 68% 69% 54% 82%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Other

Black

Asian

Mixed

White

Page 335



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 28 

Figure 8.2: Mode share by ethnicity in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 8.3: Mode share by ethnicity in London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Impact assessment  

Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Crossing the street: The retention of the modal filter at the southern end of Old Jewry will 

prevent motor vehicle traffic from using the southern end of Old Jewry. This will lock in 

4% 2% 3% 4% 4%

58%

90%

48%

66%
82%

64% 61%

37%

10%

52%

32%
15%

33% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

35% 37% 33% 39%
31% 29% 35%

28% 30% 32%
28% 41%

33%
30%

37% 33% 35% 32% 29%
38% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

Page 336



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 29 

the benefits of having a safer environment by minimising the possibility of conflict 

between pedestrians and motor traffic. This will create a safer environment and is likely to 

disproportionately benefit ‘Mixed or multiple ethnic groups’ who are currently more likely 

to walk or cycle (52 per cent) more than other ethnic groups in the City of London. 

• Cycling: The tightening of the turn to Old Jewry from Poultry/Cheapside will require 

cyclists to slow down and make a coordinated entrance onto Old Jewry. This will help to 

reduce the chance of collisions between pedestrians and cyclists. This may 

disproportionately benefit ‘Mixed or multiple ethnic groups’ who are more likely to walk 

or cycle compared to other ethnic groups (52 per cent). 

Page 337



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 30 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  

1. Religion means any religion and a reference to religion includes a reference to a lack of religion. 

2. Belief means any religious or philosophical belief and a reference to belief includes a reference 

to a lack of belief. 

3. In relation to the protected characteristic of religion or belief: 

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a 

reference to a person of a particular religion or belief; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to 

persons who are of the same religion or belief. 

Baseline equalities data 

9.1 Census 2021 data on religion in the study area, City of London, and Greater London is 

presented in Figure 9.1. Nearly half (43 per cent) of the population in the study area and in the 

City of London (44 per cent) selected ‘no religion’, compared to a substantially smaller 

proportion (27 per cent) in Greater London.  

9.2 Over a third of residents (34 per cent) in the study area identified as Christian, compared to 41 

per cent in Greater London. 3 per cent of residents in the study area identified as Muslim, 

compared to slightly more (6 per cent) in City of London. 4 per cent of the population in the 

study area identified as Hindu, with a slightly smaller proportion (2 per cent) in the City of 

London. 

9 Religion or belief 

Page 338



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 31 

Figure 9.1: Religion composition in the study area, City of London, and Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2021 

Impact assessment  

Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Travel to places of worship: Improving conditions for walking and cycling is likely to 

positively benefit those who follow a religion and regularly attend places of worship. 

Destinations such as this typically have local catchments, making them more likely to be 

within walking and cycling distance of regular attendees.  

• There are four churches within close proximity of Old Jewry; St Lawrence Jewry church is 

located to the northwest on Gresham Street, St. Mary-le-Bow is located to the southwest 

on Cheapside, St Margaret’s Church is located to the northeast on Lothbury, and St 

Stephen’s Walbrook is to the southeast on Walbrook. All four locations are within a five-

minute walk of Old Jewry. It is therefore likely that the scheme will disproportionately 

benefit people of Christian faith, especially as Christianity is the largest religious group in 

the City of London (35 per cent). 

  

Study Area City of London Greater London

Not answered 9% 9% 7%

Other religion 1% 1% 1%

Sikh 0% 0% 2%

Muslim 3% 6% 15%

Jewish 2% 2% 2%

Hindu 4% 2% 5%

Buddhist 2% 1% 1%

Christian 34% 35% 41%

No religion 43% 44% 27%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

No religion Christian Buddhist

Hindu Jewish Muslim

Sikh Other religion Not answered

Page 339



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 32 

Potential disproportionately negative impacts 

• Restricting car usage: The restrictions for private vehicle traffic, may increase journey 

times for some worshippers who drive to their place of worship. For those unable to take 

an alternative method of transport, that may cause a disproportionately negative impact. 

Recommended mitigating actions  

• Engagement with places of worship: There are several places of worship within the King 

Street area, including the St Lawrence Jewry Church at the northern junction with 

Gresham Street. It is recommended that these places of worship are engaged with to 

establish whether there have been any disproportionate impacts caused by the ETO 

scheme, and to review the specific needs of their religious community. 

Page 340



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 33 

Definition according to the Equality Act 2010  

1. In relation to the protected characteristic of sex: 

a. a reference to a person who has a particular protected characteristic is a reference 

to a man or to a woman; 

b. a reference to persons who share a protected characteristic is a reference to persons 

of the same sex. 

Baseline equalities data 

10.1 Figure 10.1 presents Census 2021 data for population by sex. In the study area, a notably 

greater proportion of residents identified as male, 61 per cent, than as female, 39 per cent. In 

the City of London there are also more males than females, with a lesser difference in 

proportions. There is a more even split in Greater London, with a slightly higher proportion of 

females (51 per cent) than males (49 per cent). 

Figure 10.1: Population breakdown by sex in the study area, City of London, and Greater London 

 

Source: Census 2021 

10.2 Figure 10.2 presents the mode share by sex in the City of London based on LTDS data. Males 

are more likely to use a car (5 per cent) than females (2 per cent), however males are less 

Study Area City of London Greater London

Male 61% 55% 49%

Female 39% 45% 51%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male

Female

10 Sex 

Page 341



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 34 

likely to use public transport (60 per cent) than females (63 per cent). The likelihood of using 

active travel modes, such as walking or cycling are even for both sexes. 

10.3 Compared to the City of London, overall, both males and females are more likely to use a car 

and less likely to use public transport in London (Figure 10.3). The likelihood of walking and 

cycling is also even for both sexes in London, and in very similar proportions to the City of 

London. 

Figure 10.2: Mode share by sex in City of London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

Figure 10.3: Mode share by sex in London 

 

Source: LTDS average (2017/18, 2018/19, 2019/20) 

5% 2% 4%

60% 63% 61%

35% 35% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male Female Overall

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

36% 34% 35%

29% 30% 30%

35% 36% 35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male Female Overall

All other methods

Walk and cycle

Underground, train, light
rail, bus, minibus or coach

Private vehicle driver or
passenger

Page 342



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 35 

10.4 Across Greater London, research undertaken by TfL7 shows that females are more likely to use 

buses than males (62 per cent compared to 56 per cent) but are less likely to use other types 

of transport including the Tube (38 per cent of females compared to 43 per cent of males). 

10.5 Female travel needs can be more complex than males due to a range of factors; the increased 

likelihood of travelling with a buggy and/or shopping affects the travel choices females make, 

females are also more likely to be carers of children8, further affecting the transport choices 

they make. 

10.6 Female Londoners make more trips per weekday than male Londoners (2.5 trips compared to 

2.3 trips)7. This pattern, however, is reversed amongst older adults, with older female 

Londoners making fewer weekday trips than older male Londoners (2.0 compared to 2.2).  

10.7 Females aged 17 or over who are living in London are less likely than males to have a full 

driving licence (58 per cent compared to 72 per cent) or have access to a car (63 per cent 

compared to 66 per cent). These factors are likely to be related to the frequency of car use as 

a driver. Almost four in five (79 per cent) females in London report being able to ride a bike, 

compared to 91 per cent of males. 

Impact assessment  

Potential disproportionately positive impacts 

• Changes to the environment: Increasing access to favourable walking conditions through 

resurfacing, raising the carriageway and retaining restrictions for motor vehicles at the 

southern end of Old Jewry, could potentially have disproportionate benefits to females, 

due to higher numbers of trips that they make daily compares to males.  

• Likewise, females maybe benefit disproportionately from a safer environment due them 

more frequently taking on the role of taking children to and from educational and 

recreational facilities. The scheme would create an environment that is more pleasant to 

walk in and would make it easier to cross the road. 

 

7 https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-understanding-our-diverse-communities-2019.pdf  

8 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/476635/travel-to-school.pdf  

Page 343

https://content.tfl.gov.uk/travel-in-london-understanding-our-diverse-communities-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476635/travel-to-school.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/476635/travel-to-school.pdf


Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 January 2023 | 36 

11.1 A summary of the recommended mitigating actions throughout this EqIA is presented below.  

11.2 It is recommended that the CoL identifies an individual/individuals within the project team to 

take ownership of these recommendations, and subsequently explores the feasibility of their 

implementation.  

11.3 To ensure transparency of the design and decision-making process, it is recommended that an 

update on the status of each recommended mitigating action is included within a future 

addendum to this EqIA.  

Recommended mitigating actions  

• Delivery and servicing: To mitigate the potential negative impacts of delivery drivers 

making three-point turns, it is recommended that a Delivery and Servicing Plan (DSP) is 

developed for Old Jewry in order to manage vehicles serving homes and business located 

on or adjacent to the street itself.  

• Street design and accessibility: It is recommended that creative use of street furniture is 

considered as part of the design. This could be used to provide better indicators of 

separation between the carriageway and footway, acting as a barrier for drivers 

encroaching onto the footway when making three-point turns.  

• It is also recommended that the new space created for pedestrians as part of the raising 

and resurfacing work is accessible to all users; for example, by ensuring that new spaces 

provide full step-free access. It should be ensured that all kerb lines are visible and clearly 

demarcated from the carriageway.  

• Engagement with places of worship: There are several places of worship within the King 

Street area, including the St Lawrence Jewry Church at the northern junction with 

Gresham Street. It is recommended that these places of worship are engaged with to 

establish whether there have been any disproportionate impacts caused by the ETO 

scheme, and to review the specific needs of their religious community

11 Summary of recommended 
mitigating actions  

Page 344



Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme: Old Jewry – Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) | Draft Report 

 Page 345



 

  

Control Information 

Prepared by  Prepared for 

Steer 
14-21 Rushworth Street 
London SE1 0RB 
+44 20 7910 5000 
www.steergroup.com 

 City of London Corporation 
Guildhall 
London EC2P 2EJ 

 

Steer project/proposal number  Client contract/project number 

24398701    

 

Author/originator  Reviewer/approver 

JDY  SDH 

 

Other contributors  Distribution 

ADY  Client: Kristian Turner  Steer:  

 

Version control/issue number  Date 

1.0 Draft for comment  18th January 2023  

 

Page 346



 

  steergroup.com  

 

 

Page 347



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 348



King Street northern section (existing)

Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

v 0.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Controlled crossing (any road width) 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (partial width) 3 3 3 3 3 1 2 3 3 3 3 4
Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 1200 mm width 3 2 3 3 1 4 4 3 3 3 4 3
Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12 incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 TfL to confirm whether cone can be installed on left + right sides

Surface Material
Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 " 2 3 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 2 1 Security bollards. Multiple gaps across footway which provide good capacity. Provide feedback to developer of tool

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench between 150 m and 400 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Design Benches wheelchair user can transfer onto 3 3 3 3 3 " 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 2 2
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb < 100 mm 1 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type No shelter + seat 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 3 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets Within 500 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 349



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 350



King Street southern section (existing)

Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

v 0.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Controlled crossing (any road width) 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (full width of flush area) 3 3 4 3 1 3 3 4 3 3 4 3
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 1200 mm width 3 2 3 3 1 4 4 3 3 3 4 3
Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12 incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 TfL to confirm whether cone can be installed on left + right sides

Surface Material
Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 " 2 3 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 2 1 Security bollards. Multiple gaps across footway which provide good capacity. Provide feedback to developer of tool

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench between 150 m and 400 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Design Benches wheelchair user can transfer onto 3 3 3 3 3 " 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 2 2
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type No shelter + seat 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 3 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets Within 500 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 351



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 352



King Street northern section (proposed)

Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

v 0.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Controlled crossing (any road width) 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (partial width) 3 3 3 3 3 1 2 3 3 3 3 4
Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12 incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 TfL to confirm whether cone can be installed on left + right sides

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 " 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 Security bollards. Multiple gaps across footway which provide good capacity. Provide feedback to developer of tool

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench between 150 m and 400 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Design Benches wheelchair user can transfer onto 3 3 3 3 3 " 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline < 1/50 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type No shelter + seat 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 3 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets Within 500 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 353



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 354



King Street southern section (proposed)

Step 1
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

v 0.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Controlled crossing (any road width) 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (full width of flush area) 3 3 4 3 1 3 3 4 3 3 4 3
Tactie Paving Back Edge Back edge offset from kerb edge 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tacile without significant contrast with surounding paving 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem within 0.5 m of building line 3 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth > 1.2 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop < 1/12 incline 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 4
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) No audible 3 3 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 1
Count Down No count down 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 2
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right side only 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 TfL to confirm whether cone can be installed on left + right sides

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 " 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Higher tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4 3 4
Lines Yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating upstand 3 to 50 mm 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 2 3 1

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 Security bollards. Multiple gaps across footway which provide good capacity. Provide feedback to developer of tool

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench between 150 m and 400 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Design Benches wheelchair user can transfer onto 3 3 3 3 3 " 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Incline (in direction of travel) Incline 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover dropped 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type No shelter + seat 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 3 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4
Changing Places Toilets Within 500 m 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4

Step 2 Step 3
Review the results for each needs 
segment below.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 355



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 356



Appendix 7 King William Street - Monument to Nicholas Lane
 (Existing)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment below.

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing > 8m road width 3 2 3 1 2 0 2 2 3 1 2 1
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4
Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tactile has significant contrast with surrounding paving 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length Tactile stem >  0.5 m from building line 3 3 3 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 4 3
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type Island without tactile 4 4 4 3 4 2 2 4 3 4 3 1
Island Depth Island depth < 1.2 m 2 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop > 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% incline 1 1 2 1 3 3 2 3 1 3 2 No drop kerb on eastern side because of basements
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) Far side signal 3 4 2 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 3
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right + left side 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing  kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 0 0 0 2 2 2 3 1 2 2 3 0 No drop kerb on eastern side because of basements
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3 Outside Royal Exchange
Bench Design Benches without backrests or arms 3 3 2 2 1 3 3 2 2 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience Bad sensory experience (adjacent busy road, cold surface) 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 1 3

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover dropped 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 When side roads are considered
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off 10 m to 100 m away 3 3 2 3 3 3 1 3 4 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 Cannon St station
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the 
City of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 357



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 358



Appendix 7 King William Street - Monument to Nicholas Lane (Proposed)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment below.

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Controlled crossing (any road width) 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 Crossing would not be marked as a formal crossing
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4
Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tactile has significant contrast with surrounding paving 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 N/A
Island Type Island without tactile 4 4 4 3 4 2 2 4 3 4 3 1
Island Depth Island depth < 1.2 m 2 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% to 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 (see above)
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right + left side 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 3 4 0 0 1 2 4 2 1 Tactile can't be used as its not a formal crossing
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3 Outside Royal Exchange
Bench Design Benches without backrests or arms 3 3 2 2 1 3 3 2 2 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience Bad sensory experience (adjacent busy road, cold surface) 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 1 3

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 3 2 When side roads are considered
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking Within 100 m 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off 10 m to 100 m away 3 3 2 3 3 3 1 3 4 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 Cannon St station
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the 
City of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants 
in the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 359



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 360



Appendix 7 King William Street - Nicholas Lane to Bank junction and side road crossings (Existing)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment below.

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing 6 m to 8 m road width 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 2 3 2 Crossing existing side roads
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4
Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0 Some have tactile, some don't
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tactile has significant contrast with surrounding paving 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth < 1.2 m 2 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3

Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% to 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
A mixture of gradients present. None are too steep 
though.

Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right + left side 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 3 to 50 mm 0 2 2 3 2 1 2 2 3 3 3 2
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3 Outside Royal Exchange
Bench Design Benches without backrests or arms 3 3 2 2 1 3 3 2 2 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience Bad sensory experience (adjacent busy road, cold surface) 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 1 3

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 Cannon St station
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the 
City of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants in 
the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 361



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 362



Appendix 7 King William Street - Nicholas Lane to Bank junction and side road crossings (Proposed)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment below.

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 Crossing proposed side roads
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4
Edge Marking 800 mm deep tactile paving edge marking (full width of flush area) 3 3 4 3 1 3 3 4 3 3 4 3
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour as per guidance (red at contr. buff at uncontr.) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tactile has significant contrast with surrounding paving 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth < 1.2 m 2 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% to 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop with tactile paving 3 2 3 4 1 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right + left side 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm + 800 tactile paving 4 3 4 4 2 3 4 3 3 4 3 3
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3 Outside Royal Exchange
Bench Design Benches without backrests or arms 3 3 2 2 1 3 3 2 2 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience Bad sensory experience (adjacent busy road, cold surface) 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 1 3

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 Cannon St station
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the 
City of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants in 
the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 363



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 364



Appendix 7 King William Street - Nicholas Lane to Bank junction and crossing KWS (Existing
)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment below.

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing > 8m road width 3 2 3 1 2 0 2 2 3 1 2 1 Crossing over KWS
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4
Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tactile has significant contrast with surrounding paving 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth < 1.2 m 2 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% to 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right + left side 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type York Stone with gaps/bumps 2 2 2 2 1 2 2 2 1 2 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 0 0 0 2 3 2 3 1 2 2 3 0 Crossing over KWS
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3 Outside Royal Exchange
Bench Design Benches without backrests or arms 3 3 2 2 1 3 3 2 2 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience Bad sensory experience (adjacent busy road, cold surface) 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 1 3

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover dropped 3 3 3 3 1 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 side roads
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 Cannon St station
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the 
City of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants in 
the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 365



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 366



Appendix 7 King William Street - Nicholas Lane to Bank junction and crossing KWS (Proposed)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment below.

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing 6 m to 8 m road width 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 3 2 3 2 Crossing over KWS
Crosses Over Carriageway (motor vehicles and cycles together) 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4
Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tactile has significant contrast with surrounding paving 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3
Island Type No island 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3
Island Depth Island depth < 1.2 m 2 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% to 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right + left side 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth York Stone 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines yellow/red/white lines at road edge 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 4 4 4

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 0 0 0 2 3 2 3 1 2 2 3 0 Crossing over KWS
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width 2 m to 5 m 4 4 4 4 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 4
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width > 1.5 m 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture > 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench within 150 m 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3 4 4 3 Outside Royal Exchange
Bench Design Benches without backrests or arms 3 3 2 2 1 3 3 2 2 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience Bad sensory experience (adjacent busy road, cold surface) 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 1 3

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover Crossover level 3 2 3 2 4 2 1 2 4 3 3 2 side roads
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off within 10 m 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location Within 100 m 3 4 4 4 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 Cannon St station
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the 
City of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants in 
the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 367



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 368



Old Jewry (Proposed)

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3
Set each of the drop downs below to best describe the street 
characteristics for the section being analysed

Review the results for each needs segment below.

v 1.2

EWC MWC MS WA WI LC GD RS HI ANI AT DI Comments

Crossing Point
Crossing Type Uncontrolled crossing < 6 m road width 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 Crossing would not be marked as a formal crossing
Crosses Over Cycle track only 2 2 4 2 3 1 3 2 1 2 2 2
Edge Marking No tactile edge marking 3 3 2 3 4 0 1 1 3 4 2 0
Tactie Paving Back Edge Straight back edge 2 3 3 3 1 4 3 3 2 2 4 4
Tactie Paving Colour Tactile colour not as per guidance 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Tonal Contrast Tactile has significant contrast with surrounding paving 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Tactile Paving Stem Length No tactile stem #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A
Tactile Paving Stem Width Tactile stem 800 mm width 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 N/A
Island Type Island without tactile 4 4 4 3 4 2 2 4 3 4 3 1
Island Depth Island depth < 1.2 m 2 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Kerb Drop Slope Kerb drop 1/6, 9.5 deg, 17% to 1/12, 4.7deg, 8% incline 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 3 3
Kerb Drop Tactile Kerb drop without tactile paving 3 4 3 2 3 2 2 3 3 4 3 1
Signal (red/green man) No Signal (zebra) 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 (see above)
Audible (beeping) Audible 3 3 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Count Down Count down 4 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4
Tactile Rotating Cone Rotating cone right + left side 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 3 3 3 3

Surface Material
Surface Type Smooth 'setts' 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3
Pattern Uniform paving colour 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3
Contrast with Road Lower tonal contrast between paving and road 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3
Lines No lines at road edge 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 2

Kerb
Kerb Type (crossing over) Crossing upstand 0 mm to 3 mm (undelineated) 3 4 3 3 4 0 0 1 2 4 2 1
Kerb Type (moving alongside) Deliniating kerb 50 mm to 100 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 3

Footway Width
Width Footway width < 1.5 m 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1
Unobstructed Width Min unobstructed width < 1.5 m 1 1 1 1 2 2 0 1 1 1 1 1

Street Furniture
Position Street furniture < 0.5 m from kerb 3 3 3 4 4 3 2 3 4 4 3 3
Cafe Tables No cafe tables 4 4 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 3 4
Temporary Items No temporary obstructions 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Street Furniture Height Street furniture < 0.9 m height 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3
Contrast High tonal contrast with paving 3 3 4 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 3
Bench Spacing Bench between 150 m and 400 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bench Design Benches without backrests or arms 3 3 2 2 1 3 3 2 2 3 3 3
Bench Seat Height Benches seat height 45 to 50 cm 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3
Bench Sensory Experience No sensory experience 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Slopes
Gradient (in direction of travel) Gradient 1/20 to 1/50 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Camber (across footway) Camber < 1/50 3 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 3 4

Vehicle Access
Vehicle Crossover No crossover 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Blue Badge Parking Blue badge parking 100 m to 500 m away 3 3 3 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 2 1
Taxi Drop Off Location Taxi drop off 10 m to 100 m away 3 3 2 3 3 3 1 3 4 3 3 3
Taxi Drop Off Kerb Taxi drop off kerb 100 mm to 150 mm 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2
Dedicated Taxi Drop Off Somewhere a taxi can stop safely 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Location 100 m to 250 m away 3 3 2 3 2 3 3 3 2 3 3 3
Bus Stop Kerb Height < 125 mm 2 2 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Bus Stop Type Flag only 3 3 2 3 1 3 3 3 1 3 2 2

Toilets
Accessible Toilets Further than 500 m away 2 2 2 1 2 3 2 3 3 1 3 2
Changing Places Toilets More than 500 m away 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 1

Published September 2022
The City of London Street Accessibility Tool (CoLSAT) was 
developed by Ross Atkin Associates and Urban Movement for the 
City of London Corporation.

Hover the cursor over the box next to each score to read quotes explaining how participants in 
the segment are affected by the feature

P
age 369



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 370



St
 O

lav
e's

67 to 69

At
las

 H
ou

se

36 to 37

30

14

20

4

23

17

Merc
ers

 H
all

Ba
nk

34

28

17

16

15

9

Ho
us

e

24

25

2

35
Ba

nk

13

20

9a

1

18

11

4b

1

9

21

4

19

46

5

44

1 to 7

IRONMONGER LANE

LAWRENCE LANE

TR
UMP 

ST
REE

T

GRESHAM S
TR

EET

FREDERIC
K'S PLA

CE

CHEAPSID
E

KING STREET

St O
lav

e's
 C

ou
rt

Prud
en

t P
as

sa
ge

LO
AD

IN
G O

NLY

TP
LB

1

3.
13

m

1.
73

m

1.
72

m

3.
12

m

2.
16

m

3.
21

m

2.
73

m

3.
35

m

2.
42

m

9.
44

m

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

Department of The Built Enviornment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2006. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2008.

Sheet:

TITLE:

Pedestrian Priority Scheme

King Street
General Arrangement

SHEET 1 of 1

Nov 2022

SR

BM

1:200@A1 100/16800457/KS/GA

N

BT Utility diversion work required.

Notes:

1. No information to be scaled from this drawing.

2. Works shall comply with the current City of
London Specification for Highway works.

3. All road markings refer to the "Traffic Signs
Regulations and General Directions 2016". Refer to
drawing number 1200/16800457/RM

4. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant drawings

5. The Contractor will be held responsible for any
damage caused to private highways and privately
owned street furniture.

KEY

Proposed raised table at the junction
of Trump Street

'Ahead Only' with 'Except For
Cycles' box signage required.

Relocated traffic signal
pole with 'No Entry,
Except Cycles' box
signage required.

Existing traffic signal aspects to
be changed for cycle aspects.

Proposed 63mm thick (300mm x 200mm)
Scoutmoor Yorkstone setts

Proposed HRA Carriageway surfacing

300 x 200 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Proposed sign / sign & post

Existing TfL Traffic Signal Pole

150 x 300 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Pedestrian crossing point and associated
signals moved further north to improve
desire lines and signal timings.

Relocated traffic signal pole with existing traffic signal aspects to be changed
for cycle aspects (details on requirements with regards to the additional
signal pole are to be set by TfL in collaboration with the City of London).

Proposed 63mm thick (400mm x 400mm)
Scoutmoor Tactile Paving

Relocated TfL Traffic Signal Pole

Proposed 63mm thick (600mm x varied)
Scoutmoor Yorkstone paving

Vodafone utility diversion work required.

Sky utility diversion work required.

EXA / Interoute utility diversion work required.

Relocated traffic
signal pole.

Pedestrian crossing to be slightly rotated to
accommodate new tactile paving arrangement
to the south of Gresham Street.

Relocated traffic
signal pole.

Possible traffic signal pole relocation
(to be confirmed with TfL Signals).

Proposed 25mm thick mastic surfacing
(Footway specification)

Proposed 450 x 450mm cycle friendly gully

Additional traffic signal pole with cycle aspects (details on requirements
with regards to the existing signal pole relocation further south are to

be set by TfL in collaboration with the City of London).

P
age 371

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
C



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 372



8

37

28

6 
to

 8

9

3

Sh
el

te
r

St Clements House

St Clement's

House

Dresden

37
 to

 41

42

117

17

The Walbrook Building

35

Five Arrows

28

29

86

80

121

19

13

15

109

House

33

House

18

108

110

14

116 to 126

7

81

131

123

to

Church

House

18

Religare House

29

Phoenix

27

40

100

1

PH

Abchurch

St Mary

39

90

38

119

2

33 to 36

30

88

102

48

33

68

69

10

75

5

15

133

129

5

127

115113

20

to

23

13

105

103

Sherbourne

21

70 to 72

to

24

Church Garden

Saint Swithun's

LOMBARD COURT

LOMBARD STREET

BU
SH

 L
AN

E

SCOTT'S YARD

CANNON STREET

ST
 S

W
IT

HI
N'

S 
LA

NE

OXFORD COURT

SA
LT

ER
S'

 H
AL

L

NI
CH

O
LA

S 
LA

NE

KING W
ILLIAM

 STREET

AB
CH

UR
CH

 L
AN

E

H
IL

L

N
IC

H
O

LA
S 

LA
N

E

G
RA

CE
CH

UR
CH

 S
TR

EE
T

CL
EM

EN
T'

S 
LA

NE

SH
ER

BO
RN

E 
LA

NE

COURT

St Clement's Ct

Yard

Lombard Court

Pl
ou

gh
 C

ou
rt

Abchurch

Court

Cleary

Nicholas Passage

3

67

23

St Michaels

House

3

60

2

St Michaels

5

7

4

1

PH

Birchin

PH

1 t
o 6

Church of St Stephen

8 to 10

37a

M
an

si
on

 H
ou

se

Capital House

77

of St Mary

3

1

71

87

Jamaica

New Court

PH

Rectory

2

85

10 to 15

Guild Church

Court

Woolnoth

768 to 70

25

38.5

Th
e 

Ch
ur

ch
 o

f
St

 E
dm

un
d 

th
e 

Ki
ng

20

24

18

6

5

73

22

2

1

4

21

1

1

82

Cornhill

St Michael

3

Walbrook

Wine

House

BI
R

C
H

IN
 L

AN
E

Castle Court

G
EO

RG
E 

YA
RD

Bengal Court

C
ow

pe
r's

 C
ou

rt Ba
ll

MANSION HOUSE PLACE

LOMBARD STREET

AB
CH

UR
CH

 L
AN

E

KING W
ILLIAM

 STREET

Change Alley

C
ou

rt

Bond Court

St Stephen's Row

Po
pe

's 
H

ea
d 

Al
le

y

Po
st

 O
ffi

ce
 C

ou
rt

St
 M

ic
ha

el
's

 A
lle

y

LO
OK

 R
IG

HT

LOOK RIGHT

BUS
STOP

BUS
STOP

LOADING ONLY

LO
AD

IN
G

 O
NL

Y

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

Department of The Built Enviornment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2006. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2008.

Sheet:

TITLE:

Pedestrian Priority Scheme

King William Street
General Arrangement Plan

Phasing Overview

SHEET 1 of 4

Dec 2022

SR

BM

1:200@A1 100/16800457/KW/GA

N
Notes:

1. No information to be scaled from this drawing.

Sections of 'All Change At Bank' scheme will need to be taken up and
re-laid to accommodate new scheme as decision was made not to

accommodate changes needed as part of the King William Street scheme.

Phase 1

Phase 2

Phase 3

Sections of the Bank Station S278 scheme will need to be taken up and
re-laid to accommodate new scheme as decision was made not to

accommodate changes needed as part of the King William Street scheme.

P
age 373

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
h=0.87m

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
h=0.98m

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
LOOK LEFT

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
h=1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
LOOK RIGHT



1 t
o 6

8 to 10

Capital House

77

of St Mary

1
71

87

1

New Court

85

10 to 15

Guild Church

14

Woolnoth

68 to 70

73

15 to 22

82

Bank (Station)

MANSION HOUSE PLACE

LOMBARD STREET

AB
CH

UR
CH

 L
AN

E

KING W
ILLIAM

 STREET

Po
pe

's 
H

ea
d 

Al
le

y

Po
st

 O
ffi

ce
 C

ou
rt

LO
ADING

 O
NLY

3.25m
1.50m

6.50m

10.00m

2.30m

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

Department of The Built Enviornment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2006. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2008.

Sheet:

TITLE:

Pedestrian Priority Scheme

King William Street
General Arrangement Plan

Phases 1 to 3

SHEET 2 of 4

Dec 2022

SR

BM

1:200@A1 100/16800457/KW/GA

N
Notes:

1. No information to be scaled from this drawing.

2. Works shall comply with the current City of
London Specification for Highway works.

3. All road markings refer to the "Traffic Signs
Regulations and General Directions 2016". Refer to
drawing number 1200/16800457/KW/RM

4. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant drawings

5. The Contractor will be held responsible for any
damage caused to private highways and privately
owned street furniture.

KEY

Proposed 63mm thick (600mm x varied)
Scoutmoor Yorkstone paving

Proposed HRA carriageway surfacing

Proposed 450 x 450mm cycle friendly gully

300 x 200 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Proposed sign / sign & post

Relocated / New TfL traffic signal pole

150 x 300 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Proposed 63mm thick (400mm x 400mm)
Scoutmoor tactile paving

Proposed 25mm thick mastic surfacing
(Footway specification)

Existing kerb line

Existing kerb line

Existing pedestrian refuge, CCTV and
illuminated bollards to be removed.  CCTV
be relocated to footway in agreed location.

Existing pedestrian refuge and
illuminated bollards to be removed.

Proposed 'Timed'
Loading Bay

Proposed 150mm thick (150 x 300mm) 2 Colour
Mix Granite Setts with Mid-Grey boarder

Proposed street tree

Sections of 'All Change At Bank' scheme will need to be taken up and
re-laid to accommodate new scheme as decision was made not to

accommodate changes needed as part of the King William Street scheme.

For Continuation See Sheet 2

P
age 374



9

13

House

14

7

81

27

Abchurch

St Mary

10

75

5

15

Sherbourne

NI
CH

O
LA

S 
LA

NE

KING W
ILLIAM

 STREET

AB
CH

UR
CH

 L
AN

E

SH
ER

BO
RN

E 
LA

NE

Yard

Abchurch

Nicholas Passage

Capital House

1

85

21

AB
CH

UR
CH

 L
AN

E

KING W
ILLIAM

 STREET

BUS
STOP

6.50m

N

Existing signage to be relocated from NAL block
and erected on new post rooted into the ground

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

Department of The Built Enviornment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2006. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2008.

Sheet:

TITLE:

Pedestrian Priority Scheme

King William Street
General Arrangement Plan

Phases 1 to 3

SHEET 3 of 4

Dec 2022

SR

BM

1:200@A1 100/16800457/KW/GA

Proposed Loading Bay

Proposed Loading Bay could be converted to an
inset bay, the same style as those used in Aldgate.

Existing kerb line

Existing kerb line

Notes:

1. No information to be scaled from this drawing.

2. Works shall comply with the current City of
London Specification for Highway works.

3. All road markings refer to the "Traffic Signs
Regulations and General Directions 2016". Refer to
drawing number 1200/16800457/KW/RM

4. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant drawings

5. The Contractor will be held responsible for any
damage caused to private highways and privately
owned street furniture.

KEY

Proposed 63mm thick (600mm x varied)
Scoutmoor Yorkstone paving

Proposed HRA carriageway surfacing

Proposed 450 x 450mm cycle friendly gully

300 x 200 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Proposed sign / sign & post

Relocated / New TfL traffic signal pole

150 x 300 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Proposed 63mm thick (400mm x 400mm)
Scoutmoor tactile paving

Proposed 25mm thick mastic surfacing
(Footway specification)

Proposed 150mm thick (150 x 300mm) 2 Colour
Mix Granite Setts with Mid-Grey boarder

Proposed street tree

For Continuation See Sheet 1

For Continuation See Sheet 3

P
age 375

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
h=0.87m

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
h=0.98m



8

28

6 
to

 8

9

3

St Clements House

St Clement's

House

Dresden

42

House

18

108

110

14

116 to 126

7

81

Church

29

Phoenix

27

33 to 36

68

69

10

75

15

70 to 72

LOMBARD COURT

KING W
ILLIAM

 STREET

AB
CH

UR
CH

 L
AN

E

N
IC

H
O

LA
S 

LA
N

E

CL
EM

EN
T'

S 
LA

NE

St Clement's Ct

Pl
ou

gh
 C

ou
rt

LO
OK

 R
IG

HT

LOOK RIGHT

BUS
STOP

LO
AD

IN
G

 O
NL

Y

6.50m

10.00m

2.30m

N

Existing pedestrian refuge, signals and illuminated bollards to be
removed.  All signals to be relocated to suit new junction layout.

Existing signage to be relocated from NAL block
and erected on new post rooted into the ground

CLIENT:

Checked by:

Drawing No:

Designed by:

Scale & Drawing Size:

Highway Design

and Construction

TITLE:

Department of The Built Enviornment

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London

EC2P 2EJ

Tel: 020 7606 3030

Date:

Revision:

This map is reproduced from Ordnance

Survey material with the permission of

Ordnance Survey on behalf of the

controller of Her Majesty's

Stationery Office © Crown copyright

2006. All rights reserved.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes

Crown copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings.

City of London 100023243 2008.

Sheet:

TITLE:

Pedestrian Priority Scheme

King William Street
General Arrangement Plan

Phases 1 to 3

SHEET 4 of 4

Dec 2022

SR

BM

1:200@A1 100/16800457/KW/GA

Proposed 'Timed'
Loading Bay

Existing kerb line

Existing kerb line

Notes:

1. No information to be scaled from this drawing.

2. Works shall comply with the current City of
London Specification for Highway works.

3. All road markings refer to the "Traffic Signs
Regulations and General Directions 2016". Refer to
drawing number 1200/16800457/KW/RM

4. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant drawings

5. The Contractor will be held responsible for any
damage caused to private highways and privately
owned street furniture.

KEY

Proposed 63mm thick (600mm x varied)
Scoutmoor Yorkstone paving

Proposed HRA carriageway surfacing

Proposed 450 x 450mm cycle friendly gully

300 x 200 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Proposed sign / sign & post

Relocated / New TfL traffic signal pole

150 x 300 flame textured silver grey granite kerb

Proposed 63mm thick (400mm x 400mm)
Scoutmoor tactile paving

Proposed 25mm thick mastic surfacing
(Footway specification)

Proposed 150mm thick (150 x 300mm) 2 Colour
Mix Granite Setts with Mid-Grey boarder

Proposed street tree

Sections of the Bank Station S278 scheme will need to be taken up and
re-laid to accommodate new scheme as decision was made not to

accommodate changes needed as part of the King William Street scheme.

For Continuation See Sheet 2

P
age 376

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
h=0.87m

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
h=0.98m

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
LOOK LEFT

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
h=1.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
LOOK RIGHT



No entry except for cyclists

Location for three point turn

to exit Old Jewry

Removable bollards to allow

occasional access for vehicles

Street becoming two-way

for all traffic

I

R

O

N

M

O

N

G

E

R

 

L

A

N

E

O

L

D

 
J

E

W

R

Y

G

R

E

S

H

A

M

 
S

T

R

E

E

T

C

H

E

A

P

S

I
D

E

P

O

U

L

T

R

Y

Area raised to pavement level

and surfaced in granite

Area for new benches

and greening

Pedestrian Priority Streets Programme

ENVIRONMENT

DEPARTMENT

City of London

Corporation

PO Box 270

Guildhall

London EC2P 2EJ

020 7332 1710

Old Jewry

Page 377



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 378



City of London: Projects Procedure Corporate Risks Register

PM's overall 
risk rating: 

CRP requested 
this gateway

Open Risks
16

12269 Total CRP used to 
date

Closed Risks
1

Risk 
ID

Gateway Category Description of the Risk Risk Impact Description Likelihood 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificatio
n pre-
mitigation

Risk 
score

Costed impact pre-
mitigation (£)

Costed Risk Provision 
requested 
Y/N

Mitigating actions Mitigation 
cost (£)

Likelihood 
Classificati
on post-
mitigation

Impact 
Classificat
ion post-
mitigation

Costed 
impact post-
mitigation (£)

Post-
Mitiga
tion 
risk 
score

CRP used 
to date

Use of CRP Date 
raised

Named 
Departmental 
Risk 
Manager/ 
Coordinator 

Risk owner   
(Named 
Officer or 
External Party)

Date 
Closed 
OR/ 
Realised & 
moved to 
Issues

Comment(s)

R1 5
(1) Compliance/Reg
ulatory

Issues or delays in any 
required consents such as 
third party consents, TTOs, 
Permits, etc which cause 
delays to the implementation 
of the schemes.

If there was to be any delay in 
the approval of any required 
consents, such as TTOs, 
Permits, EqIA, TMAN etc; its 
likely delivery of the 
interventions could suffer from 
some form of unplanned 
delay or additional work.

Possible Serious 6 £30,000.00 N

* Map out the required 
consents for each 
intervention / experimental 
scheme and continually 
monitor & update the 
consents if required 
throughout the trial period 
and delivery of the 
permanent measures.
* Schedule regular meetings 
with consent approvers, 
especially those with long 
lead in times or complex 
approval procedures.

£0.00 Possible Minor £15,000 2 £0.00 £15,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

Although the interventions / 
experimental schemes are being 
delivered under well-used and 
understood regulations, there is a 
possibility that some delays may 
occur due to unforeseen 
technicalities. 

Updated risk to reflect changed 
programme of work 01/23

R2 5
(1) Compliance/Reg
ulatory

Legal challenges or query 
upon any of the interventions 
/ experimental schemes 
(excluding judicial review) 
that leads to delays or extra 
costs

Should an intervention / 
experimental scheme fall 
under some form of legal or 
challenge or investigation, its 
likely additional time and 
resource will be required to 
undertake associated work. 
External additional legal 
assistance could also be 
required. On the other hand, 
a project may need to look at 
legally resolving an 
unforeseen issue to proceed. 
It's also possible that a 
challenge to one measure 
then means that all are 
affected.

Possible Serious 6 £100,000.00 N

* Consult early on with the 
legal, planning and network 
performance teams as 
required to identify potential 
issues, then monitor these 
individual issues and 
mitigate if possible.
* Ensure TRO making process 
is followed to the letter of 
the law to mitigate against 
any statutory challenges 
(lesson learnt form Beech St)

£0.00 Possible Minor £50,000 3 £0.00 £50,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

Given the experimental nature of 
the interventions being installed, 
it is unlikely that any form of 
meaningful legal challenge will 
take place but standard project 
management processes will help 
mitigate against the possibility.

R3 5 (3) Reputation 

Issue(s) with external 
engagement and buy-in, 
including any perceived or 
actual negative impacts, 
lead to additional resources 
being required to 
compensate

Further time and therefore 
resource may be required if 
the interventions / 
experimental schemes 
delivered don't meet the 
stakeholder's expectations. Its 
possible that as a result of this, 
changes to the interventions / 
experimental schemes may 
also be required.

Possible Serious 6 £20,000.00 N

* Early-as-possible 
identification and 
engagement with key 
stakeholders where possible.
* Proactive external comms 
to inform stakeholders as 
early as possible.

£0.00 Possible Minor £10,000 3 £0.00 £10,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

Engagement with businesses, 
occupiers, residents, street users 
and other actively interested 
stakeholders (refer to PPS comms 
strategy) explaining what's 
happening and why is best 
placed to mitigate against 
negative reactions to the 
interventions / experimental 
schemes.

R4 5
(4) Contractual/Part
nership

Issue(s) with internal 
engagement and buy-in, 
including any perceived or 
actual negative impacts, 
lead to additional resources 
being required to 
compensate

Further time and therefore 
resource may be required if 
the interventions / 
experimental schemes 
delivered either don't meet 
the stakeholder's 
expectations. Its possible that 
as a result of this, changes to 
the interventions / 
experimental schemes may 
also be required.

Unlikely Minor 4 £10,000.00 N

* Early-as-possible 
identification and 
engagement with key 
stakeholders where possible.
* Proactive internal comms 
to inform stakeholders as 
early as possible.

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £2,500 1 £0.00 £2,500.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

(as above)

R5 5
(4) Contractual/Part
nership

Procurement procedures 
impact negatively on project 
delivery

Additional resource may be 
required if there is a delay or 
issue with the procurement of 
goods or services from 
external suppliers.

Unlikely Minor 3 £10,000.00 N

* Undertake early 
engagement with City's 
term contractor, FM 
Conway where required 
and map out the required 
resources & materials.

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £3,000 1 £0.00 £3,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

Early engagement and early 
ordering where possible.

R6 5
(4) Contractual/Part
nership

Supplier delays, productivity 
or resource issues impact on 
project delivery

Referring both to internal and 
external suppliers to projects, 
alternative arrangements 
which require additional 
resource may be required if a 
potential or existing supplier is 
unable to deliver as agreed 
for whatever reason. This may 
involve retendering work if an 
existing supplier is unable to 
deliver.

Unlikely Minor 2 £10,000.00 N

* Utilise existing framework 
agreements where possible
* Investigate any likely 
'bottlenecks', such as TfL's 
ability to deliver at this time, 
as early as possible to help 
plan possible mitigations

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £5,000 1 £0.00 £5,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

The interventions / experimental 
schemes are being installed are 
to be delivered by the City's term 
contractor, FM Conway, with the 
issue of resourcing having 
already been discussed. 
However, with the economic 
climate, inflation and labour 
shortages in some industries its 
possible it could also negatively 
impact on resources available. 

R7 5
(1) Compliance/Reg
ulatory

Accessibility, equalities and/ 
or security concerns or 
simmilar  lead to changes 
being required to either 
designs or implemented 
interventions that in-turn 
results in additional resources 
being required to 
compensate.

Further changes may be 
required if accessibility, 
equalities and/ or security 
concerns are raised.

Possible Minor 5 £30,000.00 N

* Include the City's 
Accessibility and Security 
Officers (if required) in 
design reviews.
* Consider involving 
accessibility groups in an 
advisory role.

£0.00 Possible Minor £15,000 3 £0.00 £15,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

The interventions / experimental 
schemes will account for 
accessibility, equalities and 
security concerns but its possible 
that when implemented or 
further design reviews are 
undertaken that changes are 
deemed necessary to remove 
identified shortcomings.

6.1Project Name: Pedestrian Priority Streets Medium 414,200£         
Average 

unmitigated risk 
score

General risk classification Mitigation actions Ownership & Action

Unique project identifier: 
Total estimated cost 

(exec risk): 1,500,000£   56,000£           
Average mitigated 

risk score
3.3

P
age 379



R8 5 (2) Financial 

Inaccurate or incomplete 
project estimates, including 
baxters/ inflationary issues 
leads to budget increases

If an estimate is found at a 
later date to be inaccurate or 
incomplete, more funding 
and/or time resource would 
be needed to rectify the issue 
or fund/ underwrite the 
shortfall. More specifically, 
inflationary amounts 
predetermined earlier in a 
project may be found to be 
insufficient and require extra 
funding to cover any shortfall.

Possible Major 12 £60,000.00 N

* Undertake regular cost 
reviews via interim 
submissions from the main 
contractor.
* Track spending closely so 
future costs can be 
estimated more accurately. 

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £35,000 4 £0.00 £35,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

The works required are using well-
established rates and costs 
through the City's existing 
highways term contractor but its 
difficult to know at this stage 
what the likely end cost is to be 
given that the decision to retain 
of remove the experimental 
schemes is unknown. Therefore, 
work will take place to track the 
spending required to maintain 
the interventions so that a future 
spend profile can be estimated. 
This will include any upcoming 
rate/ baxters/RPI changes.

R9 5
(4) Contractual/Part
nership

Network accessibility before 
and during construction which 
cause project delay and/ or 
increased costs

Should parts of the road 
network not be available or 
become unavailable during 
implementation, expect 
delivery delays.

Possible Serious 6 £25,000.00 N
* Regular engagement with 
City and TfL network 
management teams

£0.00 Possible Minor £20,000 3 £0.00 £20,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

It is possible that should other 
works be required in a given 
street or road that it could 
impact on the City's ability to 
delivery the interventions / 
experimental schemes. For 
example, if urgent utility works 
are required on a street where 
interventions have been installed, 
it could result in alternative routes 
being required to comfortably 
divert pedestrians and cyclists 
around the emergency works.  
Delays could cause cost 
increases with material prices 
and some utility serivces.

R10 5 (6) Safeguarding

Unforeseen technical and/ or 
engineering issues identified 
which leads to delays and 
additional costs to rectify.

Late identification of any 
engineering or technical 
issues that disrupt delivery 
could result in further costs 
whether they be time, funding 
or resources.

Possible Serious 6 £20,000.00 N
* Work with design engineers 
to review each site at the 
appropriate time.

£0.00 Unlikely Serious £12,000 4 £1,000.00 £11,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

engineering difficulties occurred 
with the interim measures leading 
to a change in aproach to the 
project, but increased costs had 
been  realised in determining this 
and changing direction.   
Increased the provision available 
as this risk still exists and drawing 
down part of the revised revision. 
(jan 23)

R11 5
(4) Contractual/Part
nership

TfL buses engagement and 
their requirements on a 
project.

Further time and therefore 
resource may be required if 
planned engagement work 
with TfL buses didn't go as 
planned. Also, they may 
change their requirements for 
a project.

Unlikely Serious 4 £25,000.00 N

* Ensure early engagement 
with TfL buses in the design 
phases so they can consult 
internally
* Design the interventions to 
help minimise impacts on 
the bus network

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £12,500 2 £0.00 £12,500.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

Bus routes and stops are likely to 
be affected by at least some of 
the interventions so these effects 
will need to be discussed with TfL 
and monitored, and changes 
made to the interventions if 
required.

R12 6 (3) Reputation 
Accident during construction/ 
operation impacts on project 
delivery and/ or costs

Regardless of whether it be a 
member of public or a 
contractor on site, should an 
accident occur in or around 
any of the interventions / 
experimental schemes, delays 
are likely to occur whilst its 
investigated.

Rare Major 8 £30,000.00 N

* Consider regular site visits 
with the Principal Designer 
both to monitor the 
construction of the 
interventions / experimental 
schemes and user 
behaviour once installed.

£0.00 Unlikely Serious £15,000 4 £0.00 £15,000.00 06/07/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

Should an accident occur within 
any of the interventions / 
experimental schemes, the safety 
of all may be called into 
question. Therefore, the planned 
monitoring is to include an 
overview of any accidents that 
occur. However, any identified 
changes will require resourcing in 
terms of design and contractor 
time.

R13 5 (10) Physical
Unexpected STATS diversions 
or alterations

Unforeseen delay and costs 
from SU companies

Possible Serious 5 £50,000.00 N
Ensure due NSWRA process is 
followed 

£0.00 Possible Minor £35,000 3 £30,000.00 £5,000.00 13/09/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

R14 3 (2) Financial 

Gateway 345 cost estimates 
are based on schematic and 
preliminary design plans.  
Subsequent changes /costs 
may be identified during the 
detailed design phase.

Unforeseen design & works 
costs

Possible Serious 6 £50,000.00 N

Highways (who will 
undertake detailed design) 
to undertake a review of the 
preliminary design cost 
estimates prior to gateway 
345 submission.

£0.00 Unlikely Minor £30,000 3 £25,000.00 £5,000.00 13/09/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

All of the work undertaken to  try 
to get the Interim measures to 
work,followed by the subsequent 
redesign to design permenant 
measures with additional costs for 
utilitites realised.

R15 5 (10) Physical
King William Street subject to 
the upcoming 'Bank 
Blockade' by TfL in early 2022.

Restricted working at 
weekends only

Likely Serious £82,000.00 N None £0.00 Likely Serious £0.00 24/09/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

Nov-22 blocade complete

R16 5 (2) Financial 

Provision for a Continued 
uplift in the term contract 
rates to reflect serivces andf 
materials costs, "supply chain 
inflation/energy/etc rises"

Unforeseen increase in works 
costs

Possible Serious 6 £187,200.00 N None £0.00 Possible Serious £187,200 6 £0.00 £187,200.00 27/09/2021
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

R17 5 (2) Financial 

outcome of public 
consultation exercise identifies  
areas that need to be 
relooked at or redesigned 
increasing costs of the 
scheme

increased staff and resource 
costs  above what was 
planned/expected to modify 
schemes to better meet the 
stakeholder aspirations

Possible Serious 6 £20,000.00
engage as early as possible 
with stakeholders

£0.00 Unlikely Serious £13,000 4 £0.00 £13,000.00 01/10/2022
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

R18 5
(4) Contractual/Part
nership

Additional investigations or 
surveys may be required by 
internal/ external parties to 
further validate the design.

Delays could occur to the 
programme if validation ofthe 
design is delayed.

Possible Serious 6 £12,000.00

undertake trial holes and 
basement surveys where 
needed to minimise the risk, 
but if it occurs there will be 
additioanl costs

£0.00 Possible Serious £10,000 6 £0.00 £10,000.00 01/10/2022
Gillian Howard, 
Policy and 
Projects

Kristian Turner, 
Policy and 
Projects

undertaking the detailed design 
on the phase 1 schmes, may 
require additioanl surveys than 
those already planned, 
particulalry concerning 

P
age 380



Appendix 10 - Finance tables

Description
Approved 

Budget (£)*
Expenditure 

(£)
Balance (£)

Env Servs Staff Costs (Highways) 42,000          9,061             32,939          
P&T Staff Costs 61,000          59,576          1,424             
P&T Fees 86,000          76,219          9,781             
Enabling Works 10,000          -                 10,000          

TOTAL 199,000        144,855        54,145          

Env Servs Staff Costs (Highways) 123,000        62,939          60,061          
P&T Staff Costs 199,700        86,150          113,550        
Legal Staff Costs 20,000          -                 20,000          
P&T Fees 263,811        196,935        66,876          
ANPR Camera Purchases 70,000          28,325          41,675          
Contingency 473,200        -                 473,200        
Works 1,252,917     40,570          1,212,347     

TOTAL 2,402,628     414,919        1,987,709     
GRAND TOTAL 2,601,628     559,774        2,041,854     

Description
Approved 

Budget (£)*
Adjustment 

(£)
Revised(£)

Env Servs Staff Costs (Highways) 42,000          -                 42,000          
P&T Staff Costs 61,000          -                 61,000          
P&T Fees 86,000          -                 86,000          
Enabling Works 10,000          -                 10,000          

TOTAL 199,000        -                 199,000        

Env Servs Staff Costs (Highways) 123,000        124,584        247,584        
P&T Staff Costs 199,700        64,611          264,311        
Legal Staff Costs 20,000          -                 20,000          
P&T Fees 263,811        197,722        461,533        
ANPR Camera Purchases 70,000          -                 70,000          
Contingency 473,200        59,000-          414,200        
Works 1,252,917     327,917-        925,000        

TOTAL 2,402,628     -                 2,402,628     
GRAND TOTAL 2,601,628     -                 2,601,628     

Spend to Date - 16800457: Pedestrian Priority Streets programme

Spend to Date - 16100457: Pedestrian Priority Streets Phase 1 programme

Budget Adjustment - 16800457: Pedestrian Priority Streets programme

Budget Adjustment - 16100457: Pedestrian Priority Streets Phase 1 programme

Page 381



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 382



Appendix 11 – Health Street Assessment Results 

KING STREET 

 

 

 

  

P
age 383



OLD JEWRY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 384



KING WILLIAM STREET 

 

 

P
age 385



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 386



Committee(s) 
 

Dated: 
 

Streets and Walkways Sub 

Finance 

Planning & Transportation 

Court of Common Council 

14th February 2023  

21st February 2023 

7th March 2023 

27th April 2023 

Subject: 
Annual On-Street Parking Accounts 2021/22 and Related 
Funding of Highway Improvements and Schemes 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

n/a 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? n/a 

What is the source of Funding? n/a 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

n/a 

Report of: 
The Chamberlain 

For Information 

Report author: 
Simon Owen, Chamberlain’s Department 
 

 
 

Summary 
 

The City of London in common with other London authorities is required to report to 
the Mayor for London on action taken in respect of any deficit or surplus in its On-
Street Parking Account for a particular financial year. 

The purpose of this report is to inform Members that: 

• the surplus arising from on-street parking activities in 2021/22 was £10.699m; 

• a total of £6.172m was applied in 2021/22 to fund approved projects; and 

• the surplus remaining on the On-Street Parking Reserve at 31st March 2022 was 
£51.652m, which will be wholly allocated towards the funding of various highway 
improvements and other projects over the medium term. 

 
 

Recommendation 

 
Members are asked to: 

• Note the contents of this report for their information before submission to the 
Mayor for London. 

Page 387

Agenda Item 6



Main Report 

Background 
 

1. Section 55(3A) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (as amended), requires 
the City of London in common with other London authorities (i.e. other London 
Borough Councils and Transport for London), to report to the Mayor for London 
on action taken in respect of any deficit or surplus in their On-Street Parking 
Account for a particular financial year. 

2. Legislation provides that any surplus not applied in the financial year may be 
carried forward. If it is not to be carried forward, it may be applied by the City for 
one or more of the following purposes:  

a) making good to the City Fund any deficit charged to that Fund in the 4 years 
immediately preceding the financial year in question; 

b) meeting all or any part of the cost of the provision and maintenance by the City of off-
street parking accommodation whether in the open or under cover; 

c) the making to other local authorities, or to other persons, of contributions 
towards the cost of the provision and maintenance by them, in the area of the 
local authority or elsewhere, of off-street parking accommodation whether in the 
open or under cover; 

d) if it appears to the City that the provision in the City of further off-street parking 
accommodation is for the time being unnecessary or undesirable, for the following 
purposes, namely:  

• meeting costs incurred, whether by the City or by some other person, in the 
provision or operation of, or of facilities for, public passenger transport 
services; 

• the purposes of a highway or road improvement project in the City; 

• meeting the costs incurred by the City in respect of the maintenance of 
roads at the public expense; and 

• for an “environmental improvement” in the City. 

e) meeting all or any part of the cost of the doing by the City in its area of anything 
which facilitates the implementation of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, being 
specified in that strategy as a purpose for which a surplus can be applied; and 

f) making contributions to other authorities, i.e. the other London Borough 
Councils and Transport for London, towards the cost of their doing things upon 
which the City in its area could incur expenditure upon under (a)-(e) above. 

3. In the various tables of this report, figures in brackets indicate expenditure, 
reductions in income or increased expenditure. 

 

Page 388



2021/22 Outturn 

4.  The overall financial position for the On-Street Parking Reserve in 2021/22 is 
summarised below: 

 £m 

Surplus Balance brought forward at 1st April 2021 47.125 

Surplus arising during 2021/22 10.699 

Expenditure financed during the year (6.172) 

Funds remaining at 31st March 2022, wholly allocated towards funding future projects 51.652 

 

5. Total expenditure of £6.172m in 2021/22 was financed from the On-Street 
Parking Reserve, covering the following approved projects: 

Revenue/SRP Expenditure: £000 
Highway Resurfacing, Maintenance & Enhancements (2,029) 
Barbican Podium Waterproofing - Phase 2 (744) 
Off-Street Car Parking Contribution from Reserves 
 

(688) 
Concessionary Fares & Taxi Card Scheme 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(442) 
 
 
 
 
 

West Smithfield Area Public Realm & Transportation 
 

(286) 
Climate Action Strategy – Pedestrian Priority (171) 

 
 
 

Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank) 
 

(120) 
City Streets COVID 19 – Phase 3 (92) 
St Paul’s Gyratory (63) 
Climate Action Strategy – Cool Streets & Greening (53) 

 Cleaning Maintenance Lord Mayors Show (46) 
Aldgate Maintenance for Open Spaces (40) 
COVID Response (25) 
Dominant House Footbridge – Future Options (19) 
Special Needs Transport (11) 
City Wayfinding Signage/Legible London 
 

(11) 
Minories Car Park – Structural Building Report (6) 
London Wall Car Park Waterproofing and Repairs (2) 
Traffic Enforcement CCTV (1) 
Total Revenue/SRP Expenditure (4,849) 

Capital Expenditure: 

 

 
  Baynard House Fire Safety (621) 
Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank) (411) 

 Climate Action Strategy – Pedestrian Priority (138) 
City Wayfinding Signage/Legible London 
special Needs Transport 

(77) 
 
 

Bank Junction Interim Safety Scheme (22) 
Holborn Viaduct & Snow Hill Pipe-Subways (15) 
Street Lighting Project/Strategy (13) 
HVM Security Programme (13) 
Climate Action Strategy – Cool Streets & Greening (12) 
Traffic Enforcement CCTV (1) 
Total Capital Expenditure (1,323) 
  

Total Expenditure Funded in 2021/22 (6,172) 

Page 389



 

6. The surplus on the On-Street Parking Reserve brought forward from 2020/21 
was £47.125m. After expenditure of £6.172m funded in 2021/22, a surplus 
balance of £4.527m was carried forward to future years to give a closing balance 
at 31st March 2022 of £51.652m.  

7. Currently total expenditure of some £97.8m is planned over the medium term 
from 2022/23 until 2026/27 (as detailed in Table 1), by which time it is anticipated 
that the existing surplus plus those estimated for future years will be fully utilised. 

8. The total programme covers numerous major capital schemes including funding 
towards the Barbican Podium Waterproofing; Bank Junction Improvements (All 
Change at Bank); Climate Action Strategy Cool Streets & Greening and 
Pedestrian Priority; Holborn Viaduct & Snow Hill Pipe-Subways Repairs; 
Baynard House Fire Safety; Traffic Enforcement CCTV; Minories Car Park 
Structural Building Report; West Smithfield Area Public Realm & Transportation 
Project; St Paul’s Gyratory; Dominant House Footbridge Repairs; London Wall 
Car Park Waterproofing, Joint Replacement & Concrete Repairs; Fire Safety at 
the Car Parks; Lindsey Street Bridge Strengthening; and Beech Street. The 
progression of each individual scheme is, of course, subject to the City’s normal 
evaluation criteria and Standing Orders. 

9. The programme also covers ongoing funding of future revenue projects, the main 
ones being Highway Resurfacing, Enhancements & Road Maintenance Projects; 
Concessionary Fares & Taxi Cards; Traffic Review Order; Contributions to the 
Costs of Off-Street Car Parks; Special Needs Transport; Cleansing Maintenance 
for the Lord Mayors Show; and Annual Maintenance of Aldgate 

10. In addition to the currently agreed allocations of On-Street Parking surplus 
monies, a newly formed Priorities Board chaired by the Town Clerk will review all 
future new eligible bids for surplus funds before recommending successful bids 
to Members of Resource Allocation Sub Committee for decision. This new 
mechanism has been designed to ensure surplus monies are allocated to eligible 
projects in an efficient and speedy process to meet spending priorities. 

11. A forecast summary of income and expenditure arising on the On-Street Parking 
Account and the corresponding contribution from or to the On-Street Parking 
surplus, over the medium-term financial planning period, is shown below: 

Table 1 
On-Street Parking Account Reserve 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

Projections 2021/22 to 2026/27 Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast  
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Income 14.5 13.6 12.6 13.0 13.5 13.8 81.0 
Expenditure (Note 1) (3.8) (3.5) (4.0) (4.1) (4.3) (4.4) (24.1) 

Net Surplus arising in year 10.7 10.1 8.6 8.9 9.2 9.4 56.9 
        
Capital, SRP and Revenue Commitments (6.2) (14.3) (23.7) (39.5) (7.7) (12.6) (104.0) 

Net in year contribution (from)/ to surplus 4.5 (4.2) (15.1) (30.6) 1.5 (3.2) (47.1) 

        
(Deficit) / Surplus cfwd at 1st April 47.1 51.6 47.4 32.3 1.7 3.2  
        

(Deficit) / Surplus cfwd at 31st March 51.6 47.4 32.3 1.7 3.2 0.0  

Page 390



Note 1:  On-Street operating expenditure relates to direct staffing costs, current enforcement 
contractor costs, fees & services (covering pay by phone, postage, printing & legal), IT 
software costs for enforcement systems, provision for bad debts for on-street income 
and central support recharges. 

 

12. A reduction in income is forecast from 2022/23 onwards for a number of years, 
mainly due to suspension of enforcement at Beech Street, ongoing long term 
works and changes to Bank Junction, future projections of motorist’s compliance 
and CCTV enforcement suspension at Throgmorton Street. The suspension at 
Throgmorton Street is due to a major closure which is expected to continue until 
February 2024. Further savings from operation and enforcement costs on the 
new parking contracts awarded from 1st April 2022 have been phased into future 
expenditure projections. 

Conclusion 

13. So that we can meet our requirements under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 (as amended), we ask that the Court of Common Council notes the 
contents of this report, which would then be submitted to the Mayor of London. 

Background Papers 

14. Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984; Road Traffic Act 1991; GLA Act 1999 sect 
282. 

15. Final Accounts 2021/22. 

 
Report author 
Simon Owen 
Chamberlain’s Department 
T: 020 7332 1358 
E: simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 391

mailto:simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 392



Date Action 

 

Officer 

responsible 

 

To be 

completed/ 

progressed to 

next stage  

Notes/Progress to date 

 

 

15 October 2020 
1 December 2021 
18 February 2021 
08 July 2021 
10 Sep 2021 
15 Feb 2022 
03 May 2022 
31 May 2022 
05 July 2022 
08 Nov 2022 
17 Jan 2023 

Dockless Vehicles 
To keep the Sub Committee informed 
of activities to manage the use of 
dockless cycles and e-scooters in the 
Square Mile and any related issues. 

Executive 

Director, 

Environment 

April 2021 

Sep 2021 

Dec 2021 

Feb 2022 

Sep 2022 

Nov 2022 

Mar 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lime and HumanForest were given approval to 
operate dockless bike schemes in the City. 
Operators are reminded of expectations around 
appropriate use. Vehicles are being left in the 
wrong places, and operators are being engaged 
with on the matter. 
The Department for Transport (DfT) has 
confirmed that all authorities with e-scooter trials 
may apply to extend their trials until May 2024. 
Transport for London has confirmed the Pan-
London E-Scooter Trial Term will be extended for 
a further 18 months in line with the DfT 
extension.  
We are aware of significant issues regarding 
dockless bike operations in the Square Mile 
particularly with bikes left outside of designated 
parking areas. Officers have met with our 
currently approved operators, Lime and 
HumanForest, to discuss parking compliance 
and develop compliance improvement plans. 
Above the existing charges and fines they levy 
against users who park or behave 
inappropriately, dockless bike scheme operators 
have committed to introducing AI-supported end-
of-ride parking photo recognition and fining, 
increased staff presence in the City and 
improving the effectiveness of their warning, 
fining and banning processes as well as general 
communications with users. 
 
Additional compliance improvement and review 
meetings were submitted to the Committee in 
January 2023.  
Further meetings are being set up for the current 
quarter.   The next follow update on this item is 

P
age 393

A
genda Item

 7



March 2023.  

3 December 2019 
25 February 2020 
7 July 2020 
15 October 2020 
1 December 2021 
18 February 2021 
08 July 2021 
10 Sep 2021 
15 Feb 2022 
31 May 2022 
05 July 2022 
08 Nov 2022 
06 Feb 2023 

Beech Street Transport and Public 
Realm Improvements 
The project will address air quality 
issues by reducing traffic that pass 
through the tunnel. At the same time, 
it aims to deliver a vibrant street with a 
high-quality public realm at the centre 
of the Culture Mile, which will also 
provide the opportunity to realise 
property outcomes. 

Executive 

Director 

Environment 

 
 
May 2022 
Nov 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
At the meeting of Streets and Walkways on 
3rd May 2022, officers informed Members of 
the public consultation timescales for Beech 
Street and the delay at the request of 
Islington to defer the public consultation until 
after local elections. Members will recall that 
officers meet regularly with their Islington 
counterparts, data on the experiment has 
been shared and Islington have shared 
feedback on the Fortune Street experiment. 
In these meetings Islington’s position has 
been that the management of the Fortune 
Street traffic restriction was impractical and 
this was conveyed to Members on 3rd May. 
Whilst Islington had expressed a preference 
that the issues on Beech Street are dealt 
with through a joint area wide approach, i.e. 
over the medium term, City officers 
explained the December decision of City 
Members to consult on the Beech Street 
zero emission scheme as a permanent 
measure to address the air quality issues. 
We deferred our consultation at Islington’s 
request until after local elections, but in a 
recent meeting Islington’s Director of Climate 
Change and Transport expressed his view 
that the public consultation on Beech Street 
did not have Islington’s support. 
Arrangements are being made for City 
Members to meet with Islington’s Executive 
Member for Climate Change and Transport. 
Officers do not believe it is possible to 
proceed without Islington’s support. In terms 
of the current situation on Beech Street, 

P
age 394



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nov 2022 
 
 
 
 
February 2023 
 

Page 211 surveys show that over 80% of the 
traffic has returned to Beech Street and 
70%+ on Golden Lane. On Beech Street, 
nitrogen dioxide levels have increased to the 
edge of the legal limits of 40 mg, these vary 
with seasonal conditions and reflect other 
changes in background NO2 from across 
London where many variables affect air 
quality 
 
Discussions with LBI are ongoing, and the 
matter was discussed as a separate agenda 
item at the meeting of 08 November 2022. 
 
The Consultation is currently active and 
closes on 6 March 
 

31 May 2022 
17 Jan 2023 

Bank Junction Traffic & Timings 
Review 

Executive 

Director, 

Environment 

Sep 2022 
 
 
Nov 2022 
 
 
Jan 2023 

Issue discussed at meeting of Sep 2022, further 
reports expected. 
 
Update is expected during the first quarter of 
2023. 
 
A meeting on the issue is scheduled to take 
place on 14 February 2023 

 

P
age 395



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 396



Document is Restricted

Page 397

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Bank Junction Improvements (All Change at Bank): Traffic Mix and Timing Review Update
	Appendix 1 - outline programme
	Appendix 2 - plans

	5 Pedestrian Priority Streets Gateway 5
	Appendix 1 - Coversheet
	Appendix 2 - Perception Surveys
	Appendix 3 - Statutory Consultation Summary
	Appendix 4 - Public Consultation Report
	Appendix 5 - Written response summary
	Appendix 6 - King St EqIA
	1 Introduction
	Background
	Scheme context
	Existing scheme (ETO)
	Proposed scheme (Permanent)

	Assumed impact on transport and movement

	2 Scoping
	3 Data sources
	Data sources and limitations

	4 Baseline
	5 Age
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	Recommended mitigating actions

	6 Disability
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	Recommended mitigating actions

	7 Pregnancy and maternity
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts
	Recommended mitigating actions

	8 Race
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	9 Religion or belief
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts
	Recommended mitigating actions

	10 Sex
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts

	11 Summary of recommended mitigating actions
	Recommended mitigating actions


	Appendix 6 - KWS EqIA
	1 Introduction
	Background
	Scheme context
	Existing scheme (ETO)
	Proposed scheme (Permanent)

	Assumed impact on transport and movement

	2 Scoping
	3 Data sources
	Introduction
	Data sources used and limitations

	4 Baseline
	5 Age
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	Recommended mitigating actions

	6 Disability
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	Recommended mitigating actions

	7 Pregnancy and maternity
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	Recommended mitigating actions

	8 Race
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	Recommended mitigating actions

	9 Religion or belief
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts
	Potential disproportionately negative impacts

	Recommended mitigating actions

	10 Sex
	Definition according to the Equality Act 2010
	Baseline equalities data
	Impact assessment
	Potential disproportionately positive impacts


	11 Summary of recommended mitigating actions
	Recommended mitigating actions


	Appendix 6 - Old Jewry EqIA
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT King St 1
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT King St 2
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT King St 3
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT King St 4
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT KWS 1
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT KWS 2
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT KWS 3
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT KWS 4
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT KWS 5
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT KWS 6
	Appendix 7 - CoLSAT Old Jewry
	Appendix 8 - King Street
	Sheets and Views
	1


	Appendix 8 - King William Street
	Sheets and Views
	100-16800457-KWS - General Arrangement Plans (Phases 1 to 3) 2-0
	100-16800457-KWS - General Arrangement Plans (Phases 1 to 3) 2-1
	100-16800457-KWS - General Arrangement Plans (Phases 1 to 3) 2-2
	100-16800457-KWS - General Arrangement Plans (Phases 1 to 3) 2-3


	Appendix 8 - Old Jewry
	Sheets and Views
	Old Jewry


	Appendix 9 - Costed Risk Register
	Appendix 10 - Finance tables
	Appendix 11 - Healthy Streets Assessment

	6 Annual On-Street Parking Accounts 2021/22 and Related Funding of Highway Improvements and Schemes
	7 Outstanding References
	11 Non-public minutes

